
PART II 

II-A. SALE OF PENN OENTRAL STOOK 
BY INSTITUTIONS 

INTRODUCTION 

During the optimistic period before and shortly after the merger, 
Penn Oentral stock was favored by many institutional investors 
including mutual funds and banks. As Penn Oentral's fortunes de­
clined, most of these institutions sold their holdings. A number of 
these institutions had possible means of obtaining confidential 
information. , 

To explore the possibility of sales based on inside informat.ion, the 
staff sought the identity of these institutions through questionnaires 
sent to brokers, through reports to the Oommission from registered 
investment companies, and through various other means. Where. a 
patt.ern or relationship raised some question, further information was 
sought. Over 100 institutions were subpenaed for the production of 
documents. This information was analyzed to determine whether 
trading on inside information had occurred. 

The analysis of possible insider trading was made difficult by the 
existence of some public adyerse information throughout the period. 
Although there was significant adverse information that was non­
public, sellers were able to cite the public informat.ion as a reason for 
selling. The staff, therefore, paid particular attention to trading at 
significant times or where there was a significant relationship between 
the company and the seller. Affidavits or testimony were sought 
where unresolved questions existed. . 

As a result of the analysis, the inquiry focused on five institutions 
which sold stock at a critical period (late May and early June 1970) 
and which had, or may have had, a relationship to Penn Oentral: 
Chase Manhattan Bank, Morgan Guaranty Trust 00., Oontinental 
Illinois Nat.ional Bank & Trust 00., Investors Mutual Fund and 
Alleghany Oorp. The staff's findings on these institutions are de­
scribed separately in this section.1 Testimvny was taken from officers 
and employees of these institutions. The witnesses denied t.hat inside 
Wormation was used in any way in the decision to sell Penn Oentral 
stock. In each case they cited public information cr particular internal 
circumstances as the reason for the sales. It is clear, however, that the 
sales of the banks point up inherent conflicts of interest. As a lender 
to corporations, a bank is obviously entitled to non public information. 
As a manager of trust accounts, a bank seeks out information to 
advance the interest of these accounts. It is clear, however, that no 

I Investors Mutual Fund and Alleghany Bre described together because of common control of Alleghany 
and Investors Diversified Services, Inc. (management company for Investors Mutual) and because of re­
lationships in the timillg of the sales. 
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confidential information gathered in a commercial banking capacity 
may be used to benefit the trust accounts. Banks have an affirmative 
duty to see that appropriate procedures are established to prevent 
any transmittal of information. In the case of these banks, Chase 
described certain procedures it had instituted to separate the func­
tions, whereas Morgan, on the other hand, had no such meaningful 
procedures. Officers from both units routinely attended joint meet­
ings, and, until almost the hour of Morgan's sales"oneanalyst served 
both the commercial and trust department.s. 

There is also a question of confidential information passing by 
way of interlocking directors. Stuart Saunders was a common director 
of Penn Central and Chase. Thomas Perkins and John Dorrance were 
common directors of Penn Central and Morgan. Although any con­
veyance of confidential information by this route was denied, on at 
least the Morgan board and its trust committee a common director 
spoke on Penn Central's affairs in the presence of trust officers. Inter­
locking directors should not be put in the position where they might 
disclose confidential information to bank trust officers. 

Although at this point serious questions exist ab(lut whether sales 
were made on inside information, it should be noted that proof of 
insider trading is always difficult. The difficulty is increased where, 
as here, there is some public adverse information which might ex­
plain the tmde. Unless direct testimony or documents can be obtained 
on the use of inside information it is difficult to sustain a charge of, 
misuse of information. 2 

CHASE 1\1ANHA'l'TAN BANK, N.A. 

Chase 1\1a.nhattan Bank, N.A., as one of the largest commercial 
banks in the United States, had extensive relationships with Penn 
Central, including among others, participation in various term loans 
to Penn Central by banking syndicates and an interlocking director­
ship in that Stuart Saunders, chairman of the board of Penn Central, 
was a member of the board of directors of Chase. 

During the period of May I-June 21, 1970, Chase sold 7,618 
shares for its personal trust 3 accounts and 3,597 shares for its invest­
ment advisory 4 accounts. During the period May 6-June 21, 1970, 
Chase sold 543,500 shares 5 from its pension trust accourits. 6 

The activity in these various accounts at Chase may be illustrated 
by the following table: 

TABLE I.-HOLDINGS OF PENN CENTRAL STOCK 

Date 

Mar. 26. 1970 ...................................... . 
June 23, 1970 ....... -' .............................. . 

Pension Per:;onal Trust 

566,320 
48, 000 

40.226 
32.840 

Advisory 

72,673 
69. 061 

Total 

629.219 
149,901 

, Both of the commercial lending departments of Morgan and Continental had inside information at the 
time the tmst department was selling Penn Central stock, but the parties to the decision to sell deny under 
oath that the trust department had access to the information. ' 

3 In personal tmst accounts Chase usually did not have discretionary authority but rather was limited by 
the terms of the tmst instrument and by the control 'exercised by the co-trustee(s) . 

• ill investment advisory accoUllts Chase merely furnished advice with no authority to purchase or sell 
securities for the account, , 

, From figures made public by Chase. It shonJd be noted tbat a stall' review of the confirmation sheets 
snbmitted by Cbase indicates a lesser total. HOWever, we will assume that public statistics are correct. 

o In almost all pension trust accOUllts, Chase acted as Manager, i.e., it had lnJI discretionary authority to 
nll1·e.h"sp' or sell secUlities held by tbe Trust as it deemed appropriate. ' 
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Thus, holdings of Penn Central stock decreased by 529,318 phares or 78 
percent.7 The foregoing figures should be compared with the following 
table II, which indicates Chase's holdings at various dates prior to this 
period: 

TABLE II.-HOLDINGS OF PENN CENTRAL STOCK 

Dale 

Mar. 21. 1968 ..................•.......••........... 
Mar. 4. 1969 ......•................................. 
June 12. 1969 •....•.....................•........... 
Nov. 19, 1970 .......... '(. ______ •........•........... 

Pension Personal Trust 

743,060 
. 425, 550 

197,980 
592,725 

46,996 
37,864 
29,770 
38,548 

Advisory 

132,857 
76,953 
70,194 
73,026 

Total 

922,913 
540,307 
297,944 
704, 299 

Moreover, it should be noted that Chase as a bank subject to 
regulation by the Federal Reserve Board and subject to the restrictions 
of the Glass-Steagall Act did not own or trade any Penn Central 
stock for its own account. 

As the foregoing statistics indicate, the overwhelmingly majority 
of sales by Chase of Penn Central stock were made for its pension 
accounts. The following table indicates also that these sales were 
clustered during the period May 6-June 10, 1970. 

TABLE III 

Number of 
Date: shares sold 

May 6 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 9, 900 
Ma.y 15________________ 1,000 
May 19 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _. 8, 000 
May 20________________ 7,000 
May 22 ________________ 125,400 
May 2.5________________ 57,100 
May 26_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 31, 850 
May 27 ________________ 39,700 
~lay 28 ________________ 38,800 

Number of 
Date: shares sold 

May 29________________ 63,700 
June 1 ___________ ~_____ 27,000 
June 2_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 50, 000 
June 3_________________ 45,700 
June 4_________________ 30,600 
June 10________________ 7,800 

Total ________________ 543,550 

Thus, during the period from May 22 to June 4, 1970, Chase sold from 
its managed pension accounts a total of 509,850 shares or approxi­
mately 94 percent of the total Penn Central sales made by Chase 10 the 
period May I-June 21, 1970. 

In order to examine the reasons why these transactions occurred, 
four employees of Chase were deposed. They were Paul T. Walker, 
Vice President, U.S. Department (commercial division of Chase); 
James M. Lane, executive vice president, Fiduciary Investment De­
partment (trust division of Chase); Paul P. Lehr, financial analyst, 
Fiduciary Investment Department; and James S. Martin, vice presi­
dent, Fiduciary Investment Department. 

Walker was a vice president in the commercial division of Chase 
who had responsibility for the commercial and correspondent bank 
business in certain mid-Atlantic States. One of his accounts was the 
Penn Central complex. 

Chase was a participant in various term loans and revolving credits 
made to Penn Central and was also a depositary ba.nk for Penn Central. 
However, Chase did not directly loan funds to Penn Central as Stuart 
Saunders was a member of the board of directors of Chase, and 
apparently a direct loan would constitute a conflict of interest. 

r However, it should be noted that the apparent discrepancy between the amount held at Mar. 26. 1970. 
and the amount held at June 21, 1970, may be att.ibutable to a number of factors, including purchases of 
Penn Central stock, and transfer of accounts holding Penn Central to or from r:h .... A. 
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Walker normally represented Chase in its dealing with other banks 
relative to loans to Penn Central. Walker did not attend nor was he 
aware of the content of the :May 21, 1970, meeting between David 
Bevan and First National City and Chemical banks, wherein Bevan 
discussed Penn Central's current financial condition, the postponement 
of the Peimsylvania Company's $100 million debenture offering undo 
Penn Central's intent to seek a $225 million Government guaranteed 
loan. 8 Walker did attend the 1/1ay 28, 1970, meeting of the banks 
reKarding Penn Central. 

Walker main.tained that the only persons he ever tnJked with· at 
Chase about Penn Central financial matters were other officers of the 
commercial department. Walker specifically denied talking with Mr. 
Lehr or Mr. Martin of the Fiduciary Investment Department of Chase 
about Penn Central. 110reover, although Chase was represented at 
the May 28, 1970, meeting and although it did receive the "Confiden­
tinI 11emorandum" dated :May 22, 1970, regarding the financial 
condition of Penn Central, it was claimed such information was not 
given to the Fiduciary Investment Department. 9 Walker made refer­
ence to· Chase's internal policy regarding communication between the 
commercial and trust divisions of Chase, This policy was stated by 
Da vid Rockefeller in testimony to Congress as follows: 

. By executive letter, last revised under .date of November 4, 1968, which wus 
issued by the chairman of the board and the president of the bank, all personnel 
were instructed that there is to be no flow or incidental communication of inside 
information from the commercial depart~ent.s 0)' divisions of the .bank to the 
investment department 01' the pension or personal trust divisions of the trust 
department, 

Cbase has erected a "Chinese wall" between its comrnercial and trust 
divisions with the intent that neither act with or f01~the other, and 
that although, organizationally, they are divisions of the same bank, 
they should be functionally independent, 

Lane, as executive vice president, was incbai'geof the Fiduciary 
Investment Department of Chase, Lane was chairman of the invest­
ment policy committee which had the responsibility for determining 
broad investment policy and strategy, Lane was also chairman of the 
trust investment committees, which were four committees, one each 
for pension, personal trust, corporate trust, and discretionary invest­
Inent management accounts. 

The investment policy committee in addition to setting broad policy 
has final authority to accept or reject the specific market ratings of 
the Fiduciary Investment Department's research group, Thus the 
i11vestment policy committee in setting broad investment guidelines 
and approving specific ratings of particular securities determines the 
parameters within which the individual portfolio managers may act, 
subject to any applicable restrictions in a trust instrument, However, 

B Walker did receive a telephone caU from Jonathan O'Hen-on nt his home on Saturday night, May 23. 
O'Hen-on apologized to Walker about Penn Central's not having kept the banks adeqnately informed. 
Walker considered this to be an extraordinary caU, 

• In a letter dated Mar. 3, 1971, addressed to William Kuehnle, Roy C. Haberkern, Jr., Counsel to Chase 
states: 

.. After investigation, we have determined that the "confidential" memorandum dated May 22, 1970, 
concerning Penn Central TranspOI·tation Co. was received by one or both of two offLcers in the Com· 
mercial department of the Chase Manhattan Bank (National Association), Paul T. Walker and Peter E. 
Lengyel, both vice-presidents. It is their recollection that said memorandum was received from represent­
atives of First National City Bank at a meeting held at First National City Bank on May 28, 1970, or shortly 
thereafter. We are further advised by Messrs. Walker and Lengyel that neither of them had any conversations 
with any officer or employee of the Fiduciary Investment Department of Chase with respect to said memo­
randum or with respect to any.other subject involving either Penn Central Co. or any of its affiliates. 

•• .• --- •• ~ •• - ......... C/ Tint. I"nnt.A.inp.n in the files of the Fiduciary Investment Departnlent." 
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the immediate responsibility for managing the account is that of the 
portfolio managers. The other members of the investment policy 
committee are the senior officers of the various Fiduciary Investment· 
Department divisions. 

Lane discussed the various aspects of the internal Chase system for 
rating specific securities. Lane noted that the investment policy com­
mittee must approve a change in rating of a specific security before 
the change is made. With respect to the rating of Penn Central 
common stock, Lane stated that the research department. submitted 
a proposed change in rating for Penn Central to the investment policy 
committee on May 22, 1970. The proposed change was to reduce the 
rating of Penn Central from "D3" to "D4", which in terms of the 
Chase rating system would be a reduction from a permissible sell to 
a reccmmended sell. The proposed change of rating consisted of a 
two-page memorandum which detailed the analyst's reasons for recom­
mending the change. 

This recommendation would be received by members of the invest­
ment policy committee and certain senior officers but not by all the 
portfolio managers. 

The investment policy committee met on May 26, 1970, according 
to their usual schedule and approved the downgrading of the Penn 
Central rating. This change of rating and the analyst's detailed dis­
section of the Penn Central situation was, in accordance with cus­
tomary procedure, then disseminated to all investment department 
personnel. 

Lane noted that the effect of a change from a "D3" to a "D4" 
rating was that: 

If the account manager does not sell, he has got to answer for his decision not 
to sell, in terms of the policy guidelines that have been given to him . . . He 
not only has the delegated authority to sell a 4, if he doesn't sell, he has a lot of 
explaining to do.· . 

These investment policy guidelines applied to all accounts held by 
Chase, including nondiscretionary accounts. Also, this guideline would 
upply to Chase's investment advisory service. 

Thus, as of May 26, 1970, by virtue of the action of the investment 
policy committee, Chase's Fiduciary Investment Department per­
sonnel were strongly advised to sell any Penn Central stock hE,lld by 
accounts they managed or advised. . 

In order to determ.iiJ.e the evolution of this change of rating, the 
st.[\.ff deposed the financial.analyst who recommended the change and 
provided the reasoning therefor. ". ,. '. . 

Pa1.!1 P. Lehr was a financial analyst in the Fiduciary Investment 
Department of Chase. After approximately 1 yeat's experience in 
financial analysis and management training, he was assigned in April 
1970' as the analyst for the surface transportation industries with 
which he had no previous experience. Lehr stated that he had:, ' . 

. . . full investment responsibility .... I have the full scope of responsibility" 
rnr my particular securities. . 

Lehr noted that he wp.'3 prohibited hy Chase's internal policy from 
tnlking with the commercial department of the bank. Lehr c()uld 
,peak to the technical research department which serviced both the 
lrust and commercial departments. However, the technical research 
depllrtment was prohibited from discussing specific companies and' 

... 1 ".. ..-. 
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In executing his investment responsibilities with respect to rail­
roads, Lehr utilized as his principal sources of information, brokerage 
research reports, Moody's :Manuals, reports of the Interstate Commerce 
Commission, and reports of the American Association of Railroads, as 
well as any annual and quarterly reports maintained in Chase's re­
search files. Additionally, Lehr would review any <:locuments, e.g., 
prospectuses, relative to a public financing. 

Lehr would receive a monthly computer printout of holdings of vari­
ous Chase accounts of a particular security which would indicate any 
changes from the previous month's holdings. 

In the ordinary course of his duties, Lehr was expected to prepare 
and disseminate to the Fiduciary Investment Department personnel an 
informal document known as a flash report which would inform them 
d any current information about a specific company which he deemed 
significant. 'rhese flash reports, and also information memoranda 
(merely a longer version of a flash report), would not be submitted to 
0: approved by the investment policy committee, but merely by the 
dIrector of research. 

If a change in rating were to be made, an analyst such as Lehr would 
initiate the process. The next step would be a review by the research 
review committee. 

However, Lehr stated that it was his normal procedure that before 
this rating review and change process was initiated and/or completed 
he would speak with the portfolio managers regarding a specific 
security. Lehr stated: 

I try t.o talk to portfolio managers who I know have a large interest, whether it 
be in a number of shares or the importance within a single account. 

With respect to Penn Central in particular, Lehr's first written 
document was a flash report dated May 13, 1970. Lehr, in describing 
the circumstances surrounding this flash report, stated that the 
predecessor surface transportation analyst had received a call from 
James Reynolds, an institutional salesman for Butcher & Sherrerd. 
Reynolds told the analyst that Butcher & Sherrerd was recommending 
a switch which Lehr interpreted as a change from a buy recommenda­
tion to a permissibe sale recommendation. 

After this call, Lehr was instructed to call the research director for 
Butcher & Sherrerd, a Ted Bromley,. to find out what the main points 
were that he thought made Penn Central a switch in recommenda­
tion. 

According to Lehr, this conversation took place on May 12 or May 
13, 1970. Lehr stated that: 

... everything Mr. Bromley discussed was either information available in th~ 
annual report of Penn Central [or] was just knowledge you gain by experience. 

It is important to note that although this conversation took place on 
May 12 or 13 and although Bromley discussed the April 27 prospectus, 
the revised prospectus of May 12 was not discussed by Bromley and 
Lehr was unaware of it. In fact, according to Lebr the earliest he was 
aware of the May 12 revised prospectus would have been May 22, 
1970. . 

After this conversation with Bromley, Lehr decided to make an 
extensive analysis of Penn Central. He spoke with Chase's research 
director and received his approval to make the analysis his first 

• '. ...... .1 --- - _____ -In-l ~~ """1..-,, <>n o:>yt.p.ns1VA analysis of data 
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provided by Moody's Transportation Manual and the April 27, 1970, 
prospectus for the $100 million Pennsylvania Co. debenture offering. 

Lehr had been aware of the- first quarter loss of Penn Central but 
had not been alarmed, partially due to the fact that a loss was ex­
pected and due to his experience in the arer •. Consequently, he had 
not done anything more than note the loss and informally discuss it 
with his predecessor who shared his lack of alarm. 

The flash report of May 13, 1970, was essentially a report of the 
conversation with Bromley, the fact that Butcher & Sherrerd was 
recommending a change and certain financial data which Lehr had 
obtained from various public sources. Lem noted in the flash report 
that Butcher and Sherrerd was a firm which knew Penn Central well. 

Lehr stated the importance of this was that: 
I was putting this out to the portfolio managers in order to givc them an idea 

that this isn't only Paul Lchr with 1 month's experience informing them that thc 
situation dcserves a scrutiny, but that here was a firm that knew Penn Ccntral 
supposedly well as witnessed by their being bul1ish on the stock and writing this 
bullish rcport ... here was a firm going out saying we are no longer recommending 
purchase. 

_ After distributing the flash report, LehI" arranged to see Jonathan 
O'Herron, vice president of Penn Cent.ral, to try to obtain further in­
formation such as the sources and uses of funds. However, the meeting 
which took place on May 15, 1970, was aborted by O'Herron without 
anv substantial discussion. 

Lehr then resumed preparing his detailed analysis of Penn Central's 
financial condition. He tried to reach O'Herron by telephone repeatedly 
but was unsuccessful. 

By May 22, Lehr's recommendation for a change in rating of Penn 
Central stock had been prepared. Lehr also spoke with portfolio 
managers, including James IVlartin, about Penn Central during the 
week of May 18-22, 1970. Lehr discussed Penn Central's financial 
situation, both present and projected, and his proposed change in rating. 
Lehr spoke with portfolio managers in the pension, personal trust, and 
investment advisory areas. 

Although the portfolio managers did not receive Lehr's memoran­
dum of May 22, he had orally conveyed the substance of same to a large 
number of them prior to May 22. _ 

Lehr did not recall whether the research review group approved the 
change in rating on Friday, May 22, or Monday, May 25, but in any 
event the investment policy committee did in fact approve the change 
in rating on Tuesday, May 26. '1'he information regarding the change 
in rating would have been disseminated to all Fiduciary Investment 
Department personnel by Wednesday, May 27, However, the portfolio 
managers had beg'un selling during the week of May 18-22. 

Lehr stated that he and Louis J. Kleinrock of the research gron p met 
with Burt Habgood, vice president in charge of the Pension Trust De­
partment. LehI" spoke with Habgood and with Martin, who was also 
present at the meeting, about the substance of the May 22 memoran­
dum regarding Penn Central. 

However, Lehr could not recall exactly when the meeting occurred 
but felt that it probably was the week of IVIay 25 or later. This fixing of 
the time of the meeting was due to the fact that Lehr recalled that 
?v[llrtin stated that he had sold out most of his position in Penn Cen­
tral, which according to Lep.!" would have May 26 at the earliest. 
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Lehr stated that purpose of the meeting was to provide Habgood 
and his department with the analyst's latest information and judgment 
about Penn Central and to inquire whether holdings of Penn Central 
had been reduced to an extent commensurate with thc risk. . 

Lchr spoke ,vith Don Bcrry, vice president in charge of thc Personal 
Trust and Invcstment Advisory Departments the day following his 
mceting with Habgood. Esscntially, this conversation covered the 
same points Lehr had previously discussed with Habgoocl. 

Lehr's conversation with Berry occurred at the request of Kleinrock 
who felt that both a.reas of the Fiduciary Investment Department 
should be equally informed. 

After this meeting and conversation, Lehr issued a flash report 
c\ated :1\1ay 29, 1970, which essentially announced the cancellation of 
the $100 million debenture offering. 

After these events and prior to the reorga.nization, Lehr did not 
issue any other written reports about Penn Central and his involve­
ment, if any, would have been limited to discussions with the portfolio 
managers about Penn Central. 

lVlartin had four portfolio managers reporting directly to him as 
well as personally managing certain pension accounts. :Martin was 
one of two officers who had responsibility for supervision of the pension 
trust portfolio managers, subject to the supervision of the head of the 
Pension Trust Departmen t, Habgood. 

:Martin stated that his: 
... primary respom;ibility is the accounts which are dircctly assigned to me, 
which nre 13 in number. Secondarily, I havc rcsponsibility fur the administration 
of the division of which I am head. 

Additionally, :Martin was a member of the pension trust investment 
committee. 

lVIartin recalled that he had met with Lehr, Kleinrock, and Habgood 
regarding Penn Central, but he could not remember the date of the 
meeting. However, he did indicate that it prc,bably wlts prior to May 
26 when the change in rating of Penn Central was officially made. 

Martin stated that at the meeting they discussed: 
Wh~tt course of action we should be taking with rcspect to Pcnn Central stock 

that we held, and we really debated as to whether or not the stock should be 
Bold and should be sold across the board within the pension department. 

Martin noted that the information discussed at the meeting was 
based upon the first quarter report of Penn Central and the first 
offering circular for the $100 million debenture offering. 

Martin recalled that they did discuss at the meeting that Lehr was 
recommending a change in the rating of Penn Central stock. 

Although Martin could not recall the precise date of the meeting 
he was certain that it occurred before he began selling Penn Central 
stock on May 22. His recollection differs from Lehr on this point. 
Martin's memory appears more accurate since Lehr remembers being 
told to convey information to the head of the personal trust depart­
ment after the meeting with Martin. That sequence appears more 
consistent with conveying information than with checking on the 
progress of sales. 

Martin noted further that he did not see the revised offering cir­
cular until after he had begun to sell Penn Central stock. 

In discussing the management of his accounts, Martin noted that 
he had in the sorin!!" of 1969 sold suhstantiallv all of t.hp. shfl.rm; of 
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Penn Centml in these accounts at above $50 a share and then in 
November or December 1969 he bought approximately 250,000 shares' 
at about $25 a share. 

'Vith respect to the sales of Penn Central stock commencing on 
May 22, 1970, :Martin stated that his order to his tmding desk was 
at. a "level indica tion", which he explained as sales within a reasonable 
range of a specific price but not a limit price. :Martin stated that he 
gave the trading desk: 
An amount of shares to work with at the outset rather than specific orders with 
respect to specific amounts .... As I recall when Lhe orders were first entered the 
st.ock was in the 12 area and we used that as a level. The implication there is 
roughly within half a point of that in that kind of situation. 

According to :Mnrt,in all sales made for his accounts were within the 
runge of 11% to 13. These sales occurred during the period :May 22-
June 1 and dUJ'ing this entire periocl11artin had an ou ts tan ding order 
to sell. 

Martin stated that "6 or 7" of the 13 accounts he managed held 
Penn Central stock in }\1ay, 1970, and that he placed oral orders with 
his trading desk to sell 100,000 shares beginning on May 22, 1970. 

At the time of placing his initial order to sell on May 22, Martin 
indicated to the trading desk the approximate amount of his holdings 
of Penn Central but did not tell them that he wanted to seU aU his 
holdings. Mart.in st.at.ed t.ht"tt: 

I would have indicated to them the 100,000 shares and that Lhere possibly was 
anuther hundn,d behind it. The decision I made at that time was nut one to sell 
all the stock I had as far as I could sell it. It was to begin moving (lut of the stock, 
particuln.rly in those accounts where it represented significant exposure. There 
was at that time the possibility that some of the stock would have been ret[lined 

:Martin stated that. he would not. have sold all his holdings on May 
22 if such t1 sale were possible: 

I didn't. feel at that time that it was that critical a matter to move all the stock 
as fast as I could. I felt that if it was a stock I wanted to be out of I was willing 
to take a period of time to do it. I didn't think I was in any imminent danger of 
losing all my money. There was a great deal of interest in the stock at the time. 
By moving more slowly and without putting undue pressure on the market it was 
likely I could get a better price overall. 

The trading desk was able t.o unload a major part of t.his 100,000-
share order on :NIay 22. Martin continued to give orders for t.he sale 
of. Penn Central until June 1 when his accounts were sold' out . 

. Martin stat.ed t.hat. he did not know at. the time he placed the order 
whet.her the t.rades would be made t.hat day or for which specific 
accounts he \vould be selling. At the time Martin placed t.he initial 
order to sell he had a specific order of his accounts t.hat he wished t.o 
sell out. first. Martin listed the specific accounts he sold out. first and 
reit.ers.ted his reasons for selling out these specific account.s.· Martin 
stated t,hat his: 
... inLerest was to allocate to those accounts in whom-in which it represented a 
material position, which were, in my view, at lea.st more conservative in terms of 
their investment approach. 

Further Mart.in noted that.: 
The allocation was made to those accounts first which I felt either had the 

greatest. exposure in the sLock in terms of percentage holding or to those accounts 
which I felt could assume the least. risk by their nature. 
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Normally the allocation would have been made on a pro rn.ta basis 
for all accounts selling Penn Central by the trading desk on the basis 
of order tickets submitted by the portfolio managers. 

Martin noted that his decision to sell Penn Centrn.l was known by 
his fellow portfolio managers and also that the Penn Central situation 
had been extensively discussed by them. He also noted that only one 
other individual portfolio manager in his division held Penn Central 
stock. This was a :Michael Hoben, whose account which held approxi­
mately 7,500 shares was sold by him on May 19 and :May 2l. 

Although Martin was unaware of the reasons why Hoben sold, 
Chase has represented that Hoben sold on the basis of the lVlay 13 
"flash report" and his conversations with Lehr.10 

Chase had a possible avenue for the transmission of inside informa­
tion aside from the commercial" lending department. James O'Brien, 
who was a partner at Salomon Brothers and who was involved in the 
Pennco debenture offering that was aborted on May 28,1970, attended 
the l\1ay 21, 1970, meeting in Bevan's office. At that meeting, the 
underwriters were told the offering was being abandoned and that a 
government loan was being sought. O'Brien was formerly head of the 
Chase trust department. He knew all the individuals involved in the 
decision to sell Penn Centnl1 stock and in the normal course of business 
spoke with them about transactions in which Salomon was acting as 
broker. O'Brien testified that he did not recall the information dis­
closed at the May 21 meeting but thllt he is certain he never dis­
cussed Penn Central or its securities with Chase officers. 

SUMMARY 

It would appear that the commercial department of Chase would 
and did as a customary part of its loan arrangements have certain 
inside information about the financial condition of the borrower, 
Penn Centrn.l. However, Chase has claimed that, pursuant to its 

, written internal policy, such confidential information was, not com­
municated to its trust department and that the sales of Penn Central 
stock by Chase Manhattan Bank in May and June of 1970 were not 
occasioned by the receipt and use of inside information but rather 
were caused by an internal analysis of Penn Central which resulted 
in a downgrading of its rating to a point where it became an almost 
mandatory "sell" situation. 

"MORGAN GUARANTY TRUST COMPANY 01<' NEW YORK 

Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York (MGT), a wholly­
owned subsidiary of J. P. Morgan & Co., Inc., was the la!'gest single 
shareholder of Penn Central (PC) at the end of 1968 WIth 849,275 
shares held in norninee name for its trust accounts. This represented 
3.4 percent of the total PC shares outstanding. By December 31, 
1969, MGT had increa..'led its holdings to 1,173,078 shares of PC stock. 
In 1970, prior to May 28, 1970, MGT sold 208,287 shares of PC stock, 
but continued to hold 847,308 shares in pension trusts administered 
by the trust department .. But between May 29, 1970, and the filing 
for bankruptcy by PC on June 21, 1970, MGT sold 371,000 shares 
held for the pension accounts. The basis for these sales in May-June, 

.0 Letter of Howard A. Scribner, Jr., vice-president, Chase Manhattan Bank, N .A., dated May 5, IOn. 
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1970 was a trust department decision to sell PC held in all pension 
accounts. 

MGT also provided a significant amount of banking services for PC 
with $35 million in various commercial debt obligations, and it also 
was part of a consortium of banks meeting at the end of May, 1970 
to seek methods for additional financing for PC. Furthermore, MGT 
was the sole issuing agent 11 of PC commercial paper and two of 
MGT's directors were also directors of PC. 

Taken as a whole these factors raise questions on possible use of 
inside information obtained as the basis for the trust departmept's 
sales of PC stock just prior to PC's bankruptcy. 

INTERLOCKING DIRECTORS 

There were two interlocking directorships between MGT and PC. 
John T. Dorrance, Jr., a director of both Penn Central Co. and Penn 
Central Transportation Co., was a director of both J. P. Morgan & 
Co., Inc. and MGT in early 1970. He also "ras chairman of the board 
of the Campbell Soup Co. and served on the boards of John 
Wanamaker (Philadelphia) and the Penn Mutual Life Insurance Co. 
The other interlock, Thomas L. Perkins, ail attorney with the New 
York law firm of Perkins, Daniels and McCormack, served also on 
the boards of American Cyanamid, Duke Power, Discount Corp. of 
New York and General Motors Corp. 

Dorrance was the senior MGT director, having joined the board of 
Guaranty Trust Co. in the mid-1950's, but not until about 10 years 
later, after the PC merger, did he become a PC director at the invita­
tion of Stuart Saunders. Several companies Dorrance was affiliated with 
had investment accounts managed by MGT, but none of the accounts 
had any transactions in PC securities. Although Dorrance was aware 
of MGT's participation ~n First National City Bank's (FNCB) 
$300 million revolving credit arrangement ,\lith PC, he testified 
that he was not aware of the MGT holdings of PC securities, of the 
FNCB meeting, of the decision to sell PC stock on May 29, or of 
the sales by MGT in Mayor June 1970. Dorrance attended the 
May 27 PC board meeting when the PC directors were informed that 
the debenture offering was to be postponed, and the June 8, 1970, 
meeting when certain 1>0 officers were replaced. 

Perkins, \\Tho served on the finance committee of the PC board, was 
quite familiar with PC's financial condition. Like Dorrance, Perkins 
had served as a MGT director before becoming a director of New 
York Central prior to the mero-er with the Pennsylvania Railroad. 
Perkins v,,-as aware of the signifl'cant PO holdings by MGT in early 
1969 when, as it director of Discount Corp. of New York, he learned 
that MGT had purchased PC for Discount's pension plan. Upon 
inquiring, he learned that MGT's trust department was optimistic 
about PC's future, and he informed the trust department that he didn't 
care how they felt about PC, he didn't want any more PC purchased 
for the Discount pension fund. However, Perkins stated that he was 
not aware of the sales by MGT of PC in Mayor June and did not talk 
to anyone at MGT during Mayor June about PC, except for his 
discussions with John M. Meyer, chairman of the board of MGT, 

II The issuing agent processcs the physical issuance of the notes and receives and disburscs the cash in­
volved. The issuing agent is to be distinguished from the commercial paper dealer, Goldman, Sachs in this 
case, Who has rcsponsi bili ty (or marketing the paper. 
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about Perkins' resignation from the PC board of directors. Perkins 
testified that it was the practice for :MGT directors to periodically 
attend trust committee meetings at :MGT to discuss other companies 
which they also served as directors, although no information of a con­
fidential nature was given the trust committee. In a l\1ay 3, 1972, 
letter, :MGT's counsel stated: 

With respect to meetings of the full Trust Committee, we are advised that it 
was not the practice at any of these meetings to discuss affairs of a particular 
company of which one of the members of the Trust Committee was a direct.or. 
but rather the gcneral industry being presented for rcview. 

More specifically with respect to Mr. Perkins we are advised that he did not 
attend any meeting of Morgan Guaranty',:; Trnst Committee during the period 
of May 1, 1970, through the bankruptcy of Penn Central. We are further advi;;ed 
that there was no discussion of Penn Centr,.l or the railroad industry in any 
meeting of 'the full Trust Committee held during this period. 

COllIMERCIAL DEPARTMENT 

Kenneth E. MacWilliams, vice president of MGT, assumed client 
responsibility for Penn Central in April of 1970. MacWilliams reported 
that his duties regarding a particular client were to be aware of the 
client's financial needs and to partieipate in the extension of credit 
when it is necessary. Before credit is extended by l\1GT two members 
of the credit policy committee must approve any loan involving $5 
million or more, or any loan with a maturity date of over 1 year. 
Any officer can commit the bank up to these limits without committee 
apprcval. 

In February 1970, MGT declined to participate in a $50 million 
bridge loan to the Pennsylvania Co. for additional cash needs.12 

The loan was to have been unsecured, and was to have been repaiJ 
out of the proposed $100 million Pennco debenture offering. 

On May 6, 1970, Jonathan O'Herron, vice president of finance of 
Penn Central, met with representatives of the "MGT's banking division 
to discuss Penn Central's financial condition and to make a prelimi­
nary inquiry as to MGT's potentinl participation in a 60-day bridge 
loan of $20 million. Apparently MGT declined to participate in this 
loan for the same reasons it declined participation in the $50 million 
loan in Februa,ry. 

The major loan to Penn Central by MGT was a $25 million partici­
llation in the $300 million revolving credit loan which was secured by 
Pennsylvania Co. stock. At the beginning of May 1970, MGT had 
extended $20,833,333 out of its $25 million Pluticipation; $4,166,667 
remained available for Penn Central prior to the bankruptcy. 

On May 25,1970, :MacWilliams was informed by FNCB of a meeting 
to be held involving the revolving credit loan to Penn Central because 
Penn Central had estimated it needed a new loan of approximately 
$225 million if the debenture issue had to be postponed. Approxi­
mately $100 million of this amount was to be used to repay com­
mercial paper, the balance was to go for operating losses. MacWilliams 
was also told that Saunders, Bevan, and O'Herron of Penn Central 
were in Washington with Treasury Secreto,ry Kennedy and White 
House Special Counsel Flanigan to try to obtain a Governmentguaran­
tee on the new debt. 

'2 A bridge loan is a loan to blidge tbe creditor over until a pending public financin~ is completed. In this 
instance the loan was to be repaid from the proceeds of the $100 million debentui'e offering. 
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A memorandum of these conversations was sent to' Dewitt Peterkin, 
president of the bank, Stuart Cragin, chairman of the credit policy 
committee, and Frank Sandstrom, senior vice president because of the 
importance MacWilliams had placed on the telephone call. Mac­
Williams testified he did not talk to anyone in the trust and investment' 
division or the research department'during the time between the 
telephone calls and the FNCB meeting on May 28 and to his knowledge 
neither did his immediate superiors. 

The FNCB meeting took place at mid-morning on May 28, 1970. 
MacWilliams {md G. Kenneth Crowther, both bank officers, and 
Bruce W. Nichols of lVIGT's counsel, Davis Polk & Wardwell, repre­
sented :MGT. Upon returning from the FNCB meeting, 1\lacWilliams 
wrote a confidential memorandum dated l\1ay 28, 1970, to the credit 
department files reporting the events that had occurred. This memo­
randum contained a good deal of information about the financial and 
operational condition of Penn Central which at that time had not 
been publicly disclosed. It specifically referred to the existence of the 
negotiations regarding the Government guaranteed loan, the post­
ponement of the $100 million debenture offering, and the serious. 
finaneial condition of Penn Central. 

Copies of this memornndum were directed to l\1eyer, Cmgin, ancI: 
Peterkin in addition to the normal distribution in the credit depart­
ment. MacWilliams testified tbat he did not talk to anyone in the' 
trust and investment division eoncerning Penn Cent!'! ... l on May 28 or 
May 29 nor was he aware of any events involving Penn Centra.l that 
occurred at the bank on 1\1a}' 29, for example, the global order di­
recting sales of Penn Central stock in all pension accounts.13 Crowther' 
testified that he could not recall specifically speaking to anyone at. 
MGT upon returning to the bank after the FNCB meeting but some­
one, such as chairman IVIeyer, might have contacted him to find out. 
what happened. Crowther and MacWilliams were cautioned to sai 
nothing concerning the meeting. 

'rHE 'I'J!.UST AND INVES'l'lIIENT DEPAHTMENT 

The trust and -in vestment department administers in vestmen ts in 
connection with basically three types of accounts: personal trust 
accounts; investment advisory accounts; and pension accounts. For 
the personal trust and investment advisery accounts, the bank nor­
mally shares the investment responsibility with a cotrustee, while in 
the case of most pension accounts, the bank has sole investment 
responsibility. An advisor is responsible for the investment decisions 
for the account, but he is guided by two committees '\\-"'ithin the trust 
department: the committee on trust matters and the common stock 
committee. 

The internal committee on trust matters meets twice each week to 
review accounts, to consider recommendations presented by the officers 
of the trust and investment department and to formally ratify actions 
taken between regular-committee meetings. The investment officers 
buse their recommendations to the committee on trust matters on 
conclusions of the common stock committee (a committee of eight 
officers of the investment department), on information received from 
the research department, the economies department, and on previous 
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decisions of the committee on trust. matters. The total committee on 
trust matters usually meets twice a month prior to meetings of the 
board of directors or executive committee of the bank. These meetings 
are limited to consideration of general investment policies n.nd no 
discussions are held regarding individual accounts or approval or 
disapproval of specific investments. . 

The common stock committee considers both individual securities 
and industries. Although there is no rating system fer individual 
securities the common stock committee recommends by categories a 
particular issue as a "fielder's choice" to sell, or a "fielder's choice" to 
buy or to hold. When the common stock committee determines that a 
particular security falls within one of these categories, each account 
manager considers the 'recommendation in relation to the circumstan­
ces of the individual account, for example, the tax effect, the client's 
wi.shes, the company trustee's instructions and such. A recommenda­
tion is not a mandatory instruction for the account manager, but the 
manager must satisfy the committee on trust matters that acting in a 
contrary fashion to the recommendation of the common stock com­
mittee is best for a particular account in light of all the circumstances. 

MGT had purchased most of the Penn Central shares held in its 
various trust accounts just prior to the Pennsylvania Railroad and 
New York Central merger. Nearly 900,000 shares of Penn Central 
were acquired in 1966 when Lhe yearly high was 73 and the low was ·10. 
The stock was purchased primarily because of the savings expected to 
result from their merger. 11GT's research department had determined 
the PC would earn $5 pel' share during a good economic year and the 
merger should increase PC's earnings an additional $5 per share from 
cost savings. Other reasons included the high book value of Penn 
Central as compared with the then current price of PC stock, and the 
tax shelter which would result from the peculiarities of railroad ac­
counting. No shares were acquired after 1969. 

The following table shows shares held by MGT in various accounts 
at the end of 1969 and at the time of the May 28, 1970, meeting of 
banks: 

Personal trust. ____________________________________________ _ 
Investment advisory _______________ . ________________________ _ 
Pension ___________________________________________________ _ 

TotaL ______________________________________________ _ 

Dec. 31, 1969 May 28, 1970 Sales 

49,329 I 15,308 
173, 613 I 42. 770 
950,136 1847,308 

-----
1. 173,078 I 905,386 

31,692 
129,843 

46,754 

208,289 

I Besides sales, certain shares were delivered to clients by the bank for various reasons. 

Between December 31, 1969, and May 28, 1970,14 MGT sold 64 
percent of Penn Central securities in the personal trust accounts, 75-
percent of the Penn Central stock in the investment advisory accounts 
and 5 percent of the Penn Central st.ock held in the pension accounts. 
Included in the pension sales was the sale on May 19 of the entire 
position of 7,600 shares held for the Morgan Guaranty Trust Co_ of 
N ew York and Affiliated Companies Retirement Plan for the U.S . 

.. Between May 25 and May 28, MGT sold 7,000 shares of Penn Central_ May 28 was chosen for analYSis of 
Pellil Central trading because it was the day of the FNCB meeting when confidential information concerning 
Penn Central came from Bevan_ 



219 

Employees. This sale was repres~nted as necessary to provide the funds 
necessary to pay for a recent purchase of Fedeml National Mortgage 
notes, because the fund is a static fund and most purchases must 
therefore be offset by a sale of other securities in the ftmd. 

The common stock committee considered Penn Central on Jan­
uary 21, 1970, and again on May 19, 1970. A report by the research 
department, distributed prior to the January meeting, contained the 
following information: 

It now appears that the railroad operating deficit for thc fourth quarter of HJ69 
will equal or exceed the $47 million loss reported for both the third quarter of 
last year and the fourth quarter of 1968. The credibility gap between management 
and the investment community seems to be widening, since these anticipated 
results arc in direct contrast to the recent remarks of Mr. Saunders. In a letter 
to stockholders on December 1, it was stated that the merger was progressing 
satisfactorily and that railroad operating losscs will show a favorable trend in the 
fourth quarter. Our estimated final quarter results would put the operating deficit 
for the year at about $170 million, compared with $122 million for 1968 ($153 
million including the Ne\y Haven). No special transactions by the railroad or 
real estate subsidiaries took placc during thc fourth quarter. Thus, consolidated 
earnings for the year 1969 could be as low as $0.50 pershare, compared with the 
$3.91 reported for 1968. 

The lack of meaningful published information and the ret.icence on the part of 
management to thoroughly discuss the now-sensitive area of railroad operations 
makes us more uncertain about the near-term prospects for Penn Central than 
at any time in the recent past. Heretofore, our conclusions have been based on 
an analysis of management's documentation of the swing variables-i.e., sever­
ance and overtime, abnormally high per diem charges, and the attainment of 
merger savings. Despite the recent rate increase and management's statements 
that merger costs wcre being reduccd and that merger savings in the fourth quar­
ter were running at an annual rate of $:34 million, it is quite evident that the net 
benefits are being lost to yet to be defined area.'i. 

The common stock committee at the January 21 meeting cate'gorized 
Penn Central common stock as a fielder's choice to sell, 

A report prepared for the May 19, 1970, meeting concluded that: 
Penn Central does control nearly $7 billion of assets on which it should be able 

to earn a reasonable return, but we do not think it will happen in 1970. Because, 
of the poor first quarter results, we are reducing our earnings estimated for this 
year to $1.00 per share, from the previous $2.00. However, we do not have much 
confidence in our e:;timate, because of the many variables involved and manage­
ment's continued credibility gap. 

The research analyst who prepared these reports, John C. Holschuh" 
did not recall speaking to anyone at Penn Central, other analysts, or 
anyone at MGT. The common stock committee at the May 19, 1970, 
meeting continued Penn Central stock as a fielder's choice to sell. 

MGT normally.exercises sole investment discretion for pension 
accounts; thus transactions in these accounts differ slightly from t4e 
procedures for effecting transactions in personal trust and advisory 
accounts. Each pension account is reviewed quarterly by the commit­
tee on trust matters, but most of the activity occurs between the 
formal review and is approved by the officer in charge of the pension 
account managers and later ratified by the committee on trust matters_ 

A global order is used to designate a security to be bought or sold 
for all pension accounts managed by MGT. In the case of a global 
order to sell, all shares held by the pension accounts are sold at the 
best price obtainable with allocation of specific sales to individual 
accounts done on an equal basis, each account receiVing a daily average 
price for the shares sold. A global order thus, in effect, preempts the 

_oDinions of all inrlivirlllR.l R.r',(,.Ollnt, TrlA-nAO""""" AT'rl it. rlna", n ... t I-olrn ;nl-", 
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On May 29, the day after the FNCB meeting, Samuel R. Callaway, 
executive vice president {md head of the trust department, Harrisott V. 
Smith, senior vice president, and Carl E. Hathaway, senior vice 
president met in the morning and decided to place a global order to 
sell all the Penn Central shares held by the pension accounts. All 
three men met shortly after arriving at work and discussed what they 
felt was the serious financial condition of Penn Central. While Calla­
way and Hathaway could not recall the specific details of the meeting, 
Smith testified: 

Quest-l(jn. Then after you arrived at the bank on the morning of the 29th, you met 
uithMr. Callaway and lIfr. Hathaway? 

Answer. That's right. And we decided despite the decline in the price in the 
stock, it sho'uld be sold for pensions on a global basis, and Hathaway implemented 
that decision. 

QttCslion. Now was this meeting the first thing in the morning, do you recall? 
Answer. I don't recall exactly. It was probably sometime after our routine 9 :15 

meeting of the entire department, so I would place it at half past nine or 10 
o'clock, something like that. 

Question. Do your recall where you met? 
Answer. Somewhere on the fourth floor, but I can't recall whether it was lVIr. 

Callaway's office or in the space outside of it where the rest of us sit. 
Question. How long did this meeting last? 
Ariswer. I believe it lasted 2 or 3 minutes at the most. 

The decision was reached without contacting the research depart­
ment at :MGT because all three felt they knew enough to make an 
informed investment decision. The sale was not discussed at the 
routine staff meeting that morning, but according to Hathaway such 
a sale would not normally be discussed at the staff meeting. 

The decision to sell was based primarily on the disclosure 111 the l\1ay 
29, 1970 Wall Street Journal of the postponement of the debenture 
offering. Smith testified concerning the significance of the postponed 
offering: 

Question. And there was a very real feeling, then by those making this investment 
decision for the bank, that if Penn Central could have gotten the $100 million they 
poss1:bly might have been able to survive? 

Answer. It mght have given them enough breathing space to bring'some order 
into the operation of the railroad, and salvage somethng from the situation. 

Question. In view of the fact the debenture had is rating lowered to Double B, and 
in view of the fact that the intenst rate was set at 10}~ percent, could it not have been 
fairly anicipated at this tt'me that this offering would not go through? Did it come as 
any surprise to you, l\IIr. Smith, that the debenture offering was postponed? 

Answer. Yes, I was surprised'that it had,gone this far, and it would have been 
,more usual if First Boston, who are the principal investment bankers involved in 
fl, situation like this had said early on there is no point in this. And they had gone 
-so far as to schedule the issue for early in June. So it was Eurprising to us that they 
,couldn't sell it~ Because, of course, that was the situation that caused the post­
ponement of the offering was that they didn't have the buyers. 
, Question. Did you attach importance to the fact that they had gone'so far and did this 
"have any effect on your investment decision on the morning of the 29th'i 

, Answer. I can't remember any discussion along those lines. The significance of 
it, was that when the offering was scheduled in May, the underwriters felt there 
was a possibility or they wouldn't have done so. By the time May 29 came alon 
,the sentiment had deteriorated so that it was no longer possible to do so. 

In arriving at the decision to sell Penn Central, all three men testi­
fied that they did not contact anyone else either at Morgan Guaranty 
Trust or outside the bank concerning Penn Central. Smith and 
Hathaway testified that they were not then aware of the negotiations 
concerning the government guaranteed loan or the meeting the pre­
vious day at FNCB attended by representatives of Morgan Guaranty 
.Tf'~ •• "4-
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After the decision to sell was made, Hathaway placed by telephone 
a global order to sell approximately 800,000 shares of Penn Central 
with the trading desk at :Morgan Guaranty Trust 15 with no specific 
instructions concerning the price, the timing of the sales or the manner 
in which the stock was to be sold. Standard procedure at Morgan 
Guaranty Trust is to sell as much as possible at the best price obtain­
able without affecting the mu-rket. 

Between the institution o[ the global order and the bankruptcy 
petition, Morgan Guaranty Trust sold 371,000 of the 847,308 shares, 
held [or the pension accounts on :March 29. In the personal trust ac­
counts, only 4,102 shares out of 15,308 were sold during this period, 
and 29,660 shares in advisory accounts were sold out of 42,770 shares. 
In aU, sales due to the global order represented 92 percent of all the 
Penn Central sales druing the period between May 29 and June 19. 

The table on the next page shows the sales by Morgan Guaranty 
Trust during the period: 

Date 

May 29 .. · ..........................•........................•.. : 
June: 

I. ......................................................... . 
2 ..............................•............................ 
3 .•.........•............................................... 
4 •••.••...••••••••••.••.•.••.••••.••••.••••••..•..•.••• "'" 
5 ............•.............................................. ' 
8 .......................................................... . 
9 ..............................•............................ 

10 ...........•..................•............................ 
11. •......................................................... 
12 ...........•..................•............................ 
15 .......................................................... . 
16 .•......................................................... 
17 ...........•.............. """ .......................... . 
18 .•.........•....•.............•............................ 
19 .•....... '" ..•...............•... " ...................... . 

Shares 

Sales 

45,930 

32, 000 
25,900 
24,435 
42,300 
41, 000 

a 
96,450 
52, 087 
30,775 

360 
a 

425 
200 

11,600 
a 

MGT 
sales as a 

Exchange 
percentage of 

exchange 
volume volume 

212,545 21. 6 

117, 008 27.3 
151,921 17. a 
119,478 20.4 
126,771 33.3 
113,410 36.1 
48,595 a 

253,804 38. a 
258,515 20.1 
117,413 26.2 
399,457 . 09 
151,746 a 
114,957 .3 
113, 086 .1 
88,783 13. a 
77,786 a 

The majority of the sales were placed through Dean Witter, hilt on 
t\\"o occasions sales were executed through Eastman Dillon, Union 
Securities & Co. 

The orders for sales were normally given to Dean Witter to sell "at 
market" in 5,000 and 10,000 lots. When a particular lot was sold, the 
trader would give Dean Witter another order and vary the instructions 
as to whether it was to be a limit order or a market order. Ronald C. 
Ivory, the trader, testified that he tries to sell about one-third of the 
volume when attempting to liquidate a large position because he has 
found this to be the best procedure to follow so as not to depress the 
ma-rket price of the security. Furthermore, he would not try to sell a 
position as la-rge as the Penn Central holdings in several block transac­
tions because a broker positioning a block would compete in the 
marketplace with Morgan Guaranty Trust when it unloaded the block 
subsequently. . .r 

As the table reflecting the trades by Morgan Guaranty Trust reveu,ls, 
roughly half of the global order was sold between May 29 and Junell. 
The only day :Morgan Guaranty Trust did not trade was on June 8. 
I vory testified that he was instructed not to sell any shares of Penn 

" 'rho. ",,,,,I. "lnonnt to be sold was Inter determined alter checking the bank's records. 
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Central on that date by his immediate superior, who gave no reason 
for the instruetions. Apparently Meyer had ordered the trading 
stopped. In a memorandum supplied by counsel, the reasons for not 
trading on June 8 are set forth: 

EVENTS LEADING TO DJ,CISION To SUSPEND SI,r.r.JNG OF PENN CJ,NTRAL STOCK 
ON JUNI, 8, 1970 

On Sd.turday and Sunday, June 6 iLnd June 7, U)70, a. serie:; of meetings were 
held at the Federal Heserve Bank in New York City which were attended by 
representatives of the U.S. Department of C~)Jnm:)rce, c:lul1s3l for the U.S. Depart­
ment of Transportation, officers of the Federal Reserve Ba.nk of New York, 
representatives of three New York bd.nks (lVlorgan Guaranty, First National 
City, and Chemical), and representatives of First National Bank of Chicago and 
Mellon National Bank & Trust Co. In attendance from Morgan Guaranty were 
John M. Meyer, Jr., Chairman of the Board, and Kenneth E. MacWilliams, a 
Vice President, who were accompanied by Bruce Nichols of Davis Polk & Ward­
well, counsel for Morgan Guaranty. 

During the course of these meetings, several statements were made which led 
1\11'. Nichols to conclude that at some time on Monday, June 8, t\ Board of Di­
rectors meeting of the Penn Central Company would be held at which important 
top-management changes might be made, changes which would be of Huch an 
unusual nature as cle:1rly to indicate that Penn Central was in the gravest financial 
difficulty. 

No one from the Trust and Investment Division of lVIorgan Guaranty was in 
attendance at any of the meetings over this weekend, and neither Mr. Meyer, 
1\1r. :MacWilliams, nor NIl'. Nichols informed any member of the trust and invest­
ment division of what had occurred. Nonetheless, 1\11'. Nichols was concerned that, 
because of the quasi-public nature of these meetings, which he felt might attract 
attention by reason of their being held on Saturday and Sunday at the Fedcral 
Reserve Bank with so many prominent persons in attendance, information as 
to the possible impending management change might leak out and come to the 
attention of someone iil the Trust and Investment Division from some other 
source. lIc was further concerned that if sales were made on June 8, someone might 
later contend that information relating to such change had come to them from 
Mr. Meyer or 1\11'. MacWilliams. Under these circumstances, he felt that the 
safest thing to do was to advise the Trust and Investment Division not to make 
any trades in Penn Central on June 8. 

On the afternoon of June 8, the news of the management f'hakeup was publicly 
announced and this news was prominently featured in the New York Timee and 
the Wall Street Journal on June 9. In view of the public disclosure of this informa­
tion, it was felt that there was no longer any reason to refrain from making sales 
under the global order and the Trust and Investment Division was so advised 
before the opening of trading on June 9. 

After resuming trading on June 9, Morgan Guaranty Trust all but 
ceased selling PC in significant amounts on June 12 until after the 
bankruptcy petition. By June 21, 44 percent of the shares under the 
global order had been sold.16 Hathawa,y testified that a hold was placed 
on the sal(\s because the market price of Penn Central had fallen ap­
proximately 25 percent from the time the global order was placed, and 
beeause he believed that the Federal Government would not permit a 
company the size of Penn Central to fail. It was Hathaway's·responsi­
bility to obtain the best price possible once the decision to sell was made 
and he felt the price of PC would regain some of the 25 percent decline. 

Although Perul Central was discussed at the corporate office meeting 
on June 10, the discussion did not involve the sales of Penn Central 
other than the change in Penn Central management on June 8. Meyer 
did not attend the meeting and although Callaway was. present at the 

" Practically all the remaining 468,600 shares of Penn Central held for the pension Bccounts were sold 
between June 25 Bnd June 30. Morgan Guaranty Trust sold the rest of Penn Central for the pension accounts 
after the bankruptey petition because it felt there would be nothing left for the shareholders in any type of . 
eventual liqWdation. Selling was not immediately resumed beeause the initial news of the bankruptcy 
......... Hf;,...., ...:I ............... co ... .i -t-hn ..,,"";,.0 nr "Pon" f'"'!ontrol .4 (tor ~o\1prQl rla"l:T(l t.ho nrif"P n( "Ponn C;pnt.TR.l rnc;p, .c:.nmp.whR.t 
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meeting, he stated that no one instructed him to cease selling Penn 
Central. 

By June 19, Morgan Guaranty Trust had sold 57 percent of the total 
Penn Central shares held for the various trust accounts at the begin­
ning of 1970. Specifically, 77 percent of the shares held in the personal 
trust accounts, 92 percent of the investment advisory holdings, and 50 
percent of the pension shares had been sold. In the accounts for which 
l\10rgan Guaranty Trust exercised sole investment discretion 50 per­
cent'of the shares had been sold. Eighty-nine percent of the shares had 
been sold in the accounts in 'which Morgan Guaranty Trust shared the 
investment responsibility with a cotrustee. 

The allocation of the sales under the global order to particular pen­
sion accounts was done in a manner so as to affect each account equally. 
The percentages of Penn Central held in each pension account were sub­
stantially identical on May 29 and June 19. 

At the time of the filing of the bankruptcy petition, there were 19 
personal trust accounts and nine advisory accounts which still held 
Penn Central. Documents submitted by Morgan Guaranty Trust 
indicate that the appropriate party for each such account had been 
contacted by his adviser before June 19 with the recommendation to 
sell Penn Central, but the person sharing the investment responsibility 
declined to sell Penn Central at the time. Smith testified concerning 
the decision to place the global order and the effect of this decision OP 

the nonpension accounts: 
Question. Now, during the discussions which occu,rred at this very brief meeting 

[when the global order was placed] was any thought given to the accounts still holding 
Penn Central which would not have been involved in the global order? 

Answer. I don't recall any discussion of those accounts, however, entering the 
global order did change the situation for the nonpension account::;, becau::;e it 
meant that there was unanimity among the trust committee members, who were 
in the trust investment division, that it should be sold. And I am Ratisfied that 
John l\1cGinnis and Harry Barbee, who are in charge of the nonpension side, put 
additional pressure on the investment advisors who report to them, to try to get 
their clients to sell the stock. . 

The nonpension side had been selling the stock for months, and as I mentioned 
earlier, they sold 70 percent, roughly, of what they had ... we were down to 
what seemed to be a hard core of accounts. It was difficult to move the stock out 
because of the attitude of the elient or cotrustee. In addition, I was going to Ray, 
there is a certain amount of latitude, even under these circumstances, allowed to 
the investment managcr in charge of specific accounts, the interpretation of 
instructions, such as fielder's choice to sell, and some of the investment advisors 
on the nonpension side were not so eager to sell the stock as some others. 

And while I am sure they had all contacted their clients as they had bcen 
instructed to, I don't know how forcefully they had to put it, but in any case, 
after the global order was entered on the pension side, and McGinnis and Barbee 
had put addiLional pressure on all the investment advisors to go back to their 
accounts and see what they could do to get it out. 

Smith stated that it was unlikely that each non pension account 
cotrustee or beneficiary was told that l\10rgan Guaranty Trust had 
placed a global order for the pension accounts but that increased 
emphasis was put on obtaining the approval of the cotrustees to sell 
Penn Central. 

Since the bankruptcy petition, 27 of the 28 trust accounts have sold 
their Penn Central holdings. Most of the accounts liquidated their 
positions in June and July after filing of the bankruptcy petition; 
several held their Penn Central securities until October, 1970. 
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MGT POLICY OF SEPARATION OF TRUST AND COMMERCIAL 
DEPARTi\'IENTS 

. Morgan Guaranty Trust has an established policy regarding the 
treatment of confidential information obtained by its representatives 
in the normal course of their duties. The bank's general rules and 
regulations prohibit the improper use of such information. Rule 1 
concerning confidential information states in part: 

In the case of confidential information received from a customer, disclosure 
within the company must not extend beyond those pcrsons who need to know the 
information in order to serve the particular customer from whom the information 
was received. In the case of confidential information of other types [including 
but not limited to such matters as customer identification, balances other account 
information, security trading activity and investment programsl disclosure must 
not extend beyond those persons within the Company who require such information 
for the efficient performance of their duties. 

In addition to the general rule, Morga,n Guaranty Trust has cir­
culated memoranda concerning special responsibilities to both the 
general bankipg clivision and the trust department. 
. The memorandum to the general bankmg division, which was first 
issued on November 8, 1968, specifically prohibits the transmitting or 
providing confidential information obtained from a client of the bank­
ing division to anyone making an investment decision for :Morgan 
Gl.laranty Trust. Procedures adopted to implement this policy include 
a prohibition agaiPst transmitting trip reports or conversations with 
clients to the trust department and the research department, and the 
denial of access to the banking department files to the trust depart­
ment. In addition, a memorandum to the trust department originally 
circulated in September 1968, requires each member of the trust de­
partment to clearly identify himself as requesting information from 
an investment standpoint and not from a commercial banking stand­
point. 

Before May 27, 1970, the corporate research department at Morgan 
Guaranty Trust served both the banking division and the trust 
department. Th~ research department was divided at the end of May 
to serve the trust department and the remainder of corporate research 
,vas moved to the banking division to serve that division exclusively. 
This separation was represented as designed to ease the administra­
tive burden and to remove the problems caused by having one research 
department serve two entities. Smith also conceded that another 
purpose was served: 

Answer. * * * or course, I am also aware that while the research and corporate 
research personnel had seemed to be able to handle problems of potential conflicts' 
of interest arising from their working for more than one part satisfactorily, it put 
us in the position that somebody might say that this wa.~ a hole in the wall thnt 
existed between us [the Trust Department] and the commercial bank. 

The timing of the division of the research department, it was testi-
fied, has nothing to do with Penn Central. . 

Holschuh was a vice president of Morgan Guaranty Trust, and its 
analyst in charge of railroads. During April and May of 1970,-he met 
with officers of both the banking division and the trust department 
concerning Penn Cent.ral. Holschuh met with :MacWilliams of the 
banking division on several occasions. During the course of these 
meetings, Holschuh briefed Mac Williams on the operational history 

• . .: ___ 1 _L_ .. _ ..... n ;..f Ponn t:pnt.l·fl.l. hll~ Holschuh stated 
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. that l\lacWilJiams did not tell him anything about Penn Central. 
Holschuh further testified that he never was aware of the size of loans 
to Penn Central by Morgan Guaranty Trust nor was he aware of any 
banking a.n-ungements between Penn Central and l\/Iorgan Guaranty 
Trust and that :Mac Williams never sent any information to Holschuh 
about Penn Central. On May 27, the day before the FNCB meeting, 
Holschuh was transferred permanently to the banking division and 
assigned to do statisLical studies on Penn Central to assist Morgan 
Guaranty Trust in eva!nating its loans in li/?:h t of Penn Central's 
financial condition. He did not, however, learn of the sale of the pension 
shares 01 the trades of Penn Central during IVIuy and June until some· 
2 years later. 

SUMMARY 

Admittedly the commercial department of l\·forgan Guaranty Trust 
Co. was in possession of nonpublic information regarding the financial 
condition and future Yiability of Penn Central prior to the global 
order sales by the trust department on l\tIay 29, 1970. However, Mor­
gan Guaranty Trust personnel stated that such information was not 
passed to the trust department and that the global order and the sub­
sequent sales were based upon information which was available from 
the news media. 

CONTINENTAL ILLINOIS NATIONAL BANK & TRUST Co. 

Continental Illinois National Bank & Trust Co. of Chicago, Ill. 
(CINB) was involved with Penn Central both b~T virtue of loans 
extended to Penn Central and its subsidiaries and by its holdings of 
common stock of Penn Central in trust accounts managed or advised 
by its trust department. As of June 1, 1970, the commercial department 
of CINB held outstanding debt of approximately $24 million of Penn 
Central and its subsidiaries and during early June it became a member 
of a 10-bank steering committee which was participating in a plan to 
secure a federally guaranteed loan· to Penn Central. CINB's trust 
department held for various pension and profit sharing trusts, personal 
trusts, and agency trusts approximately 422,000 shares of Penn Cen­
tral common stock as of June 11, 1970. The overwhelming proportion 
of CINB's holdings of Penn Central stock were sold between June 12, 
1970, and June 19, 1970, at which time the commercial department 
was receiving information regarding the financial situation of Penn 
Centrn.l and the status of negot.iations for the Government guaranteed 
loan. That the bank was the recipient of significant nonpublic in­
formation which would reflect on the value of Penn Central securities 
while the trust department. was engaged ina program of selling Penn 
Oentral securities raises questions as to whether such information 
was passed on to the trust department forming the basis for sales of 
Penn Central stock. 

COMlIIERCIAL DEPARTMENT 

CINB's commercial clepartment for a number of years prior to 1970 
had participated in various lending arrangements to Penn Central and 
its subsidiaries. In June 1970, CINB held outstanding loans to 
Penn Central and its subsidiaries of apprm.-imately $24 million com-
... _;_.:.. _1 _or.1 II '1'1. ,.. . 
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million revolving credit loan which was secured by 100 percent of the 
common stock of the Pennsylvania Co.; (2) a $4 million participation 
in a $50 million unsecured revolving Eurodollar commitment; (3) 
$3,898,000 of direct equipment lease financing arrangements; (4) 
$735,000 of equipment financing comprised of conditional sales con­
tracts; and (5) a $140,000 equipment financing comprising a condi­
tional sales contract to the Indiana Harbor Belt Railway Co. 

Thus, CINB with $19 million of outstanding loans was the ninth 
largest lender to Penn Central excluding direct equipment loans n,nd n, 
Swiss franc 10anY 

CINB first became involved in attempts to mise additional emer­
gency financing for Penn Central when it was invited to a May 28,1970 
meeting called by First N ationol City Bank and Penn Central. Al­
though the invitation was extended to a senior officer of CINB's main 
office in Chicago, Donald Myers from the New York City office at­
tended. Myers had not been previously involved in loan arrangements 
with Penn Central, but he attended the meeting because Gerald Mast, 
the officer most closely associated with Penn Central, was only just 
.eturning to a partial work schedule after an illness. Myers, the only 
CINB representative to attend the May 28, 1970, meeting, was 
generally unfamiliar with the pa.rticulars of Penn Centml financial 
affairs. 

At the May 28 meeting, David Bevan, chief financial officer of 
Penn Central, outlined the causes of the liquidity crisis as the result 
of merger problems, namely an inability to keep refinancing its com­
mercial paper in quantities greater than repayments due on maturity 
dates and Standard & Poors downgrading of the Pennsylvania Co. 
debenture offering to a double "B" rating. Bevan stated that Penn 
Central required an aggregate of $263 million of cash in 1970 primarily 
to meet maturing debt obligations including $100 million of com­
mercial paper, and to underwrite anticipated losses. Bevan proposed 
that the necessary funds could be rasied by a $225 million bank loan 
guaranteed by the Federal Government, a $25 million increase of an 
existing $50 million loan to the Pennsylvania Co. and $13 million 
from Penn Central's continued sales of real estate or cutbacks in 
compensating bank balances. With regard to future prospects, Bevan 
expressed the view that the diversification program of Penn Central 
should produce increased profits in coming years and that he antici­
pated that railroad operations could break even in 1971. Following 
this general meeting, First National City Bank and Chemical Bank 
were to meet with Bevan to struc~ure a banking lending committee 
to work out the details of bank participation in the refinancing 
program. 

" The 10 largest lending banks based upon compOSite bank loans excluding direct equipment loans and a 
Swiss franc loan were: -

Million 
First National City 13ank __ ~ __________________________________________________________________ $63.2 
iVlanufacturern Rnnover._____ __ ____________ ______ ____ ________ __ _ _____________ _____ ____________ 40.0 
Chase Manhattan Bank_________________ __________________________ _ ____ _____________ ______ ____ 34.2 
Chemical Bank_____ __ __ _______________________________________ __ ____________ ____ __________ ___ 31. 2 

~~~1.;;~~?B-ank-.;ichiii8g0~~::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::: ~:g M(lrgan Guaranty Trust Co_ _ __________________________________ __________ ___________ ________ _ 25. ~ 
M.llon Bank____ _ __ __ ____ _ __ __ __ ___ __ __ __ ___ __ ________ ____ __ _ ____ _ _ _ _ _ __ __ __ ____ ____ _ _ _ __ _ _ __ _ 22.0 
CINB _ ______ __ _____ _ __ __ ___ __ __ __ _ _ _ __ _ _ ___ _ ___ _ __ __ _ ___ __ _ _ ___ _ _ _ ___ _ __ _ __ _ _ ____ __ __ ___ __ _ _ _ 19.0 
Bank~r; Trust__ _ __ ____ ___ __ _ ___ _ __ _ _ ___________ _____ _ __ _ _ _______ __ _ __ _ _ __ __ __ _ __ _ __ ___ _ ___ __ _ 15.0 

. _____________________________________________________________________ 30~.4 
... ______________ 494.0 
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At the next meeting of banks on June 3, 1970, called by. First 
National City Bank for the 10 largest bank lenders to Penn Central,tB 
interim developments were reviewed includinl? the June 2 applica­
tion for the $225-million loan, the rejection by the various banks of the 
proposed $25-million increase in the Pennsylvania Co.'s revolving 
credit, and the drawing down by Penn Central of the remaining $33 
million of a $300 million revolving bank credit arrangement. Also 
discussed at this meeting were plans to secure the $225-million loan 
and a proposed interim measure consisting of the 10 participating banks 
each providing $5 million as a forerunner of the Government guaran­
teed loan. Six of the banks attending the meeting had previously 
agreed to their ratable share; Chase, Irving Trust, Morgan and CINB 
were still uncommitted. The loan policy committee of CINB on 
June- 5 reviewed the Penn Central liquidity crisis and the plans for 
refinancing, and approved the bank's $5 million participation "If a 
proper spread of collateral could be arrived at to improve our present 
position." (All CINB loans were secured except for the $4 million 
Eurodollar loan.) 
_ The next meeting of participating banks was held on June 10 at 
the Federal Reserve Bank of New York at which three representatives 
of CINB attended. Paul Gorman, chairman of Penn Central,t9 made a 
presentation of Penn Central's financial and operational plans while 
u. representative of First National City Bank reported that the 10-bank 
steering committee had reached general agreement on the $225-million 
loan, with each bank taking a prorata share, and on a moratorium on 
present debt. The final speaker was Paul Volcker, Under-Secretary of 
the Treasury, who reviewed the administration's intentions to utilize 
the Defense Production Act to guarantee the loan ,vith a maturity 
to October 31, 1971, at which time new legislation was anticipated to 
provide financing for Penn Central and other railroads. 

In between these meetings, CINB personnel involved in the negotia­
tionsfor the loan to Penn Central kept contact with the primary 
banks involved and kept officials at the Chicago office appraised of 
developments of the plans for the Government loan. However, each 
of the witnesses from the commercial department and the trust depart­
ment denied that there was any contact or flow of information between 
these departments. The first time that CINB apparently became aware 
that the Government was not going to support the loans was on 
June 19. 

TRUST DEPARTMENT 

The trust department of CINB is divided into three groups by 
general classification of types of accounts managed or advised, namely 
employee pension or profit-sharing trust, personal trust, and agency 
trust. Account advisers have responsibility for the investments in 
specified accounts. Their discretion regarding investment decisions, 
however, is guided by the trust department's stock selection committee 
(SSG) which has the responsibility for conveying to the portfolio 
managers information given out by security analysts from the trust 
department and from outside brokerage firms, and making recom­
mendations for the purchase and sale of securities. The SSC transmits 

I!I Sec list of br.nkc; in previous foot;}otJ on page 223. 
" Stuart Saunder;;, chairman of POllll COlltral and Da,id Bovan, ohiel financial officer, h!ld resigned ou 

lulle 9, 1970. 
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its recommendations to account advisers by weekly "buy" and "source 
of funds" lists. Changes in these lists are bro"i.lght to the attention of the 
advisers by flash memoranda (so named because of the word flash 
imprinted on them), which are intended t.o denote matters which should 
be given immediate attention. 

Alt.hough the scope of authority of an account adviser to authorize 
a purchase or sale does not appear to be formalized in the t.rust 
depart.ment, generally he can buy securities from the buy list and sell 
securities from t.he source of funds list by virtue of the SSC recommenda­
tion. In other situations, he must obtain the approval of a superior. 
The ~TOUp head of the personul trust group, however, indicated that 
it was his policy to allow account advisers latitude to trade broader 
than that contained solely to the buy or source of funds list. This 
position is relevant to t.he Penn Cent.ral sit.uation in that several 
account advisers within this group authorized sales of Penn Central 
stock on June 11, 1970, that is, prior to the issuance of a June 12 
flash memorandum of the SSC which for the first time recommended 
the sale of Penn CentraUO 

Whereas the SSC concentrates on recommendations for specific 
securities, the trust investment committee (TIC), to which the SSC is 
responsible, promulgates policy guidelines based upon economic and 
industry analysis and establishes such priorities as the percentage 
of investments which should be in equity versus debt securities and the 
percentage of overall investments by industry groups. Normally the 
TIC is not involved with investment decisions concerning individual 
securities, but where a recommend!Ltion of the SSC relates to a major 
holding of the department the TIC's approval is solicited by the SSC. 

In 1969 and 1970, personnel in the trust department were aware of 
the deteriorating financial condition of Penn Central. The predominant 
source of their information was apparently articles in the financial 
press including the Wall Street Journal, the newspaper which witnesses 
uniformly identified as a daily source of information. However, except 
for a short page and a half report of the trust department analyst 
relating a visit in January 1970 with Stuart Saunders, chairman of 
Penn Central, it does not appear that any in-depth analysis was per­
formed. Sometime in early 1970, the analyst responsible for transporta­
tion securities was reassigned to an area outside the trust department 
and his responsibilities were transferred to another analyst, Samuel 
Sylvester. Except for an analysis in May 1970 of the financial impact 
of the Railway Passenger Act legislation, Sylvester was not involved 
in any analysis of Penn Central until after the bankruptcy. The SSC 
had placed Penn Central as a "hold" security in September 1969, but 
as events indicated the deteriorating condition of Penn Cent.ral, this 
status was not altered nor did the SSC or anyone else cause any in­
depth analysis to be performed. When asked who was responsible for 
investment analysis of Penn Central, personnel from the trust depart­
ment indicated that Sylvester had that responsibility, but in explaining 
why he had in fact not performed such analysis, Sylvester indieated 
that he concentrated during the fhst half of 1970 on an analysis of the 
airlines industry. 

In certain individual situations the sale of Penn Central stock was 
recommended even though the overall trust department position was 

'" None of l.he t.hree account adv;s.,,, who wrote sale" order slips on June 11. 19iO, conld recall th~ ch·cum· 
stances sWTounding the prpparation of these slips. 
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a continued "hold" on Penn Central securities. At an initial meeting on 
April 20, 1970, after the opening of an account for a church organiza­
tion, members of the trust department indicated that Penn Central 
was "under consideration" as a sale candidate. Subsequently, on 
May 15, 1970, 7,000 shares of Penn Central common stock were sold 
from this account. In another account, ClIT Equity Fund, CINB's 
pool-type common stock fund for smaller employee benefit trusts,' 
CINB, on May 19, 1970, sold 20,000 shares out of a position of 60,000 
shares of Penn Central held by that account. These sales were made 
to raise funds to meet the anticipated withdrawal of one of the larger 
participants in the ClIT Equity Fund. Other than tbese two instances, 
it does not appear that any substantial sales were made of Penn 
Central securities in accounts managed by CINB's trust department. 

As of June 11, 1970, CINB held 422,337 21 shares of Penn Central 
stock for accounts managed and advised by its trust department, as 
follows: 

Personal trusts _________________________________________________ _ 
Pension trusts __________________________________________________ _ 
Profit-sharing trusts ____________________________________________ _ 
Investment agency _____________________________________________ _ 
Managing agency _______________________________________________ _ 
Pension-agency _______________________________________________ _ 
Profit-sharing agency ___________________________________________ _ 
Other fiduciary (pooled funds, other) ______________________________ _ 

NumbEr 
oj .hares 

54, 920 
206, 485 

11,000 
27,817 

2, 615 
17,800 
36, 700 
65,000 

---
TotaL _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 422, 337 

Specifically relating to Penn Central, the members of the SSC were 
concerned about Penn Central for some time, but did not issue a sell 
recommendation until the morning of June 12, 1970, at which time 
they issued a flash memorandum which concluded regarding Penn 
Central: 

[The SSCI recommends the sale of the common stock in all accounts. 
Commentary: Recent events indicate that the likelihood of returning to a 

profitable basis appear quite distant at this point in time. Despite the possibility 
of government aid in securing additional financing, the basic operational problems 
of the railroad company will still remain and it is doubtful that substantial losses 
can be avoided for the foreseeable future. 

Personnel from the SSC and TIC, including Thomas Larocca, 
chairman of SSC, Joseph Alaimo, member of SSC, and Philip J. 
Dambach, chairman of TIC and head of the trust department, were 
unable to recall preciselv the sequence of even ts which led to the 
issuance of the June 12 -"flash memorandum." GeneraJly, these and 
other: witnesses were able to recall some of the information reported' 
in t.he press relating to the financial condition of Penn Central, in­
cluding the omission of eli vidends, quarterly earnings reports, the 
cancellation of the proposed $100 million debenture offering of the 
Pennsylvania Co., the maturation of Penn Central commercial paper 
at a rate faster than it could be refinanced, and the res;gnations 
of Stuart Saunders, David Bevan, and Alfred Perlman. However, 
other than representing that these events evidenced to them a deteri­
oration of Penn Central financially, they could not relate specific 
discussions among the members of the SCC, the TIC, or with other 

" These. figures. were ~upplied by CINB with a caveat that "dp.,pite the apparent ,pecifirity oC the figures, 
complete aeCW"lley cannot be guaranteed." . 
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members of the trust department other than the fact that they werp 
certain that Penn Central had been discussed. 

The SSC concluded that Penn Central securities should be sold some 
time prior to June 12, but whether this was a few days prior or a week 
or more prior was not specifically recalled by any of the witnesses. 
In any case, at least by June 10, 1970, at the regular meeting of TIC, 
the sse communicated its view to the TIC that it wanted to issue a 
sell recommendation. The SSC sought the concurrence of the TIC 
because of the substantial holdings of Penn Central by trust depart­
ment accounts. The TIC continued to believe that Penn Central stock 
should not be sold, but again witnesses did not recall the specific views 
of individual members of the TIC. Ai)parently, Dambach, as the head 
of the trust department and chairman of the TIC, was the last to be 
converted to the view that Penn Central should be sold. Dambach 
believed that because the Federal Government had been so instrumen­
tal in the merger of the Pennsylvania Railroad and the New York 
Central Railroad the Federal Government would come to the aid of the 
distressed Penn Central and not a1lew it to go bankrupt. 

On the morning of June 12, 1970, Larocca rcitern.ted his concern to 
Dambach that Penn Central should be sold. Dambach finally agreed 
apparently because of a news item in that day's papers which in­
dicated that there was congressional opposition of It Government 
guaranteed loan to Penn Centra'. With Dambach's decision thus 
changed, Larocca rel!1yed this to Alaimo who then contacted a trader 
for the trust department with instructions to execute a 100,000 share 
block trade. A "flash memorandum" was then drafted by an analyst 
and circulated throughout the trust department. 

The initial trade after the decision to sell Penn Central was con­
summated through Salomon Bros., which sold shares in the market 
down to $10 per share and positioned the remaining 45,000 shares. 
The average price per share for the block was $10.18975. Alaimo 
testified that he contacted the group head of pension and profit shar­
ings trusts so that he could have the advisors execute sale authoriza­
tions and allocate the trade among the accounts in this department. 
This department was chosen because it had the largest proportion of 
Penn Central common stock. Of this initial trade, 3,200 shares were 
allocated to profit sharing trusts, including 2,000 shares for the Con­
tinental Illinois Employees Profit Sharing Trust, and the remainder 
for various pension trusts including 6,800 shares for Continental 
Illinois Employee Pension Plan Trusts. Later trades on June 12 and in 
the following week were executed at prices slightly higher than the $10 
for the initial block trade. The distribution of sales among the various 
accounts administered by the trust department is set forth in the 
following table: 

Trade date 
Pension Profit-sharing 

trusts trusts .. , 
Personal 

trusts 

June 1L_ _ _ _ _ __ ____ _____ ____ __ __ ______ ___ __ __ __ ___ __ _ ____ __ ___ __ _ 1,000 
June 12..____________________________ \03,500 4,100 2,000 
June 15______________________________ 46, BOO 6, \00 6,500 
June 16______________________________ 27,700 B,600 1,600 
June 17______________________________ 42,100 2,300 600 
June 1B______________________________ 24,600 900 _____________ _ 
June 19__ __ _ __ __ ___ ______ ___ ____ ____ _ 23,500 __ ____ ____ __ __ 200 

Total. _______________________ __ 26B,200 22,000 11,900 

--. 
Other Total 

600 1,600 
14,100 123,700 
2,700 62,100 
1,400 39,300 
4, BOO 49, BOO 
1,000 26,500 
2,200 25,900 

26, BOO 32B,900 
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Except for the 100,000 share trade on June 12 initiated by Alaimo 
as director of portfolios, sales were made upon the initiative of individ-
ual account advisors. , 

An advisory service offered by the bank recommended by a letter 
dated June 16, 1970, that its clients sell Penn Central and invest the 
proceeds in Howard Johnson securities. CINB also contacted other 
accounts over which it did not have discretionary authority in the 
usual manner by telephone. 

SUMMARY 

Although the commercial department of Continental Illinois 
National Bank and Trust Co.· possessed nonpublic information con­
cerning Penn Central's financial problems by virtue of its role as one 
of the banks attempting to secure emergency financing for Penn 
Central, personnel of the commercial and trust departments denied 
that such information was passed to the trust department. Rather, 
CINB maintained that the sales of Penn Central common stock 
between June 12 and June 19, 1972, were based upon publicly available 
iuformation. . 

ALLEGHANY CORP. AND INVESTORS DIVERSIPIED SERVICES, INC. 

Alleghany Corp. (Alleghany), a public corporation" whose pre­
dominant business activity is investing in corporate securities, and 
Investors Mutual Fund, Inc. (1M), a mutual fund managed by 
Investors Diversified Services, Inc. (IDS), were included "in this 
investigation because both sold substantial quantities of Penn Central 
common steck on May 27, 1970, a day prior to the announcement of 
the cancellation of the Pennsylvania Co. $100 million debenture 
offering. 22 Because until a few months prior to this, three Alleghany 
directors had served as Penn Central directors, and because Alleghany 
controls IDS, the sale of a combined total of 212,000 shares of Penn 
Central common stock by Alleghany and 1M raises questions as to 
whether these sales were prompted by knowledge of adverse nonpublic 
information and whether there was coordination in the sales of Penn 
Central stock by these affiliated entities. 

ALLEGHANY CORP . 
. Background 

Traditionally, Alleghany's principal business has been investing in 
corporate securities with particular emphasis, other than its invest­
ment in IDS, on the railroad industry. For instance, as of December 31, 
1967, approximately 21.7 percent of Alleghany's assets of $187,794,396 
was invested in railroad securities and approximately 58.8 percent of 
its assets were comprised of noncarrier securities including 40.7 percent 
of its assets invested in the capital stock of IDS.23 Even though the 
nature of Alleghany's business was somewhat altered in 1970 by the 
acquisition of the operating rights and licenses of a motor carrier 
(the Jones Motor Co.), as of December 31, 1970 investments in 
securities were $127,178,072 as compared to total assets of $176,465,-

" On May 27,1970 the Penn Central board of directors wa< infOlmed th"t the proposed debenture offering, 
was to be canoeled. This infOlmation was not publidy released until Mav 28. 

,. See Alleghany Corp.'s 1967 annual report. . 
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216. In that year, securities transactions accounted for net profits of 
$1,800,753 and net income exclusive of securities transactIOns was 
$1,943,143.24 

In 1954 and early 1955, Alleghany purchased 384,100 shares of New 
York Central Railroad (Central) stock. It increased its holdings by 
purchasing 600,000. shares of Central stock between 1955 and 1959 
(200,000 shares were also acquired at the same time by Allan P. 
Kirby, Sr.). By 1966 Alleghany owned 984,000 shares of Central (15 
percent of the total outstanding voting shares) and Allan P. Kirby, 
Sr., chairman of Alleghany at the time, owned 300,100 shares of Cen­
tral or approximately 4.5 percent of the total outstanding. Seven of 
the 10 Central directors were members of Alleghany's board of 
directors, and, in addition, three of the five members of the exec­
utive committee of Centrn,l had joint affiliations with Alleghany. 

On 1\1[arch 28, 1966, after the approval of the merger between the 
Pennsylvania Railroad Co. and Central, but prior to the actual con­
summation of the merger, Alleghany offered the Central securities in 
its portfolio to Alleghany shareholders in exchange for their Alleghany 
securities.25 As a result of this offer 833,181 shares of Central common 
stock were exchanged so that Alleghany continued to hold 150,919 
shares of Central stock. The reasons for the exchange offer as stated in 
the offering circular were the inadvisability of maintaining a substantial 
portion of its portfolio in stock of a corporation Alleghany would not 
control; the ability to liquidate the Central holdings without incurring 
fl. substantial capital gains tax; the changing nature of Alleghany's 
portfolio from that of a railroad holding company to a more diversified 
portfolio. Although not so stated, another reason was thn,t the Kirby 
family control of Alleghany would be ultimately increased.26 

After the Penn Central merger, Alleghany owned 196,195 shares of 
Penn Central common stock representing .85 percent of the total 
outstanding and Allan P. Kirby, Sr., owned 390,130 shares of Penn 
Central common stock or 1.69 percent of the total outstanding shares. 
Although Alleghany and the Kirby family might not be considered in 
control of Penn Central, they had a substantial interest in its affairs 
as evidenced by the fact that five of Penn Central's 22 directors were 
also Alleghany directors: James S. Hunt, Fred M. Kirby, William G. 
Rabe, Carlos Routh, and Daniel E. Taylor. . 

This close relationship was obvious on its face aI!-d admitted by 
Fred 1\,1. Kirby at an Alleghany shareholders meeting on April 26, 
1968, when l,le stated in response to a shareholder question: "We have 
incidentally very fine representation on the Penn Central Board and 
are very close to that situation and feel that we're in a very good 
position to aPl?raise the desirablity of it as a continuing investment." 27 

" From the above figW'es, it is readily apparent that more than 40 percent of Alleghany's assets are inves t· 
mont securitie., thus placing the company within the definition of an investment company under S~ction 
3(a)(31 N the Inv~stmen' Con1P~ny Act of 19-10. However, AlJegh!\ny was exempted by the CommIssion 
from regulation as an investment company in 1945 and again in 1970 hy reason that Alleghany WIIS subiect 
to regulation by the Interstate COllllllerce Commission and thus exclude·1 from the Commission's jurisdic' 
tion as provided in S~ctlfJn 3(b)(7) of th~ Investment Company Act of 1940. 

"Allan P. lGrby, Sr. did not .nclude his Central shares iu the olIer nor did the Kirby family interests 
exchange any of their Alleghany securities. 

" Whereas On February 28, 1966, Allan P. Kirby Sr. owned 40.4 percent of the common stock of AlJeghRny, 
on Ap';115. 1966 after Lhe exehangc offer he was the heneficial ownN° of 55.36 percent of the Alleghany CGmmon 
stock. Notice of annu"l meeting to shareholder-, of Alleghany. April!!), 1966. 

To Fred M. Kirby became chainnan of Alleghany in 1967 aftel' his fnther, Allan P. Kirby. Sr., sufIered a 
sevprp stroke. F. M. Kirby and AlI"n P. Kirby, Jr., were appointed guardians vf their father's property also 

. in 1967. 
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Unheeded investment advice 
Information and documents received by Penn Central directors at 

board meetin&:s did not -permit sufficient time for thorough analysis 
by them. F. NI. Kirby frequently relied upon John J. Burns, vice 
president of finance for Alleghany, for his analysis of the financial 
condition of Penn Central. Although Burns was not a rail expert as 
such, his background in motor carriers and his responsibilities at 
Alleghany for investment nnalysis of present and potential holdings 
included expanding his kno\declge of raih·oads. 

Beginning sometime in the spring of 1969 and continuing into 1970 
Burns was formulating the belief that Alleghany should sell its Penn 
Central stock because of the operational and financial problems. The 
earliest, evidence of the crystalization of Burns' growing belief that 
Alleghany should sell its Penn Central holdings is found in a March]], 
1969, memorandum to F. 1VI. Kirby in which Burns stated that he 
regretted not having strongly recommended sale at a higher price 
nnd that he had "not firmly made up my mind but feel the odds favor 
a sell rather than a hold some time soon." The subject of selling Alle­
ghany'S Penn Central stock was presented at Alleghany's 1\1arch 1969 
board of directors meeting at which time Burns outlined the "pros" 
und "cons" of a sale. The minutes of that meeting reflect that counsel 
to Alleghany pointed out thut substantial legal problems existed in that 
prior to a sale, Alleghany might huye to announce its intention to sell, 
followed by a waiting period before the sale. The sense of the directors 
was to not dispose of the Penn Central holdings at that time. 
- Follo\ving the April 23, 1969, Penn Central board of directors meet­
ing F. M. Kirby fonnu·ded to -Burns Penn Central's consolidated 
income statements for the first quarter of 1969 and an ineome state­
ment for the parent railroad company. Kirby in an attached note to 
those statements said: -

Directors impressed today with MGT position that Penn Central foul-up 
has been largely corrected. Will not show up in earnings for some time unless 
unexpected surge of volume develops. 

I believe the attached figures, entrusted to you in confidence, contradict Wall 
Street assumptions. 

In a reply memo Burns, using these first quarter figures, calculated 
the net railway operating income after fixed charges as a $20 million 
loss in the first quarter of 1968 and a $36 million loss in the first 
quarter of 1969. Annualizing these figures, losses would have ,been $80 
million in 1968 versus $144 million in 1969. However, Burns pointed 
out that losses in 1968 were act,ually $150 million. Thus apparently 
$130 million of losses were attributable to the last three quarters of -
that year. Accordingly, with first quarter 1969 showing no turnaround, 
losses were predicted by Burns to be close to $200 million for 1969. 
In concluding this memoranclum Burns referred to the legal problems 
of a sale by stating: 

Since we have apparenUy no choice but to hold on to Penn Central for the time 
being, this memo is somcwhat unnecessary, nonetheless, I did feel constrained 
to briefly comment on the confidential figures which you gave me. 

In July 1969 Burns had reached the conclusion that Alleghany'S 
holdings should be liquidated, but again this necessitated overcoming 
the legal problems which counsel had previously presented. Burns 
again wrote a memo to Kirby with a new approach of securing a 
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private placement of Alleghany's Penn Centl~al stock as well as the 
IDS and Kirby family Penn Central shares: -

For various reasons I have been interested in seeing Alleghany CorpOr:1tion 
dispose of its investment in Penn Central. In conversation with John Tobin. it has 
developed that one feasible way for a sale of our holding to be effectively accom-

. plished in a manner that would minimize the possibilities of any successful 
litigation, would be for Alleghany, the Kirby family and IDS to sell all of their 
shares, preferably at the same time, to a group who could be eonsidered sophisti­
cated institutional-type buyers. 

I have determined that IDS has partially completed a selling program of its 
IDS shares, and that they' would bc interested in participating if a block transac­
tion was to be aCCOml)lished to the extent of all of their remaining 440,000 shares. 

Countinp; our shares, the KIrby family shares and IDS shares, we wO,uld need 
to s ell apprOXimately 1,136,000 shares of Penn Central to dispose of all of the 
stock. If such a sale is to be contempbted, timing if of prime importance. At the 
present time, I understand that since Penn Centrn.l stock is an "exenlPt security" 
(because of its ICC stat.us). A sale of Alleghany and the family's st.ock would not 
require either an investment letter of a registration statement. However, once 
the Penn Central shares are turned in for the new holding company shares 
(probahly later this summer) the new shares will have lost their "exempt" statuf; 
and will have to be sold on either an investment kt.ter or a "regist.ration" basis. 
This could possibly make a sale both awkward and expensive. 

Therefore, timing is very important. 
In order to accomplish a major sale such as thiR, I feel the eooperation of the 

railroad's mi:magement. will be almost es~ential. Since we cannot induce buyers 
ourselves (for obviouf; legal reason), large institutional purchasers would probably 
be most easily found by an enthusiastic management who should have a real 
interest in seeing a large block of the company's stock successfully placed in good 
hands. 

Accordingly, I would like to discuss t.his matter with Mr. Saunders at once,2B 
assuming that you and the family are seriously interested in a sale at this time 
and under these cireumstances. If you are not intcrec<ted on behalf of your family 
holdings, I would like to see if another way can be found to enable us to scll our 
shares in a manner whieh would minimize potential legal problems. 

Comments would be appreciated. 

This view that a sale of their Penn Centra.l stock should be made 
was presented by Burns again in a July 15, 1969, memorandum to 
F. M. Kirby reviewing the status of Alleghany's investment portfolio: 

You know my opinion of this one (Penn Central). I feel the sooner we get out 
t.he better, even at these prices, since in my opinion, the eompany with its currcnt 
inept management. and large, uneeonomical, ungainly, high cost,rail system will be 
particularly vulnerable to the impending labor squeeze I see forthcoming in the 
early 1970's. If we must maintain a railroad investment of some kind, it would 
not be this one, in my opinion. 

Burns continued to press his method of selling the Penn Central 
holdings to a sophisticated investor or financial institution especially 
because when the Penn Central holdin~ company would be created it 
would fall within jurisdiction of the Sequrities and Exchange Com­
mission rather than the Interstate Commerce Commission. A Burns 
memorandum of September 25, 1969, to Kirby presents this view: 

According to the attaehed announcement 29 our Penn Central shares (now 
representing shares in a carrier corporation) will be automatically exchanged 
for noncarrier holding company shares on October 1. I feel that this plan is detri­
mental to Alleghany Corporat.ion since, according to counsel, once our Penn 
Central shares no longer represent shares in an "ICC regulated carrier corporation" 
they will either have to be registered, or an investment letter will have to be 
obtained, if and when sale is to be effectuated. As I understand it, right now, 
assuming resolution of various other problems, we could sell our Penn Central 
shares to a knowledgeable buyer without either a registration stntement or an 
investment letter. 
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I do not know what we can do about this situation but it appears to me that this 
"automatic" exchange of Penn Central railroad shares for Penn Central holding 
company shares without any vote or registered exchange offer to shareholders is 
unfair to stockholders, such a" Alleghany Corporation. 

In furtherance of his viewthat Alleghany shQuld sell its Penn Central 
stock, Burns discussed in October 1969, such a sale during the course 
of a general conversation on t.he condition of Penn Central with E. 
Clayton Gengras, chairman of the board of Security Corp. of New 
Haven, Conn.,30 Burns thought perhaps Gengras might be interested 
in purchasing Alleghany's stock, but again this approach was not 
followed up. A number of other memoranda in 1969 and 1970 to Kirby 
continued to emphasize the poor condition of Penn Central and 
that the Alleghany holdings should be sold.3! 

Events leading to sale oj Penn Central common stock 
At the same time that Burns was recommending sale of Alleghany's 

Penn Central shares, A:lleghnny in April 1969, had filed an application 
with the ICC for authority to acquire control of Jones lVlotor Co. and 
its subsidiary so as to be able to have the operating rights to act as a 
motor carrier. 32 During the course of the hearings before the ICC on this 
matter it became apparent that Alleghany would probably be required 
to divest itself of any other interests in an ICC-regulated carrier. 
At various times Burns had suggested that to improve its position ,~-ith 
the ICC, Alleghany should sell its Penn Central shares. 

By order of Janaury 27, 1970, the ICC granted Alleghany's applica­
tion to acquire the operating rights and properties of Jones Motor 
Co., but because of the close relationship between Alleghany and Penn 
Central, Alleghany was directed to place its Penn Central securities 
in a trust and within 5 years sell them, and also to terminate all joint 
director affiliations between Penn Central and Alle§O"hany . Although 
the Penn Central shares owned by Allan P. Kirby, r. did not have 
to be sold, they also were directed to be placed in a voting trusteeship. 

Joint directorships were terminated by Daniel E. Taylor resigning 
from the Alleghany board in March 1970, and F. M. Kirby and Carlos 
J. Routh resigning from the Penn Central board in March 1970. 
Those Alleghany directors serving on boards of Penn Central subsidi­
aries likewise resigned from those positions. 

The trusteeship of Alleghany's shares was placed ",-ith Irving Trust 
Co. by an initial agreement of March 26, 1970. Various amendments 
were made to the trusteeship agreement ,"v-ith the final agreement 
executed on April 27, 1970, Basically the trusteeship provided for 
initiative for sales to rest with Alleghany at the early stage of trustee-
ship, with consultation with the trustee.33 ' 

Apparently the decision by Alleghany to sell its Penn Central 
shares was made shortly before the May 15, 1970, Alleghany board of 
directors meeting. The minutes of that meeting reflect that the sale 
of Penn Central Co. capital stock was discussed at length and Burns 
stat.ed that, "it was management's intention, if given suitable market 
conditions, to dispose of this investment." 

a. Gen!!ras in December 1969 bec~me a director of Penn C~ntral. 
" One memorandum of Apr. 16, 1970 from Burns to F. M. Kirby swnmarized a meeting with David Bevan, 

chief financial officer of Penn Central, in which Bevan "did not seem shocked at my suggestion of the possi­
~illty offnture insolvency if currfnt trends continue mnch longer." 

"Alle"bany made a .nccessfnl tender offer for Jon'lS Motor Co. shares In 1968. 
13 Thi~ was set. forth in a plan for accomplishing the disposition of Penn Cem.ral sharcs owned by Alleghany 

,,"nd held in t1 ust by Irving Tn1>t Co. which was drafted on May 26. and submitted to Alleghany on May 27, 
~970. 
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That Alleghany was interested in selling its Penn Central stock was 
communicated to an institutional sales representative, John Shepherd, 
who handled Alleghany's account at Goldman, Sachs. Although the 
time has not been precisely fixed, Burns told Shepherd in February 
or March 1970 that Alleghany would be in a position to sell its Penn 
Central stock. However, no action WfiS taken either by Goldman, 
Sachs or by Alleghany to sell the Penn Central stock.34 

On the evening of May 26, 1970, at a dinner hosted by Shepherd 
for his clients, Burns had occasion to discuss Penn Central with the 
head block trader of Goldman, Sachs; Robert Mnuchin. Burns 
recounted the discussion ,,,-ith Mnuchin on the evening of Mn,y 26 
and the sale on :May 27 as follows: ' 

During the course of the evening, he mentioncd to me he knew I ,had been 
listed by Jack (John Shepherd, an institutional sales rcpresentative for Goldman, 
Sachs) as a possible seller of Penn Central,35 which I had bcen, and that in his 
opinion, the market was active in Penn Central and that he might be able t.o make 
me a good bid if I was still interested in 'leUing and I asked him why and as I 
recall his answer was: there are plenty of buyers ill Penn Central and I think it 
is a good trading stock right now. 

So before the evening was over, I asked iVIr. jVlnuchin to give me a call t.he 
next day, which was the 27th and if he had a bid to make, possibly I would 
entertain it. I went home that night. The next day Goldman, Sachs phoned, Jack 
Shepherd did call, put Bob Mnuchin on the phone, and gave me the opening in 
Penn Central, and said I can give you a bid for approx,imately 200,000 shares at 
somewhere-at a discount, would you be interested in entertaining a bid? 

Now, this was the first time anybody had told me that, (A) I could sell this much 
stock, and, (B) in effect, put up or shut up. lVly rccollection is that I went in and 
had a general discussion with one of my associates-a discussion which lasted 
about an hour concerning the state of the market, the decline in the stock on thc 
one hand and Qur pessimistic feeling concerning the losses for this year of the rail­
road and [sic] thc other, that we thought it would be a good idea to sell half of our 
position, about half of our position. ' 

I then went back, call Mr. Mnuchin directly and asked what he was preparcd to 
do on 96,000 'shares-roughly 96,000. Maybe exactly 96,000, and after checking 
the market, as I recall, he came back and said that-I am not sure of the exact 
figure, so you will have to forgive my inaccuracy, the last sale was 13%:, that he 
would like to make a position bid on or around 13%: and that'he would give me the 
benefit of any sales that he was able to get off in brining the stock down to the 13%: 
level where he would be the buyer lLnd I would be the seller and the block would 
cross. 

I believe we negotiated a little, he might ha.ve given me a bid and I got him up , 
to 13%:, he might have given me 13% and I got him up to 13%. I am not sure of 
the facts. I told him that would be acceptable, but I had to speak to the Irving 
Trust Company who was the record holder of the stock (trustee for Alleghany's 
Penn Central stock). 

I called Mr. McCabe and spoke with him and in line with our trust agreement, 
I was recommending a sale at this particular time and Goldman, Sachs and Com­
pany had made us a bid and that I would recommend that he go along and accept 
the bid on behalf of us as beneficial owner. . 

'He said he thought that was all right. I then called Mr: Mnuchin and asked him 
to get in touch with Mr. McCabe or one of hi'3 as'3istants diractly. The trade wus 
consummated somewhere around 12:00. The stock closed that day higher and 
there was quite a bit of buying. 

Those are the circumstances under which I accomplished that trade. 

The sale of 96,000 shares of Penn Cent,ral was executed by Goldman, 
Sachs at $13}~ per share for 70,000 shares, with the remainder sold in 
the market at prices ranging from $13}~ to $13% per share. The 
balance of Alleghany'S 100,000 shares of Penn Central were sold in 

24 Goldman, Sachs was a dealer in Penn CentrR.l's commercial paper and was in frequent communication 
with Penn Central during this period, espeCially in lat .. May. ' 

.. Mnuchin's recollection somewhat dille,s in thIS regard as he believed Burns initiated thp. conversation 
about selling ppnn Central, although Mnuchin did not specifically recollcct who initiated the discussion 
nn Ppnn r.pntT~l. 
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January 1971, and the 'Kirb)T family holdings of Penn Central were 
disposed of on September 22, 1970. 

INVESTORS MU'l'UAL FUND, INC. 

Investors Diversified Services, Inc. provides, among itsother lines of 
business, advisory and distribution services for six open-end mutual 
funds with assets as of September 30, 1971, of approximately $6.6 
billion. Three of these funds, Investors Mutual Fund (1M), Variable 
Payment Fund (VP) , and Investors Stock Fund (IS) sold common 
stock of Penn Central in 1969 and 1970. In September 1968, Penn 
Central comnion stock owned by IDS-managed funds totaled 1,020,-
000 shares divided as follows between the funds: Investors Mutual-
500,000 shares; Variable Payment-200,000 shares; and Investors 
Stock-320,000 shares. These positions had been accumulated over a 
period of time commencing in 1967. The following table shows the 
holdings of Penn Central of the three funds, beginning on January 1, 
1968, and showing subsequent purchases and sales. 

PURCHASES AND SALES OF PENN CENTRAL COMMON STOCK BY MUTUAL FUNDS MANAGED BY INVESTORS 
DIVERSIFIED SERVICES 

Sales-
Purchases 

Holdings on 
Jan. 1, 1968 Mar. 27, 1969 Oct. 8, 1969 Jan. 19, 1970 May 6,1970 

to to to to to 
Jan. 1, 1968 Aug. 26, 1968 July 17, 1969 Oct. 16, 1969 Mar. 26, 1970 May 27,1970 

Investors MutuaL ••••••• 88,700 411,300 108, 100 45,600 103,100 243,200 
Investors Stock .•••••••• 245,000 75,000 320,000 0 0 0 
Investors Variable 

Payment.. ••••••••••• 200,000 200,000 0 0 0 

Events surrounding sales byIM 
Whereas IS and VP began to sell their Penn Central stock in 

March and April 1969, respectively, and bad completely sold out 
their holdings in May 1969, 1M continued to hold all of its Penn 
Central shares in its portfolio until June 13, 1969, when the invest­
ment committee of 1M authorized the sale of 100,000 shares of Penn 
Central from its holdings of 500,000 shares. Such an authorization 
permits the fund's f)ortfolio manager to sell the stock at his discretion. 
This authorized sa e of 100,000 shares was completed on July 8,1969, 
and the sale of an additional 100,000 shares was authorized on July 9, 
1969, by 1M's investment committee. After the sale of the initial 
authorization was completed, sales of Penn Central stock were inter­
mittent during the remainder of 1969 and until May 1970. 

It is apparent that thej)ortfolio managers of IS and VP were more 
strongly convinced that Penn Central stock should be sold than was 
the portfolio manager of 1M. Harold A. Schwind, portfolio manager 
of 1M with responsibility for Penn Central, commented on the long 
period of time it took to sell the Penn Central stock: 

Answer. I think the most important reason was I didn't feel that I had enough 
information and a strong enough feel of the situation to warrant holding it. It 
sounds like reviewing the problem from a little different focus, but at no time did 
I have hard, fast, specific reasons for selling it. If I had, I think I would have sold 
it quickly. 

One of the unusual things about the sale of this stock is it. took us 11 months to 
sell it. I can't remember ever takine: that, Inn.,. t.n c"l1 <>n"H,.;~~ h~'~ __ 



238 

Question. What was the most important reason for your not selling it quickly? 
Answer. I guess I was never sure that I was making the right decision. In fact, 

when we sold the final block of the stock in May, there was no feeling of elation 
because I wasn't sure I was doing the right thing. 

After the additional authorization to sell 100,000 shares of Penn 
Central was made on July 9, 1969, only 8,100 shares were sold before 
1M ceased sellinK. The reason for this is associated with a conversation 
between Stuart F. Silloway, president of IDS, and Jack L. Nienaber, 
vice president of IDS. Nienaber recalled the conversation: 

He (Silloway) noted that we were selling additional Penn Central Stock. * * * 
And he urged that we take anothcr look and not sell it, because he thought there 
were good reasons on the basis of conversations he bad with people he considered 
well informed who felt the company, if you will, had a very real chance to turn 
around. 

This information was relayed to the portfolio manager of 1M,' 
Harold A. Schwind: 

My superior, 1\1r. Nienaber, came to me one morning-it was early in thc day­
and related a conversation he had just had with Mr. Stuart Silloway, the presi­
dent of IDS, and Mr. Silloway had told him that he had a contact-some acquaint­
ance or broker, some contact-that was never identified to me-who apparently 
was aware that we were selling Penn Central and felt that we were making a 
mistake and would like to tell us more about the situation and the attractiveness 
of the stock. . 

We discussed it, Mr. Nienaber and I, and felt that undcr the circumstances 
we bad better put a hold on the stock and stop selling it. 

Silloway's well informed source was Fred M. Kirby, chairman of 
IDS and Alleghany Corp. and a director of Penn Central. Silloway's 
version of the conversation with Kirby was similar to Nienaber's in 
that as he recalled the conversation: 

Hc (Kirby) expressed a point of view that, well, maybe there will be some im­
provement that you will see. Perhaps there will be something; maybe the thing 
is not as bad as you think it is-nothing tangible or nothing specific. 

Later in his testimony Silloway restated Kirby's view as more of. 
a hope some progress would be made by Penn Central in its operations. 

This information was apparently of sufficient import that 1M made 
no sales of Penn Centr~l until October 1969. As Schwind stated, he 
decided to sell Penn Central again because: 

Wcll, nothing was ever heard back from Mr. Silloway or Mr. Nienaber with 
regard to the original comment of talking to some contact with regard to Penn 
Central. * * * I didn't really consult with anyone about resuming of the sale. I 
believe-I'm sure I mentioned it to Mr. Nienaber. So we just simply opened up 
the balance of the stock and began to sell. 

After the authorization for sale was again approved in October 
1969, sales were sporadic: between October 8-16, 1969, 1M sold 
45,600 shares and between January 1, and March 26, 1970, 103,100 
shares were sold. The hiatus from selling in November-December 
1969 was not explained by any of the witnesses, other than being 
based on indecision. -

However, another contact this time with Charles Hodge, chief in­
vestment adviser to Penn Central and a partner of Glore Forgan, 
William R. Staats, may have resulted in this cessation from selling. 
Silloway ca]led Hodge after seeking guidance from a friend in Phila­
delphia as to the name of someone who "really knew Penn Central inside 
and out * * * somebody who had done a lot of work and had acress 
perhaps to people within mfina~ement who \"ould help them put in for-
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mri.tion together." Silloway was supplied the name of Hodge as one who 
{"ould provide such information. SiJloway then called Hod~e in late 
September or early October of 1969, but was unable to obtam answers 
to his specific questions on operating expense trends of Penn Centra.} 
other than that Hodge had confidence in the Penn Central situation 
and was going to recomm.end the stock to some people who hopefully 
would purchase substantial amounts of the stock and that then he 
would be an influence in changing the management. 

The lack of sales in April 1970 was explained Its caused by an over­
sight by the portfolio manager in that the authorization for sale of the 
remaining portion of Penn Central Ja,psed G months after the Sep­
tember 1969 authorization. A new authorization was obtained on 
i'viay 5, 1970, to sell IM's remaining position of 243,200 shares of Penn 
Central. When sales commenced on May 6 again there ,vas little ur­
gency in the disposition of the Penn Central stock. 

John P. Vervoort, president of IDS securities and the trader of 
Penn Central for IM, commented on this lack of aggressive selling. 

Answer. I do not reca.ll specifically the instructio~lS. However, if I look at the 
sales as they occurred none of them indica.te to me that there had bcen any urgcncy, 
if you wish, or guidance or expre~sion of opinion that this stock should be sold 
in a very dcfinite manner. None of these trades are of any relative size with the 
exception being the 27th of May. So I cannot recall any precise instructions. 

Question. Can you recall any instructions whatsoeve7·, precise 01· imprecise? 
Answer. I do vaguely recall a number of times having had participating instruc­

tion. When, preeisely they were, I do not recall. 
Question. Could you describe what these partic'ipating instruc~ions were? 
Answer. Participating instruetions are generally construed as meaning to 

participate in the floor activity on a stock and we generally think in terms of 
20,000 and 25,000 shares. Anywhere between that. 

Participating sales were accomplished in this situation by a con­
tinuing order at the brokerage firm of Mitchum, Jones & Templeton 
to sell as many shares as possible within a specified price range. At 
the conclusion of the day, the Mitchum firm would notify Vervoort 
of sales executed on its behalf that day. Even on days which resulted 
in tHe sale of significant amounts of Penn Central stock, a number of 
smaller trades contributed to the larger total. 

INVESTORS MUTUAL SALES IN MAY 1970 

Date and number of shares in trade 

May 6: 
6,000 ___________________________________ _ 
900 ____________________________________ _ 

May 7: 2,000 ________________ • __________________ _ 
2,000 ___________________________________ _ 
2,000 ___________________________________ _ 

May 8: 200 ____________________________________ _ 
1,800 ___________________________________ _ 
33.000 ____ • _____________________________ _ 

May 14: 1,000 ___________________________________ _ 
May 15: 2,000 _______________ • ___________________ _ 

500 ___ •.....•.•................•.......• 
May 19: 

1,000. __ ...... _ .... _ .•... _ .............. . 
2,000_ .....•. _._._ ......... _ ........ _ ... _ 
32,100 __ ..... _._._ ...................... . 
600 ....••.•... _ ... _ ............ _ .....•. _ 
2,JGJ __ ...... _._._ ... _ .................. . 

Price 

18 
18X 

18~ 
18% 
18% 

18~ 
18% 
IS 

15~ 

15% 
15% 

IS 
14 
14 
14~ 
14J.B 

Date and number of shares in trade 

May IS-Continued 
2,100 ...................•.•..•..........• 
300 ..................•••.. , •• · .........•. 
400 ..................•...•. _ •...•....•.• 
7,400 .. ___ .•............•...•....•.....•• 
12,100 ____ •.•.... _ .•............ _ ..•.•... 

May 21: 
400._ .• _._ .••••. "_"'_ ••. _ .. , ______ .•••• 
5,OOO .... c ••••••• _._ ••••••••••••••••••••• 
8,000 ... _ ......•.• __ ............•..•.•... 

May 26: 
2,000_ .... _ .•......•................••••. 

May 27: -
2,000 __ ........... _ .....................• 
2,000_ ............ _._ ................•.•. 
2,000_ .............. _._ ..•.•..... _ ....• _. 
200 .............. _._ ......•. _._ ....•.•.• 
I 1,000._._ ....•. _._. __ .•.............•..• 
1400 ... ___ ... _._._ ....•........ _ ....• _ .. 
I 2,100 .......... _._._ .. __ ............•••. 
125,000 .......•... _._. __ .............••.• 
181,500 ............... _ ..•.. _ ..........•• 

Price 

14~ 
14% 
14J4 
14~ 
14 

13~ 
13 
13 

13% 

13% 
13% 
l3Y. 
14~ 
13% 
13~B 
13X 
13 
13 

I Trade was for 110,100 with 81,600 positioned by Shields & Co., after trades available at higher prices were executed, 



240 

The sale of 110,100 shuTes through Shields & Co., was a variation 
from the previous pattern of selling small pieces of Ud's Penn Cent.ral 

. holdings. From the testimony of a number ot witnesses at IDS, the 
change in selling patt.ern occurred because of a comment from the 
IDS analyst of Penn Central to the trader. Apparently at some time 
during the lunch hour. Richard Warden, the rail analyst for IDS, 
entered the trading room seeking the trader for Penn Central to dis­
cover how much PC stock 1M continued to hold. Previously Wr.rden 
had without success looked for Nienaber and Schwind for this in­
formation so he sought out the trader. 'Varden told the trader: "thn,t 
I was concerned that this was a possible bankruptcy, and I felt that 
the stock should be sold." The trader then contacted Shields &; Co. for 
a block bid and thereafter 1/litchum, Jones & Templeton to find out 
how much had been sold that day on the participating sale instructions. 
Upon learning that 6,200 shares had been sold, the remaining order 
was canceled. Vervoort stated his reasons for the decision to sell: 

lVly decision to sell that stock on that day was based upon a long period of selling 
this stock, passing a number of opportunities to have sold stock before, to have 
seen the price deteriorate constantly over a rat.her long period of time, having 
been involved in the wrong decision to purchase part of that stock, to thc remark 
that Mr. Warden made, to the fact that the portfolio managers, Mr. Hal Schwind 
and lV[r Nienaber were not available. I was just sick and tired of this stock and I 
was sick and tired of the indecisiveness. I probably felt guilty about having been 
involved in the suggestion that the stock be bought much earlier at much higher 
prices, that tl>js was-it just reached the peak, if you wish at that time on that day 
or a combination of all these factors as the trend of the stock indic!!.ted that this 
thing could slip down further and I just took this opportunity to once and for all 
get it off the books. 

To be done with a decidoll that had been made much earlier but had never becn 
fully executed. 

Vervoort had had tIllS feeling of indecisiveness for a number of 
months, but characterized Warden's comment as the excuse needed 
to then act decisively. Warden's comment concerning the possible 
bankruptcy of Penn Central resulted from being told of a report over 
the Dow Jones on 1/Iay 26, and an article in the Wall Street Journal 
on May 27, that Penn Central's commercial paper was matliringfnstf'1" 
than it was being sold. While tills information was conta;ned in a pros­
pectus dated :May 12, 1970, issued by the Pennsylvania Co .. ""Varden 
test.ified he did not recalJ whether in fact he had seen the prospectus 
and did not learn of the informatior concerning PC's comrrercia1 
paper until May 27. 

Thus Vervoort made a definite change to clearn out the position 
by diverting from the prior pattern of selling.36 Schwind stated that 
the trader's cancellation of the sales order at Mitchum Jones and the 
solicitation of a block bid at a discount from the current market price 
would be somewhat inconsistent with the instructions the trader had 
and that it is a customary practice for a trader soliciting a discount 
bid to first talk with the portfolio manager. However, Schwind also 
characterized a discount of three-fourths of a point as not clearly 
excessive but in a "gray area" in which the trader could in his discre- . 
tion make such a decision. Nienaber also stated that the trader's 
action was within the limits of his discretion . 

.. A telephone call was made from the Goldman, Sachs trading room to IDS shortly before IDS's sale 
of Penn Central, but Who made or received the call and the substance of the conversation is not known. 
Mnuchin from Goldman, Sacbs testified that this commercial call could have been made because the direct 
line had broken down. . 
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Addit1:onal Cil'c'umstances relating to Jill's 1I1ay 27 sale oj Penn Gentral 
At the initial stages of the investigation of the circumstances re-

1l1tipg to sales by both Alle.£hany and 1M of ~ubs.tantial quantit.ies 
of Penn Central stock on rl'lay 27, 1970, coordmatlOnbetween sales 
was believed to be possibly linked to several telephone calls recorded on 
telephone toll slips of Alleghany to various personnel at IDS; A certain 
number of telephone calls should certainly be expected because of the 
close affiliation between Alleghany and IDS, but most likely such calls 
would bc to management personnel at the higher corporate levels 
of IDS due to Alleghany's interest in overall corpomte policy of IDS. 
Indeed, this was primarily the situation in that calls normally made 
were to such individuals as the vice president for public relations, 
the comptroller, vice president for law, et cetem. However, calls were 
made on May 25, 26, and 27 which did not follow the prior pattern of 
calls from Alleghany to IDS. -

On IVfay 25, 1970, a call was made to the telephone number of 
Thomas R. Reeves, vice president for investments, which lasted for 
19 minutes. A few miuutes after the conClusion of that conversation, a 
call was made to the telephone number of Robert B. Jolmson,vice 
president-investment research which lasted for 34 minutes. The next 
day, May 26, at 10:11 a.m. (New York City time), which would be 9:11 
a.m. :Minneapolis time, Johnson of IDS npparently conversed with 
someone from Alleghany for 15 minutes. On :May 27, the day of the 
trading by Alleghany and IDS, Silloway's secretary received a call 
at 11 :15 a.m. which lasted for 2 minutes. 

The obvious question is what was the purpose of these calls? A 
reason for focusing on these calls is that neither Reeves nor Johnson 
had received direct phone calls from Alleghany for the year prior to 
May 1970. In addition, Silloway received only one phone call from 
Alleghany on his direct number during the year prior to May 1970. It 
is possible that these calls bear no relationship to the trading in Penn 
Central but the suspicions exist in that after Alleghany had placed its 
order to sell then IDS may have been given the green light for it to 
sell. Counsel for Alleghany stated that "we are unable to determine 
who placed these calls but Mr. Burns does not recall making any of 
them." 

From affidavits of Thomas R. Reeves and Robert B. Jolmson, it does 
not appear that either person was the recipient of these calls from 
Alleghany on those dates. Reeves was in New York City on May 25 
through !day 27 and stated that it was his practice .to use Alleghany's 
office to keep contact with his office in Minneapolis. In addition, 
Johnson was not in his office on :May 25, but was playing in a golf 
tournament which was verified to the best of their recollection by three 
other persons. Both Reeves and Johnson denied discussing Penn 
Central with anyone on May 25 through May 27. 

Other coordination could have existed due to an IDS executive 
committee meeting on May 26 at Alleghany's office attended by 
Kirby and Silloway. However no, evidence was uncovered that Penn 
Central was discussed either informally or formally and furthermore, 
both these persons denied any conversations occurring on that date 
or at any other time, other than previously described in this section. 
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SUMMARY 

Officers and employees of Alleghany Corp., Investors Mutual Fund, 
Inc. and Investors Diversified Services, Inc. asserted that the sales 
on May 27, 1970, of Penn Central stock were made independently 
without any communication between these entities and that none of 
the sales was made on the basis of material nonpublic information. 



II-B. TRADING BY OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS· 

INTRODUCTION 

Between the time of the formation of Penn Central Transportation 
Co. in February 1968 and t.he June 1970 bankruptcy, as management 
deliberately and increasingly glazed its public reports with distorted 
optimism, many members of management succeeded in selling many 
shares of Penn Central stockY This sect.ion of the report deals with the 
det.ailed inquiry the staff has made into the sales of Penn Central 
officers and directors after the merger. S8 

The securities laws, in particular rule 10b-5 of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, prohibit stock transactions based on material 
inside information which has not. been disclosed to all parties in the 
transaction or to the public in general. Therefore, any officer aware that 
the company's prospects were significantly more dismal than the 
public had been led to believe would have been preclude<;l from trading 
in Penn Central shares while the disclosure gap existed, even though 
such officer's unwillingness or inability to correct the disclosure gap 
could have had the effect of locking him in to his investment. 

Other sections of the report analyze in depth the areas in with the 
Penn Central disclosure gap existed, and the \\--idening of that gap 
with the passage of time and the decline of the company. This section, 
which examines the timing and extent of officers' sales, the reasons 
given for them, and the position of the officers in the corporate struc­
t.ure, is intended to be read in conjunction with the full report in 
determining whether any officer trading was done on the basis of 
material inside informat.ion. au The reader's attention is also called to 
the chronology of events which accompanies the disclosure report, 
and which should also used to shed light on the possible culpability 
of various officers for their sales. Finally, even though very difficult to 
assess, the existence of T.umors should not be discounted. Considering 
the broad and fundamental nature of the problems facing Penn 
Central, their impact may well have been widespread and significant. 

During the course of this investigation, the trading of over 80 
officers and directors was reviewed, including officers and directors 
who left prior to the bankruptcy and/or joined the company post 
merger. A large amount of documents of such trading and the reasons 
for it were submitted and reviewed, and in certain cases outside con­
firmations of various events were obtained. Any major trading which 
occurred after the merger was questioned in testimony or through the 
use of affidavits. The staff found that virtually no outside directors, 

:II The 15 officers whose trading is summalized in this report held, at the time of the bankruptcy or of 
their departure from the company prior to banknlptcy, only about :'0 percent of the total amount of Penn 
Central stock they had owned at the time of the merger. (This figure excludes thrift plan distlibutions). 

"The term "officer" in this report means anyone with the title of president. vice preSident, treasurer, 
secretary, comptroller of Penn Central Transportation Co. or of Penn Central Co. 

"Although the news coming out of tho company was, in retrospect, optimistiC to the point of absurdity 
it WIIS, even in its watered-down fonn. mostly hearish. Some officers' trading occurred at times when speCific 
items of bad neWs were known within the company, but had not reached tbe public in any form. such as. 
for example, earnings reports. Where there appears to be a connection between an officer's sale and such 
specific information, it is discussed below as part of the summary of the officer's tradin!!. 



244 

most of whom owned only minima,l amounts of Penn Central stock, 
had made significant sales for their own accounts during the post­
merger period.40 

The investiga,tion revealed that, although the trading carried on by 
many officers raised few questions concerning its propriety under the 
securities laws, the conduct of a significant number of officers de­
manded serious consideration in this regard. The staff has selected from 
these questionable trades those which appear to raise the most serious 
questions under the securities laws, and has summarized them in this 
report. 

lVlany factors complicated this retrospective studyY The price of 
Penn Central stock slid ineluctably from a high of 86Yz in July 1968, 
to a, low of 10 in June 1970, just prior to the June 21 reorganization 
announcement. The 2-yea,r performance of the stock makes it very 
possible that some officer sa,les were legitima,tely made simply on the 
basis of public adverse information. On t.he other hand, it must be 
remembered that there were many investors not bailing out during 
this period. Indeed the optimism or thoughtlessness of a number of 
ma,jor outside investors found them with large amounts of Penn Cen­
tra,l stock in the spring of 1970, the sales of which a,re dea,lt with in the 
previous section of this report. 

Apa,rt from insider trading questions, it should be noted tha,t the 
extent of the bail-out by officers during the stea,dy price decline of 
the stock is somewha,t inconsistent with the concepts underlying the 
option system, whose supposed purpose of generating and rewarding 
corpora,te loyalty was lost in the shuffle as officers bailed out of Penn 
Central stock to protect their investments and realize their pa,per 
profits. Over the years, some Penn Central officers had built fortunes 
based on the company's large option grants.42 Although the officers 
had been allowed to profit from these grants on the theory that they, 
as keyemployees, were contributing to the betterment of the comp:1lly, 
including the rise in price of the company's stock, ma,ny of them felt 
no compunction against hailing out in the down ma,rket,. thus pro-. 
viding. themselves with extra compensation due to the company's 
good fortunes and evading penalization for any a,dverse happenings. 

Further, the staff found that certain banks (some " .... ith Penn Central 
connections) had made a number of large, long-term, unsecured loans 
to high Penn Central officials, mostly in connection with their exer­
cise of Penn Centra,l stock options, and mostly at the very favorable. 
terms of one-half to 1 percent above the prime rate. Even though 
these were unsecured loans, many Penn Central officers appeared to 

,0 This section is limited to examining officers' and directors' personal boldings of Penn Central common 
stock. 

Sale.s hy directors 'were as follows: 
1. William L. Day" sold 400 of his 1,000 shares in 1968 and 1969, but purcbased 450 shares in Nov. 1969, 

leaving him with the "ame balance of 1,000 shares at bis resignation from the board on June 21, 1970, as at 
the ti me of the merger. 

2. R. W. Graham" sold 3,568 of 8\iOS shares owned by him in Nov. 1969, repurchasing 1,850 shares in 
jI·iarch 10iO. Graham maintained his investment in this large aillount of Penn Central stock until after 
the bankmptey. 

3. Edward·J. Hanley: Who owned 200 shares duting this period, reported that his Wife sold 300 of 800 
shares wbich she owued in Dec. 1969. Hanley, who was the cbairman of the Conflict of Interest Committee, 
stated through his attorneys that the 300 shares had been sold "in order to establisb a tax loss to oil-set 
taxable gain on otber securities wbieh Mr. Hanley bad sold." 

"Day and Graham, directors of Penn Central Transportation Co., wcre both elected to the board of Penn 
Central Co., on In!!e 18. 1970. Hanley was on the board of Penn Central from its formation. 

" Not the least of these complications was that in October, 1969, when the Penn Central Co. was formed, 
the Penn Central Transportation Co. became a wholly owned snbsidiary, and only vice presidents of Penn 
Central Co. reported their purchases and sales to the CommiSSion under section 16 of the 19)4 act . 

. ., Althongh, plior to the merger, the New York Central had also had a generous option plan, Penn Cen· 
. • .•.• ----~-- ~ ........ hH-1;raf'7 nntinnc: wa,c::. (ar more extensive. . 
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have irrevocably associated them with t.heir stock purchases, using 
the proceeds from Penn Central stock sales to payoff the loans. Obvi­
ously, the presence of these loans, which enabled officers, with no cash 
outlay of their own and at the most favorable terms possible, to 
bel etit from a price rise in Penn Central stock, also acted to encourage 
officers to sell in a down market to protect their investments. 

A stunning example of such a bail-out is that conducted by David 
Bevan, who was at the ·vortex of Penn Central's machinations, and 
who sold 15,000 shares of Penn Central stock in the first half of 1969 
at prices ranging between $50 and $66, paying off a $650,000 stock 
option loan and managing to keep his personal fortune virtually 
intact. In contrast to this was the trading, or lack thereof, of Stuart 
Saunders, who has made no sales since 1967, even though his 45,000-
share block of stock represented almost his whole fortune, and large 
loans he had made to pmchase the stock l'emian outstanding. Of 
COLU'se, S:llmders was virtually locked in to his no-sale position both 
because of the potential liability which his insider kno"rledge would 
have caused for him, and the possible harm to the fortunes of the 
company which su('.h a vote of no-confidence bv him could hfl.ve 
engendered.43 

The heaviest concentrations of officer selling occurred in June and 
July 1969, a time when the accumulation of Penn Central's major 
problems in the areas of operations, earnings, and finance cul­
minated with a discussion at the June 25 meeting of the board of direc­
tors as to whether Penn Central should withhold its time-honored 
quarterly dividend from its shareholders.44 Between June and July 
1969, Bevan chose to make the last sale (2,300 shares) of his program 
of sales which halved his ownership of Penn Central stock; three other 
officers sold over 50 percent of their holdings-Roberts (2,000 shares), 
Haslett (3,000 shares), and Smucker (3,600 shares); and two more 
officer::; virtually liquidated their Penn Central investment-Flannery 
(236 shares-100 percent) and Knight (3,950 of 3,957 shares). The 
circumstances surrounding these sales, including each officer's reasons 
for ~hem, are discussed below as part of the sUlumary of each officer's 
tradmg. 

All officers " .. -ho were questioned denied that any of their sales 
had been made on the basis of material inside information. It appears 
that few officers were concerned that the public might be deluded about 
corporate affairs, and that the possibility that there might be inad­
equate disclosure had figured very little, or not at all, in their trading. 
Thu,') could a high fincancial officer try to explain his sale in February 
1970, by stating blandly that he had merely waited until after the 
1969 financial figures had been disseminated.45 

:Many of the explanations most commonly given by officers concern­
ing their postmerger trading in Penn Central stock appeOT, under 
examination, to lack the sense of urgency reasonably required to calise 
an, officer to make a forced sale. The most obvious example of this 
was the claim that some sales were made to payoff loans, when in 
fact the idea to payoff the loan had originated with the officer, and 
not the bank, or when the officer made a choice to sell Penn Central 

t3 It is interesting to note, however, that neither of thp.,e rp.l\.,nn" stopped Bevan. (See below for a full 
discussion of Bevan's sales). 

" This discussion concerned the third Quarter of 1960 dividend, which was ultimately declared. The 
fourth quarter dividend Was the first one not declared. . 

_ 41 4 ..... ",t"' .. _ .. A:; ___ • -'-. • -
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stock over other liquid assets. Likewise, the claims of some officers 
that they sold because they sought to diversify tbeir assets, either for 
general purposes or in contemplation of retirement, lose credence when 
the officer is at a loss to explain how his interest in diversification 
happened to come to him at a specific t.ime, particularly when such 
officer's financial situation and dependence on Penn Central stock 
had remained stable for a number of years preceding his sale. Trading 
based on a well-established window pattern of purchases and sales 
does serve to sbow a lessened reliance on inside informat.ion, although 
it cannot be assumed that sucb patterns excuse all insider sales. 

The company and the board of directors had seen to it that aU 
officers bad been clearly informed of the prohibitions against insider 
trading. In October 1969 a "Penn Central Manual on Insider Secu­
rities Trading" was widely circulated at and below the top manage­
ment level, and in December 1968, and l\llarch 1970, inemonmdasent 
out discussing the company's disclosure policy emphasized the duty of 
insiders to refrain from trading prior to full public disclosure of 
important corporate news. 

Penn Central did a very poor job of "\vatching over the trading of 
its officers. Saunders claimed that he had turned over all corporate 
responsibilities in this area to tbe Conflict of Interest Committee when 
it was formed in 1968. The Conflicts Committee considered that it had 
discharged its duties in this area with the publication of various, 
reports, memoranda and manuals prepared by tbe law firm it had 
hired.46 Although the 1969 Insider Trading Manual and the 1970 
disclosure memo refer to proc'edures to be carried out through the 
office of, general counsel in connection with undisclosed materinl 
information, no one, including the Conflicts Committee, the president 
and office of general counsel, paid the slightest attention to implement­
ing the proposed procedures. 

Over the years, many officers had been in the habit of consulting 
D. L. Wilson of the office of general counsel concerning the propriety 
of their trading under the short-swing trading prohibitions of the 1934 
,act. As the company drew doser to bankruptcy, a few prospectiYe 
traders also broached the subject of insider trading. Without, ap­
parently, a deep analysis of the subject, Wilson raised no major 
objections to these sales, with the exception of discussions he held 
with Saunders concerning the possibility of his selling at this time. 

The secretary's office, under the direction of Secretary Bu,yarcl 
Roberts, prepared and rela.yed to '.the Commission the form 4 reports, 
of officer and director trading. According to Roberts, preparation of 
these reports was a purely bookkeeping function, and the reports were 
not subjected to any sort of review. W110n Penn Central Transport.a­
tion Co. officers stopped filing form 4 reports in October 1969, no one 
at any level of the company had any thoughts concerning monitoring 

II 'I'he 1969 manual and the 19iO memo had been prepared by an outside law firm at the direction 01 the· 
Conflict 01 Interest Committee. Although sent out with the knowledge 01 this committee, the 1968 memo 
had been prepared by the legal department at Saunders' instigation. The Couflict 01 Interest Committee. 
which had been set up in September 1968, seut, in early 1~59, an extensive questionnaire to officers and, 
directors of the company and its subsidiaries seeking inlormation concerning officers' trading and possible· 
conflicts of interest. The comntitt~e's report on the questionnaires noted that officers had made substantial 
sales in 1968, but found no evidence 01 improper motives. The questionnaires also uncovered some potential 
short-s\ving trading violations which were relerred to the company for action. Thc committee delved no 
further into the subject 01 officers' trading in general following the questionnaires, and althongh it did 
entertain the idea 01 urging that further questionnaires be sent out on a pe.riodic baSiS, thio suggestion was 
shelved within the committee and had not been acted on by the time of the bankmptcy. 
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the further trading of even those officers whose trading was no longer 
the subject of public scrutinyY 

One caveat must be given concerning the individual trading reports: 
Although the numbers have been checked and rechecked for accuracy, 
many times the purchases and sales discussed will not balance out to 
the numbers given. This is because, for reasons of clarity, only major 
t.ransactions have been signaled. Gifts and charitable donations have, 
in general, been omitted.48 :Most officers were members of Penn 
Cehtral's thrift plan, contributing up to 5 percent of their income to 
miLke regular purchases of stock at half-price. The major distribution 
of these shares came after bankruptcy (or after prebankruptcy 
retirement), but some small distributions ,yere made on an annual 
basis and have been figured into an officer's total holdings, although 
not recorded as separate purchases. 

OFFICERS - FINANCE 

The finance department, run very much as a separate entity by 
David Bevan, dealt on a daily basis with the company's problems in 
obtaining ciLsh and the enormous demands for cash made by the 
subsidiaries as well as the parent company. 

It should be noted that the sales of the four men discussed in this 
section, all top finance department officers, pursue a remarkably 
similar pattern in that each of the four stated that his sales had been 
made to payoff bank loans whose need to be paid off at the time was 
qnestionable, to SiLy the least. Three of these officers, Bevan, Gerst­
necker, and Haslett, who all took part in the Penphil venture, all made 
their major sales during the beginning of 1969. 

DAVID C. BEVAN 

Purchases Sales Balance 

feb. I. 1968. .......... ................ .................. .............. .................... ... 30.404 
Mar. 11. 1968.............................................. ....... 3.600.............. 33.904 
Jan. 6. 1969.... ..... ........................... ........ ........................ 3.000 30.718 
.Mar. 11. 1969...... .................. ........................................... 3.000 27.546 
Apr. 9. 1969.. ................ .... ............. ........ ........ ................. 3.000 24.546 
May 6. 1969.. ............... .......... ........ .................................. 3.000 21.546 
May 27. 1969........ ........ ...................... .......... ................ ... 700 20.846 
June 25. 1969........ ...... .................................. ............. ...... 2.300 18.546 
June 19.1970 ..... ~............................................................. 4.900 13.246 
June 24. 1970................................................................... 5.100 8.146 
July 3.1970.................................................................... 8.146 ............. . 

There is no doubt that David Bevan was the key financial officer 
at Penn Central, responsible for initiating or effecting all financial 
machinations of the postmerger period. He held the title of chairman 
·of the finance committee .throughout this period, and also served on 
the board of directors except for the period between February 1968 
and the fall of 1969. He was one of the three top officers abruptly 
severed from the company following the dramatic June 8, 1970 
meeting of the board of directors. 

Ii In October 1969. Saunders asked Cole. for a list of officers' stock sales. Cole had tho secretary's office 
prepare the list, and forwarded it to Saunders. When shown a copy of the list. Cole. Roberts. and S"unders 
.aU claimed I.hcy had forgotten about it, and could not remember why Saunders had asked for it or What 
he did with it . 

.. Family gifts Which remained under the control of the donating ollicer are counted as part of his Penn 
Centml holdings. 
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Bevan liquidated his substantial holdings of Penn Central stock in 
two separate series of transactions. The frrst occurred between Decem­
ber 1968 and June 1969 when he ceased his progTftIn of buying Penn 
Central shares and sold almost half his holdings of Penn Central 
stock:19 The final sell-out occurred between June and August 1970. 
Between 1964 and 1968, Bevan had acquired a sizable amount of 
shares by exercising options at 21 and 24Yz. 

By the end of 1968, he had acquired 34,400 shares of stock pursuant 
to these options, and he had outstanding with Mellon National Bank 
and Trust Co. an unsecured loan in excess of $650,000 which he had 
used to purchase these shares. Between January and June 1969 
Bevan sold 15,000 shares of Penn Central stock in six separate tran­
sactions.50 The explanation that Bevan presented concerning the 1969 
sales was that be had liquidated bis $650,000 loan at the insistence 
of Mellon Bank, and that in [my case he had planned as early as 1965 
to sell Penn Central stock to liquidate his outstanding loans by 1970. 
As complete evidence of this, Bevan pointed to a December 1968 
letter from Spencer R. Hackett, ]Vlellon Bank vice-president, suggest­
ing that Bevan consider making gradual periodic reductions on his 
loan, and Bevan's January response agreeing with the suggestion. 51 

Bevan claimed that in 1965 he had notified both the Mellon Bank and 
the Chemical Bank that he intended to payoff his loans within 5 
years from the sale of Penn Central stockY 

'Vhatever Bevan's reasons for the 1969 sales, they were not caused 
by any pressure from 1v1ellon Bank. According to Hackett's sworn 
statement, Bevan called Hackett in December, 1968, to ask for the 
letter from lVIellon Ba.nk requesting a pay-down. The only reason 
Ha.ckett wrote the December, 1968, letter was to comply with this 
request; prior to Bevan's phone call, Hackett had had no thought of 
asking Bevan t.o reduce the 10an.63 Bevan, however, denieu categori­
cally under oath that he had initiated the Mellon pay-down requestY 

.. Bevan left unexercised 3,600 option shares available to him at 24J1l . 

.. A reasonable !(\less as to why Bevan held on to tho balance of his stock would he that Bcvan, as chief 
[mancial officcr of the company, was roluetl'nt to make such a public show of no-confidenco in the company, 
since he rcportod his stock tmnsactions to the Commission on form 4's. It also appears that the company 
was very conscious of salcs by officers "nd directors dUling this pmiod. In its Aprtl 1970 proxy' statement 
it listed, as required by proxy mles, sales of option shares made between 1965 and 1070 by Saunders (4.000) 
Perlman (0,2 '.0). Bevl'n (16,000) and eight other officers (20,411). Then it added a footuote to this breakdown 
which stated: "The sales by Messrs. Saunders and Perlman were made prtor to Fehruary I, 1968, tho cffective 
date of the Pennsylvania New York Central merger. Prior to the same date, Mr. Bevan sold 1,000 shares 
and other officers as a I(roup soleI 17 ,752 shares." 

" Bevan's lctter to Hackett, dated January 8, 1909, reads in part, as follows: Thank you vcry much for 
your 10Uer of December 24, and I undcrstand peliectly the spirit in which it was written. You aro quito 
light that my loan has becn on tho books for quite.a peliod of time. Do not fcol guilty about this. As I ex­
plained to you and John Mayer, I do no~ think anyone in top management should be a quick-buck I'rtist. 
There is a limit to everythin~ and the bank has been very good to me. 

Your letter also made me stop and reassess my Whole pOSition. I have been so busy that I had not really 
stopped and considered what I had in the way of stock options. In December, I completed earning an addi­
tional 3,600 and on February 1 I will have earned an additional 10,000 and as oi Febl'Uary 1, 1970, there will 
be another 10,000 for a total of 23,600 shares that has to be fin'mced. Therefore, I t1gree with you that it be·­
hooves me to gradually reduce my outstanding loan. 

sz A letter to Chemical Bank indicating this was submitted as an exhibit. No such letter to Mellon Dank 
bas been located. 

"·Hackett stated that Bevan gave no reason for the request, and Hackett did not ask foronc, I'S "I did not 
consider this my nffsir or that of the Bank." In a fUrther letter, dated January 9,1960, Hackett took pains to 
assure Bevan that he was prepared to authorize fUrther loans on his behalf. 

.. Q. Did you ask MI'. Hackett to write the letter to you? 
A.No. 
Mr. GERMAN (attorney for Bevan). I didn't heal' the question. 
Q. The question was, Did you ask Mr. Hackett to wi'ite the letter to you? 
A. No. I don't like the implic.ation. The answer is no. 
Q .. Do you remember making a pbone call to Mr. Hackett at any time in December of 19G5 concerning 

your personal loan? 
·A. Concerning my personal loan, no. 
Q. Information has been given to us that snch a phone call was made and such a requcst was made. Do you 

remembcr anything about a phone call of that kind? 
A. No. I don't recall any unless you indicated before maybe he said he was writing such a letter or that 

I should do it. He may hl've warned me that it was coming or something of that sort, but my answer still 
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The proceeds of Bevan's 1969 so,les came to about $835,000, most 
of which was used in liquidating the :Mellon. loan (which exceeded 
$661,000 in December, 1968) and to reduce the Chemical loan by 
about $114,000, leaving an outstanding loan balance at Chemical of 
about $16,000.55 Both of these loans had been outstanding in signifi­
cant amounts since 1965.56 Bevan's considerable reduction of his 
debts during this period appears, however, not to have been the cause 
of his 1969 sales, but simply the end result of a decision he made 
independently that the first half of 1969 was a propitious time to 
reduce his substantial financial reliance on Penn Centralstock.57 

Bevan ·made no further sales of Penn Central stock until o,fter his 
June 8, 1970, dismissal. Between June and August 1970, Bevan sold 
0,11 of his remaining sho,res of Penn Central stock, including 3,370 
sho,res from the thrift p]o,n which were distributed to him on August 3, 
1970. His first sale was made on June 19, 1970, the last trading day 
prior to the Penn Central bankruptcy. On this day, pursuant to an 
order entered with his broker at Yarnall, Biddle & Co., on June 18, 
Bevan sold 4,900 shares at 11~ in a limit order transaction. 58 On 
June 24, Bevan's broker entered and executed a further limit order to 
sell 5,100 shares at 8.59 At that time, Bevan still maintained his office 
at company headquarters "trying to get things straightened out for 
the railroad. * * * " He had decided on June 8, the day of his dismissal 
by the board of directors, to sell all of his Penn Central shares.6o 

stands that I would Ilave no recollcction of it. I did say hc may have called me to tell mc it was coming or 
called me afterwards and expressed a hope that it·clidn't annoy me or anything, bnt I haven't any recollec-
tion of it. . 

Q. Are you certain thcn that you yom·self did not initiate a'call to Mr. Hackett in connection with your 
loan? .., ... , . 

A. I have no ,:ecollection of-it. If anything had happened, if there was such a phone call, hcmay have called 
me. and I may bave said, well, then put it in writing. . . . .. . 

Q. No; but Lam asking you if you are reasonably certain that you never initiated any such call? 
A. 1 um as certain as I can be.· ... . 
Q. SO I takc it that means tlmt you are virtually certain? 
A. I am virtually certain. . 
Q. SO that you did not about that time initiate a call to Mr. Hackett or to anybody else at the ~'Jellon 

Bank indicating to them that you would like them to wl'ite you a letter requesting tha~ the loan be rednced? 
A. I can't even-well, a bank of the quality and character of Mellon, they wouldn't connive with anybody 

anyway. I don't understand it retllly at all. This tics in with the whole record. It does tie in completely. 
I don't recaJi, but the most I could say is that if they asked me verbally to do it I may have asked tl1em to 
put it in writin~, but·I ·don't recall that. ... '. 

Now, I may have called Hackett to say, "Merry Christmas." I call a lot of our banks. It is a matter 01 
custom, where we had relations; and maybe he brought it up at that time,l don't know. I dou't r •. call. I am 
trying to reconcile with you, but, no, this would be always true when Pixley was there. I didn't know 
Hackett as well. Either·he would call me or I would call him either before Christmas or New Years just as 
·a matter of courtesy between us, and tbat happened with a whole number of banks. . 

Q. But it is your testinlOny that at this time late in 1968 the suggestion that you did not suggest. in any 
was--

A. I didn't initiate reduction of the loan. 
"Bevan claimed the proceeds were used to pay the Mellon Bank loan and cnpital gains taxes. 
56 DUring this time, Bevan had a third Significant loan outstanding, with Provident ·National Bank, 

which waS Increased rather than paid down between 1968 and 1969. . 
67 As of December, 1967 Penn Central stock, at its market value at the time, comprised about two-thirds 

of Bevan's total assets. By tile end of 1969, Penn Central stock, selling at less than half of its 1967 price, 
equaled about one-fourth of his total asscts. Bevan'S net worth both in December, 1967, and December, 
1909 hovered around $2 million . 

.. This was also the last day the thrift plan made its regular daily purchase. On this day Goldman, 
Sachs purchased 2,800 shares for the thrift plan at l1~, the market high of the day. 

"On June 22 and 23, trading in Penn Central stock had been suspended, except for one large trade each 
day which took place at the closing bell. . 

•• Q. When did you decide to sell at this time? 
A. As fast as I thought that I was allowed to after June 8th. 
Q. When did you reach that decision? 
A. June 8. I wanted to malee a complete severance. 
Q. Can you tell us why you waited until June 18 to send in the first order, or wby you decided on June 18 

to send in the first order? 
A. J suppose it was to allow a reasonable length of time alter I got out. I think-I am not SUre 01 this-I 

think that J waited until it was announced that the Government was going to make the guaratneed loan. 
I didn't know about whether it was going to be made Or not when I left. I thought it was going to be made, 
but that might have been interpreted [as] insider information, but I wasn't sure, I was optimistic about it. 
I think r waited until they announced they were going to make· it, and then it was changed when they 
reversed tbemselves. But tbat is again recollection. 
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WILLIAM R. GERSTNECKER 

PUrchases S21es 

Feb. I, 1968 _________________________________________________________________________________ _ 
Jan. 8, 1969_ _ _ ______ ____ ____ ___ __ _ __ _ _ _ _ _ ___ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ __ _ ___ _ _ __ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ __ __ _ _ _ 1,000 
Jan. 9, 1969__ _______ ______________ __ ____ _ _ __ __ _ _ _ _ ____ ___ _ ______ ______ ____ _____ 1,000 
Jan. 29, 1969_ _ __ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ _ __ _ _ _ __ __ _ _ __ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ _ _ ___ _ _ _ ____ ____ __ __ __ _ _ __ __ _ 1,000 
Jan. 30, 1969_ _ __ __ _ _ ___ _ __ _ _ __ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ ___ _ _ _ _ ____ __ __ _ _ _ ___ __ __ __ _ _ __ __ _ 1,000 

~~~. ~~, mt:::::::::::::: ::::::::::::::::::::::: ::::::::::: :::- -- -- ---j: <iDD -________ ~: ~~~_ 

Balance 

6,206 
5,275 
4,275 
3,275 
2,275 
1,275 
2,675 

Gerstnecker was vice president-corporate (finance) from the time 
of the merger until August 1969 when he retired to become the vice 
chairman of Provident National Bank_ In this capacity, he functioned 
primarily as right-hand man to Bevan and was privy to all information 
on the company's finance problems, 

Gerstnecker owned 6,206 shares in February 1968, including 100 
shares held in his wife's name. The bulk of these shares had been 
acquired through an option purchase in 1964, and though he had made 
some purchases and sales between 1964 and the time of the merger, 
he had maintained an ownership of between, 4,700 and 6,900 shares 
during that period_ In January 1969, Gerstnecker sold 4,000 shares in 
four 1,000-share transactions, and he sold an additional 1,000 shares 
in May 1969, leaving him wi.th a balance of 1,275 shares. On November 
28, 1969, he made his final option exercise, purchasing 1,400 Penn 
Central shares at 24H. 

Gerstnecker determined at the end of 1968 to resign from Penn 
Central after July 1969, and go with the Provident National Bank. 
He testified that his four January sales were for the purpose of liquidat­
ing a large loan outstanding at Provident, so that it would not be 
outstanding when he moved over to Provident, and to purchase 1,000 
shares of Provident stock_ The Provident loan had been outstanding 
since March 1964, and totaled during most of that time approximately 
$155,000_ Although Gerstnecker had made the sales in January, he did' 
not payoff the loan immediately, but reduced it between February 
and July 1969_ He purchascd the 1,000 Provident shares in August 
1969 at a price of $24,750. q'he price of these shares plus the loan total 
about $175,000_ Even' though this amount was less than the $272,000 
proceeds of the January sales, Gerstnecker could not recall what uses 
he made of the balance of the proceeds. Gerstnecker claimed that bis 
May 26 sale, which grossed $55,500, was to finance his planned final 
option exercise 6 months later, which in fact did take place just 6 
months later, commanding a total purchase price of $34,300. Again, 
Gerstnecker could not recall the uses to which he put the balance of 
the proceeds_ 

After further questioning, Gerstnecker also stated that the January 
sales may have been made due to a desire for diversification of his 
assets, since he was contemplating changing jobs_ He did not elaborate, 
ho\vever, on why a prospective job change would necessarily prompt 
such diversification. Neither could he point to any reason for having 
decided to make the sales in January-even after it was called to his 
attention that his claimed uses of the proceeds, paying off the loan 
and purchasing the Provident stock, occurred between February and 
August, Gerstnecker simply indicatcd that he decided to make the 
sales following his decision to join Provident. 
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Two other factors should be noted in connection with Gerstnecker's 
. Janun.ry sales. First, David Bevan began reducing his holdings in 
January 1969, and, although Gerstnecker disclaimed knowledge of 
these sales at the time they were being made, his position as Bevan's 
assistant makes the timing of these sales 9.ppenr to be more than 
coincidental. Second, all of Gerstnecker's transactions were reported 
on form 4 as of the trade dnte, as required by fOl'm4, with the exception 
of two trades, which were reported as of settlement date rather than 
trade date. These were the last two of his four January 1969 sales, 
in which he sold 1,000 shares each on January 29 and 30. On those 
2 days the Penn Central market price peaked-the Penn Central 
llU1rket price had been rising for about 2 weeks-and Gerstnecker 
sold his shares at 71-71,Y2. The next day, J-n.mmry 31, the market fell 
2 points, and the price of the stock resumed its steady decline which 
had begun in the last half of 1968Y Although Gerstnecker claimed 
he did not remember directing the reporting of these t.rndes as of 
settlement dn.te, it is clel1r that it was a conscious deptLrture from his 
reporting pr:1Ctice,c2 and his representation to the Commission that 
the trades occurred on February 5 and 6 rather thun at the end of 
January also made it appear in the published trading sUlnmary tlwt 
his trading had taken place after the pH blication of Penn Cen tml's 
financial report. 

ROBERT HASLETT 

Purchases Sales Bala;!ce 

Feb. I, 19GB __ ________________ • _______ • ____ • _____ • ____ • ____ • ______________ • ________ • __ • _ _ __ _ _ _ 5.425 
July 15. 1969 _, _________________________ • ________ • __ ._. _____________________ • _._ 3,000 2,402 

From the time of the merger until after the bankruptcy, Haslett 
served as vice president-investments of Penn Central. As such he re­
ported directly to and worked closely with David Bevan. Haslett 
owned 5,425 shares at the time of the merger. Five thousand of these 
shares had been purch ased pursuant to op ti ons in 1964 and 1967; 
the balance was acquired from the thrift plan. . 

Haslett had made no sales of Penn Central stock since he began 
acquiring it in 1964. On July 15,1969, he made his only prebankruptcy 
sale, selling 3,000 shares, and thereby reducing his Penn Central 
holdings to 2,402 shares. Haslett had no other transactions in Penn 
Central stock prior to the bankruptcy, and he allowed the substantial 
number of options at 24}f which had been available to him since 
December 1967 to expire. 

When Haslett had exercised his options in 1964 and 1967, he had 
taken out unsecured loans for the full amount of the exercise price 
from Girard Bank, amounting to $63,000 in 1964, and $50,000 in 
1967. From 1964 OIl, Haslett consistently maintained the loan at its 
original balance, and paid only the interest as it became due in 
quarterly installments. The balance of $113,000, therefore, was 

" The market rise had been In response to Saunders' January 10 announcement of the proposed formation 
of the holding company. On J aunary 30 Penn Central published preliminary figures for 1968, whirh, although 
registering an increase on a consolidated basis, indicated that the parent company had lost $2 million, down 
from a profit of $11 million In 196;. -

" Gerstnecker's secretary apparently coordinated the fllin!, of Gerstnecker's reports with tho secretary's 
office at Penn Central. (Gerstnecker, of course, signed the fOlm 4's which were submitted to the Com­
mission). The documents submitted by Gerstnecker in connection with his trading contain a copy of the 
letter transmitting tbe certifir·ate for the 2,000 shares to his broker. Handwritten on the bottom of this COpy. 
!n wh~t ~ppears to be his secretary's writing. is the notation_ IIn~p .~pU.lf'Tnpnt r1ottlo~ 'W'nh t:. ........ ri c: ~ .... --- -_.&. 
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maintained from December 1967, until July 1969, when Haslett paid 
off the loan in full. Haslett stated that his July 1969 sale of 3,000 
Penn Central shares, ,Jhichgrossed him about $130,000, was for the 
purpose of paying off the $113,000 loan, which was in fact paid off 
,July 23.63 The bank had not requested that the loan be paid off or 
reduced, and Haslett could not pinpoint why he chose July 15,1969, as 
the time to sell stock to payoff a loan which had been outstanding, 
in pn,rt, since 1964: "1 sold the stock becnuse it was acting poorly. 
1 had a large bank loan, and 1 sold enough stock to payoff my bank 
loan, and sold no more stock, kept the balance." 

JONATHAN O'HERRON 

Purchases Sales 

Feb. I, 1968 _________________________________________________________________________________ _ 

r~. ~)i!\\~-\\~~_~-~-~~:---:~~~~~-~~~~~~~~~l~~~~~~-~-~~~--~:~~~~_~:_~';~'~ --------;~i- -

Balance 

5,833 
5,733 
4,733 
3,733 
5,575 
3,575 
2,575 
2,075 

O'Herron, who had worked for Penn Central's Buckeye subsidiary for 
a number of years before he was brought to Penn Central to be groomed 
as Bevan's successor, became Penn Central's vice-president--:-finunce 
in September 1969, following a 2-month stint in charge of accounting. 
He replaced Bevan upon his departure in June 1970. At the time he 
joined Penn Central in July 1969, O'Herron reported an ownership 
in Penn Cimtral stock of 2,575 shares (including shares held in the 
names of his wife and children). Prior to joining Penn Central he had 
received, through his employment at Buckeye, Penn Central option 
grants of about 9,000 shares, all of which had been exercised [md most 
of which had been sold by 1968. After joining Penn Central O'Herron's 
only sale prior to bankruptcy was the sale of 500 shares on February 9, 
1970. 

O'Herron stated that he made this sale, which grossed about, 
$13,000, to liquidate an outstanding (unsecured) bank loan of $12,000 
which he had taken out for income tax purposes in April 1969, and 
which he had told the banker granting it that he would liquidate 
prior to the end of 1969. Although at the time of the sale O'Herron 
had a number of other equity securities he could have sold to obtain 
funds for the loan, O'Hcrron could only answer, when asked why it 
was Penn Central stock he chose to see, that it had stopped paying 
dividends: O'Herron stated that the February sale was purposely timed 
to follow the dissemination of the 1969 preliminary financial figures 
by a number of days_ By Februar:L1970, O'Herron was deeply in­
volved in the preparation of both United States and foreign public 
offerings, and he was taking part in the negotiations for private SVI'-iss 
fra.nc financings and for stand-by bank loans to tide Penn Central 
over prior to the $100 million Pennco offering_ On February 5, 1970, a 
few days before his sale, he had been informed by a representative of 
Goldman, Sachs that they would no longer "roll-over" the Penn Central 
commercial paper as it became due. 

I> From about 1964 to 1970 Haslett had another, secured,loan outstanding at Gimrd Bank in the amount 
of $35,000. ' 
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OFFICERS-REAL ESTATE AND TAXES 

Both of the officers discussed in this section are tax specialists, 
although one looked after the postmerger real estate transactions and 
one for a time was also titular head of the accounting department. Both 
of them attended the budget committee meetings, Saunders' monthly 
policy meetings. 

S. H. HELLENBRAND 

Purchases Sales 

Feb. I, 1968 _________________________________________________________________________________ _ 
Feb. 14, 1958_____________________________________________________ 1,023 _____________ _ 
Sept. 3, 1968_ _ ___ __ _ _ ________ _ ______ _______ __ _ __________ ______________________ _ 1,000 

~~~l: l'I~~~= = = = = = = = = == = = == = = = = = === = = == = === = == = == = = = = == = === = === = = = ==== = = = = === = = I, ~~~ 
~~~:: l~: mL= ============================ ====:============================== ~gg 

Balance 

2,844 
3,867 
2,867 
1,867 
1,367 

667 
367 

Originally a New York Central officer, Hellenbrand became a Penn 
Central vice president, taking charge of industrial development and 
real estate following the merger. In March 1970, with the retirement 
of T. K. Warner, Hellenbrand also headed the tax department. In 
February 1968, following the exercise of all available options, Hellen­
brand owned 3,867 Penn Central shares. In September 1968, Hellen­
brand sold 3,500 shares, reducing his holdings to only 367 shares. 
Although further options became available to him at attractive 
prices at the end of 1968, Hellenbrand effected no further Penn Central 
stock transactions, aside from his thrift plan participation, until after 
the bankruptcy. 

Hellenbrand claimed that his buying and selling followed no specifi­
cally laid out program, even though in 1965 and 1966 he had exercised 
options and 6 months later each time sold at least as many shares as 
he had acquired. In his testimony, Hellenbrand could point to no 
specific reasons for his 1968 sales: 

As I said, I recall among the reasons was u desire to pay down the loan which I 
had outstanding in the bank, and of all the reasons which go into the operation of 
the human mind to buy or sell something * * *. I do not know that there was 
anything more specific than the conclusion that I felt it was a wise thing for me to 
do ~tt the time.64 

It is likely that Hellenbrand knew at the time of his 1968 sales of the 
dubious tax-oriented transactions management was then planning for 
the Great Southwest-lVlacco subsidiaries to conceal the disastrous con­
dition of the railroad. Hellenbrand also was aware at that time that 
the so-coJled Park Avenue properties were not, as they had been 
advertised to be, a liquid investment which the railroad could sell for 
cash, due to the formidable obstacles raised by heavy mortgages and 
minority interests . 

.. The loans to which Hellenhrand referred Were loans obtained in connection With the exercise of the 
stock options. In September 1968 however, Hellenbrand had only $33,000 outstanding on his loans, while 
the proceeds from his September sales equaled $228,000. 
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T. K. WARNER, JR. 

Purchases Sales 

Feb. I, 1968________ __ __ __________ ___ ________ _ _ ________ _____ _ ____ __ ________ __ _ __ _ ____________ _ 
Mar. 20, 1968_______ __ __ ___________ _ _ ____ __ _ _ _ _________ ________ _________ ___ ___ __ 1.00 
Mar. 25, 1968_____ _______ ___________________ _ _______ _____ ________ _______ __ ___ ___ 100 
Mar. 29, 1968___ __ _____ ____ ____________ __ _____ _ _ ______________ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ ___ ____ _ __ _ 100 
Apr. 2,1968 ___________________________________________________________ . ______ __ 500 
Apr. 5, 1968_ _______ _ _________ ______________ __________________ _ _________ _ _ _ ____ _ 3CO 
May 9, 19G8_______ __ _ _ ____ __ ____ ____________ _____ _ _____ _ ____ ____ _ __ __ ____ ______ 200 
May 21, 1968 ______________________________________ . _ _ _ _ ____ ___ ___ _______ ___ ____ 200 

~~~. 96', \9;6k::::::::::::::::::::: :::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::: - - - --. - -i; ZOO -_____ . ____ ~~~_ 
Sept. 3, 1969 ______________________________________________________ . _. _. _ __ _____ 2,000 
Sept. 11, 1969 _______________________ . ___________ . _________ . ____ • ____ . ____ __ _ _ __ 2,000 
Dec. 19,1969 _____________ . __________ . ___________________________________ . __ __ __ 100 
June 12, 1970. _____________________ ._. _________________ . _____ . ___ . _____________ . 200 

Balance 

4,888 
4,788 
4,688 
4,588 
4,088 
3,788 
3,588 
3,388 
3,288 
4,480 
2,380 

3eo 
240 
96 

From the time of the merger until July 1969, 'Varner served as 
vice president in charge of tax matters (from November 1968 to July 
1969 his title was vice president-accounting and taxes). In this 
capacity he functioned independently of the finance department.uo 

In July 1969 when Jonathan O'Herron was brought in, the accounting 
department was moved from the control of Warner and given to 
O'Herron. At that time Warner was made vice president-corporate 
administration, and he kept this title until his officia.l retirement in 
May 1970. Warner looked upon tIlls job change as being kicked up­
stairs to make room for O'Herron and as early as June 19

c

(j9, he began 
to consider retirement.aa Nonetheless, between July 1969 and his 
retirement in 11ay 1970, Warner was in charge of the department of 
corporate analysis and cost and profit analysis as well as taxes. 

Between 1964 and 1969, 'Warner had made purchases and sales of 
significant amounts of shares each year (in 1967 and 1968, he sold a 
significant number of shares but made no purchases). From 1965 on, 
however, the amount of shares he owned was never less than 3,000 
shares. On March 6,1969, he made his final option exercise, purchasing 
1,200 shares at $24.50 per share. At this time he borrowed $50,000 from 
a bank, using $29,400 of the borrowed money to exercise his option. 
Following the exercise of this option, he owned 4,480 shares. On 
September 8 and 11, 1969 he sold 2,000 shares of stock each day, and 
and on December 19, 1969, he sold an additional 100 shares. These­
sales, along with gifts he made during 1969, reduced his ownership to 
to a total of 240 shares at the end of 1969. 

On May 1, 1970, Warner officially retired from the company. It 
should be noted, however, that he sold 200 of the 296 shares he owned 
at the time of his retirement on June 12, 1970, just prior to 
the bankruptcy. 

Warner's reasons for the 4,000 share sale he made in September 1969 
were very unclear. First he mentioned that by selling in Sept.ember, 
he would have been able (under the 6-month rule) to buy further 
option shares in March.57 The only options available to Warner 

"He was, however, close enough to Bevan to be the only nonfinance officer chosen to participate in the 
Pen phil venture . 

.. Warner claimed that the reason his retirement was delayed some months was that Saunders had asked 
him to remain. 

" Warner's testimony reads as rollows: 
"Thcre Were severalfactors, one of Which is that under the stock option plan, when you terminate service 

you can continue to exercise your stook option for 3 months thereafter. I had also already plp.nned to leave, 
thererore, when the 6 months expired on the 1969 exerCise, sometime in February, by selllng in September 
I can buy 6 months later. _ ::! w::;;. th~.n planning to leave December 31, so I could purchase stock through March 31 under the terms 
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were at 57%, nnd by September 1969, Penn Central had sold down 
below 41. Reminded of this, and asked if he had expected the stock 
to have climbed above 57% by March, Warner stated that diver­
sification in anticipation of retirement 68 rather than a prospective 
option purchase had been the major reason for his sales. Q9 According 
to his recollection, Penn Central stock represented over 25 percent 
of his investment portfolio in 1969. Warner did not elaborate on 
why he chose to diversify by virtuall:y eliminating Penn Central 
stock from his investment portfolio nor did he indicate why he 
decided to pursue this diversification policy in September 1969. 
'Varner invested the proceeds of the sales in other securities. 

Warner's involvement in tax matters exposed him to much of the 
covered-over activities of the ,Great Southwest-lV1acco, group. By 
late 1969, he was deeply involved in the program of maximizing 
earnings through tax aspects and through exploration of the sub­
sidiaries for possible opportunities to bring up earnings to the parent 
company. Indeed, at the very time he was selliIlg on September 9 
and 11, 1969, he was involved in a tax accounting clumge for l\1a.cco 
that would increase :Macco's 1968 earnine:s. Warner knew that sHch 
actions were important to continuing tile 1Vlacco-Great Southwest 
facade for the public 'offering of Great Southwest stock then being 
readied. iO In a followup of earlier discussions "iVarner wrote to 
Saunders on September 10, 1969: 

This relates to the 1968 tax elections of the M:ncco group which will be included 
in the Penn Central consolidated Federal income tax ret.ul'll which must be 
filed on Monday, Scptember Hi. Last cvening I was informed by Peat Marwick & 
Mitchell (Philadelphia) that the Macco people wcre sending us tax rcturn material 
for their group in which they were increasing taxable income from $1 million to 
$27 million. We have not yet received the Macco papers, but a letter on a related 
subject confirms the P.M. & M. statement. The public accountants report that 
the new elections will result in a change in Macco's (but not our consolidated) 
book net income eliminating. $13 million of deferred taxes and increasing its 
book net income by that $13 million. This is important in preparing the ::lEC 
financial statements for the sale of Great Southwest stock. 

The next day (on which Warner was selling a second 2,000 shares) 
Warner met with others to review the matter. Bevan reported to 
Saunders in a memo on that day: 

lVlessrs. Warner, Hill, Wilson and myself met this afternoon and are unani­
mously of the opinion that we should go along with the Macco management's 
recommendation. This will add almost 50 cents a share to the reportcd earnings 
for last year, and merely on a basis of 10 times earnings will add $5 a share to the 
value of any stock sold, and if it goes to 20 timescarnings it would add $10 a 
share. Our capital gains would be enhanced by tllis amount·. 

It should be noted the overwhelming portion of Macco's profit that 
year was in the Bryant Ranch transaction which produced little CfLS h 
but obligated Macco to heavy expenditure commitments. 

OFFICERS-OPERATIONS AND LABOR 

All of the top operating people dealt with Penn Central's maj or 
service problems, which peaked at the beginning of 1969. They also 

O. At no time, however, had Warner planned to retire without seeking other employment, and by Decem­
ber 1969 he was discussing employment with a law firm . 

.. Q. Did you expect the price of the stock to go beyond $57 within the 6 months before your retirement, 
or up to your retirement, in the 3 months after? 

A. Ijust never !mew that much, understanding why stocks went up and down, so that r think one ought 
to try remain flexible. But I want to add. I am not sure that was any more thall another strow. I wouldn't 
be surprised that my lesving was not the main thing. 

iO Hp.p. OrPAt. Rnnt.hwDc:t 1:0000tinn ... 1 th{'· •. ,.. ....... _. 
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experienced first-hand the crippling budget restrictions which the 
finance depa.rtment placed on the operu.ting departments beginning in 
mid-1969, and which magnified the operu.ting problems which increased 
again during the 1959-70 winter. . 

With the exception of Messrs. Funkhouser and Sullivan, all of these 
operating officers attended the budget committee meetings, and must 
hnve been fully aware from those meetings of the company's "profit 
maximization" policies, and of the contrast between Saunders' private 
dissatisfaction with the company's performance and his soothing public 
pronouncements on the subject.71 Further, dealing on a day-to-da.y 
basis with budget restrictions and endless pressure to produce more 
revenues brought home to these officers the realities of the company's 
cash lag, and of the workings of "profit maximization". Apart from 
company rumors, however, the operating people may have had only 
the same knowledge as the public concerning the dealings between 
Penn Central and its subsidiaries, since these nonrailroad activities 
were dealt with only m summary fashion at the budget committee 
meetings. 

ROBERT G. FLANNERY 

Purchases Sales Balance 

Feb. I. 1968_ __ _ _ _ _ __ ____ _ _ __ _ _ ____ __ ____ ______ ____ __ ____ __ _ _ ______ ____ ______ __ _ _____ __ __ __ _ _ _ 511 
June 12, 1968.-___________________________________________________ 325 ______________ 836 
Mar. 17, 1969.._________________________________________________________________ 300 536 
May 12, 1969_ ___ _ _ ___ _____ ___ _ ____ __ ____ __ __ ______ _____ _ ____ ____ _ _ __ ________ _ _ _ 100 436 
May 13, 1969. ~ _____ . ___________________ . ___________ . _______________________ . _ _ _ 200 236 
July 2, 1969_ _ _ __ __ _ _ ________ ___ _ __________ ______ __ __ ______ ____ _ _ ______ ____ ___ _ _ 200 36 
July 3, 1969_ _ _ __ __ ________ ________ __________ ________ __ __ __________ __ ________ ___ 36 _____________ _ 

A former New York Central officer, Flannery sen-ed as vice presi­
dent-systems development from the time of the merger until Febru­
ary 1969, when he was named vice president-operations. He re­
mained wit.h the company until after the bankruptcy. 

In June 1968, following a purchase of 325 option shares, Flannery 
owned 836 Penn Central S11a1'e8. 72 In 1969, he totally liquidated his 
holdings in a series of five transactions between 1v1o.rch and August. 
Named to replace Smucker clue to the winter 1969 operating crisis, 
Flannery began liquidating his shares about 1 month after he took 
charge of the operu.tions department. Flannery claimed the proceeds 
were used to purchase a house, <on which he placed a down payment 
on April 19, 1969, and which was completed in 1970. According to 
Flannery's reckoning, he had invested a total of $143,000 in the 
house by the time it was completed, including a $65,000 mortgage, and 
also (it appears) approximately $47,000 in cash netted from the sale of 
his previous house. The total gross proceeds of Flannery's Penn Cen­
tral sales, $44,000, would ha.ve more than made up the cash difference 
needed to reach $14:3,000, but Flannery claimed that, along with his 
Penn Central shares, he liquidated his stock holdings in other compan­
ies in May and September, 1969, to raise money for his house. Flannery 
did not sell his house in New York until August 1969. He claimed that 

" It should be noted that after problems arising from possible leaks of information to the brokerage firm 
of-Suteher & Sherrerd in mid-196S. Penn Central attempted to restrict the internal dissemination of financial 
information by sending the various officers only that information of particular interest to them prior to the 
budget meetings. However, the full scope of the information was discussed duriug the meeting and so the 
various omcers would emerge with a fairly complete, general picture of what was occurring within the 
company. 

" Undp.r a New York Central stock purchase plan, Flannery had contracted to buy an additional 130 
shares in 1967. A!:. allnwp.n hv t.hp r.nntrA.i"t. nrnvidnn~ hn1.vaTT.ar l4'TI'S,·" .............. " ...... : ... ,.1 .. ,.1 f.J... ... __ IA ..... : ... 1..:- - .. _ .. -
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at the time he committed himself to buy the house in Philadelphia, he 
did not know what price he would get for his N ew York property. He 
had paid $63,500 for the New York house "And was quite fort.unate 
for selling same for $89,000 which was far more than I expected." 
Except for the fIrst Penn Central sa,le in March 1969, the proceeds of 
which were used as the down payment on the house in April, Flannery 
was unable to relate the timing of any Penn Central sales to a specific 
need for cash: 

You also asked me to clarify my purchase of a house in Philadelphia as related 
to my savings account bank statement for the year 1969. You will note that on 
February 18, 11)69, my account was down to $968.88. I sold 300 shares of Penn 
Central stock lVlarch 17, 1969, and deposited same in the account. A large part of 
this was withdrawn in April in order to make the downpayment on the purchase 
of my new home, copy of purchase agreement you have in your file. You are also 
aware of the bct that I had made quite a commitment in purchasing this home 
prior to disposing of my home in Hartsdale, N. Y. Also, the committed amount of 
$120,000-plus was just for the bare minimum of a house. As stated to you, I even­
tually ended up with $143,000 invested and the difference between the original 
commitment and the iinal amount was for drapes, carpeting, landscaping, and so 
on. In fact, we paid seveml contractors direct for the installation of better fixtures 
such as kitchen appliances, bathroom fixtures, electrical outlets, and so on, which 
was over and above the committed price to the contractor. With this commit­
ment, you will note I also sold Penn Central stock in lVIay and July and other 
stock in September in order that I could properly plan and know definitely how 
many commitments to make in further improving the house. 

A. PAUL FUNKHOUSER 

Purchases Sales Balance 

Feb. 1, 1968 _____ •.•......• _._ ..••....••...•..........••.. _ .....•....•..•........ _ ..•..... __ .. 5,001 
June 24, 1968 .••.•...•........•... _ •..•....• _ .........••...•....•..• _ .... _ .... _. 1,900 3,101 
Dec. 26, 1968 .. _ .... _ .••... _ ..........•....•••.. __ ._ ..•... _....... 1,900 ..•..•••... _.. 5,001 
Jan. 26, 1970. ___ .....•..... _ .... _ •••.•....••..... _ ....•...• _................... 100 4,949 
May 27, 1970 .••••....•••...•....• __ ..••.... ••. .......••. ..•....•.... ...... ..... 4,500 504 

Funkhouser wa,s a close associate of Saunders, having worked for 
him at Norfolk & Western. From the time of the merger until March 
1970, he was vice president in charge of coal and ore traffic. In March 
1970, in response to the gravity of Penn Central's passenger service 
problems, he was made senior vice president-passenger service. 

Funkhouser's last option exercise was in December 1968, giving him 
ownership at that time of a total of 4,900 shares, all acquired through 
options, plus 101 shares held by his family. Prior to the merger, 
Funkhouser had acquired his stockholdings between 1964 and 1968 by 
exercising options using borrowed funds, and selling a portion of t,he 
purchased shares after 6 months to payoff the loan. The December 
1968, purchase was not made with loaned funds, and it marked the 
beginning of a holding period unbroken until 1970. On January 26, 
1970, there was a sale of 100 shares he had given to his wife in 1967. 
On May 27, 1970, Funkhouser sold 4,500 shares, representing the 
major portion of his Penn Central holdings. 

Funkhouser testified that the January 1970 sale of 100 shares was 
pursuant to his wife's decision to sell since she did not want to hold the 
stock because they passed the dividend. The public announcement that 
the fourth quarter dividend would not be declared had been made in 
November 1969. Funkhouser could not recall why she did not reach 
this decision until January. . 
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The IVlay 27 trade had its origin in an April 28, 1970,limit order to 
ReU 4,000 shares at 20U which Funkhouser changed on the morning of 
I'vfay 27 to a market order to sell 4,500 shares. Funkhouser explained 
that he decided to sell his shares [L{ter the April 22 publication of Penn 
Central's first quarter earnings, which made him decide that the 
company would· not be able to resume paying dividends in the fore­
seeable future. Based on this decision, he placed his 207.4: limit order 
on April 28, anticipating that the market in Penn Central stock (which 
had closed at 17 % on April 27) would recover sufficien tly to allow' 
execution of the order. The limit of 20;l4 had been chosen because 
Funkhouser had arbitmrily set himself the goal at that timo of realizing 
$80,000 inliql1idating his Penn Centl'nl investment. The price of tho 
stock did not recover, however, and Funkhouser explained his decisioll 
to change his order to a s)1le of 4,500 shnres at market as follows: 

* * '" there was an annouEcement on IVlny 15 that the credit rating of the 
Pennsylva.nia Co. hnd been downgraded. And I determined that the stock, after 
that, probably weuidn't get. bfLCk up into the 20's-and I executed a m~wket order 
on Ma.y 27. Now my rea.son fol' selling was b.asically because I wanted some return 
on my investment. I did not not know the company wa::; going bltnkrupt nor did 
I-and I full[y] expected it t() be t1ll'ncd Hl'onnd at that time. But I knew that we 
were having tremendous eal'llings problems-tha.t is, in brief, my reason for· 
selling. 

Funkhouser (lecided to sell his shares at market on the afternoon of 
IVlay 26. That nJternoon he conRulted both Wilson and Roberts con­
cerning his proposed trade, specifically asking each one if he knew of 
any inside information why I should not sell my sha.res. Both men told 
him that they knew of no reason why such a sale should not be made. 
Funkhouser entered the market order the next morning, prior to the 
opening of exchange trading. 

Funkhouser claimed that by 1969 he was counting on the substantial 
cash dividends which his sizable Penn Central holdings had been 
yielding.73

. . 

When he sold, he deposited the proceeds in a savings bank unt:! 
August, when he reinvested the money in bonds: 

Q. The question is, "When you made the sale in ]l.1ay, did you do it 
with any specific investment in mind, or was it simply because you were 
dissatisfied with the Penn Central's dividend policy at this point?" 

A. I did not sell with any specific investment in mind. My moti­
vating force was to obtain some return on that investment. Normally 
I would have invested probably in some security soon after that on 
the advice of my wife, but I don't know particularly why I didn't; 
but we went into reorganization and I had the money in savings. I 

"At that time, these shares represented about one-third of his equity investments, the other two-thirds of 
which had been chosen for appreCiation rather than dividend retum: 

Q. Did you contempl..'1tc, when you discovered that thi8 inveshltf1l.t was 'l1.ot going to bring in dividends, 
making any changes in any of the other investments which you were holding which were not bringing in divi­
dends so that that ",onp-II would give 1/01£ a return on I/our monevF 

A. I don't recall doing that. The securities other than my Norfolk & Western for the most part Were 
being handled by BonsaI White. and it was, for the most part, an effort to seek appreciation rather than 
income. And I had at that time, I think, substantial gains which, had I sold, would have resulted iu 
considerable tax, although I suppose it could have been offset against the Penn Central loss. But these 
secutities were under-well. as a IIu,tter of fact I think I did take some gains that offset that losS. In 
hindsight I may have made some chanJ(es. 

But I would say this to you: The secunties that BonsaI White was handling for me, the goals were more 
appreCiation than income. And I don't recall selling thoso stocks to seek more income. If I did s~ll­
and I think I may have sold some-it Would have been to offset by taking the loss, and probably they 
went back into the area of seeking appreciation under his guidance. 

Q. WcU would you SUII then that you did not have appreciation in mind when you invested in Penn Central 
stock' 

A. I did not have appreciation in mind? 
Q. Well did I/O", or did 1101£ notr 
A. Yes; I would say that appreciation was a factor. I was hODill~ to acollire as m1lch of the stock .... , 
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was drav'vwg interest on the savings account, and then I decided to 
.put the money in tax-free bonds. lVly return on the tax-free bonds 
would have been, I think, somewhere around 5 percent and 6 percent, 
taking into consideration the taxes. 

HENRY W. LARGE 

Purchases Sales Balance 

Feb. I, 1968................. ......................•............. ... ... ....••... ..••••••...... 4,604 
July 8, 1968................. .... .... ........... ... ............. .•.............. 1,000 3,554 
Feb. 18, 1969.......... •....... .................... ...•.....•... ........••••• .•• 300 3,254 
June 10, 1969...... ..••.•.. •.....•............... .•... ... ...•.. ...... .•.••• •••.• 200 3,054 
Sept. 17, 1969 .. _ .....•••......................•......•...•...........•.•••• _... 200 2,854 

Lars:e served as executive vice president.-sales and marketing 
from l1'ebruary 1968 until his retirement on June 1, 1970. A career 
employee, he reported directly to the president. At the time of the 
merger, Large .owned 4,604 shares, most of which had been acquired 
from options. Following the merger, he exercised no further options, 
even though by December 1968, he was eligible to purchase 1,600 
fHrther option shares at 24}f. . 

Large explained that his July 1968 sale, the proceeds of which were 
$85,000, was made in order to payoff a stock option loan of $58,400 
and an income tax loan of $15,000, and t.o provide cash for antici­
pated capital gains taxes. Bank records show the two loans paid off 
as of July 17, 1968. Large claimed that each of his three 19.69 sales 
were made to 'meet income tax payments; the proceeds of the sales, 
which were $18,336, $10,450, and $8,053, respectively, were used for 
tax payments of $18,000, $7,000, and $7,000. 

Large insisted that he only sold what he felt he had to sell of his 
shares, although he did not indicate whether this involved a choice 
between Penn Central shares and any other liquid assets he may have 
had. 

A. E. PERLMAN 

Purchases Sales Balance 

Feb. I, 1968...... ................ ....... ........ .... ...... ...... .... ...... ............••..... 2,860 
Apr. I, 1970. .... ........ ... .... .... .•...... ..... ........ ... .....• .......•.•• •.. 500 1,400 

Note: Between 1968 and 1969,960 shares had been donated as gifts: 

Perlman was the president of Penn Central from the' time of the 
merger until December 1969, when Saunders brought in Paul Gorman 
to be president. Insisting that the conditions of his employment con­
tract be adhered to, Perlman became vice-chairman of the board at 
that time, retaining this position until his June 8, 1970, removal by 
the board. 

Prior to the February 1968 merger, Perlman had exercised options 
for 34,000 shares which were the total number of options granted to 
him (these grants had been made before 1964) and had sold 32,890 of 
these shares. As of February 1968, Perlman reported his ownership of 
stock at 2,860 shares. His only transactions in 1968 and 1969 were 
disposing of 960 shares as gifts. On April 1, 1970, he sold 500 shares 
and held the remaining balance of 1,400 shares until after the 
bankruptcy. 
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Perlman clairned that his 500 shure sale resulted from turning over 
his portfolio to Lionel D. Edie & Co., Inc. (an investment adviser). 
Edie'made its first apJ)raisalof Perlman's portfolio in January 1970. 
As a general policy, Edic was against buying railroad stocks at thn,t, 
time, and favored the sale of its customers' current railroad stock 
holdings. Although Perlman had given Edie complete discretion over 
his account, Edie checked with Perlman as a matter of practice before 
making a trade. When told of Edie's plans to dispose of nIl of his Penn 
Central stock, Perlman stated he vetoed the idea because he believed 
that as a director ot Penn Central he should remain a substantiltl 
holder of the company's stock. He said he told Edie it could only seIl 
up to 500 shares which in his view would still leave him a substantial 
holder of Penn Central stock. Perlma,n claimed he characteristically 
followed Edie's recommendations concerning his holdings, and note<l 
within 2 years of acquiring Perlman's portfolio, Edie had replaced 
all stock originally held. Perlman stated that at no time did he discuss 
the merits of Penn Central with Edie representatives, and insisted the 
500 shares trade was made solely on the basis of the general Edie 
recommendation. 

Perlman's sale is included in this report because it came so close to 
bankruptcy that he obviously had adverse information which was not 
available to the public at the time of his sale. He knew, to an extent 
that the public did not, that Penn Central was a sick company. He 
had complained about money being diverted to real estate opemtions, 
and of lack of funds for the railroad. He was unhappy with the way 
the company was being managed and knew of all the operating: 
difficulties. He knew of the internal pressures to generate additional 
earnings and sitting through budget meetings must have had a good 
idea of some of the artificial techniques being used to accomplish this 
purpose. On the other hand, for at least 6 months prior to his sale, since 
the decision was mt1de to replace him as president, he had been effec­
tively isolated from regular sources of information within the company. 
His awareness, if any, of the criticnl new problems which were then 
developing would most likely have come from secondary sources. 

DAVID E. SMUCI<ER 

Purchases Sales 

Feb. I, 1968 ________________________ . _____________________ .. _________________________________ _ 

t~H:;m~~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~~ m ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ m ~ m~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ u ~ ~;;;;;;;; ~~ ~~~; --------Hii-
Apr. la, 1970 _____ . ________ . ____________________ . ____ _ __ _ _ _ _ ____ __ 2, 067 _____________ _ 
Apr. 20, 1970 _____________ . ___ . ________ . __________________ . __ . _. ____________ . __ _ 2, 000 

1 Thrift plan distribution following Smucker's retirement. 

Balance 

12,600 
3,600 
5,800 
3,600 
2,200 

40 
12,107 . 

107 

Smucker was executive vice president in charge of operations until 
February 1969. At that time, with Penn Central's operations in a 
disastrous state, he was replaced by Flannery at the insistence of 
Perlman, and made executive vice president-office of the chairman 
until his March 1970 retirement. At the time of the merger, Smucker 
held 12,600 shares, which he had acquired through options. He solei 
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9,000 shares in July 1968, hitting the market near its all time high at 
about 85. In February 1969, he made his final option exercise of 2,200 
shares. He sold 3,600 shares in July 1969, and 1,600 in February 
1970, and made gifts to his family, leaving him with a balance of 40 
shares at his retirement on March 1, 1970. Following his retirement, 
he sold 2,000 of the 2,067 tIu'ift plan shares distributed to him im­
mediately upon receiving them in April 1970. 

It appears that about $83,000 of the proceeds of the July 1968, sale 
was used to payoff loans Smucker had taken out in connection with 
the exercise of his options in 1967. Smucker stated that the sale had 
been planned at that time to obtain funds to exercise options when 
they vested in December 1968, and for capital gains taxes. At this 
time, according to Smucker, he was expecting to exercise in December 
not only his remaining options at 2431, but also up to half of his re­
cently granted option to purchase 12,000 shares at 57%.74 When 
Smucker exercised his options in early 1969, however, Penn Central 
stock was down to selling in the low 60's and the options at 57% had 
lost their attractiveness to him, so h~ exercised only the options 
rem aining to him a t 24}~. 

The only reason Smucker gave for his 1969 and 1970 sales was that 
he 'had decided to retire. Smucker's official termination date was in 
March 1970, and he claims that he actually left the company in 
December 1969. By July 1969, however, he had been relieved of 
responsibility for operations and was contemplating retirement: 

Yeah,. by July of 1969 I had decided to retire. Mr. Saunders' 90 days had 
elapsed and I decided t.o retire. And I was sitting there holding 3,600 shares of 
stock, and we had been told by the legal department and by the financial depart­
ment that if we've got any questions relative to purchases or sales of the com­
pany's stock to talk to Dave Wilson or Ted Warner or both. So I got Dave Wilson 
up to my office, and I said, here I'm sitting, oh, buddy with 3,600 shares of stock 
that I have owned since December of 1967; :J.nd I unfortunately exercised an 
option to buy 2,200 shares last Fcbruary. How long do I have to hold this. 

Accordiilg to Smucker's testimony, he decided following the con­
sultation to sell his stock, even though it was less than 6 months 
since he had made his last purchase in reliance on Wilson's advice 
that recovery of profits would not be possible under section 16 of the 
1934 act. 

The gifts of 560 shares to Smucker's daughter and her family were 
also prompted by Smucker's review of his financial affairs in con­
templation of his retirement. 75 Smucker explained that the balance of 
1,600 shares was not sold until February 25, 1970, because he had 
placed a limit order to sell them at 45 on August 27. which he remained 
hopeful of executing until February, when the stock had slid to 25. 

Although Smucker's 1969 sales were made following his removal 
from operating responsibility, he had continued to work for Penn 
Central in Saunders' office and, as evidenced by various memoranda 
he wrote, he was very much aware that the operating situation was 
still critical. As an operating officer he recalled being "bumped over the 
head to get t.he expenses down and see if you can't find or sell some 
scrap or do something to get the income up." 

"The June 1968. sale grossed about $765.000. Figuring the cost of these options at about $400,000 leaves a 
balance of proceeds, after payment of tho loans, of about $280,000. 

"These shares were subsequently sold, but Smucker claimed that he had refused to advise the donees as 
to when tbey should seU and in fact did not know when the sales occuned. 
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JAMES R. SULLIVAN 

Purchases Sales Balance 

Feb. 1. 1968.................................................................................. 2.730 
Feb. 29. 1968..................................................... 260 .............. 2.990 
June 4. 1968...................................................... 325 .............. 3.315 
Jan. 20.1969.................................................................... 500 2.815 
Mar. 13. 1970................................................................... 2.300 515 

A former New York Central operatin~ officin.l, Sullivan served as 
vice president (marketing) of Penn Central from the time of the merger 
until after the bankruptcy. Sullivan, who was subordinate to Large 
(later replaced by E.G. Rreyling) arid who did not attend the budget 
committee meetino-s, would hn.ve learned only indirectly of Penn Cen­
tral's financial and diversification problems. He was, however, clefirly 
fiware of all of the problems in the railroad end of the business. He had 
been in favor of a slower approach toward integration of the two 
ron.ds, feeling that the acceleration plan was a mistake. When operat­
ing' problems developed, as head of marketing he was very familiar 
",i·th the barrage of customer complaints which arose. He knew Penn 
Central was losing business because of these problems, and from. his 
t.estimony it is clear that he was acutely aware of the conflicts between 
former New York Central and former Pennsylvania Railroad employ­
ees, and the impact this was having on the orderly 'functioning of the 
department. 

Sullivan claimed that his 1969 and 1970 sales were made on the basis 
of his broker's advice to diversify his portfolio. In 1965, he had opened 
an account at Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, and from his 
testimony, it appears that from the time of opening the account his 
broker, Edward W. Kann, had discussed with Sullivan the advantages 
of diversifica,tion. Ignoring his advice, however, Sullivan had steadily 
increased his investment in Penn Central shares (which were, of 
course, New York Central shares prior to February 1968) by exercis­
ing his options, so that by December 1968, Penn Central represented 
about 75 percent of the value of his equity holdings. Sullivan empha­
sized that his broker's recommendation was not merely diversifying 
fiway from reliance on one stock, but also diversifying from equity into 
debt investments, due to the general stock market decline. Although 
he did make substantial bond purchases with the proceeds of .his Penn 
Central stock sales, Sullivan also made substantial equity purchases in 
1969 and 1970, and sold few or'none of the other equity st.ocks he 
owned, indicatin~ that his "diversification program" was, in fact, 
solely away from Penn Central, and not from equity stocks in general. 

Sullivn.n's In.nuary 1969 sale was made to buy $30,000 worth of 
1-year municipal bonds. ("* * * I am a little hard to convince some­
times, it takes a little while, and when we made this move, we went 
with a relatively small excursions [sic1 in the city of Goshen bonds.") 
Apparently, Sullivan's broker had called in January to recommend the 
Goshen purchase, but Sullivan could not recall why he chose January 
1969 as the first time· to take his broker's diversification advice 
seriously. 

Later in 1969, Sullivan mn.de further equity purchases and listened 
to periodic suggestions from his broker to diversify into more bonds, 
but he sold no Penn Central (and bought no debt securities) until 
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March 1970. Sullivan could give absolutely no reason why it was :March 
of 1970 when the diversification urge hit him again.76 

. 

This time, at the time of the sale Sullivan and his broker did not have 
a crystal clear idea of what they would do with the proceeds: 

We had discussions, I had had discussions with Kann about a numbcr of things 
that he had suggested in the way of diversification and we concluded that this 
activity would require approximately that much money, so we proceeded ac­
cordingly. 

Sullivan's :March 13 sale of 2,300 shares (reducing his Penn Centrt11 
holdings to 515 shares) grossed about $56,000. About $40,500 of this 
was invested immediately in long-term bonds, and $7,000 went t.o 
purchase shares (equity) in Maui Land & Pineapple Co. In August, 
a further $10,000 was invested in more bonds. (Sullivan stated that fit 
the time of his sale his broker had indicated "That he would probably 
have something else at hand within a very short time," and that he 
was surprised, but not disturbed, by the 5-month delay.) 77 

When questioned concerning the Ilmount of shares he chose to sell in 
March 1970, Sullivan responded as follows: 

Question. Can you tell us in 1I1m'ch of 1970 whether YOlt considered selling that 
remaining 500 shares or why did you decide to keep itt 

Answer. No, I thought it w'as all right to leave it where it was find if I had been 
disturbed.about the thing, I would have t.hrottled the thrift plan, but the idea 
never occurred to me so we just let it go right along. 

Question. Did it occur to you that in 1I1a1"ch of 1970, you were liquidating the 
major part of your holdings in the stock f01" the first time in a number of yeal's? 

Answer. I don't know that it occurred to me in that context, what I was 
[thinking] about was the advice of my counselor on the business of-debt securities 
and the outlook as he saw it and as I seemed to feel it was of the market, that 
stocks were going to, in general-the stock outlook was not promising. 

Sullivan knew of and dealt with the operating problems the com­
pany experienced during the 1969-70 winter. Claiming that the 
appointments of Flannery and Kreyling to key operatin2; posts had 
made him optimistic about the future of Penn Central, Sullivan dis­
counted the idea that his trading was in anticipation of the tremendous 
first-quarter loss which those operating problems had caused. He also 
claimed that in making his sales he didn't even think about "the 
results of the first quarter or anything like that:" 

Question. Was thfwe any particular price consideration in March of 1970 when 
!fOU decided to actuiJJly follow 1I1r, Kann's a,dvice apal·t from the 500 shares you sold 
in 1970 and sold the bulk of your Penn Central holdings? Was there any consideration 
that you gave. to the price that Penn Central was selling at that time'! 

Answer. Not especially, of course we were anticipating, with t.he t.hings that we 
talked about at some lengt.h here, that the Penn Centl'al might very well regain 
its position, so it was a question t.o stay with that or to diversify as Kann had 
recommended, so we decided to diversify rather than sell it all. If I had any 1'1"3,) 
serious concern about the thing, the sensible thing would have been to just 
eliminate it all, but I stayed with the thrift plan or 600 whatever shares that are 
there. 

Question. Can you say that at the time you sold, you did expect the price of the stock 
to turn around eventually'! 

"Q, Can YOU recall {or us what went on to generate your decision to sell 2,300 shares of stock on March 13, 
1970? 

A. Yes; as I have Indicated to YOll. r h'ld these continnin!( discussions with Kann and our experience with 
the Goshen bond thing seemed to go ,,\I right so it seemed to me that in the light of Kann's continued re­
minders on this subject and my feeling that his jud~ment was sound, that tills was the thing to do, 

Q. Why was it the thing to do so on March 13, 19701 
A, That just hapoenEd to be the date that we decided to.move off with it, just as Jauuary 20.1969, waf 

the date we decided to move off with the sale 01 the 500 originally. 
"In th~ month prior to Mr. Sullivan's 1970 sale, his 1969 investment of municioal bonds matured. About 

80 percent of the fnnds from the maturing bonds plus the 1970 Penn Central stock sale was invested in debt 
securities and about 20 np.rr.p.nt WA~ In'l7m::ton in n ..... nH-_ .. - .... ....:"":.~ 
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Answer. Yes; I thought it migh~ very well do so. 
Que<tion. Was that 1:n the near future ar distant future? 
Answer. I would think in the long'3r haul becausc of the problems we have just 

been talking about. 
Question. As far as the shorter haul, at that time as I understand it, well, the first 

qt£a7·ter earnings had not been calculated because the first qua7·ter had not been closed. 
Answer. That's ~rue. 
Question. Did you expect the stock was going to decline sigmficantly before it 

possibly turned m'ound? 
Answer. To be perfectly candid, I didn't give any special consideration to that 

at all, as to what it was liable to do in the ne:l,r future or the results of the first 
quarter or anything like that. I didn't even think about it. I was concerned with 
finally moving in the direction that Kann suggested that we ought to move and 
we would still ret<\in a quite substantial position in Penn Central, so as the turn 
around occurred, we still have a fairly subs~antial equity and of course, we had 
these other options. 

Question. When you say finally, this is over a year after Mr. J(ann had first suggested 
~. . 

Answer. Yes. 
Question. And I would simply like t? a81" you one mare time wl~y yOlt chose this 

particular period of lime to put this program into e:ffect in a major way. 
Answer. Well, simply because I he came convinced that this was the right thing 

to do. 
GUY W. KNIGHT 

Purchases Sales 

Feb. 1. 1968 ................ """ ........................................................... . 
June 20. !9G8 .... c.............................................................. 1.750 
July 15.1968................................................................... 73 
Dec. 20.1968 ............................... :..................... 1.600 ............. . 

~~1~t.34 .1~~k ~ ~ ::::: ::::~ ::::: :::: ::: ::::::: ::::: :::::::::::::::::::: :::: :::::: 3. 9~g 

1 Sales made for account of children. 

Balance 

4.281 
2.531 

12.458 
4.047 

97 
17 

Knight was a senior vice-president in charge of personnel and labor 
relations from the time of the merger until his October 1969 retirement .. 
vVhile not directly connected with the operations of the company, and 
not a participant in the budget committee meetings, Knight's posi­
tion in charge of labor relations brought him into close working con­
tact with Penn Central's operating people. He sold virtually every 
Penn Central share he owned at the beginning of July, the same time 
numerous operating officials had chosen to liquidate their holdings. 

At the time of the merger, Knight owned 4,281 Penn Central shares. 
In June 1968, he sold 1,750 shares. In December 1968, he exercised an 
option for 1,600 shares. On July 3, 1969, along with a number of other 
officers selling at tIllS time, Knight liquidated his Penn Central hold­
ino-s, selling 3,950 of his balance at that time of 3,957 shares.78 

'Since 1965, Knight had an established ",,,indow" pattern of exer­
cising options a.nd making substantial sales at 6-month intervals, and 
his 1968 and 1969 transactions fall within this 6-month pattern. Even 
with these sales, however, he had maintained a. balance of a.t least 
1,000 shares from August 1965 until the time of the July 1969 
liquidation. 

Asserting his rights under the fifth amendment, Knight refused to 
supply any information relative to his Penn Central trading or any 
other Penn Central rela.ted activities. 

" In July 1068 and September 1060 Knight made sales on behaU of his children of 73 and DO slmres. 
respectively. 
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GENERAL CORPORATE OFFICERS 

The two officers discussed in ,this section, although possessing no 
expert.ise concerning t.he operational and financial aspects of the 
COmp[LllY, had const.ant, day-to-clay access to top management in pur­
suing their duties us head of public relations and corporate secretary. 

WILLIAM A. LASHLEY 

Purchases Sales Bolance 

Feb. I, 1968.................................................................................. 3000 
Mar. 3D, 1970........... ........................................................ 500 2,507 
Apr. 15, 1970................................................................... 500 2.007 
May 22.1970._................................................................. 1,000 I, 007 

Lashley was vice-president in charge of public relations and ad­
vertising ~Ultil after the bankruptcy. Reporting directly to Saunder~, 
he had VIrt.ually complete access to all company officers, and hIS 
office was responsible for drafting almost every public str.temen t 
isslled by the company. Havin~; worked for Saunders for many·years,79 
Lashley knew almost refie:-"-1VelY that the public relations department 
was expected to stress-or manufacture-something hopeful out of 
the bleakest announcement. It is likely he knew of every significant 
development in the company, and it appears that he knowingly and 
actively participated in management's attempts to conceal adverse 
information about the company. . 

Lashley steadily exercised his 1964 option to pl.l.rchase Penn Central 
shares at $28 per share until the end of 1967, so that, by the time of the 
merger, he owned 3,000 sbures. SL'Xteen bundred of these shares were 
o\vned jointly with his wife, who bad put up the purchase price for 
some of them. Lashley made a 500-share sale of Penn Central stock 
on lVlurch 30, and again on April 15, 1970, in response to bank pressure 
to pay down the loan for which these shares were collateral. Although 
Lashley claims that his Penn Central sales were made solely because 
of the bank's demands, it is significant to note that at the same time 
he wus making Penn Centra( sales to reduce this outstanding debt 
he was resisting pressure from another bank to sell out 300 shares of 
Norfolk and Vvestern stock securing another loan which was also 
undel'collateralized. so 

The sales point up the difference in regard which Mr. Lashley had 
for Penn Central stock as opposed tolNorfolk andiWestern stock at the 
time, because the proceeds of the sale of Penn Central shares went to 
reduce an 8-percent loan with a bank with which Lashley felt he had 
a good relationship,sl while, in contrast, Lashley was simultaneously 
maneLlvering to avoid selling his Norfolk and Western stock to pay 
off an S%,-percent loan with another bank (Lincoln Bank) with which 

" LRshley had previously worked for Saunders at Norfolk and Westorn. 
so Lashley claimed that he had no inside information at the time of his·saloo. but that "I had hesitation 

to sell beeause I was a corporate officer and might be accused of having illside infonnation." Prior to his 
sales, Lashley consulted with Wilson ,md Saunders about his sales. Saundel's was consulted because. "I felt 
h"dly about it. about the situation, and told him that my personal finances were such that I was going to 
have to sell some olthe stock. I knew he wasn't selling any of his". According to Sannders, he advised against 
the sale anrl told Lashley to consult the legal department. Lashley claimed he consulted with Wilson because 
he believed the circulated guidelines had advised him to. "D'lve Wilsall, as I recall, said, ·Well. if you have 
to you have to, but make sure you report the "ales to the SEC.' " 

8i The Penn Centml stock-secllred loan had always been maintained at prime rate and, aware of this 
beneficial rate. Lashley has to date maintained the loan in its reduced form. 
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he felt his relationship had become acrimonious. As Lashley's relation­
ship with this second bank deteriorated, Lashley, "pretty upset and 
angry at the Lincoln Bank for their constant harangues," transferred 
the loan to the Provident National Bank. When Lashley was asked 
why he did not feel compelled to sell his Norfolk and Western stock to 
reduce that loan at the same time he sold his Penn Central stock, 
Lashley responded, "Because I wanted to hold on to it. I regarded 
Norfolk and Western stock as a good investment, particularly from 
the standpoint of dividend. They were paying, I think, about $6 a 
share." . 

At the time of his sales on March 30, and April 15, 1970, Lashley 
lmew that the first quarter results would be much worse than expected. 
Before the March 25,1970 announcement of the filing of the debenture· 
application with the Interstate Commerce Commission, Lashley was 
involved in Penn Central discussions about disclosing the fact that 
Penn Central's first quarter results would be worse than expected. 82 

Ultimately, Penn Central deeidcd not to make such a disclosure. 83 

At the same time that Lashley was ananging the loan with 
Provident to retain his Norfolk & Western stock, he made a further 
n1n.jor sale of Penn Central stock, selling 1,000 shares on May 22, 1970. 
This was part of the 1,600 shares purchased with his wife's funds and 
held in their joint names. 84 Lashley regarded this stock as belonging 
to his wife, and it had not been pledged in connection with any of 
his loans. Lashley claimed that the May sale was made at the insistence 
of his wife, who was "terribly worried about the loss of, the complete 
loss of her investment, and I sold at her request in order to salvage 
what we could of her investment." 

Although Lashley claimed his wife did not seriously request him to 
sell stock "before about April or Ma~y," he could not recall precisely 
when the request began: 

.... she started making the request when I was telling her about my difficulties 
with the banks and more loans. And she said "Why don't we just get rid of all of 
it and sell out of Penn Central completely?" And I said "1 didn't want to do that, 
that I was hoping the stock would come back and hold on as much as I could." 
But she was very concerned about it so at her request I made those two sales. 

When asked why he chose May 22 as the day finally to comply 
in part with his wife's directives Lashley answered as follows: 

" Penn Centml officials believer! that Chrysler Corp. had disclosed its anticipated bad first quarter while 
announcing a sccurities offeriug. Lashley contacted Chryslcr and reported as follows: 

"Attached are copies of the news reI oases which Chrysler Corp. issued in connectiou with their public 
offering of Sinking fund debentures in February. . 

"You will note that neither the preliminary announcem3nt on January 27 nor the release of February 20. 
which was on Friday and therefore did not appear in the Wall Streat Journal until Monday, February 23, 
mentions the prospects for the first quarter in the release itself. However. a prospectus was attached to each 
of the releases. 

"Also, I suspect that Chrysler deliberately selected a Friday to put out the. release in hopes that it would 
not attract any great attention. I am certain they were somewhat upset by the full sLory ill the W"ll Street 
Journal on February 23." (Memo from Lashley to O'Herron & llillMar. 20, 1070.) '3 But Lashley realized disclosure would come sometime: 
. "Although we have not yet received clippings, I run enclosing accounts of the Pennsylvania Co. applica­

t.ion to the ICC to authorize SlOOmillion of securities as they appe'll'ed in the W"ll Street Journal, New York 
Times and Washington Star today. 

"Because of the heavy amount of financial news resulting from the lower interest rete and spurt in the 
stock market, neither the Wall Street Journal or New York Times had much space to go into detaUs about 
the sacurities involved, although they called us for information and we had to give it to them because it was 
in the application filed with the ICC. 

"Our friend Steve Aug of the Washington Star, however, wont into mo'·. details. 
"I expect that many more details of the transaction, together with the statements we will have t.o make 

about the first quarter, will come Ollt much more prominently when we olIer the debentures for sale." 
(Memo from Lashley to Bevan Mal'. 26. 1970.) 

.. The remaining 600 shares were sold on JUlie 29. Lashley tw·ned the proceeds 01 the sale of all 1,600 shares 
over to his wife. 
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I think it was shortly-I think we talked it over the previous night and I came 
in and made the decision during the morning to-I think it was in the morning­
to sell the stock. 

Lashley must have been well aware by the last half of May 1970 
that the debenture offer had been canceled and that senior manage­
ment was meeting with Government officials about a guarantee. As 
head of the public relations department, Lashley admitted receiving 
queries conceming the financing dmin.€t the month of May, but claimed 
he referred the calls to Jonathan u'Herron. Although discluiming 
knowledge of inside in.formation at the time of the sale, he did admit 
in response to repeated questioning that he had spoken with O'Herron 
,concerning the status of the financing at some time during this period. 

BAYARD ROBERTS 

Purchases Sales 

Feb.I.19G8 .....•............................•...... : ...................•...........•...•.... 
Mar. 21.1968................................................................... 1.800 
June 11. 1959........... .................................................... .... 1.000 
June 29. 1969...... ............•................................ ....... ......... 700 

~~~~: m~:::::::::::::::::::: ::: :::::: ::::::::::::::: :::::::::::::::::::::::: ~gg 

Balance 

5.731 
3.931 
2.957 
2.257 
1.957 
1.757 

Between merger and bankruptcy, Roberts served as secretary of the 
company. This position afforded him access to viUl.I corporate informa­
tion, as he took minutes of the board of directors meetings, and the 
meetings of the board's finance committee. He did not, however, 
attend the budget committee meetings on a regular basis, and it does 
not appear that he worked closely ,vith the finance department. At 
the time of the merger, Roberts owned 5,731 shares, acquired through 
the exercise of options. His only post-merger acquisition of shares 
was the inheritance of 59 shares from his father's estate. In March 
1968, he sold 1,800 shares, applying most of the proceeds to liquidate 
a loan incurred in exercising his options in 1966. By mid-1969 he 
owned over 3,900 shares, "ith no large loans left outstanding. In June 
and July 1969, he sold 2,000 shares, and he sold an additional 200 
shares in January 1970, le::wing him with a balance, through the time 
of the bankruptcy, of 1,757 shares. 

Roberts stated that he had opened an account with Drexel Harriman 
Ripley in early 1969, at the time of the settlement of his father's 
estate, and looked to that firm for investment guidance from that 
time on. He claimed that Drexel was recommending in general the 
sale of Penn Central stock at that time and that Roberts, determining 
that his financial position was too heavily reliant on Penn Central, 
decided to sell half of his Penn Central holdings, retaining half his 
shares out of an "obligation to hold on" basecl on his status as a Penn 
Central officer. s. Roberts also testified that he had been contemplating 
diversifying his assets since prior to 1964, when he began exercising 
his options. As to why he chose June 1969, as the time to put his 
5-year-old diversification plan into effect, Roberts offered the follow­
ing explanation; 

Well, the decision to sell was made before I even opened up the account actually. 
Just a question of when. Actually, I didn't want to sell before I had the account 
with Drexel because I didn't know what I would do with the proceeds and I 
wanted some advice on that. So after the account was opened then J g,WP ~nn'l" 
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serious thought' as to the timing of the sale. And we were then coming in toward 
the annual meeting and proxy material was going out and the annual meeting; 
was coming along and so I said, weil, let us wait until that is all over and then I 
will sell my stock. And that is about the way it worked out. The annual meeting 
was the Tuesday before the second Wednesday of May and I sold it about a 
month later. 

On June 10 or 11 Roberts placed an order with Drexel to sell 2,000 
shares. Drexelsolcl 1,000 sho,1'es at 51%-52 on June 11 and on <Tune 
24, 700 sh(l,1'es were sold at 49%. Noticing that his whole ortler had 
not been executed, Roberts got in touch with Drexel (l,t the end of 
June, requesting th(l,t the final 300 shm'e.s be sold. Roberts e1airned 
he co,lled because he was anxious to complete the sale in order to 
enable him to exercise his options 6 months hence-he had outstanding 
an unexercised option of 1,000 shares at 24Yz. HU 

Pursu(l,nt to his diversification program, Roberts reinvested all of 
the proceeds of the 2,000-share s(l,le at Bruce's direction in various 
equity securities. His January 1970, 200-share sale was made to pay 
part of the capital gains tax on the ml1jor sale: 

As you can sec from the record I had a substantial capital gain on the sale of the 
2.000 shareR of Penn Central "tock which I was able to ofi',;et by the sale of ot.hcr 
securities where I t.ook a loss but I couldn't offset it all and I therefore had to 
raise some more money to cover the. tax on the capital gain. I was about to gil 
away on vacation toward the end of January. The entire mmkct wu.~ sliding off at 
that point and I wanted to go away with a free mind so I decided to sell l;OllW 
more stock, Penn Central stock, to raise the cash so I'd have it available at tho 
time of the April tax return. 

According to the testimony of D. L. "Wilson of the office of general 
counsel, Roberts had learned in the first 2 weeks of June 1969, that 
Saunders was thinking of taking the unusual step of proposing that 
the board of directors delay consideration of the third quarter dividend 
until a special August board meeting, bypassing the traditional June 
board meeting. Roberts consulted Wilson on Saunders' behalf about 
this in mid-June. 87 

"A letter dated June 30,1969, to Roberts from Riehard Bruce, his iuvestment adviser at Drexel, appears 
to confirm Roberts' statom"nt. Th~ second pllJ:ngraPll states: 

"As you directed, I hav" entered orders to sell 200 Penn Central at 50)i and 100 at 507!>. I expect the"" 
orders wilJ bo executed in tho next few days which will complete the program to sell YOUI' 2.000 shares ano 
wililen.ve you free to exercise your option on additional Ponn Central shares U 1110uths hence." 

The 300 shares were sold on July 3. 
87 Saunders eventually decided against this course of action, probably at least partly due to Wilson's 

rcconullendation til[lt it be announceo publicly. 
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CHRONOLOGY OF OFFICER SALES DISCUSSED IN REPORT 

Sales Balance 

1968: February ___________________________________ . __________________________________________________ . __ .. ___ _ 

~~:L:::::!:!::!::!: Ilf;I~~o:ii:ti::iii:i;:ili:ii:ii Ii I 
September _______ . ___________________ Hellenbrand, 3,500-. ____ __ _ _ _ _ __ __ _ _ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ ____ _ _ __ _ "367 
October _____________________________________________________ . _________________________________________ _ 
November ___________________________________________________________________________ - ______ .. _____ . ___ _ 

1969~eeember--- - - -- -- - - -- -- -- - -- - -- - - -- - - ---- -- --- - -- - - -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- - - -- -- -- -- - - -- --- - - - --- --
JanUarY ______________________________ Bevan, 3,000--- ______________________ . _ __ _ _ ____ _ _ _ _ _ 30,718 

Gerstneeker, 4,000------ ___________ . __ . _:_ . ________ .. 2,275 
Sullivan, 500 ______________________________ . ______ _ _ _ 2,815 

February _____________________________ Large, 300__ _ _ __ ___ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 3,254 
March_, _____________________________ Bevan, 3,000--___ __ _ _ __ _ _ __ _ _ __ _ __ _ __ __ _ _ _ _ __ __ _ _ _ _ _ 27,546 

April ________________________________ ~I:vn:ne,rh~~~~::::::::::::::: :~::::: ::::::::::::: ::: 24, m 
May _________________________________ Bevan, 3,700--- _ _ __ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ __ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ ___ ___ _ _ __ _ 20,846 

~1;~~~~~~k:~,°i.iJoo~::::::::::::::::: :::::::::::::: ::: I, m June _________________________________ Bevan, 2,300--- _ _ _ _ __ __ __ _ _ __ __ _ _ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ _ __ _ __ _ IB,546 
Large, ZOO _______ . _ __ _ _ __ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ ___ _ __ _ _ _ 3,054 
Roberts, 1.700 ________________________ . _ __ __ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ _ 2,257 

July _________________________________ Flannery, 236_ __ _ __ _ _ __ _ _ _ _ __ __ _ __ _ __ __ _ _ _ __ _ __ _ _ _ _ _ 0 
Haslett, 3,OCO- _ __ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ _ ___ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ _ 2 ,402 
Knight, 3,950- _____________ . ___ __ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ __ __ _ _ __ _ _ _ 97 
Roberts, 300 ____________ . ____________ . __ _ __ ____ _ __ _ _ 1,957 
Smuci<er,3,600-------------------------------------- 2,200 August. ________________________________________________ - __ - __ -___ - ___ - _ -- -- -- -- ---- -- -- - - -- - -- - -- - - ---

September ___________________________ Knight, 90_ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ __ _ _ __ __ _ _ __ _ _ __ _ ___ ___ _ _ 7 
Large,200------------------------------------------ 2,854 Warner, 4,000-_ _ _ __ _ _ __ _ _ _____ _ __ __ _ _ ___ _ ____ ____ _ _ _ 380 

October _________________________________________________ - __ -___ - __ -- _ ---- --- - --- -- -- --- -- - -- - --- - --- ---
November ____________________ . _________ . __________________________________________ -_________ - __ - __ -- _ --
December __________________________ " __ Warner, 100_ _ _ _ _ __ __ __ ____ _ _ _ _ _ ___ _ _ __ __ _ _ _ _ ___ _ ___ 240 

1970: January ______________________________ Funkhouser, 100 ______________ ~ ______________ -_____ _ 
Roberts, 200 ____________________ " ___________________ _ 

February _____ - -- -- - - --- - -- -- -- --- - -- - ~,:~e:k~~: f,~~o----~:::: :::: :::: :::: :::::: :::::::: ::::: 
Mar.:h_ - --- - - -- - -- -- - --- -- -- -- -- --- - - k~W~;~', ~~~6ii:::::::: ::: :::: :::::::::::::: ::::::::: 
April. _______________________________ Lashley, 500 _______________________________________ _ 

Perlman, 500 ______________________________________ _ 

May _________________________________ }~n~~I~;~S;;~~~5iio::: ::: :::: ::~: :~:::~:::: :::::::: ::: 
Lashley. 1.000 ______________________________________ _ 

June ________________________________ Bevan, 4,900--- ____________________________________ _ 
(Prior to June 21, 1970) ________________ Warner, 200 _______________________________________ _ 

4,949 
1,757 
2,075 

40 
2,507 

515 
2,007 
1,400 

107 
504 

1,007 
13,245 

96 





PART III 

III-A. THE SALE OF PENN CENTRAL TRANSPORTATION 
CO.'S COMMERCIAL PAPER BY GOLDMAN, SACHS & 
CO. 

INTRODUCTION 

On July 22, 1968, the Interstate Commerce Commission authorized 
Penn Central Transportation Co. (the Transportation Co. or the 
company) to commence selling commercial paper. By late 1969 the 
Transportation Co. had $200 million in commercial paper outstand­
ing. All sales were effected by Goldman, Sachs & Co. acting as dealer. 

During the first half of 1970, the amount of the Transportation 
Co.'s commercial paper outstanding dropped from $200 million to 
approximately $82 million. This $82 million in commercial paper was 
held by 72 customers who had purchased between November of 1969 
n,nd May of 1970. As commercial paper is universally believed to be n, 
very low-risk security, these customers were shocked to learn, prior to 
the maturity date of their paper, that the Transportation Co. had 
filed a petition in bankruptcy. Penn Central has repaid none of this 
indebtedness, and there is little likelihood of repayment. l 

While in this section the focus will be on the role of Goldman, 
Sachs in selling commercial paper, it should be noted that while the 
company's paper was being sold, the company and certain of its 
executives were making false and misleading statements to the public 
concerning the company's financial condition. 'rhese activities are 
being covered in other portions of the staff report. 

Goldman, Sachs continued to sell the Transportation Co.'s com­
mercial paper after they had received information about the financial 
condition of the Transportation Co. which should have raised serious 
questions as to the safety of an investment in the company's com­
mercial paper, and Goldman, Sachs did not disclose such information 
to its customers. The information which Goldman, Sachs received 
should have put them on notice that a thorough examination of the 
financial condition of the Transportation 00. would seem appropriate 
in order that they, and through them, their customers would be 
apprised of the current position of tho Transportation Co. Despite 
these warning signs, Goldman, Sachs made no meanmgful inve~tiga­
tion. Such an examination would have disclosed that the financial 
condition of the company was more serious than had been revealed 
to tho public. 

COMMERCIAL PAPER 

CHARACTERISTICS OF COMMERCIAL PAPER 

Commerci'al paper is a corporate, short-term promissory note. It is 
sold either directly by the issuer (borrower) to the purchaser (lender), 
or by the issuer to a dealer who resells to the purchaser. 

I There are suits pending against Goldman, Sachs by almost all of the holders. Of these, $20 million in 
claims have been settled for SO.20 on the dollar. 



272 

. The most not.mYorthy factor in the commercia.l paper market (at 
lea.st until the Transportation Co. b~1nk.rllptcy) was the common 
belief held by purchasers, to a degree not even found among those 
who invest only in the bluest of blue chip securities, that commercial 
paper was designed to be entirely riskproof. Becu.use safety of principal 
so far and away transcended rate considerations, a very lu.rge number 
of purchasers of commercial paper did not shop for rates at alL Most 
looked upon commercial paper as the equal of U.S. Treasury notes or 
bank certificates of deposit (CD's) in terms of safety. Because of the 
short-term nature of the investment (average term is 90 days) it is 
extremely important that the notes are repaid a.t maturity and tlms 
the liquidity of the company becomes a matter of vital concern to the 
customer. 

The importance of safety to those who invEst in commercial paper 
becomes apparent in a crisis. In the 30-day period following the 
Transportation Co. bankruptcy, the runoff in commercial paper is 
estimated to have reached $3 billion. Only quick action by the Federal 
Reserve, which had been alerted to the approaching bankruptcy t1 
day or two before, appears to have saved the day. On June 19, 1970, 
in anticipation of trouble, the Federal Reserve had agreed to let com­
mercial banks borrow freely at its discount window. And on June 23, 
it voted to change its regulation Q, which limits what banks can pay 
for deposits, thus allowing them to buy money freely. And the banks 
borrowed heavily from the Federal Reserve in the weeks that fol-
10wed-$1.7 billion in just 1 week in mid-July. More than $2 billion 
in bank money went to aid corporations in paying off maturing com­
mercial paper. This rescue operation not only took some companies 
out of trouble, it also restored lender confidence in the commercial 
paper market. What could have blown into a major liquidity crisis 
vanished almost before it began. 

A second most noteworthy factor is that those who purchase com­
mercial paper are loaning funds to corporations which most often 
they know little about. Furthermore, the purchasers have no control 
over the use of the proceeds or any other of the borrowers' activities, 
as a lender normally does. 

It is impossible to secure restrictive convenants limiting the com­
mercial paper borrowers' freedom to raise additional debt or governing 
the use of proceeds. In addition, the purchaser who becomes dis­
satisfied with the issuer usually has no readily available market to 
which he can resell his paper before its maturity.2 

The only information the purchaser can get, and in almost aU cases 
does get, is either through the public media or through the dealer 
who is selling him the paper. In addition to their dealers' recom­
mendations, most purchasers relied on the ratings given various 
commercial paper by the National Credit Office (NCO) as a basis for 
making an investment decision. 

The problems of making informed investment decisions about com­
mercial paper ~ere aggravated by the rapid growth of the commercial 
paper market Just prior to the company's bankruptcy on June 21, 
1970. Witness the following: 

, Paper which is purchased directly [rom the issuer, however, will usually be repurchased by the issuer at 
the purchaser's request. Some dealers also, subject to market conditions, maintain a limited secondary 
market in paper they handle. 
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A. In 1960 there was $4.5 billion in commercial paper outstanding: 
On December 31, 1965, $9 billion outstanding; 
On December 31, 1967, $16 billion outstanding; 
On December 31, 1969, $31.6 billion outstanding; and 
On June 30, 1970, $39.9 billion outstanding. 

B. In December 1967, NCO was keeping tabs on 227 commercial 
paper issuers. By April 1, 1970, its list 11ad increased to 615. 

:Much of the growth was directly related to the monetary squeeze 
in which U.s. industry found itself at the end of the 1960's. In De­
cember 1968, the Federal Reserve Bank imposed a ceiling on CD 
interest rates. The banks, expectedly, strenuously objected to regula­
tion Q, as it is known, which had the effect of diverting funds from 
the banking system and into commercial paper tmd other money 
market instruments, but the banks themselves were contributing to 
the increase in commercial paper outstanding. Bank holding companies 
began to issue commercial paper, and the banks put hundreds of 
disappointed loan customers in the direction of commerciul paper as 
a cure to corporate liquidity problems. 

It appears that commercial paper will remain an im.portant money 
market instrument. Some of the advantages are that the seller raises 
short-term cash at less cost than bank borrowings, the investor 
receives a higher rate of return than is otherwise possible through 
purchases of other short-term money market instruments, and com­
mercial paper is also relatively easy to seJ], as it requires no registration 
with the SEC. To make it possible for more institutions to issue com-' 
mercial paper, legislation has been passed in:M fissachusetts and New 
York to enable savings banks to put their cash into commercial paper. 
Like Ohio, several other States have been authorized to purchase 
commercial paper. Recent legislative moves have authorized the New 
York State Teacher Pension Fund and the California General Funds 
to acquire commercial paper. On the other side of the coin, dealers 
are engaging in promotional activities to show small- and medium­
sized companies the ad vantages of selling commercial paper. 

APPLICABILITY Ole FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS TO COMMERCIAL PAPER 

The rapid growth of the market for commercial paper has involved 
its increased use as a substitute for long-term financing. This has made 
it more important than ever to reconsider the adequacy of Federal 
securities law with respect to commercial paper. Almost all commercial 
paper is exempt from registration pursuant to section 3(0,) (3) of the 
Securities Act of 1933.3 Thus, commercial paper customers have not 
been furnished with all the current material information that would 
be required by a registration statenient. 

In the absence of registration requirements, there are no customary 
standards requiring dislosure of material information, to the extent 
the same is disclosed in a statutory prospectus, to purchasers. In 
many cases the information available to purchasers is limited and out 
of date. Furthermore, there is no investigation undertaken by the 
dealer which would even approximate that which is required of an 

• Under Scction 3(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933 commercial paper, if used for "current transactions" 
and having 3 maturity "not exceeding nine months," is an exempt sccurity. In the case of tbe Transporta­
tion Company's paper, the Section 3(a)(6) exemption would apply to "Any security issued by 3 common or 
contract canier, tbe issuance of which is subject to the provisions of Section 2030: the Interstate Commerce 
Act, DS amended," without regard to whether it was used for CW1·ent transactions 01' whether its maturity 
WDS mOre thnu nine months. 
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underwriter of a security offering registered with the Commission 
pursuant to the 1933 act. 

In addition to the exemption from registration under the Securities 
Act of 1933, commercial paper maturing wi.thin 270 days also is ex­
empt from all of the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934.4 The sale of commercial paper is covered by the antifraud 
provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, sections 12 and 17 .5 Moreover, 
the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, is applicable to commercial 
paper. 

THE l\1ARKET FOR COMMERCIAL PAPER 

COMMERCIAL PAPER DEALERS 

Commercial paper sold through dealers-referred to . as dealer 
paper as opposed to direct paper sold directly from borrower to 
lender-as of late has constituted approximately 40 percent of the 
commercial paper market-estimated to be $40 billion. The seven 
major dealers are: Goldman, Sachs; A. G. Becker & 00. ; Lehman 
Commercial Paper, Inc.; Salomon Brothers; the First Boston Corp.; 
Merrill, Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith; Inc. and Eastman Dillon, 
Union Securities. 

ESTABL1SHING THE COr-IMERCIAL PAPER RELATIONSHIP 

Usually a commercial paper relationship will grow out oione of the 
aspects of the investment banking relationship that a dealer has with 
an issuer. Once the issuer decides that it wants to issue commercial 
paper, the dealer will W[tnt to determine whether the issuer is credit­
worthy, i.e., able to repay the additional debt. The dealer will usually 
have a credit department or a credit analyst who is charged with the 
responsibility for making this determination.a With some dealers the 
recommendation of the credit department or analyst can be over­
ridden by a partner or by the head of the commercial paper depart-
ment. With others, the recommendation is final. . 

The dealer, having decided that the issuer is creditworthy, will 
usually then confer with the issuer to determine how much paper to 
issue based upon how much the issuer wishes to borrow and how much 
the dealer estimates can be marketed. 

N ext, the dealer and the issuer enter into an oral agreement whereby 
the dealer is to be the exclusive dealer to market a specific amount of 
commercial paper for a specific time. Normally, the dealer will buy 
from the issuer as principal and reoffer it to the public at a markup 
of from one-eighth to one-quarter of 1 percent. The dealer agrees to 

• Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1Q34 commercia1 paper is not all "excmpted security" 3S that 
term is defined in Section 3(a)(12), but is excluded from the definition ofa secmity found in Section 3(a)(1O): 

"The term "secmity" means. . . but shall not include currency Or any notc, draft, bill of exchange, or 
bankers acceptance which has maturity at the time of issuance of not exceeding nine months. . . ." 

Section 3(a) (10) of the '34 Act docs not specifically require that in order to be excluded from the definition 
of what is a security, commercial paper must be used for "current transactions," llS docs Section 3(a)(3) of 
the '33 Act. However, see Sanders v. John Nuveen &: Co., CCR Fed. Sec. L. Rep. paragraph D3,517 (nh 
Cir. 1013). which used the "current transaction standard" in making its deLermination that paper of less 
than 2i0 day maLurity was not exempt from the definition of a securiLy under Lhe '34 Act . 

• The anti-fraud protection afforded by Sections 12(2) and 17 of Lhe Securities Act of ID33 is expressly made 
applicable to securities exempted by Section 3. Section 12(a) provides a civil remedy to purchasers where 
securities are offered or sold by means of an untrue or misleading statemets or omissioils "(whether or not 
exempted by the provisions of Section 3 . . .)." Section 17(c) provides that: 

"The exemptions provided in Section 3 shall not apply to the provisions of this section." 
• The cI'edit analyst considers various factors such as the potential i!>'>uer's net worth, its current debt 

structure, its position in its industry, etc., which atrect the issuer's ability to repay the additional debt. 
Ordinarily this infol}!latiol! is.()b~~i~~.£~~'P_~~!:.t~·om public documents such as registration statements 
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assist in the technical tasks in vol ved. 7 The ISS118r agrees to provide 
certain information at certain intervals and access to information of 
the nature provided to banks for line credit. 

Since the dealer's compensation rarely varies from the one-eighth to 
one-quarter of 1 percent per annum spread, the primary sales points 
for a dealer are its financial capacity to purchase the paper and its 
marketing ability to sell the paper at a favorable rate. 

THE PURCHASERS 

Those who invest in commercial paper are predominantly institu­
tions of various types. A small percentage in terms of dollar amount 
are purchased by individuals. In addition, banks will often purchase 
in the bank's name for individuals who each may own less than 
$100,000. Most investors have only one thing in common: funds to 
invest for a short period of time with the smallest possible risk and 
the maximum return. Since treasury bills may not fit purchaser's 
maturity needs and both bank CD's and treasury bills have a lower 
interest rate, purchasers turn to commercial paper. 

DIRECT PAPER v. DEALER PAPER 

But why not direct paper instead of dealer paper? Direct paper has 
many advantages: 

A. usually the direct issuer is larger and more established; 
B. usually the direct issuer will repurchase the paper if the 

purchaser so requests prior to maturity; and 
C. usually it is easier to obtain the desired denominations and 

maturities. 
However, direct paper typical1y offers a lower interest rate-by 

one-quarter percent-and most direct issuers do not have the same 
ability to reach purchasers as do the large commercial paper dealers, 
who more actively solicit purchasers. 

A purchaser will usually select a particular dealer based upon one or 
more of the fol1owing factors: Prestige and reputation of the dealer; 
past relationships with the dealer; solicitation by the dealer; variety of 
paper offered by the dealer both as to type and maturity dates; and 
the quality of the paper offered by the dealer. Frequently, the pur­
chaser will tell the dealer that it is only interested in NCO prime-rated 
paper. 

REPURCHASES 

Until recently, none of the dealers had a standing policy of repur­
chasing commercial paper prior to its maturity. Currently, a few 
dealers will under certain conditions repurchase the commercial paper 
of issuers which they handle. But a repurchase facility usually is not a 
condition of the original sale and is completely discretionary with the 

7 Those will usually include the following: 
A. A determination by the issner's connsel with assistance from dealer's counsel. if necessary. of the avail­

obility of the Section 3(a)(3) exemption which may require the granting of a no-action letter from the 
Division of Corporation Finance. 

B. The selection 01 a New York City bank to act as the issuing and paying agent and an agreement reach· 
ed with the bank to lunction as such. 

C, Formal authOlization from the board of directors of the issner specifying the total amount to be issued 
nnd designating the'officer(s) to execute the notes. 

D. Selection of a format for the notes, printing, delivery of a minimum number of notes properly signed 
by the authorized officers to the bank. These notes have a proviSion for the issuing bank to comnlAtp o"ph 
items as amount, maturity and payee. 

__ ~ rrh"'.; ..... ~~- ~1_ .. _· _. 
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denIer. Infrequently, dealers will repurchase to preserve a good cus­
tomer's relationship, although not as a condition of the original sale. 

INFORMATION PROVIDED TO PURCHASERS AT THE TIME OF SALE 

Because of the short-term nature of commercial paper and the way 
in which investments in commercial paper are made-there is a con­
tinuous turnover and a customer usually must choose from whatever 
commercial paper the dealer has available at the time which will meet 
the customer's maturity requirements-the usual purchaser does very 
little investigation or analysis of the investment merits of commercial 
paper. He is not in a l)osition to acquire information directly and must 
rely on what he can get from the dealer selling the paper, rating services 
and the public media. 

The profit margin on commercial paper is very thin for dealers­
% to % percent spread-who must meet the expenses involved in 
soliciting and selling plus the cost of inventory. A major reason for 
dealers to bother with commercial paper is the hope that it will lead 
customers to use more profitable facilities such as stock or bond 
underwriting. The low-profit margin would act to discourage dealers 
from voluntarily undertaking the expense of a thorough examination 
of issuers' creditworthiness and/or a thorough gathe~ing of information 
for purchasers. 

Since the holder of commercial paper has the status of an unsecured 
general creclitor,there is an additional necessity to have access to 
reliable and cnrrent information, for in the event of bankruptcy the 
chance to recoup an investment is relatively small. 

The dealers frequently prepare a dealer memorandum which is a 
short descriptive analysis of the issuer.8 These are provided either to 
nJI potential purchasers or to those purchasers whom the dealer feels 
might be specifically interested. Dealers update the memorandum at 
least mmu ally , and more frequently if significant events or circum­
stances should require. 

l\10st customers assume that once they have told a dealer about the 
type of issuer they are interested in investing in, the dealer will 
provide only paper that meets the customers' standards. Without 
regard as to \vhether they have any basis, a number of other pre­
sumptions are held by purchllsers: that the dealer will only offer the 
paper of an issuer which it considers to be credit-worthy and without 
any substantial risk; that the dealer will inform the purchaser of any 
adverse information concerning the issuers; and that the dealer will 
repurchase the paper before maturity. 

Although most customers are institutions, they range from highly 
sophisticated investment oriented institutions to unsophisticated 
institutions such as mllny college trust funds, small town banks, and 
small manufacturing companies. However, as we indicated above, 

i The typiC31 dealer memorandum consists of the following: 
1. A description of the company: Its history and the nature and type of its business; 
2. The latest year·end balance sheet; 
3. Income statements for the preceding 0 years; 
4. Rank credit arrangp.ments including a list of the company's primary banks; 
o. The company's NCO or s. & P. commercial paper rating; and 
G. Interim carnings. 
Additional data which may also bc provided abont the issuer includes the following: 
1. Ratio of CU!Tent assets to CU.Tent liabilities; 
2. Ratio olfunded debt to net worth; 
"l Maor\r-pt. Vnhlp. of OOIDlnon stock; 
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e\"en the sophisticated institutions are not given all the information 
as would be required by the Securities Act of 1933. Also because of 
the short-term nature of the investment and the speed and the manner 
in which it is made, innstors do very little investigation on their o,,,n 
either into the issuer or the investment merits of the security. 

ACTIVITIES OF DEALERS SUBSEQUENT TO INITIAL OFFERING 

:Most dealers provide one form or another of continuinO' review of 
their issuers, although it is very limited. This usually involved check­
ing with banks to see if adequate back-up lines are being maintained 
in addition to the status of any other relationships between the issuers 
and the banks. 

Most firms which act as dealers in commercial paper have a trading 
department staffed by individuals whose primary, if not sole, respon­
sibility is marketing commercial paper. Ordinarily this trading depart­
ment is separate and distinct from other marketing activities of the 
firm. Commercial paper traders at most firms are responsible not 
only for marketing the paper but also for maintaining relationships 
with cllstomers. The investors which the dealers solicit are a relatively 
small group of institutions who apparently utilize the services of all 
the dealers. 

Most dealers maintain an inventory of commercial paper which is 
made up of unsold portions of issuer's commercial paper. Dealers are 
under substantial pressure to turn over their inventory as quickly 
ns possible for the inventory, which can run as high as $300 million, 
is financed through bank loans. Such financing may be expensive 
and difficult to find. 

PENN CENTRAL TRANSPORTATION Co.'s 
COMMERCIAL PAPER 

ESTABLISHMENT OF COMMERCIAL PAPER RELATIONSHIP 
WITH GOLDMAN, SACHS & CO. 

The first serious discussions between the company and Goldman, 
Sachs concerning- the issuance ~f comme!cial _paper took place in 
early 1968. DaVId C. Bevan, chIef finanCial officer of the eompany 
at that time, had met Gustave Levy, managing partner of Goldman, 
Sachs, while the former \',ras with New York Life in 1946. The acquaint­
nnce was continued throughout the time Bevan was with New York 
Life and during the time, from 1951 on, that Bevan was with the 
company. At a meeting in :March 1968, and after subsequent dis­
eussions between Bevan, Levy and Wilson, the decision was made 
to issue commercial paper and utilize Goldman, Sachs. At this point, 
according to Robert G. Wilson, a partner in Goldman, Sachs and 
head of its commercial paper department, Goldman, Sachs followed 
its usual precedures for taking on a new issuer.9 

Wilson could not, however, recall whether anyone other than 
Jnck Vogel, head of the commercial paper department's credit depart­
ment, was involved in determining the credit-worthiness of the 
eompany, nor could he or Vogel recall if there were any reports 
prepared relating to the company's credit-worthiness at this time, 

, This included obtaining the necessary borrowing resolUtions, signature carels, annual reports, (l copy of 
_ thp Tnr. nr.-lnp n~"T"~""";""~ "'h _ _ ~I .. _._...lO ..:: .. ~.- .!.' ....... 
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although Vogel stated that he personally did not prepaTe a written 
report. 

While neither witness could recall the specific steps taken in the 
case of Penn Central, they did testify as to the normal procedures 
followed within the firm. The credit department, headed by Vogel, 
would have made, in the ordinary course of business, a preliminary 
decision on credit-worthiness,lo and it would have been up to "Wilson 
to make the final decision. The recommendation by Vogel is usually not 
made in 'writing, but a checklist is made as to information received. 
Usually no memorandum or written record is made of Wilson's 
conversations with Vogel 01' of Wilson's decision. 'Wilson stated that 
he has no particuluT standards or guidelines for making this decision 
but draws upon his own experience and looks at each company 
individually. Wilson noted that the credit department has informally 
established certain minimum standards or guidelines. However, he 
did add that there are some standards in this area: 

You look for a history of earnings, you look for a ratio that shows a relatively 
strong working capital position. You want to know about the management of 
the company, its reputation, where the company stands in its field, this type of 
thing. 

Wilson also stated that there was no particular ratio or standard 
applied to the level of outstandings but that he only relates bor­
rowings in commercial paper to current assets and receivn,bles and 
the level of inventories since the proceeds from the paper are to be 
used for current purposes. 

Vogel's testimony fairly much paralleled Wilson's in terms of the 
absence of any standards or ratios that arc applied to the factors 
which are considered. He did, however, expand somewhat on the role 
of the analyst: 

* * * He would review the company's financial statements, determine whether 
or not the company is, or has, an ongoing nature to it, whether its product line 
is of the type t,hat would do more in the next few years, or 10 years, whether the 
company has a record of profitability, whether it has a reasonable chance to have 
a record of profitability in the future, whether other lenders, or other suppliers 
of funds have a favorable opinion of the company in its past, and in its present, 
and of its future * * *. 

As was mentioned earlier , Vogel could not recall having mude a 
written report on the company prior to its being approved by 
Goldman, Sachs as an issuer, nor could he recall other than in a 
general way, what factors were considered at the time (summer of 
1968). Wilson's testimony was the same. ll 

The Interstate Commerce Commission on July 22, 1968, gave 
the company authorization to issue $100 million in commercial 
paper, and by August 5, 1968, sales were well underway. 

Once the decision to carry a particular issuer has been made, the 
credit department normally undertakes to review the public media for 
information about the issuer. Once a year the issuer is asked for con­
firmation of existing lines of credit. As will be shown, if the standards 
described above had been applied in late 1969 or early 1970, Goldman, 
Sachs would not have continued to offer the company's paper for sale. 

10 According io Wilson and Vogel the determination of credit-worthiness involves loohing into the prospec .. 
tive issuer's bon"owing practiCes, its access to credit, ibe opinions of banks with whom the issuer maintains 
lines of credit, and reviewing its financial statements as found in the annual reports. At no time did Wilson 
or Vogel indicate tbat it WIIS nonnal procedure for Goldman, Sachs to iuvestigate the issuer as au wlder .. 
writer would be. in a tn1ical registered public offering. 

11 Vogel testified that Goldman, Sachs takes on about one new issner a week. These issuers must be'n .. 
• - • ~. '.- .£ -.= ~,,~-.~ .• T ....... ..:I..:IIH ....... thiC! ctgfT;e Rlc:.n ,op..c::.nollsihle lor Inaintinaing an on-going review 
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THE FLOW OF INFORMATION TO GOLDMAN, SACHS & CO. WHICH INDI­
CATED THE DETERIORATING FINANCIAL CONDITION OF THE COMPANY 

From September of 1969 through May of 1970, Goldman, Sachs 
"cas very actively engaged in selling the company's commercial paper. 
In fact, the amount outstanding was increased from $150 million to 
$200 million during late 1969. During this period Goldman, Sachs 
gained possession of material adverse information, some from public 
sources and some from nonpublic sources indicating a continuing 
deterioration of the financial condition of the transportation company. 
Goldman, Sachs did not communicate this inforrnation to its com­
mercial paper customers, nor did it undertake a thorough investigation 
of the company. If Goldman, Sachs had heeded these warnings and 
undertaken a reevaluation of the compnny, it would have learned that 
its condition was substantially worse than had been publicly reported. 
Public injormat-ion 

Based on information publicly available by November of 1969, a 
thorough reevaluation of the transportation company's financial 
condition would seem to have been appropriate. For example, the 
reported loss of the transportation company for the first 9 months of 
1969 was $40.2 million. or $26.4 million more than in 1968. In late 
November an announcement was made that Penn Central was pass­
ing the dividend. In testimony before the ICC, outside counsel rep­
resenting the company told the ICC that Penn Central was having a 
very difficult time effecting the merger (management was very upset 
by this statement). This matter, as well as a reference to the same effect 
by an independent expert a few days later, was reported in the news 
media. 

The above information 'NU.s available to Goldman, Sachs through the 
public media. However, this did not cause Goldman, Sachs to re­
examine the financial condition of the company whose paper Goldman, 
Sachs was selling as prime rated commercial paper. Iv addition, 
thereafter, other public information came to their attention which 
indicated a serious worsening of the company's financial condition. 
Other information available to Goldman, Sachs concerning the general 

financial condition oj Penn Central Transportation Co. 
Whether it was for these or other reasons, a memo written by Robert 

Wilson on September 3, 1969, indicates that there was some concern 
at this time about the company's financial sitnation. In the memo 
Wilson states that as "* * * it has been a long time since we had 
gotten together to talk about the company," he had requested a meet­
ing with the top officials in the company's finance division since, "We 
have a lot of questions to ask about the merger, cash flow, and their 
long term financing plans." 

On September 19, 1969, Wilson and others in Goldman, Sachs met 
with Jonathan O'Herron, vice president-finance of the company. 
Among other things, O'Herron stated that the company would be in a 
very tight cash position in the first quarter of 1970. Because of this, 
he asked if Goldman, Sachs would sell os much commerical paper as 
possible through April or longer, and disclosed that the company had 
applied to the ICC for authorization to increase its outstanding com­
mercial paper from $150 million to $200 million. 
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On October 22, O'Herl'on told Wilson thn,t, Penn Central would 
show a small loss in the third quarter, but he anticipated that the 
fourth quarter would be in the black with a good improvement. 

On October 29, the ICC approved an increo,se in the amount of the 
company's commercial paper outstanding from $150 to $200 million. 
There were, however, a number of im.portant disclosures in the ICC's 
order. In discussing approval of the issuance of this increased amoun t, 
the ICC stated: 

Applicant feels t.hat long-term financing at the present t.ime is not feasible due 
to the tight-money situation. Although we are sympathet.ic to applicant's prob­
lem, short-term financing has traditionally been relied upon to finance short-term 
needs and is not normally regarded as a proper source for long-term financing of 
capital expenditures or for refinancing of maturing long-ter·m debt.. As of June 30, 
1969, applicant had a deficit working capital situation which can be expected to 
worsen if reliancc on short-term financing is increased. The exhaustion of short­
term credit to refinance maturing long-term debt or to finance long-term. capital 
expenditures could expose a carrier to a serious crisis in the event of an economic 
squeeze, at which time a carrier may require short-term financing for traditional 
use. We are, therefore, concerned about the use of short-term financing for long­
term purposes and feel that where necessary it should be resorted to cautiouslY. 

The order went on to state that on the whole the company was in a 
strong financio.l condition, and in view of the tight money market at 
that time and the fact that the company had indicated its intent to 
negotiate long-term financing as soon as possible, the ICC would a.p­
prove the request for an increase in the outstanding commercial paper. 
In approving the increase, the ICC order noted: 

According to the investment banking finn which usually handles applicants' 
commercial paper, unless market conditions change, there is a market for :111 
additional $50 million of applicant's notes. 

Goldman, Sachs, however, never did explore in any depth the areas 
of inquiry which they indicated would be the subject of the September 
meeting. All of the informu.tion described above raised serious ques­
tions about the soundness of the Transporta,tion Co. and the safet.y 
of investing in its commercial paper. The information indicated that 
the compu.ny was experiencing a liquidity crisis and that it might find 
it extremely difficult in the future to meet its cash needs, thus jeop­
ardizing commercial paper holders. A thorough study of the subject 
would have disclosed how much more du.maging the information about 
liquidity of the company and its u.bility to payoff commercio.l paper 
holders was. Although such a study would appear to have been in 
order a.t this time, Goldman, Sachs did not conduct any further in­
vestigation, and made no disclosure of the above information while 
continuing to actively promote the company's commercial paper. 
Customers were not told that the company expected to be in 11 tight 
cash position in the near future; were not told about the ICC order or 
the information about the deficit working capital situation or the fact 
that the company's commercial paper proceeds were being used for 
long-term financing. 
Requests by Goldman, Sachs that Penn Central increase the lines oj 

credit baclcing up its commercial paper 
There was other information Goldman, Sachs was receiving in 

the latter part of 1969 and in early 1970 which indicated a deteriorating 
financial condition and raised questions concerning the liquidity of 
the company. 
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As early as September of 1969, Goldman, Sachs initiated a request 
that the company increase its back-up lines of credit 12 for its commer­
cial paper. At the September 19, 1969, meeting described above, 
O'Herron had described how the railroad was currently borrowing 
$250 million out of a total $300 million revolving credit. He went on 
to state that the company intended to use the remainin~ $50 million 
of the revolving credit lines plus $50 million of outside hnes of credit 
as back-up for the $200 million in commercial paper. Wilson then 
asked O'Herron if it were possible to get an additional $50 million in 
back-up lines. According to Wilson, O'Herron replied tha,t it was, 
but he would prefer not to do so. O'Herron's aecount is: "I can't 
remember specifically whether I said I preferred not to, or said I 
didn't think I could." When asked why the company could not have 
increased its lines, O'Herron replied: 

Because I think t.he Penn Central had already had a line of credit, some of 
which was used at that time, of $300 million, and which was a pretty sizable 
amount of credit availability, for evert a company of that size. So, the probability 
of increasing that was not very great in my opinion. So, I can't recall if I said 
"preferred not to," or "couldn't," I think they are both the same. 

Wilson testified that Goldman, Sachs' concern was to convey to 
the company their feeling that customers were considering back-up 
line coverage as being more important because of the tight money 
market which prevailed in late 1969 and early 1970. Although it is 
his opinion that back-up lines were not a firm commitment to lend 
money, Wilson did state that back-up lines are important to customers, 
as an indication of some willingness on the part of the banks to supply 
credit to back up their paper, especially in times of tight money. In 
fact, when asked what the average commercial pn,per investor looks 
to in determining whether an issuer will be able to mn,ke repn,yment, 
Wilson replied: 

I think they look at all these things, I think they look at cash flow; I think they 
look at back-up lines; I think they would look at capacity to get lines, capacity 
to do financing, all these thing::;. 

There is conflicting evidence as to whether or not it was unusual 
for Goldman, Sachs to have been requesting 1110re tlmn 50 percent 
line coverage of the compn,ny at this time. In ilny case, Goldman, 
Sachs was to ask the company repeatedly for an increase in line 
coverage on into the first qutl.ftcr of 1970 without success (eventually 
Goldman, Sachs even began asking for 100 percent coverage). 'l'he 
management of the compn,ny wus very reluctant to n,sk the banks for 
more line credit. Although Goldman, Sachs never inquired too deeply 
into the reasons for the company's reluctn,nce, it should have been 
apparent that the compn,ny had exhausted all credit. 

According to Wilson's testimony cited abol-·e, the fact that the 
company only had 50 percent line coverage and the fact that it was, 
unn,ble to obtain more was information thn,t investors would have 
considered important. The unwillingness and inn,bility of the compn,ny 
to raise more than 50 percent of the coverage was never disclosed to 
customers. Furthermore, this information, just as the other available 
information described in the previous section, was a furiher indication 
of the financial problems of t.he company and should have caused 
Goldman, Sachs to investigate further. During the period in question, 

12 Back-up Iines'of credit represented varying degrees of commitments by banks to loan money to the 
company in the event that it should need it. 
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when a tight-money market existed, access to credit was even more 
important. Goldman, Sachs kept a close watch on the banks par­
ticipating in credit lines to the company. By their own actions, Gold­
man, Sachs acknowledged the importance of the inability of the 
company to raise 100 percent coverage at this time. In fact, on 
February 5, 1970, O'Herron had told Wilson that the company could 
not mise any additional lines of credit. The inability of the company 
to obtain 100 percent backup lines, as with other relevant information, 
was not disclosed to customers. 
P.ublication of 1969 year-end earnings by Penn Central Transportation 

Company 
On February 5, 1970, the transportation company announced a $56 

million operat.ing loss for 1969, which indicated a loss of $16 million 
for the fourth quarter. This was contrary to the company's recent 
assurance~ that the fourth quarter would be in the black. In addition 
to this loss the company wrote off $125 million in passenger equipment 
and facilities as an extraordinary item. On the same day Wilson called 
O'Herron to set up a meeting on the next day to discuss the loss. At 
the meeting, at which Levy and Wilson of Goldman, Sachs, and Bevan, 
O'Herron, and Robert Loder of the company were in attendance, 
Bevan attempted to explain the 1969 loss and the company's projected 
budget-another $56 million loss-for 1970. 

Bevan explained that they all had anticipated that the railroad 
would break even in the fourth quarter but that at the last moment 
their accountants had suggested certain writeoffs which changed the 
results. The 1970 official budget, according to him showed an es­
timated loss of $56 million, and the railroad needed an additional $170 
million for capital improvements and equipment, causing the total 
cash requirement for 1970 to be $226 million. Bevan then expJained 
that this would be raised by trust certificates-$70 million-a long­
term financing through Pennsylvania Company-$100 million-and 
a Euro-dollar 10an-$50 to $75 million. Although the timing on these 
was uncertain, they intended to set up a $50 million bridge loan in the 
near future. Bevan added that although the official budget showed a 
$56million loss, the management target for the raih·oad shows a loss 
of 7.ero to $23 million for 1970. 

This explanation of the manner in which the company was to con­
tinue operating appears to have completely answered whatever 
questions Goldman, Sachs had at this time about the financial situa­
tions of the railroad. Levy and Wilson asked no questions about any 
of the methods mentioned above, by which Bevan intended to raise 
the necessary funds for 1970. According to Levy no questions were 
asked because "as I said, I had complete confidence in Mr. Bevan's 
integrity; that he could do what he said he could do." Furthermore, 
Levy did not confer with anyone at Goldman, Sachs about Bevan's 
plans, or direct anyone at Goldman, Sachs to contact the company 
personnel to inquire into Bevan's statements or to request the railroad 
to supply Goldman, Sachs with any statements or figures about their 
budget situation or cash forecast because Levy had "complete confi­
dence in Bevan and O'Herron." 

In spite of the fact that the railroad had suffered a loss for 1969 and 
the fact that it was now having great difficulty raising additional 
lines of credit, Wilson stated, concerning Bevan's explanation of the 
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1969 loss and the 1970 projections, that, "We had no reason to doubt 
him at that time, and we were satisfied with the answers to the qiJes­
tions we asked in these areas." It appears, however, that very few 
questions were asked. According to Wilson's testimony, the elements 
which he considered as affecting the company's creditworthiness on 
February 6, were the fact that the Pennsylvania Company had o'ver 
$900 million in securities, the fact the railroad had large real estate 
holdings, and the magnitude of the railroad itself. All these assets, 
however, had never been evaluated by Goldman, Sachs to determine 
their actual worth, how encumbered or pledged they were, or whether 
those that were held by subsidiaries could be liquidated for the 
company's purposes. Vogel, head of the credit department, who was 
also at the meeting testified that at this time no reexamination of 
the company took place as a result of these events: 

AJ3 a result of information obtained through theBe meetings we were reassured 
by the management-at least in our opinion-of the railroad-that the situation 
was one that was explainable, normal, and not of any prqblem. To that extent 
we accepted that reassurance. 

So, as a result of the announcement of a $56 million loss for 1969, 
Goldmn,n, Sachs had sought the assurance of management that all 
was well, got that assurance and was apparently satisfied with same. 
The National Credit Office (NCO) contin1.tes prime ,'ating after 1969 

results ann01tnced . 
On February 5, 1970, Allen Rogers of NCO called Jack Vogel of 

Goldman, Sachs to express concern over the sharply reduced earnings 
announced in the newspapers that duy. Vogel told Rogers that Gold­
man, Sachs was continuin&Tto sell the company's paper in spite of the 
sharply reduced earnings. vogel also suggested that the company had 
a number of valuable properties and securities, and he was certain 
that something could be worked out should it ever become necessary. 
According to a memo written by Vogel, Rogers stated, "that as a 
result of my comments, he would continue to carry Penn Central 
Transportation Company as a prime name." According to a memoran­
dum written by Wilson of a conversation with Levy, "I also explained 
Allen Rogers' conversation with Jack Vogel and that Allen's feeling 
was that as long as Goldman, Sachs WflS going to continue to handle 
the company's c/p (commercial paper) he ·would keep the prime rat­
ing." In fact, NCO continued the prime rating until June 1, 1970. 

As will be more fully described below, customers relied heavily on 
the NCO prime rating as an independent opinion of the credit­
worthiness of commercial paper issuers. Goldman, Sachs also utilized 
the availability of the NCO ratings as a selling point to assure custo­
mers of the low risk involved in purchasing commercial paper. 
Specifically with regard to the company's commercial paper, Gold­
man, Sachs was aware that customers relied on the prime rating of 
the company's commercial paper, and Goldman, Sachs used the com­
pany's commercial rating of "prime" in selling it. 

As a result of this conversation with Rogers, Goldman, Sachs 
became aware of facts which undermined the value of the prime 
rating given by NCO to the company's paper and the independent 
nature of that determination. Thus, from this point on it appears 
that NCO was not the thorough, independent rating service that 
Goldman, Sachs had represented to customers that it was. Tn Il.rlrlit.inn 
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from this point on, Goldman, Sachs wa!:! aware that the "prime" 
rating was based to a great extent on the fact that Goldman, Sachs 
was continuing to offer it. They also believed that the "prime" rating 
was based in purt on Vogel's opinion that the company had sufficient 
properties and valuables-which fact Goldman, Sachs had never 
investigated~to liquidate if necessary. Furthermore, if they were 
looking to liquidation as a means of determining creditworthiness, 
the railroad clearly was no candidate for the "prime" rating. 

Certainly .investors . involved in such short-term investments as 
-commercial paper where liquidity is so vital would want to rely on 
liquidation of corporate assets as a means of payment. Also Rogers' 
apparent reliance on the simple statement of Vogel would indicate 
that NCO was not engaged in the kind of analysis required to make an 
independent determination to continue the prime rating. Nor had 
Goldman, Sachs done any kind of analysis which would substantiate 
these statements. In addition, Goldman, Sachs never disclosed to any 
customers any of these matters. 
Goldman, Sachs Ted'uces its inventory of Penn Central paper 

Goldman, Sachs'analysis about the significance of the year-end 
results may be ascertained with greater reliability from the actions 
they took rather than from their statements. Thus, on the very same 
day they learned of the first quarter losses, they contacted the company 
and got a commitment from the company to buy back $10 million 
of its commercial paper from Goldman, Sachs' inventory. Further­
more, Goldman, Sachs insisted that from then on, the company's 
paper be sold under a tap issue arrangement whereby Goldman; 
Sachs would no longer buy any paper from the company, but would 
ask the company to issue certain paper only after it had found a cus­
tomer for the paper, an arrangement involving no risk for Goldman, 
Sachs. At the time the company went into bankruptcy, Goldman, 
Sachs held none of the company's paper. 

The coincidence of the timing of the reduction of inventory and the 
tap issue arrangement with the announcement of year-end results 
would appear to indicate that. Goldman, Sachs' concern with the 
company made them more un willing to risk their assets. In their 
testimony, Goldman, Sachs' people have admitted that one of the 
primaI:Y reasons for this action was the feeling that the yearend results 
would make the company's commercial paper much less marketable. 
Accordingly, they wanted to reduce their inventory. Most customers 
believed that Goldman, Sachs maintained an inventory in all com­
mercial paper which they offered for sale. :Many who purchased the 
company's paper after February 5, 1970, looked to the fact that 
Goldman, Sachs had an inventory of the company's paper as assurance 
that Goldman, Sachs felt the paper to be credit worthy. Goldman, 
Sachs never informed its customers of its decision to reduce and 
eventually eliminate its inventory. 
Receipt of adverse information as to first quaTter results 

On March 23, 1970, in a conversation with Wilson, O'Herron stated 
the first quarter's figures would look terrible. 

Goldman, Sachs made no further inquiry as to how ad verse the 
first quarter results would be or how this would affect commercial 
naner holders. rfhey did not seek to examine records of th~ compa~~ 
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have discovered that internal documents of the company indicated 
a loss of $60 million for the first quarter. 

Goldman, Sachs continued to actively promote the sale of the 
company's commercial paper for the period of MaTch 23 to April 
14, when another discussion was held with the company's management 
concerning first quarter results. A total of $17.3 million ill commercial 
paper WtlS sold to 18 customers during this time. None of these custo­
mers were told about these expected terrible results for the first 
quarter. 

On April1J" 1970, Goldman, Sachs learns that there will definitely be a 
loss jar first quarter; pltblic learns on April 22, 19.70 

On April 14, 1970, O'Herron told Wilson that the losses for the first 
quarter would be "lousy," and, in fact, "staggering." O'Herron added 
that he did not see the tm'naround in the railroad yet, and that the cash 
position is in very serious shape. 

Based on these comments Wilson recommended to Levy that they 
stop offering the company's p'aper until the current situation could be 
clarified. A meeting with Bevan and O'Herron was scheduled for later 
in the day for that purpose. 

At that meeting O'Herron apologized to Wilson for the casual 
nature of his remarks made em'her in the day. Bevan indicated that 
he could not tell exactly what the first quarter losses would be, but 
they would be substantially in excess of the $12 to $13 million lost in 
the first quarter of 1969. The losses, he explained, had resulted from 
a $20 million reduction in anticipated revenues and larger expenses 
due to the most severe winter in the history of the railroad. Bevan 
st.ated that he did not anticipate that the losses for 1970 would be 
worse than those sustained in 1969. He further stated that the entire 
system had been put on a severe cost-cutting program by Gorman, 
the new president. 

There wa.s more discussion about what measures were being taken 
to improve conditions. Bevan stated that they expected to announce 
the final loss figure next Wednesday (April 22) and at the same time 
"-ould file for the upcoming $100 million public debt offering. Bevan 
then outlined the ways in ,,-hich he intended to meet the forthcoming 
cash needs of the company. He described specific steps that could be 
t.aken should it become necessary. Included in these was a plan to sell 
some of the real estate. Wilson asked whether these properties had 
several layers of mortgages and Bevan answered affirmatively. 
Be,'an added that their cash position has been the subject of an 
intensive hearing in the past 30 clays before the full ICC and Trans­
portation Secretary Volpe. Bevan and O'Herron asked them to con­
tinue to offer the company's commercial paper until they effected 
their $100 million bond offering in early May. 

Again based on a brief explanation by Bevan, Goldman, Sachs was 
assured t.hat "there was no emergency at the Penn Central Transporta­
t.ion Co." At this meeting Bevan stated that the losses for all of 1970 
would not be more than $56 million. Eight days later, the company 
announced that it lost $62.7 million in just the first quarter of 1970. 
Bevan outlined new cont.ingency plans for liquidation of real estate, 
equipment, and securit.ies. As in the past, few questions were asked 
(Wilson did ask if the real estate was encumbered and Bevan replied 
that it did have several layers of mortgages), and no steps were taken 
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to il1.vestign,te Bevan's ren,ssumnces. The next day, Lev), told O'I-Ierron 
that Goldman, Sachs would continue to offer the company's paper. 

Bevan's statements at this meeting bore no resemblance to the reality 
of the situation. The situation was much worse at this time for in 
addition to the magnitude of the anticipated losses, O'Berron indi­
cated that a substantial part ($51 million) of the income to be reported 
on a consolidated basis was to come from extmordinu.ry and non­
recurring sources. The actual consolidated losses were, therefore, 
actun,lly gren,ter than was reported for the first quarter. 

During the time between this meeting and the time that the first 
quarter losses were announed to the public, Goldman, Sachs made one 
sale of $300,000 of the compu.ny's commereiu.l paper. This customer 
was told nothing of the fITst quarter results. 

Sales of Penn Central Transportation Co.'s commer-cial paper after 
announcement of first q1Larter 1'esults 

On April 22, 1970, the company announced the results of the first 
quarter. The parent, Penn Central Co., reported first-quarter con­
solidated losses of $17.2 million (compared with net income of $4.6 
million for same period in previous year). The results included extra­
ordinay income of $51 million. Penn Central Transportation Co. 
reported n, loss of $62.7 million for the fust quarter. 

Goldman, Sachs continued to offer commercial paper to its CllS­
tomers and in the period April 22 to :May 15 sold $5 million to one 
customer, the American Express Co., on May I, 1970. GolclnuLU, 
Sn,chs witnesses hu.ve testified that on April 3D, their sn,lesmen wero 
required henceforth to read from press releases announcing first 
quarter results. 

There is some dispute as to what American Express was told. The 
Goldmu.n, Sachs salesmen stated that they were told about the fust 
quarter results. American Express testified that this wn,s not.the case. 
rt had been reluctant to purchase the company's paper, but Jack 
Vogel, head of the credit department, told it that there were adequate 
assets to back up commercial paper in order to persuade it to change 
its mind about buying the company's paper. The paper purchased by 
American Express resulted from a buy-back by Goldman, Sachs from 
:Mobil Oil and then a resissue to American Express. American Express 
claims that at this time Goldman, Sachs told it that there was no 
reason to be concerned about the ability of the company to meet the 
maturity of the paper. 

By mid-May it was clearly impossible to sell any more of the 
company's 1J3.per and all further effort was terminated by mutual 
agreement between Goldman, Sachs and the company. One of the 
reasons for the company's bankruptcy was its inability to roll over its 
commercial paper, for the amount of redemptions which could not be 
rolled over totaled $117 million for the first half of 1970. 

O'.rHER FINANCIAL RELATIONSHIPS BE'.rWEEN GOLDMAN, SACHS 
AND THE TRANSPORTATION Co . 

. In addition to the compensation received for the sale of commercial 
paper, there were many other areas of financial relationship with the 
company which were being developed around the time in question, 
which could have and did produce additional sources ofTevenue for 
Cl-nlrhYlQ-n .0;;;:",..]'" ()-n Nn-.--rDITl],or;1 laRa ... on,.o"ont."t.;"o".nf f.l.nlrlnH'-n 
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Sachs and the company mot to discuss It $350 million pension fund and 
a high performance contingent compensation fund in ,,,hich Goldman, 
Sachs was "hopeful that we will be able to make a contribution." 

On November 17, 1969, Goldman, Sachs was invited to participate 
as a syndicate member in the underwriting of a $50 million Penn­
sylvania Co. debenture offering. 

On December 9, 1969, in discussions with the company, Goldman, 
Sachs uncovered "some possible lease finance business." 

On January 2, 1970, Canada Southern Railway Co., a subsidiary 
of the company, purchased commercial paper of another issuer from 
Goldman, Sachs ($1.5 million). Also Mahoning Coal Railroad Co., a 
company subsidiary, purchased commercial paper of another issuer 
from Goldman, Sachs ($1,300,000). On January 8, 1970, the Peoria 
and Eastern Railroad Co., a subsidiary of the company, purchased 
another issuer's commercial paper from Goldman, Sachs ($250,000). 
This was the first time these sUJ:>sidiaries had ever purchased com­
mercial paper. 

By February 12, 1970, the company and its subsidiaries had 
purchased over $60 million of commercial paper from Goldman, Sachs 
in the last 7 weeksY 

On February 26, 1970, Robert Haslett of the company called GoJd­
man, Sachs and stated that he would like Goldman, Sachs to start 
working with him on the comp:::.ny's thrift plan (they invest about 
$250,000 each month). George Ross of Goldman, Sachs stated that 
he had every reason to believe that they can do substantial securities 
business with the company and that Levy should mention Goldman, 
Sachs' investment management services to Bevan. Goldman, Sachs 
did eventually handle the thrift plan for the company. 

Around this time Levy indicated to Wilson that he should get iu 
contact with Bevan, who stated that the company may have a blanket 
mortgage from which Goldman, Sachs may benefit, and that this 
could amount to as much as a billion dollar underwriting. 

:METHODS EMPLOYED BY GOLDMAN, SACHS To SELL THE COMPANY'S 
COMMERCIAL PAPER TO CUSTOMERS 

GENERAL REPRESENTATIONS MADE' ABOUT COMMERCIAL PAPER 

Since Goldman, Sachs is the oldest and largest dealer in commercial 
paper, most customers believed that Goldman, Sachs would offer them 
only commercial paper which met their requirements and which 
Goldman, Sachs felt was credit-worthy. This impression ,"vas created 
in large part by oral representations made by Goldman, Sachs person­
nel and by written materials (pamphlets and broehures) distributed 
by them which extolled Goldman, Sachs as the "largest," and "most 
important," commercial paper dealer. Further enhancing this image 
were representations made by Goldman, Sachs that commercial 
paper is the equivalent of Government securit.ies in terms of safety, 
that Goldman, Sachs only offered the paper of the top compapies; 
that it maintained a credit department to review commercial paper 
issuers, that it offered investment advice to purchasers; that it pur­
chased the paper of "outstanding" companies for resale to investors; 
that it would provide financial information on issuers' whose paper 

13 Most of these funds came from the proceeds of the $50 milJio·n Pennco debenture offering in December 
lor..n 
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it was offering for sale; and that it only offered paper rated "prime" by 
NCO, an independent credit rating service. 

:Most customers had sufficient contact with Goldman, Sachs for the 
latter to become familiar with the nature of the customers' businesses. 
Furthermore, this familiarity enabled Goldman, Sachs t? .learn tl~at 
most customers contemplated that there would be 11 mIllimum nsk 
involved as the funds were almost always earmarked for some purpose 
in the near future. In almost all cases Goldman would assure the 
customer, when asked, that the purchase ,vas s1.~itable for his situ!J:tion. 

Initially Goldman, S!lchs would often prOVIde a customer WIth a 
book which contained the latest financial statements of the companies 
whose paper they offered for sale. After a customer had made a 
purchase, Goldman, Sachs would send a copy of the issuer's latest 
available financial figures which would update the infprmation about 
the issuer which was contained in t.he book. The information Goldman, 
Sachs Wf18 sending customers about. thci company, even as late as the 
end of March of 1970, was the year-end financial statement for 1968. 

Rarely would a customer investigate an issuer on its own. :Most 
customers either just stated to Goldman, Sachs that they were relying 
on Goldman, Sachs to provide them with the "very best paper" or 
"NCO prime paper" or in a very few cases, gave Goldman, Sachs an 
"approved list." 

:Most customers would call Goldman, Sachs and ask what was 
available which would fit their maturity requirements, and the sales­
man would describe what was available. In a few cases a customer 
would ask questions about the financial or general condition of the 
issuer and would be given answers. The customer would then select a 
particular paper for purchase. 

HOW THESE CUSTO!\IERS INVESTED IN THE COlVIPANY'S CO:\ll\lERCIAL 
PAPER 

In the sales of the Penn Central Tnmsportation Co.'s commercial 
paper, most customers asked no questions and when some did, they 
were reassured that everything was fine. ·When questions were raised 
by customers concerning the company's increased losses, the salesmen 
usually replied that merger or other temporary problems were the 
cause, and with $6.5 billion in assets there was nothing to be worried 
about. Frequently, the salesmen, through the beginning of April 1970, 
would cite to customers the company's 1968 results in answer to these 
questions. Some customers who still resisted were persuaded only 
after arguments by salesmen that, additionally, the high rate of return 
(in 1970 the company was offering the highest commercial paper 
pllpcr rat.e.s), and the fact that the company's paper could be tailored 
to their needs, made it the best for their purposes. Furthermore, most 
customers at the time of purchase did not have any current financial 
information about Penn Central Transportation Co., or any of the 
information described in sections above which was in the possession 
of Goldman, Sachs, and Goldm_an, Sachs did not offer any of it prior 
to the sales. If the customer indicated to the salesman that he had 
heard something adverse about the company, the salesman would 
often firmly reply that the cumpany was still "NCO prime" and there 
was no risk at all involved. 
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An example of the type of. situation in which the customer placed 
complete reliitnce on Goldman, Sachs' recommendations is that of a 
textile manufacturer in Clinton, S.C. The relationship between the 
customer and Goldman, Sachs originated in 1960 at the time the. 
customer was considering a merger. Goldman, Sachs was consulted 
to help prepare the rate of the exchange. Although this merger fell 
through, a subsequent merger attempt in 1964 in which Goldman, 
Sachs worked out the details (and for which they were paid a fee) was 
a success. 

The two had intermittent contact through the sixties. Goldman, 
Sachs set up a revolving credit agreement for the customer to enable 
it to build another plant.14 

In the fall of 1968, Goldman, Sachs assisted the customer in another 
merger. In the course of this merger, Goldman, Sachs was furnished 
with complete financial information on the customer. 

In August of 1969, the customer had accumulated $1 million in 
cash in anticipation of another merger (although it had drawn down 
$4 million from the revolv'ing line of credit). Since it would be months 
before the merger took place, the customer contacted the individual 
at Goldman, Sachs with whom it had been dealing and explained the 
situation. The individual recommended commercial paper. The cus­
tomer reminded him of the limitation on commercial paper placed by 
the revolving crel~it agreement and stated that it would be relying on 
the recommendatIOn of Goldman, Sachs ancl no one else. In fact, the 
customer's president gave instructions that the company was to buy 
whatever \yas recommended by Goldman, Sachs. In September of 
1969, Goldman, Sachs by letter recommended certain commercial 
paper. The customer purchased it. When this paper matured in 
December, Goldman, Sachs recommended the company's paper. The 
customer bought it. When this matured in March of 1970, Goldman, 
Sachs recommended repurchasing the company's paper, which the 
customer did. This paper and an additional amount, which Goldman, 
Sachs had at the same time recommended to be placed in the com­
pany's paper, were not repaid because of the company's bankruptcy. 

The treasurer of a small college in Pennsylvania described, in an 
affidavit, the circumstances surrounding the college's purchase of the 
company's paper on 1VIarch 30, 1970, as follows: 

At. this point the availability of Penn Central was mentioned. I hesitated because 
the college alre:1dy held $400,000 in Penn Central. On af;king for pertinent informa­
tion from the latest financial report, I was informed the comp:1ny reported con­
solidated revenues of $2,251,7Hi,000 compared with $2,102,770,000 the previous 
year and preliminary earnings of $4,::;88,000 versus $86,961,000. At this point the 
problems of consolidation as :1 result of the merger were pointed out. I next 
questioned the current asset to current liability ratio, which was indicated at 
approximately one to one. When I indicated my concern over this, the representa­
tive reassured there ww; no need for concern since total assets exceeded 6~~ hillion. 
With some hesitancy I agreed to the purchase of 3001\11 of Penn Central paper. 

On April 3, 1970, I received the letter of confirmation and a copy of the financial 
data on Penn Central. I was dismayed to learn the information conveyed over the 
phone was as of December 31, 1968, and not December 31, 1969. This, coupled 
with reports in the newspapers of the increased financial plight of the company, 
prompte·d me to call our representative to attempt to sell the paper held by the 
college. I was informed our representative accepted another job and the college 
had been assigned a new representative. I do not know what efforts were taken by 
Goldman, Sachs & Co. to resell the paper, but in any event they were unsuccessful. 

.. A clause of this agreement limited the customer to investing "in securities issued by the United States, 
CD's of banks and prime commercial paper as determined by generally accepted banking practice." 
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KINDS OF CUSTO::l'lERS WHO PURCHASED THE COi\ll'ANY'S COMMERCIAL 
PAPEIt 

The customers who purcluu;ed the company's paper during this 
period fall into diverse categories: Institutions sophisticated in securi­
ties analysis; companies primarily engaged in manufacturing; colleges 
and universities; small bunks; and individuals purchasing through 
banks. The vast majority of the customers were institutions or cor­
porations. 

Almost all the customers did no investigation of the company before 
or after purchasing its paper from Goldman, Sachs for fl, number of 
reasons. First of all, most of the institutions and corporations were not 
sophisticated in t.erms of their ability to gather and analyze the neces­
sary information. Secondly, they did not have access to the kind of 
information necessary to make a me!1nin!!ful investment decision on 
Penn Central's cominercial paper. In addition, the quickness with 
which the decision had to be made would have prevented them 
from undertaking such an analysis. And last, almost all of the custom­
ers were relying on Goldman, Sachs' recommendation, and on the 
NCO rating and on the general reputation of the company. 

SUMMARY 

Between November of 1969 11J1<1 May of 1970 Goldman, Sachs sold 
$83 million of Penn Central Transportation Co.'s commercial paper 
which was not repaid because of the latter's bankruptcy. Dming this 
time they became aware of information which cast doubt on the safety 
of this commercial paper. :Most of the nonpublic information described 
above was not disclosed te customers. The information they did 
disseminate was out of date. 
. Desi1ite repe~ted warning signals, Goldman, Sachs initiated no 
m-depth analYSIS. If they had, they would Juwe found matters to be 
much worse. 

In addition, Coldman, Sachs fs.iled to disclose that they had reduced 
and were eliminating their inventory of the company's paper, that 
NCO had been induced to maintain the prime rating and that the 
company's paper was meeting strong resistance from customers. 

GOLDMAN, SACHS' POSITION ON THE SALES OF 'l'HE COMPANY'S 
COMMJ~RCI!.L PAPER 

Goldman, Sachs' views concerning its s(des of the com.pany's com­
mercial paper may be summ.arized in the following way. First of all 
according to Goldman, Sn,chs, its commercial paper operations were 
not lucrative when compared to its other activities. (For example in 
1969 Goldman, Sachs had outstanding an average of $4.7 billion in 
commercial paper, but their net profits from these sales was only 
$435,000.) 

According to Goldman, Sachs, the customers were sophisticated 
investors who purchased commercial paper in $100,000 denominations. 
Goldman, Sachs felt that these customers were capable of makin~ 
their own investment decisions and did not hlLve torely on Golci'rnan-, 
Sachs' opinion. Goldman, Sachs viewed itself as merely a conduit of 
commercial paper which made no recommendations as to the quality 

P ... - .1. ___ .1':.1. ______ ..l.1_.: ___ .... ... 1' -1-1 ....... ~_ .... _._ ......... 1"1. ..... 1....l .................. ~nnh'"" 
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would merely inform the customers as to what paper was available, 
and the customer would decide which paper it wished to purchase. 

Goldman, Sachs also maintained that in the company, which was 
the conntry's fourth largest corporation, there were always snfficient 
assets which could be liquidated should the need arise, which plOvided 
sufficient protection fol' commercial paper holders. 

Goldman, Sachs did take certain steps to disseminate information to 
customers and at least on two occasions did call in the company's top 
management for an explanation of what was happening. In addition, 
customers, if they so desirecl, could have obtained some information 
on the company since as a publicly held corporation it was required 
to make public its financial condition. 



III-B. ROLE OF NATIONAL CREDIT OFFICE IN RATING THE 
COMMERCIAL PAPER OF PENN CENTRAL 

The concealment of Penn Central's condition was aided by Gold­
m.an, Sn,chs as described in the preceding section. Another entit:y, the 
National Credit Office (NCO), also contributed to the misleading of 
investors. This section is concerned with the activities of NCO prior 
to June 21,1970, the date of bankruptey, "ith respect. to the commer­
cial paper issued by the Transportation Co. and sold by Goldman, 
Sachs. 

National Credit Officc is n, wholly owned subsidiary of Dun & Brad­
street, Inc. (D. & B.) which until on or about August 23, 1971, func­
tioned as a rating agency for commercial paper. On August 23, 1971, 
the commercial parier rating service of NCO was transferred to 
l\tloody's Investors Services, Inc., another wholly owned subsidiary of 
D. & B. which is a registered investment adviser. 

NCO had been rating commercial paper since 1920 and prior to 1970 
it was essentially the only national commercial paper rating service. 
NCO was never registered with the Commission as an investment 
adviser. ~ 

As a standard method of operation, NCO would enter into n, sub­
scription agreement with the prospective issuer of commercial paper 
wherein the issuer would agrce to pay fln annual fee to NCO for 
appraising commercial peper and pursuant to which NCO agreed to 
evalun,te and assign one of the following classifications to subscriber's 
(i.e., the issuer's) commercial paper: 

PTime.-Companies with a net worth or capital funds (net worth plus long-term 
subordinated loans) in excess of $::10 million, which also meet NCO requirements 
and credit judgment in all other respects. 

In the cases of "cap\,ive" finance companies, net worth or capital funds in exee:;s 
of $1.5 million are required in addition to meeting NCO requirements and credit 
judgment in all other rel;pects. 

Desirable.-Companies with net worth or capital funds (net worth plus long­
term ~ubordinated loans) of $2,5 million to $50 million, which also meet NCO 
requirements and credit judgment in all other respects. 

SalisjactoTy.-Companies with net worth or capital funds (net worth plus long­
term subordinated loans) ranging from approximately $10 million to $2::> miilion, 
which also meet NCO requirements and credit judgment in all other respects. 

FaiT.-Companies which do not meet a :;ufficient number of NCO's require­
ments for the three preceding classifications. 

No Ratl:ng.-Companies which do not meet any NCO requirements for inclusion 
in the commercial paper market. 

Additionally, the issuer agreed to "furnish promptly to NCO 
pertinent financial reports and other dat.a normally provided line 
banks, in order that NCO may accurately appraise the commercial 
paper." 

From the foregoing it would appear that NCO's function was to 
rate the desirabilit.y of specific commercial papeT. It would aho seem 
apparent that as .Mr. Eugene Schenk, the president of NCO, has 
stated: 

(292) 
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NCO is the agency on which virtually all prospective buyers rely for ratings in 
the commercial paper field. Through the years our authoritative appraisals have 
been of material assistance in making a market for these short-term note:;. 

The commercial paper mn,rket which NCO had been engaged in as 
the sole national rating agency had experienced phenomenal growth in 
the late 1960's, primarily due to the severely tight money markets of 
that period and the relative ease and privacy of raising short-term 
debt afforded by this market. As the ma.rket grew rapidly, NCO's 
rating responsibilities grew concomitantly as the following data 
illustrates: NCO rated the following number of issuers in the respective 
categories at the indicated date. 

IndustriaL •........................................ 
Public utilities ..................................... . 
Finance. __ . _______________________________________ _ 
Banlling ................................•.......... Insurance. ________________________________________ _ 

Transportation ..........................•.••........ 

Total ............................•........... 

Apr. 1, 1970 

266 
163 
118 

47 
JO 
Il 

615 

December 
1969 

December 
1968 

December 
1967 

236 149 108 
153 82 25 
112 99 92 

42 ......•.................... ' 
9 1 ............. . 
942 

563 335 227 

Thus in a period of 27 months the number of commercial paper 
issuers rated by NCO had increased by 388 or 271 percent. Further, by 
June 1, 1970, this number had incretlsed t.o 647 issuers. 

Included in this group of 615 issuers were Penn Central, King Re­
sources Co. and Four Seasons Nursing Centers of America, Inc. all 
of which reeeived a "prime" or highest possible rating.! 

The relationship between NCO and the Transportation Co. \\'hich 
began in July 1968 was the customary one, described previously, be­
tween an issuer of commercial paper and NCO. After the execution 
of the subscription agreement and presumably after a customary re­
view by NCO, the Transportation·Co. "'as assigned a "prime" rating. 
This rating was listed by NCO and disseminated to all subscribers to 
its rating service. 

Additionally, certain subscribers could at their election receive 
special service from NCO which consisted of a more extensive analysis 
of the issuer. In the case of Penn Central this would consist of excerpts 
from the latest annual report and interim fintlllcial data, if tlIlY, pub­
lished by the issuer. The only other information contained in this 
report to subscribers not also contained in the annual report or interim 
financial statements were the rating classificat.ion by NCO, the identity 
of the dealer handling the paper and condensed information regarding" 
the bank lines of credit available to t.he issuer, names of the lead 
banks, and amount of available credit, if any, from such banks. 

All of the foregomg informatIOn plus, in the case of Goldman, Sachs, 
more detailed and current financial data was also customarily avail­
able to the dealer in the paper who also provided similar information 
t.o its customers. 

Furthermore, the dat.a contained in these NCO releases, except for 
the specific items heretofore mentioned, does not differ in any mlt-

1 It is interesting to note that not only was NCO's estimation of the quality of the notes issued by J~ing 
Resources and Four Seasons deficient, but also that certain of such notes of both entities had a stated 
matUlity of more than 270 days which would not qualify same for the statutory definition of commercial 
paper and exemption (rom registration. 
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terial way from that which Penn Centml itself publicly disclosed 
either in annual or quarterly reports or in press releases which it is­
sued. Moreover, none of these releases contains information as of a 
chte prior to such public release by Penn Central. In fact, most of 
the data contained in the NCO releases is a mere reprint of Penn 
Central press releases or excerpts from annual reports. 

Preliminary to a specific examination of NCO activities in rating 
the Transportation Co.'s commercial paper it is necessary to examine 
the standard or customary opemting procedures at NCO during this 
period. 

On September 15, 1969, Rudolph G. l\ferker was assigned as vice 
president in charge of NCO's commercial pa1)er rating service. Prior 
to the assignment of Merker, responsibility for operation of this de­
partment had been assigned to Allen Rogers (now deceased.) However, 
Rogers had only been physically present in NCO's office twice since 
January 1965, preferring, apparently because of illness, to do his work 
from his home. The other analysts employed by NCO were located in 
the Manhattan office and the number of these individuals varied from 
three to four during this period. 

:Merker IU1d previously been employed by D & B as manager of the 
retail and wholesale division of NCO, which apparently is part of the 
traditional D & B retail credit reporting system. Merker had been 
employed by NCO for 42 years, primarily in the retail credit reporting 
aren,. 1\1erker has no college education and is not a chartered financial 
analyst. Prior to becoming head of the commercial paper division of 
NCO, Merker had very limited experience in the commercial paper 
rating area. . 

Merker stated that he was to assume Rogers' supervisory respon­
sibilities, but that he did not know why he in particular was selected 
for this position. The following colloquy is illustrative of the conditions 
prevalent at NCO during this period: 

Question. TYhen you as81tmed your responsibilities, were you instl'ucted or informed 
as to what these responsibilities would be specifically, and if so, by whom were you 
informed? 

Answer. No; it was not spellcd out. 
Question. How were you aware of wha.t your responsibilities and duties would be? 
Answer. Well, it was just that being a department head, I knew what the 

responsibilities of a department head had been at NCO. 
Question. At the time you assumed your responsibilities, did you have any con­

versation or meeting with Mr. Rogers to explain what he expected of you and what 
you expected of him? 

Answer. No; not along these lines; no. 
Question. How was it determined what responsibilities you would have and lilT. 

Rogers would have after you assumed your new position? 
Answer. Well, he was a consultant and he was guiding me in my new position 

as director of commercial paper. 
Question. At ihe time you ass!£med your responsibilities, were there any written 

policies or operations manual for the different responsibilities in NCO? 
Answer. No; nothing in writing. 
Question. Hoto did you become familiar with your duties and the manner of dis-

charging them? 
Answer. Just by working with t.hem. 
Question. With whom? 
Answer. With thc problems and the reports and inquiries, and the workload 

of the day; and guiding and calling Allen Rogers and having his long years of 
knowledge in the department. 

It would seem apparent from the foregoing that NCO's commercial 
paper department was relatively disorganized and of scant importance 
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in the D. & B. corporate complex as the person selected to manage 
same is a veteran functionary of limited skills and experience in this 
area and as he received no training or ongoing guidance in the per­
formance of these duties. 

In any event, IV[erker was responsible for the daily activities of 
the commercial paper division subject to the overall supervision of 
Eu~ene Schenk, president of NCO. Merker described the daily 
actIvities of his department as essentially consisting of 'supervising the 
activities of a limited number of analysts-three or four during the 
period from September 1969 to June 1970-who reviewed files, 
interviewed prospective issuers and responded to inquiries from sub­
scribers to NCO's rating services. 

Merker indicated that the analysts in rating the commercial Iiaper 
would consider the issuer's .annual reports and general operating 
statements to determine the issuer's liquidity. The analyst would 
individually review the issuer and assign a rating. However, the same 
analyst would not necessarily continue to be responsible for the 
rating of a particular issuer or a specific group of issuers. Thus, this 
responsibility would be rotated among the various analysts depending 
upon their availability and workloads. Prior to March 1970 there was 
no individual responsibility, for as Merker states: 

* * * we didn't have this individual control. It was a case of taking the reports 
and writing them as they became due to be written but 110 accounts wcre assigned 
to any specific analyst. 

It should be noted that the system of rotating responsibility for 
assigning and/or reviewing the rating of issuers necessarily resulted in 
varying degrees of familiarity and expertise about such issuers by the 
NCO analysts. 

In the ordinary course of rating commercial paper the issuer would 
enter into a subscription agreement whereby the issuer would agree to 
provide NCO with information which would differ in no material way 
from that information provided by the issuer to its line banks. This 
information would normally consist of the company's annual fiscal 
report, quarterly reports, profit-and-loss statements and press releases. 

It was normal' procedure for NCO to agree with the issuer that a 
specified officer of the company would provide the aforementioned 
information to NCO and be available to answer inquiries from NCO. 

Normally, NCO, after having had an opportunity to review the 
aforementioned material might have occasion to personally contact the 
financial officers of the issuer for purposes of clarification. 

However, it should be noted that NCO would not ordinarily con­
sider whether or not the issuer had conformed to any or all applicable 
regulatory requirements prior to the issuance of the paper. The reason 
for this was that NCO was concerned primarily, if not exclusively, 
with the financial condition of the prospective issuer rather than the 
regulatory environment in which it might operate. . 

Moreover, the information that NCO would normally obtain in 
order to issue or continue a rating would not differ in content, detail 
or timeliness from that which was publicly available except as Merker 
stated: 

* * * bank information, the individual bank lines from an individual bank for 
that particular issuing company, the amount outstanding in bank lines, amount 
owing, and the high and low in bank borrowings for a period of time, either three 
months or it could be 6 months. 
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Merker also indicated that. this informat.ion would be provided in 
the ordinary course to NCO by the banks witbout the need for prior 
authorization by the issuing company. However, this bank checking, 
if it did occur, would be quite infrequent, not even as often as an­
nually. 

Merker summarized the NCO prime rating as follows: 
The NCO prime rating for a commercial paper issuer is giving our opinion of the 

liquidity of the company in that the commercial paper notes in our opinion would 
be met at maturity. 

The NCO prime rating would be assigned after a review by NCO 
analysts of the issuer's financial statements. However, in making these 
determinations NCO did not have any internal guidelines or stand­
ard which it required issuers to meet; that is, standards regarding 
liquidity ratios, asset/liabilities ratios, quick capital ratio, or any other 
type of objective statist.ical stanard. 

Further, NCO regarded "liquidity," "bank support" and "operating 
performance" as the most important factors in assigning a rating. 
While Merker never specifically defined what NCO considered liquid­
ity to be, his understanding of liquidity would appear to be the ability 
of the .issuer to repay any outstanding amount of commercial paper at 
matunty. 

NCO regarded "operating performance" as relating to the profita­
bility of t.he issuer's operations for a period of time and "bank support" 
as the lines of bank credit available to "support" commercial paper. 

NCO regarded 100 percent. bank line coverage as desirable but not 
req uired in all instances. The percentage of bank line credit could 
even be 50 percent depending upon the issuer. :Moreover, these lines 
of credit were not required t.o be confirmed or revolving, but merely 
unconfirmed lines would suffice to meet this NCO requirement.. 

NCO considered ot.her factors also in making its credit determina­
t.ion. In particular, NCO considered the issuer's working capit.al posi­
tion indicative of the issuer's ability to repay the commercial paper 
notes at maturity. 

NCO defined "working capital" as current assets less current 
liabilties, including that portion of long-term debt due within 1 yenr. 
A concomitant part of this analysis of "working capital" was an evalua­
t.ion of the issuer's ability to meet its current debt through cash flow. 
However, this cash flow was defined by NCO to include not only cash 
generated through operations but also the abitity to raise short-term 
-debt capital. Moreover NCO did not require any minimum dollar 
amount of working capital. 

Further it is important to note that NCO did not require that the 
issuer's current assets exceed its current liabilities, although com­
mercial paper itself is a current liability. NCO would also consider the 
availability of other assets which might be utilized to collo.teralize 
loans or which might be available for salc, if necessary, to raise capital. 

NCO did not, however, require that tbe issuer have any specific 
ratio of assets which would be unencumbered by mortgage or lien and 
available for such use. 1v10reover, apart from reviewing the balance 
sheet, NCO would not confirm the amount and types of assets available 
for collateralization or disposition by sale, either from the issuer or 
its banks. 
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NCO also considered the investments of the issuer in securities of 
subsidiaries, affiliates, and unrelated parties, account or trade receiv­
ables, and investments in equipment or inventory. 

NCO would not however inquire whether there were any restrictions 
on such investments (e.g. "letter" stock) or whether such investments 
had been used as collateral for loans, nor would NCO determine 
whether such investments were marketable or at what price, if any, 
these were marketable. As NCO stated, it was concerned solely with 
"the mere existence" of such investments. 

Although NCO did state that it would consider the collectability 
and terms of payment of receivables, as well as encumbrances on 
in ventory or equipment, its information would be provided by the 
issuer and would not be confirmed with any other source, for example, 
equipment trustees. 

A further element in the NCO analysis is an "examination" of the 
corporate complex if an issuer should be part of same, for example, 
Penn Central Transportation Co. and Penn Central Co. NCO would 
evaluate the corporate complex, even though in the present market 
the issuer of the paper is solely responsible for its repayment, and no 
subsidiary, parent of affiliate guarantees repayment of principal and/or 
interest. 

It should be noted moreover that NCO at this time did not consider 
any debt ratings of the issuer's securities, by either Standard & Poor's 
or Moody'S, even though lVIoody's, like NCO, was a subsidiary of 
Dun & Bradstreet. 

While the foregoing discussion of NCO's mode of operation was 
gleaned from testimony taken from Messrs. ·:Merker and Rogers it is 
illustrative to consider the following excerpts from a letter written on 
January 29, 1969· by Louis C. Ward, manager, commercial paper 
division of NCO to Steven Clarke of the St. Louis Office of Goldman, 
Sachs & CO.2 

As mentioned in my telephone conversd.tion with you laqt week, it is difficult 
to list. each standard we URe in evaluating the quality of commercial paper notes, 
due to the diverse indu<;tries on which we report. 

Even factors which may appear intangible to others, may be of pertinence in 
our rlJaching a rating decision, as p'll" the example<; I gav'3 you on the phone. 

However, some of the major points we look at are"the following: 
(a) We compare each issuer's various ratios against industry averages. 
(b) Judge progress at least over the previous 10 years. 
(c) Evaluate the company and its markets and the market's potentia\. 
(d) Make an apprai<;al of principal officers and thcir busine3s experience. 
(e) Analyze the company's potential in futnre year,. 
(f) Review bank support and periodically contact a sampling of the com­

pany's line banks, as deemed necessary. 
After reviewing the above, and ta.king into consideration the company's capital 

funds position (at least $2:, million nst worth of capital fund,; arc requisite for 
"prime", $.5 million for "desirable", $1.5 million for "~atisfactory"), we then 
determine the classification. 

Anoth~r requirement we have is direct contact and di'lcussion with financial 
management of the company, at least once ,1 year when they are in New York 
to f'ee the banks. 

Occaoionally, a nationally known firm 'leeks to enter the market, but 'lomehow 
docs not measure up to our evalua.tion of a prime company. Recognizing the 
questionable acceptance by the market were we to rn.te it as less than prime, 
we endeavor to persuade it to delay its plans to issue, until the particuhr problem 
we feel it has is alleviated or corrected. 

, Tt shoul-l be noted that Clarke attached a photocopy of this letter to a lett~"r he wrote on hnuary 21. 
1970 to W. N. Fedderspeel, comptroller of the Granite City Steel Co. of Granite City, Ill .. as part of an 
.... _ .... 1 ........... ~~_ ... _~ _ ........ """,""""1"\ .~ .... ........ A ••• J... .......... _.......;,. .... : ............. I' .. _ ......... ri 
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If the company, or dealer, decides to issue, anyway, we either withhold a rating 
completely 'or rate it as le8s than prime. . 

, We feel this approach is equitable to the company and provides a measure of 
safety for the invcstor. 

NCO had a continuing and extensive relationship with the major 
commercial paper dealers. This relationship consisted primarily of 
ongoing contacts between NCO and the dealers relative to information 
and/or opinions about specific issuers handled by the dealers. The 
dealers utilized NCO ratings as a marketing tool in offering com­
mercial paper to their customers since lnany customers, part.icularly 
nonfinancial institutions, were required by statute or resolutions of 
their boards of directors or trustees, to purchase only that commerical 
paper which was rated prime by NCO, then the only national com­
mercial paper-rating service. Due to the importance of an NCO 
rating, preferably a prime rating, dealers would require their issuers 
to obtain (at the expense of the issuer) a rating from NCO. 

The largest and most influential commercial paper dealer is Gold­
man, Sachs & Co., which started as a commercial paper dealer and 
later expanded into a full-line broker-dealer. Goldman, Sachs was a 
subscriber to NCO's rating services and its issuers, whenever possible, 
obtained an NCO rating. Goldman, Sachs, as a customary part of its 
marketing of commercial paper, would communicate, orally and in 
writing, the NCO rating of the issuers it handled. 

NCO personnel, in particular Merker, were acqnainted with and had 
frequent contacts with Goldman, Sachs.3 This relationship with 

, Goldman, Sachs did not differ in any materinJ way from those main­
tained by NCO with other commercial dealers. It apparently consisted 
primarily of frequent telephone conversations between NCO and 
Goldman, Sachs and the receipt by NCO of Goldman, Sachs' infor­
mation sheets about the issuers handled by that firm. 

The information sheets referred to were prepared by Goldman, 
Sachs and distributed to their eustomers. These were a short precis of 
the issuer and, according to NCO, did not contain any more extensive 
information or any more current information than that which was 
publicly available. Further, Goldman, Sachs did not explicitly make 
any evaluation on these sheets of the credit-worthiness of their issners. 

During the period from September 15, 1969, to June 1970, Merker 
was primarily responsible for the rating of Penn Central's commercial 
paper.4 He stated that the reason why he became directly responsible 
for the Transportation Co. rating was: "Well, I had concern, but I was 
not overly concerned about it, and I was watching it." 

When asked to explain the reasons for his concern IVlerker replied: 
The bottom line was on the downgrade, aud the railroad company was losing 

money very definitely, and it was a case that had to be watched very closely. 

However, it should be noted that during this period Merker could 
not recall any other issuers for which NCO had the same concern. 
While Merker stated that his assumption of responsibility for the 
Transportation Co. rating was coincident \vith his becoming head of 
the NCO rating service on September 15, 1969, the first indication of 
any activity by him in this area was on October 2, 1969. 

• The individuals at Goldman, Sachs were Robert G. Wilson, partner in charge of the commercial paper 
department of Goldman, Sachs; George Van Cleave, Wilson's assistant; Jack Vogel, the chief credit analyst 
of the commercial paper department; and Walter Fekula, a credit analyst. 

• It is significant to note that Merker could not recall any other issuer Cor which he bad the primary re­
sponsibility oC rating dnring this peliod. 
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l\ferkel"s concern was prompted by a telephone conversation with 
Rogers who discussed an unfavorable item about Penn Centrf!.l appear­
ing in the Robert Metz column in the New York Times of that day. 
After receiving this information Merker reviewed the June 30, 1969, 
data in Moody's Tnmsportlltion Manual which disclosed declining 
profits on a consolidated basis and a loss for the Transportation Co. 
itself for the 6 months ended that day. On October 3, 1969; Merker 
spoke with Jack Vogel of Goldman, Sachs regarding Penn Central. 
Vogel stated that he was not concerned about the 6-month results 
nor the unfavorable items in the New York Times. With respect to 
this conversation with Vogel, Merker testified as follows: 

Question. ,?i~. you. j'ely on Bfr. Vogel'.~ comments? 
A.11s wer . ): e", I did. 
Question. Did you have any basis for j'elying on his comments? 
Answer. He is a respon~ible man and well recognized in the commercial paper 

market. 
Question. Yon were aware though, I assume, that at the time he was working for 

the dealel' in Penn Central commej'cial papel' and as such it would seem to me that he 
would tend to be as favorable as possible on the security. Did you take this into 
consideration? 

Answer. I do not think that Jack would have misled me. 
Question. Did you see any conflict of interest in his position in that he is handling 

and his organization is selling this pal'ticular issue and you are asking him fOl" his 
opinion on paper which they aj'e selling on a continuing basis? 

Answer. No; I didn't sec any conflict of interest, no. 

The reason for Vogel's ln,ck of concern was the existence of bank 
lines of credit of $300 million available to the Transportation Co. 
:Merker, however, did not inquire as to what nmounts were then 
available or what conditions, if any, were applicable to the availability 
of same. 

After speaking with Vogel, :Merker wrote to Jonathan O'Herron, 
Penn Central's vice president (finance) and asked for interim opera­
tions figures, a list of banks of Penn Central's and bank credit lines 
and the high and low borrowings and other short-term debt. Merker 
received the requested information from O'Herron in October 1969. 
Merker stated that in reviewing the. Transportation Co. file: ,,* * * I 
saw no need for action as far as the rating was concerned." 

On October 28, 1969, NCO issued a release to its subscribers on the 
Transportation Co., which gave consolidated earnings and revenues 
for 9 months of 1969 which indicated a downward trend. NCO how­
ever, then stated: 

From this office's point of view the commercial paper standing of this company 
is not affected because of the readily salable assets of the subject, if the need arose. 

On October 29, 1969, NCO issued another release on Penn Central 
which stated in part: 

Jonathan O'Herron vice president-finance, has advised that the company has 
available a $100 million line of credit to support its commercial paper position. 

At this same time Penn Central had approximately $150 mil­
million in commercial paper outstanding. 

On November 6, 1969, the ICC authorized Penn Central to issue 
another $50 million in commercial paper, increasing the authorization 
to $200 million. The ICC's concern with the use of short:-term debt 
has already been described.s However, despite the fact that this 

; Sec discussion at page 280. 
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concern was expressed in a public document, NCO never reviewed it 
and was una:ware of the serious implications of the ICC stat.ement. 

On November 26 1969 Penn Central announced that for the first 
time in its history it was ~uspending payment of quarterly dividends. 
This action was taken by Penn Central" * * * to conserve cash and 
in keeping with responsible management." Apart from ~otifying its 
subscribers of this already public information, NCO dId not take 
any action with respect to the company's rating;. . 

In December 1969, Pennco for the second bme 111 6 months was 
used as a fmuncing vehicle to raise money for the Transportation Co.6 

NCO took no action regarding a review of the Transportation Co. 
rating, even though these facts, evidencing lack of financing capability 
by the parent Transportation Co., were publicly stated in the offering 
circular for the debentures issued by Penn co a.t this time. 

On February 4, 1970, Penn Central announced l)reliminary 1969 
results on a consolidated and unconsolidated basis. On a consolidated 
basis Penn Central had earnings before extraordinary items of $4.4 
million in 1969 as compared with $87 million in 1968. The Trans­
portation Co. lost $56.3 million, compared with only $5.1 million a 
year earlier. 

When asked what NCO did upon receipt of this information Merker 
replied : "We had discussed it among the analysts and decided to 
wait for the baln.nce sheet of December 31, 1969." 

According to Merker, NCO did nothing else about Penn Central 
at this time. However, on February 5, 1970, Allen Rogers of NCO 
spoke with Jack Vogel of Goldman, Sachs. According to Vogel their 
con versation 'was as follows: 

Alan Rogers of NCO culled me today to expre~s concern over the Sharply 
reduced earnings announced in the newspapers today. He asked if we were con­
tinuing to sell the company's notes and whether I felt that Penn Central had 
sufficient resources which could be converted to cash to pay down debt, if neces­
sary. I said that Goldman, Sachs was continuing to sell the commercial paper 
notes of Penn Central Transportation Co. In answer to question No.2, I suggested 
that the company has a number of valuable properties and securities, and that I 
was cer~ain that something could be worked out should it ever become necessary. 
Alan S3.ld that as 11 result of my comments, he would continue to ca.rry Penn 
Central Transportation Co. as a prime name. 

In his testimony Rogers stated that he could not recall such a 
conversation, but he admitted that it was possible that NCO continued 
rating the Transportation Co. as prime as a result of Goldman, Sachs' 
confidence in it. 

In March 1970 Penn Central released the audited 1969 results and 
a balance sheet as of December 31, 1969. This report confirmed in 
detail the preliminary results announced on February 4, 1970. 

Upon receipt of this report NCO reviewed same. However, this 
report was reviewed by a committee of NCO personnel, namely 
:Merker, Rogers, Dan Cahalane (a junior analyst), and Eugene Schenk. 
NCO did not, however, take any action whatsoever with respect to 
the Penn Central rating until April 23, 1970. On that day Merker 
wrotc to O'Herron as follows: 

We are presently reviewing our cla.ssification. Because of the very substantial 
losses recorded last year; and it is apparent that the operating performance for 
the fi~st 9uarter of the current year was rather disappointing for the parent 
organ~zatlon just reported a loss of $17.2 million, we would appreciate your assist­
ance 111 furnishing some additional information. 
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1"11'. O'Herron, in the event that additional capital Illust be raised what assets 
would be availal?le for this purpose? Also, plea.'5e t,ell us how the fu~ds fron~ th~ 
sale ~f ~oI?mel'c~al paper notes are being used. . 

ThiS mfon~atlOn, and any other comments that you care to make would be 
very helpful III our analysIS. 

Unfortunately for NCO, O'Herron never responded to this inquiry 
even though 1I1erker sent a followup letter on May 18, 1970. 

On Apri~ ~2, 1970,' Penn qentral announced a first-quarter loss of 
$1.7 .. 229 mIllIon compared wIth consolidated net income of $4.601 
mIllion for first quarter 1969. The Transportation Co. had a first 
quarter loss of $62.7 million compared with a loss of $12.8 million in 
1969. And it was obvious that even these substantial losses \\'ere not 
reflective of the underlying situation since they included the impact 
of large reported profits on two transactions. 7 . 

During the period from April 23 to IVlay 18, 1970, NCO discussed 
the Penn Central situation but did not ever consider lowering the 
company's rating from prime, nor did they take any further action. 
In fact, the primary topic of discussions during this period was the 
failure of Penn Central to reply to the letter of April 23. 

lVIoreover, NCO "ras not aware that· the last sale of the Transporta­
tion Co.'s commercial paper occurred on :May 1, 1970; that Goldman, 
Sachs ceased to offer the company's commercial paper on May 20, 
1970; and that as of April 23, 1970, Goldman, Sachs required its sales 
personnel to inform prospective customers of the Penn Central earn­
ings announcement of April 22, 1970. 

NCO was unaware that the May 12, 1970, offering circular for the 
Pennco $100 million debenture offering contained the following state­
ment at page 4: 

At May 8, 1970, railroad had outstanding $152.1 million of commercial paper 
pursuant to orders of thc Interstate Commerce Commission authorizing up to 
$200 million of such paper. To the extent that commercial paper outstanding has 
been less than $200 million, railroad has borrowed under a $50 million bank line 
of credit. As additional backing for its commercial paper railroad has available 
$50 million under the credit agreement referred to under introduction. Between 
April 21, 1970 (the day preceding the announcement of the operating results of 
railroad for the 3 months ended March 31, 1970) and May 8, 1970, maturities 
and payments of commercial paper excceded sales of commercial papcr by $41.3 
million. Of the commercial paper outstanding at May 8, 1970, approximately 
$75 million matures prior to June 30, 1970, and the balance at various dates to 
December 16, 1970. 

Although this was a preliminary offering circular, it should have 
been available to NCO pursuant to their SUbscription n.greement with 
Penn Central. NCO, however, did not become aware of the fact that 
the company's redemptions of commercial paper were exceeding sales 
until the appearance of a Wall Street Journal acticle on May 27, 1970. 

On May 15, 1970, Standard & Poor's downgraded the bond rating 
of the Pensylvania Company and its proposed $100 million debenture 
offering. On May 18,1970, Merker spoke with Jack Vogel of Goldman, 
Sachs. According to Vogel, Merker asked him if he still felt the same 
way about Penn Central in view of Standard & Poor's rating change. 
Volgel replied affirmatively and Merker accepted his explanation for 
the change. 8 

On May 28, 1970, Merker spoke with Jack Vogel about Penn Cen­
tral. Vogel after stating that the Transportation Company had bank 

7 See discussion at page 54.. 
a Merker, however was unable to recall that the conversation took place and the content of same. 
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credit still available to redeem commercial po.per, also suggested that 
Merker check the :May 12th offering circular. 

:Merker did obtain a copy and on June 1, 1970, after internal discus­
o;ions at NCO between Merker, Schenk & Rogers, Merker called 
O'Herron asking for. more information. O'Herron declined to provide 
same and this, coupled with the fact that the $100 million offering 
was aborted, prompted NCO to reserve Penn Central's rating pending 
further information. Effectively this meant that NCO while not 
refusing to rate the Transportation Company's commercial paper, 
was not assigning a rating for a limited period o.s well as downgrading 
it from prime. 

After discussing this action with Vogel and O'Herron, NCO then 
issued a press releao;e regarding this action. A mere 3 week8 later, 
Penn Central filed for reorganization. 



PART IV 

IV. PENPHIL COMPANY (PENPHIL) 

INTRODUCTION 

P~nphil, a private investment company whose stockholders include 
DaVId Bevan (D. Bevan), other members of the Pennsylvania Rail­
~oad 90.'~ (PRR~ financial department, and .o!ficers of companies 
In whIch It made Investments, purchased seCUrItIeS at a cost of over 
$2.2 million between 1962 and 1968. Charles J. Hodge (Hodge) and 
D. Bevan controlled Pen phil. . ' 

Pen phil was closely related to the PRR. Most of the funds for 
Pen phil's investments came· from loans made by Chemical Bank. At 
the time these loans were made D. Bevan was the chief financial 
officer of the PRR (and later the Penn Central) which had substantial 
banking relationships with the Chemical Bank D. Bevan was also in 
charge of the investments of the PRR and its employee funds. In 
nearly all instances, the PRR and its employee funds invested in com­
panies in which Penphil was to make or had made investments.1 The 
possible conflicts of interest arising from Penphil's investments were 
never disclosed to the PRR board of directors. 

Penphil also engaged in the practice of inviting officers and directors 
of companies in which Penphil invested to become members of Penphil. 
This put Pen phil in the position of having an avenue of access to infor­
mation concerning the day-to-day operations oZ the companies. 

In July 1962, D. Bevan and Hodge, a partner In Glore Forgan-who 
was to become instrumental in PRR's diversification program of the 
mid-1960's-organized Penphil for the purpose of buying and selling 
securities of companies about which Penphil had intimate knowledge 
because of close business relationships between Penphil shareholders 
and the companies.2 

In connection with these purchases D. Bevan, Glore Forgan, and 
Hodge arranged for the Chemical Bank, New York, to extend a line of 
credit to Penphil. Because of D. Bevan's position at the PRR, the 
Chemical Bank was willing to make these loans to Penphil at the 
prime rate without compensating balances and with the securities 
purchased as the only collateral. Prior to 1966, the Ohemical Bank 
loaned Penphil more than 95 percent of the cost of its investments in 
stocks, most of which. were traded over-the-counter. Overall, the 
Chemical Bank, between 1962-1968, loaned Penphil over $1.7 million 
to buy securities at a cost of more than $2.2 million. The loan balance 
was at times as much as $1.2 million.3 

1 In the latter parts of this section no distinction is drawn between the investments made by the company 
and by the employee funds. Both are referred to as PRR or Penn Central investments hereinafter, unless 
otherwise specified . 

• A table giving background information on Penphil shareholders has been attached as Exhibit 1. 
• See discussion infra 8t p. 30i et seg. 
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304 

SU~n"[ARY OF TRANSACTIONS 

In July 1962, Penphil made its first purchases of securities when, 
on the recommendation of Hodge, a Kaneb Pipe Line Co. (Kaneb) 
director and a member of its executive committee, Penphil bought 
Kaneb stock n,t a cost of $115,925. The July purchases were made 
with knowledge of nonpublic information regarding -a substantial 
increase in Knneb's earnings during the first third of 1962 and elll"l1-
ings per share estimates for the year. Penphil purchased additional 
Kaneb stock at a cost of $40,000.in February 1963. At that point 
Hodge had information about Kaneb's 10-year estimates of favorable 
revenues, earnings and cash flow. During 1962 and 1963, the PRR 
and various Pen phil stockholders 1l1so purchased Kaneb stock. These 
purchases were made when each had nonpublic infqrmation concerning 
major pipeline expansion plans and significn,nt incretlsed earnings of 
the company. As of April 20, 1972, Penphil still held its shares and 
had an unren1ized profit of $926,000. 

Penphil's next purchase was 10,000 shares of Great Southwest 
Corp.-GSC-common stock in July 1963. Hodge, a GSC director, 
had nonpublic information about a dritluatic nnd unexpected improve­
ment in GSC fiscal 1963. earnings which were expected to double 
1962 earnings. In IVlarch 1964, D. Bevan personally' purchased GSC 
shares while in possession of information not publicly available thnt 
the PRR was considering acquiring 80 percent of GSC's outstanding 
stock. In November and December 1965, Penphil, D. Bevan, and 
Hodge sold their shares of GSC to the PRR at substantial profits. 
Penphil's profit was $212,500. 

In August 1963, Penphil, on Hodge's recommendation, macle pur­
chases of the common stock of Tropical Gu..c; Co., Inc. (Tropical) 
Hodge, also a Tropical director, was intimately aware of the com-
pany's afi'airs. . 

In May 1964, Penphil bought Continental Mortgage Investors 
(CMI) shares for $196,800. Priol' to this purchase Penphil had obtained 
significant confidential information from CMI's investment banker. 
This information carne from a partner of that firm who was also a 
Penphil stockholder. This information concerned CMI's confidentinl 
plans for $10 million of long-term debt financing and its cancellation 
of plans for further equity financing; both announcements, when 
publicly made, were expected to have the desired efi'ect of removing 
the lid on the price of CMI stock. Penphil still holds these shares and 
as of June 2, 1971, had an unrealized profit of more. than $1 million. 

From May 29 to June 2, 1967, nine Penphil stockholders and the 
PRR bought an aggregate of 5,539 shares of Symington Wayne 
Corp. (Symington Wayne). On June 27, 1967, 'Penphilbought 1,000 
Symington Wayne shares. These purchases were made with knowledge 
of private merger discussions Symington Wayne was conducting 
with two competing companies. 

The terms being proposed were very favorable to Symington Wayne 
and its shareholders in that if either ofi'er was accepted it would 
cause Symington Wayne shares to immediately increase in price. The 
subsequent public dIsclosure of these negotiations resulted in t.he 
stock selling at an immediate and substantial premium. By t.he end 
of January 1968, Penphil, seven of its stockholders and the RPR sold 
tho;.,. ~"minO"t.()n WH,vne shares at substantia.} profits. 
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In late 1965, D. Bevan, Hodge, and Benjamin F. Sawin (Sawin) 
a Penphil stockholder and its bank expert, made plans for Penphil to 
invest in a chain of Florida banks. They determined to do this through 
initial investments in two banks in Boca Raton, Fla. controlled by 
Thomas F. Fleming, Jr. (Fleming). Pen phil used personnel and assets 
of Arvida Corp. (Arvid a) a newly acquired subsidiary of the PRR, 
to meet with and obtnin an agreement from Fleming that he would 
arrange for stockholders of these banks to sell Penphil some of their 
bank stock which, at the time, was tightly held. At least Penphil's 
initial purchases of this bank stock were mnde at a time when some 
of its members were in possession of nonpublic information concerning 
significant business developments in the Boca Raton area and private 
plans of the bank to sell stock to its stockholders at $6 below market. 
Pen phil has an unrealized profit on these purchases of more than 
$742,000. 

Finally, in June 1968, Penphil bought 5,000 shares of National 
Homes Corp. (National) common stock on the recommendation of 
Lawrence M. Stevens, a Penphil stockholder who was the manager of 
the Philadelphia office of Hornblower and Weeks-Hemphill, Noyes. 
During that same month three Pen phil stockholders bought an aggre­
gate of 2,200 National shares. National is the only instance where it 
appears Penphil invested without having any inside relationship 
with the target company. It is significant that Hodge opposed this 
investment, saying that the stock should not be held blindly. 

A.s a result of its investments Penphil has made a profit of $226,895.51 
from securities bought and sold, and, as of June 1971, had an unrealized 
gain of $3,026,476.40 from securities held. Pen phil has not had a loss 
on any of its investments with the single exception of a $40,000 note 
which it purchased from Holiday International Tours. The latter 
investment was associated with the EJA situation discussed elsewhere 
in this report. 

BACKGROUND-PENPHIL 

In the summer of 1962, D. Bevan and Hodge were the principal 
organizers and promoters of Penphil, a closely held corporation which 
was designed to engage in the business of purchasing, holding, and 
selling securities for its own account. On July 19, 1962, the day after 
its first securities purchase, Penphil was incorporated in Pennsylvania 
by Thomas Bevan, an attorney who was David Bevan's brother. 
Prior to Penphil's incorporation, 13 personal friends of David Bevan 
and Charles Hodge were invited by them to be stockholders. All were 
.substantial businessmen, many being officers or directors of publicly 
held companies. Immediately upon its incorporation, Pen phil issued 
3,000 shares of its common stock by selling 200 shares to each of the 13 
friends as well as Charles Hodge and David Bevan for a total capi­
talization of $15,000. It was planned that Penphil's capital structure 
would be thin with substantially all of the funds needed for its business 
to come from bank loans. 

Between July 1962 and the present, Hodge and Bevan invited and 
arranged for 15 additional people to become shareholders of PenphiJ. 
Ten of these persons purchased their shares either directly from Penphil 
or from one of the original shareholders. Five persons became share­
holders when a corporation of which they were stockholders, Florphil 
Co., was merged into Pen phil. Florphil had been incorporated to give 
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these five shareholders an opportunity to participate in certain of 
Penphil's investments. This matter will be discussed subsequently. 

The evidence indicates that Penphil's investment objective was to 
pl1l'chuse securities of issuers about which it had a great deal of current 
material information. Although any Pen phil stockholder could suggest 
possible investments, investment decisions were, in fact, made by a 
small number of Penphil stockholders who dominated the affairs of the 
COml)!Lny. 

From its establishment in July 1962 until October 20, 1970, Penphil 
made investments in common stocks, notes, warrants, U.S. Treasury 
biUsand commercial paper. The following is a list of all of Penphil's 
investments other than U.S. Treasury bills and commercial paper: 

July IB-23 1962 ___________ Kaneb Pipe Line Co _______________________________ _ 
Feb. I, 1963. _________________ do __ . _______ .. ______________________________ _ 
July IB, 1963 _____________ Great Southwest Corp _____________________________ _ 
Aug. 1-29, 1963 ___________ Tropical Gas Co ____________ . ____________ . _____ . __ _ 
May B,1964 ______________ Continental Mortgage Investors ________________ . ___ _ 
Dec. 7, 1965. __ . ____ . __ .. _ Great Southwest Corp ____ .. __ . ____________________ ~ 

·S'ept. 27, 1966-Jan. G, 1967_ First Bank & Trust Co. of BJca Raton, Fla_. _____ : __ ._ 
Jan.:12~Mar. 27.1967 ______ University National Bank of Boca Raton, Fla ________ ._ 
June 27,1967 _____________ Symington Wayne Corp ____________________________ _ 
JIId~. 2, 1967 __________ . ___ Kaneb Pipe Line Co _______________________________ _ 

00_. ________________ . ____ do __________________________________________ _ 
Jan. 4,196B ______________ Symington Wayne Corp ____________________________ _ 
Feb. 21, 196B _____________ Holiday International Tours ________________________ _ 
June 5,1968 ______________ National Homes Corp _____________________________ _ 
June 21, 1968 _____________ Holiday International Tours __________ • _____________ _ 
July 26, 196B _____________ First Bank & Trust Co. of Boca Raton, Fla ___________ _ 
Aug. 21; 1968 _____________ Holiday International Tours ________________________ _ 

,Sept. 10,196B ____________ Kaneb Pipe Line Co _______________________________ _ 
Nov. 18, 1968-Jan.13, 1970_ First National Bank of Deerfield Beach, Fla _________ _ 
Oct. 20, 1970 _____________ U. S. freight' ____________________________________ _ 

00 __________________ National Homes Corp ____________________________ _ 

1 Warrants. 
2 Note. 
3 Advance. 

Shares 
purchased 
and (sold) 

22,633 
5, 000 

la, 000 
10,000 
la, 000 

(la, 000) 
B,250 
4,733 
I, 000 

2 $500, 000 
17,653 
0, 000) 
51, 000 

5, 000 
2 $40, 000 

1,815 
(51, 000) 

2 ($500, 000) 
(3) 

(B,900) 
(5, 000) 

Cost or 
(proceeds) 

$115, 925. 35 
40, 000. 00 

165,000. 00 
191,495.27 
196, 800. 00) 

(376,949, 00 
249,972. 00 
62,640_ 00 
34,234.38 

493,544.90 
7,653. 00 

(41,549.16) 
25, 000. 00 
74, 101. 53 
40, 000. 00 
90,750. 00 

2 (25, 000. 00) 
(~16, 423. 62) 
(12,886.11) 

(138,345.74) 
(82,407.01) 

, Penphil received 8,900 shares of United States Freight Co., in exchange for its 10,000 shares of Tropical Gas Co., Inc., 
upon Tropical's acquisition by United States freight in October 1969. ' 

_ As the result of purchases, sales, stock dividends and splits, Penphil's 
investment portfolio as of June 2, 1971, contained the following shares 
of common stock and warrants to purchase common stock: 
lS\3uer: 

Kaneb Services, Inc __ ~ ____________________________ - - ______ - __ 
Continental Mortgage Investors ______________________________ _ 
First Bancshares of Florida, Inc ______________________________ _ 
I{aneb Services, Inc., warrants ______________________________ ~_ 

ShareB 
130,488 

60,000 
252,096 

7,6.53 
- I Kaneb Services, Inc. is the successor of Kaueb Pipe Line Company . 
. :I PCllphil roceived shares of "First Bancsharcs of Florida, Il1c. (First Bancshares) in exchange for its shares 
of Firs~ Bank aud Trust Co. of Boca Raton (First Bank) and University Natioual Bank, of Boca Raton 
(UN B) . First Baucsbares is a registered bank bolding compauy which was formed on or'abont October 16, 
1970 to hold the stock of First Bank, UND, First Bank of Riviera Beach, and Citizens Bank of Palm Beach 
County. - -

Only a small portion of the money which Penphil invested in 
securities came from Penphil shareholders. Penphil shareholders 
invested only $389,062, and $209,000 of this amount was not invested 
until late 1969. Penphil's largest source of funds was a line of credit 
-extended by the Chemical Bank, Such loans were made at the prime 
rate with no compensating balances required and were secured entirely 
h~ <hn ~M>",·;t_io", ",hiph t.hA In!l.n~ Wflre used to purchase. 
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CHEMICAL BANK 

The PRR had done banking business with the Chemical Bunk since 
1891 and its account with Chemical waS one of the PRR's largest and 
one of the bank's oldest accounts, As of the latter part of December 
1961, the PRR had more than $22,718,000 in outstanding loans from 
the Chemical Bank and was maintaining a compensating balance of 
between $4,543,000 and $5,818,000. . 

The banking relationship between the Chemical Bank and the PRR 
was a close one, and as vice president-finance, D. Bevan was a key 
man in the relationship. Bevan had known William S. Renchard, 
president of the bank since at least 1946, when Bevan "ras with N.Y. 
Life Insurance Co. D. Bevan had a personal line of credit with Chem­
ical at the prime rate since at least 1960.4 Hodge's and Sawin's relation­
ship to the Chemical Bank also appears to have been very close. 
Glore Forgan had a long standing banking relationship with the 
Chemical Bank. Since 1961, Hodge had a personal line of credit, 
which reached a loan balance of nearly $950,000 by November 1968.6 

Sawin was president of. an important Philadelphia bank and ac­
quainted with Renchard .. 

During the week of July 16, 1962, D. Bevan telephoned Renchard 
to arrange financing for Penphil's purchase of Raneb. Renchard's 
memorandum of this conversation is as follows: 
To: Messrs. M. P. Chamberlain, C. A. McLeod. 
From: Mr. W. S. Renchard . 
. David Bevan, financial vice president of the Pennsylvania Railroad Co., 

called me on the telephone today and said that he and a group of friends, totaling 
about 15, are planning to organize a corporation to purchase a substantial block 
of common stock of Kaneb Pipe Line Co. The group will include Charlie Hodge 
of Glore, Forgan & Co., Benjamin F. Sawin, president of Provident Tradesmens 
Bank & Trust Co., Messrs. Gerstnecker and Haslett of the Pennsylvania Rq,il-
road's financial staff and others. . 

They have in mind the purchase of a block of 25,000 shares of Kaneb stock ·at 
a.price of somewhere between $5 and $6 a share. Mr. Bevan said he had made 
a thorough study of the out! * * * company and thought tIllS was a very 
desirable purchase. Apparently * * * block is being sold for tax reasons. The 
gl'OUP * * * equity into * * * ould pay in $7,500 additional" * * months' 
* * * amounts of money borrowed * * * would like to set the loan up * * * 
basis at the prime rate of interest. WSR told Mr. Bevan we would be glad to 
handle tills accommodation for him and suggested that he have whoever is 
handling the mechanics get in touch with Mr. Chamberlain or, in his absence, 
Andy McLeod. .. 

Frankly, the rate on the proposed loan is too low, but, in view of the size of 
the deal and the fact that it has such good friends connected with it, WSR felt 
it was preferable not to quibble with Mr. Bevan over the rate. He indicated that 
George Bartlett of Glore, Forgan & Co. would probably be the one to negotiate 
the purchase of the stock and very likely Charlie Hodge would be the one to 
work out the mechanics of the loan arrangement. 0 

Hodge, a managing partner of Glore Forgan, thereafter contacted 
O. A. McLeod, a Chemical Bank vice president, regarding the loan 
on the morning of July 23, 1962, and that day McLeod mailed Warren 
Bodman, another Penphil member, and a partner in Yarnall, Biddle 
& Co., a broker-dealer, the necessary corporate papers for the loan 
account to be opened by Penphil along with a demand note form and 
loan purpose. statement form. Pen phil completed its purchase of 

• Primc rate loans for individuals arc hi!!hlY \lllUSIll'I. 
'Staff Report of the Committee au Banking and Cnrreucy, Bonse of Representatives on Tile Penn 

Central Failure and the Role of Financial lnstilutiona, 92nd Can!! .• 1st Session, ("Patman Report"), p. 201. 
#~ Th_e_~~~?~,9;,nd.um is in poor condition and pieces of it are missing. Letters italir.iud nrA 1"p~(HI1(T~ (I'mn 
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22,633 shares of Kaneb stock the next day, [md 910re Forgan s,ub­
sequently delivered the certificates to the ChemIcal Bank agamst 
ljayment. . 

Although the purpose of the initial Chemical Bank loan was to 
flurchase shares of Raneb stock the effect was that Hodge and 
D. Bevan established for Penphil' a line of credit with the Chemi?al 
Bunk which was to provide it with a ready source of funds for Its 
purchases of securities. From the time of this first loan through August 
of J 968, Penphil, when it wished to buy sto?k, would merely have 
T. Bevan contact the bank by telephone, advIse the bank that stock 
,vas being purchased, that a loan of a spe~ified amo~mt would be 
required B,nd that the certificates would be dehvere<l agall1st payment. 
The evidence shows that the bank would then mechanically and 
routinely pay for such stock upon delivery. Dl~rjng the period from 
July 1962 to at least February 1968, Penplul purchased, among 
other securities, 27,633 shares of Kaneb, 10,000 shares of GSC, 
10,000 shares of Tropical, 10,000 shares of C:MI, 10,065 shares of 
First Bank and 4,733 shares of UNB. All of these securities were 
t.raded in the over-the-eounter market. In connect.ion with the pur­
chases of the Kaneb, GSC and Tropical sto(;k, Glore Forgan was the 
executing broker-dealer nncl Hodge was the salesman. After each 
purchase Glore Forgan callsed the stock to be delivered to the Chemical 
Bank against payment. As previously noted, Hodge, a partner of 
Glore Forgan, had participated in the I1rrangments whereby the 
qhelni?ld. Bank extended the credit for the purchase of these securi­
tles.7 SImIlarly the CMI shares were J1urcht1ses on credit extended by 
the Chemical Bank althoug.J1 the executing broker-clenIer delivering -
the sha.res to_ the bank HgaJ~st 'payment was Hemphill, Noyes. At 
least the 1,810. shares of the Flon~a bank stock purchased on July 26, 
1968, were delIvered to the ChemIcal Bank as collateral by T. Bevan. 
Purchases of the res~ of the First Bank and UNB sharei::l by Penphil 
were largely .made wI~h proceeds from the sale of securities originl111y 
purchased WIth ChemIcal Bank loans. 

The following chart reflects the dates and amounts of loans made 
by the Chemical Bank to Penphil to finance the purchase of securities. 

~ R?l,m~ation ~ of the Feder.al. Reserve System es~ablisl:es margin rcqnircrnonts on loans by a hroker­
dea~cl ,fOl ~he pwchase of secUl1tles. and f!,rther prohibIts hlln from ":rI'3nging for loans by others on a basis 
lJlOlOf,'VOI."blc than he h~IDSelfcould proVIde. It appears that the credIt extended was not in accordance with tho prOVISIons of rrgnlabon T. 
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Purchase 
Loan Date Loan Amount Amount Security 

August 20, 1962 ________________________ _ 
February 8,1963 ______________________ _ 
July 25, 1963 _________________________ _ 
August 8, 1963 ________________________ _ 
August 14, 196L ______________________ _ 
August 16, 1963 _______________________ _ 
August 26, 1963 _______________________ _ 
September 9, 1963 ________________ _ 
September 11, 1963 ____________________ _ 
September 13, 1963 ____________________ _ 
September 20, 1963 ____________________ _ 
March 23, 1964 ________________________ _ 
May 25, 1964 ________________________ _ 
December 29,1965 _____________________ _ 
September 15, 1966 ____________________ _ 
June 29,1961- _________________________ _ 
October 17, 1967 _______________________ _ 

$102,000.00 $115,925 35 Kaneb common.! 
40,000.00 40,000.00 00.1 

120,000.00 165,000.00 Great Southwest common.1 
47,450,00 47,450.00 Tropicat Gas common.! 
25,012.30 25,012.50 Do.! 
27,187.50 27,187.50 00.1 
30,026.25 30,026.25 Do.! 

'45,636.75 42,036.75 00.1 
8,057.52 8,057.52 00.1 
4,000.00 4,000.00 00.1 
3,749.95 3,749.95 00.1 

31.739.95 
196,800.00 196,800.00 CMI shares.' 

'379,000.00 372,433.33 U.S. Treasu ry Bill 110 
415,000.00 
10,000.00 34,234.38 Symington Wayne common. 

'40,000.00 
November 2, 1968 ______________________ _ 493,000.00 501,197.90 Kaneb $500.000 debenture and 

warrants. June 24, 1968 __________________________ _ '50,000.00 74, 101. 53 National Homes common. 
June 25, 1968 _______ , __________________ _ 40, 000. 00 40,000.00 I nternational Air Bahamas and 

August 30,1968 ________________________ _ Holiday International Tours notes. 
'60,000.00 90,750.00 'First Bank common.! 

October 4, 1968 _______________________ _ 530, ODD. 00 
-----

Toto'- ___________________________ '1,768,659.92 _______________ _ 

1 Delivered to Chemical Bank against payment and held by Chemical as collateral. 
'The disposition of lhe additional funds is unknown. 
3 The purpose of this loan is unknown. 
, loan to pay estimated Federal tax . 
• Funds used to purchase Penphil stock from the estate of Leslie Cassidy. 
, Purpose of this loan is uncertain but it appears to be for the purpose of purcha,ing National Homes stock_ 
, With this loan, Penphil's loan balance reached its maximum figure, $1,228,000 .. 
, Money borrowed to be deposited in overdrawn bank account to pay interest due and to pay current bills. 
'As of June 30, 1971, Penphil still had an outstanding loan balance of $280,000 
"A series of short term investments were made on a "roll over" of these funds. 

It was possible for Penphil to buy securities at a cost of more than 
$2,200,000 because of the highly unusual and enviable relationship 
between the Chemical Bank and certuin Pen phil stockholclers_ This 
relationship enabled Penphil to borrow, at the prime rate and without 
compensating balances, 95 percent of the costofthe securities purchased 
before 1966 and 79_7 percent of Penphil's total investments_ 

KANEB PIPE I1INE Co, 

BACKGROUND 

Kaneb Pipe Line CO.,8 a Delaware corporation \\'ith its principal 
office in Houston, Tex., was organized in 1953, for the purpose of 
transporting petroleum products by pipeline in Kansas and N ebraska_ 
As of December 31, 1961, the company had 885,385 shares of common 
stock outstunding_ The stock traded in the over-the-counter market_ 
As of December 31, 1961, the PRR and the following persons '"ho 
became Penphil shareholders owned Kaneb stock: 

Fisher 1 ________________________________________________________ _ 
Hodge _________________ ~ _______________________________________ _ 
])_ Bevan _______________________________________________________ _ 
T. Bevan ___________________________________ ~ _____ " _____________ _ 
Horner 2 ________________________________________________________ _ 
PElEl __________________________________________________________ _ 

Shares 

97, 263 
7, 954 

l.'i5 
100 

3, 082 
15,782 

1 As of December 31,1961, Fishel' was Kaneb's second largest stockholder with 97,263 shares. The Nortb­
westel'll Mutual Life Insurance Co. was the largest shareholder with 99,18U. 

, Ed"in Horner, an investment banker of Lynchbw'g, Va. was a f1iend of Hodge. 

S Thc name was changed in IOil to Kaneb Services, Inc. 
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Herbert Fisher (Fisher) WfiS president of Kaneb and was also presi­
dent of Pipe Line Technologists (Pipe tech) , a consulting firm ,vhich 
provided the management of Kaneb under contract and which had 
been a consultant to the PRR since the 1950's. Hodge had been a 
d rector of Kaneb and, along with Fisher, a mcmber of its three man 
executive committee since the mid-1950's. Glore Forgan was Kaneb's 
investment banker. 

KANEB'S BUSINESS OPERATIONS 1961-62 

For 1961 Kaneb's net incomc of $38,547 was down from $505,815 in 
1960 due to "generally depressed conditions ... throughout the Mid­
west petroleum products market during 1961." However, on IVlurch 5, 
1962, Fisher wrote the Kaneb directors, including Hodge, and reported 
that shipments of fuel oils in January and Fehruary were at record 
highs due to severely cold weather in the areas served by Kaneb. He 
also stated that "As a result revenues are up more than 20 percent and 
earnings are expected to more than double those for the first 2 months 
of 1961." 

A report to the shareholders included in the 1961 annual report and 
dated March 15, 1962, Hnd distributed about April 1, briefly mentioned 
that business during the first 2 months of 1962 was stronger than dur­
ing the comparable period of 1961, but gave no figures Hnd no indica­
tion of the magnitude of the improvement. A detailed report of fn-st 
quarter earnings was presented at Kaneb's annual shareholders 
meeting on April 16, 1962, but since only two persons who were not 
pa.rt of management were' present and no press release was issued no 
public dissemination of this information occurred. During the latter 
part of May 1962, Hodge was informed that Whatley estimated 1962 
earnings per share would be 58 percent greater than in 1961. A public 
announcement of the significant information concerning the improve­
ment in Kaneb's earnings 'was made during the last week of August 
1962, when Kaneb's semi-annual report was mailed to shareholders. 

At least by August 1961, and continuing into 1962 Kaneb w:is also 
privately considering several proposals for the expansion of the 
transmission of liquid propane to its main line system. Fisher believed 
that this expansion would have a significantly favorable effect on 
Kaneb's earnings. 

KANEB STOCK PURCHASES DURING 1962 BY THE PRR AND PENPHIL 
STOCKHOLDERS 

From February 1962 to June 1962, D. Bevan and Robert Haslett, 
who was director of investments of PRR and also a Penphil member, 
caused the PRR to buy in 10 transactions 9,642 Kaneb shares at 
prices ranging from $6 to $7 per share. These purchases increased 
the PRR's holdings to 25,424 shares, an increase of 61 percent. 
Each of these transactions was executed by Glore Forgan on an 
agency basis with Hodge as the saleman. 9 

, Included in these ten transactions was a purchase on February 9 and a purchase on April 18, the sarno 
days that Horner, a friond of Hodge and subsequently a Pen phil stockholder, bought Kaneb stock. Although 
a great majority of Horner's previous and subsequent transactions were executed through another broker­
dealer, the Kaneb shares were purchasod through Glore Forgan. Whether Hodge recommended these 
purchases is presently unknown. . 
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On July 18, 1962, the day before Penphil's incorporation, Hodge 
and D. Bevan caused Penphil to begin buying Kaneb stock by pur­
chasing 3,000 shares at $5 per share. On July 19, Penphil purchased 
an additional 19,033 shares and on July 23 another 600 shares at 
$5 per share for a total of 22,633 shares at a cost of $115,925.35. 
Of that amount $102,000 was borrowed from the Chemical Bank. 
Glore Forgan was the executing broker-dealer on these transaCtions, 
and Hodge was the salesman. At or about this same time, D. Bevan 
bought 1,200 shares, T. Bevan purchased 300 shares, and Hodge's 
secretary, lVlartha Fonner, purchased 50 shares. As noted above, 
information concerning the improved earnings did not become a 
matter of public knowledge until the Jast week of August 1962. 

1963-KANEB STOCK PURCHASED BY THE PRR, PENPHIL AND PEN PHIL 
STOCKHOLDEI!.S AND RELATED EVENTS 

On November 15, 1962, Kaneb's board approved an expansion of 
its business in the transportation of liquid propane. This information 
was released to the press on January 7, 1963. 

On December 10, 1962, in connection with the possible acquisition 
of Kaneb by another company, James Whatley, vice president of 
Kaoeb, mailed to Hodge a preliminary worksheet outlining estimated 
earnings and cash flow for Kaneb over the next 10 years. These 
estimates, which prQjected substantial growth in revenues and 
earnings, were never made public. . 

Shortly thereafter, Glore Forgan, WIth Hodge as salesman, executed 
substantial purchases of Kaneb stock for Pen phil and Penphil mem­
bers. On January 2, 1963, 5 days before the press release regarding the 
propane expansion, D. Bevan purchased 500 shares at 831 bringing his 
holdings to approximately 1,855 shares. On January 8,' 1963, Fred 
Billups 10 piu'chased 1,000 shares at 81/4 per share. On January 31, 
1963, D. Bevan met with Fisher, Hodge, and William R. Gerstnecker, 
treasurer of PRR, for lunch. The stated purpose of the meeting was 
to discuss pipeline studies being undertaken for the PRR by Pipetech, 
but the possibility of Fisher joining Penphil was discussed. At this 
time Fisher strongly indicated his interest in becoming a Penphil 
stockholder.Il The next day, February 1, Penphil purchased 5,000 
shares of Kaneb at $8 per share, increasing its Kaneb holdings to 
27,633 shares. Penphil borrowed the entire purchase price from Chem­
ical Bank. 

In late November 1963, Fisher and Glore Forgan arranged for a 
placement of 17,900 unregistered Kaneb shares for the New York Life 
Insurance Co. Of these, 4,500 shares were purchased at 101/s by Pen phil 
stockholders, as follows: Gerstnecker, 500; D. Bevan, 1,000; Haslett, 
500; 500 by Paul Fox, another PRR vice president; and Hodge, 2,000. 
On December 6, Hodge bought an additional 200 shares.12 

ID Billups was president of Tropical Gas, a company of which Hodge was a director. He became a Penphil 
member on June 30,1963 and Tropical Gas becamo another Peuphil investment. 

11 On February 5, Fisher wrote to Gerstneckcr requesting the names, business connections, et cetera of al1 
members of PenphiJ. Fisher commanted: "It appears that this' substantial group of successful businassmen 
could do much towards putting some good deals together. If I am to join them, it is quite important that we 
become better acquainted. I am sure that we al1 have the same interest; namely to get into some good growth 
situations where we can recoup substantial capital gains." 

12 Other than the purchases by D. Bevan and Billups in early January 1963, there were only two purchases 
of Kaneb stock by Penphil shareholders prior to November 1963. On Juuo 18, Hodge bought 200 sbares and 
on October 11, bought 100. 
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As of December 31, 1963, Kaneb hn,d issued and outstanding 
972,503 shares of common stock of which Penphil owned 29,462 
shares, Pen phil shareholders owned 158,597 shares a.nd the PRH 
owned 56,974 shares. These shares, totaling 244,059 constituted 25.1 
percent of the issued and outstanding Kaneb stock. 

KANEB STOCKHOLDINGS BY PENPHIL, PENPHIL STOCKHOLDERS AND 
THE PRR 1964-69 

During 1964, Penphil's holdings of Kaneb increased by 2,026 as the 
result of stock dividends. Pen phil stockholders as a group increased 
their holdings, primarily from stock dividends, by 9,956 shares and the 
PRR increased by 24,479 as the result of both purchases and stock 
dividends. As of December 31, 1964, Penphil owned 30,488 Raneb 
shares, Pen phil stockholders 168,193, and the PRR 81,453 shares. 
This constituted 26.9 percent of the issued and outstanding shares. 
From 1964 through 1969 Penphil and its stockholders changed their 
holdings very little.13 However, the PRR incren.sed its holdings by 
purchasing an additional 34,047 shares. As of December 31, 1969, 
Penphil still owned 30,488 shares; Penphil stockholders owned 
167,297 shares and the PRR 115,500 shares, which constituted 23.5 
percent of Kaneb's shares. As of the present time Pen phil still owns 
these shares which had been purchased at a cost of $155,925.35. The 
shares now have a market value of $1,082,324, giving Penphil a 
$926,398.65 paper profitY 

GREAT SOUTHWEST CORP. 

BACKGROUND 

. Great Southwest Corp., whose principal offiee is in Arlington, Tex., 
was incorporated in Texas in 1956 for the purpose of owning, leasing, 
and developing real estate. As of June 30, 1963, GSC had 1,076,501 
shares of common stock outstanding, which was traded over the 
counter. At that til~le Toddie Wynne ('1'. Wynne), chairman of the 
board and a director of GSC, his son, Toddie ·Wynne, Jr. (T. Wynne, 
Jr.), a director of GSC, and Angus Wynne, Jr. (A. Wynne), president, 
a director and chief executive officer of GSC, owned or controlled 
approximately 45 percent of the outstanding shares. Rockefeller 
Center, Inc., (RCI) owned 220,851 common shaTes of GSC or 20.48 
percent of the outstanding shares. 

From at least January 13, 1960, until October 1970 Hodge was a 
member of the GSC board of directors, and during the same period 
was a partner of Glore Forgan, GSC's investment banker.15 

From its inception in 1956 through September 30, 1961, the end of 
GSC's fiscal year, the company sustained continued operating losses. 
For fiscal 1962, however, GSa achieved a consolidated net profit of 
$565,246 representing earnings of 52 cents per share. This turnaround 
was due largely to the successful operation of Six Flags Over Texas 
(Six Flags), a division of GSC. 

13 On Nov. 2, 1967, Penphil pw·chased a $500,000 face amount Kaneb 6% percent subordinated note 
and 7,653 warrants for the purchase of an equal number of shares at $30 per share. Penphil paid $493.644.90 
for the note and 57,653 for the warrants. Chemical Bank loaned Pen phil $493,000 of the tetal price of 5501,· 
197.90 at 5~ p,,·cent (later increased to 6 then 6~ percent). Penphil sold the note fo,· $516,423.62, including 
interest, on September 10, 1968, and as of June 2, !U7l. Pen phil still held the W81Tants . 

.. 9alc!,!at.cd o~~he ~MEX closi~l.g p,;cc Ol~ Apr. ~O, l!J7~.. ••. _ . ~ .. ,. ___ • ~ ~ ~ _ ....... __ .<. _,_ , __ 
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PENPHIL'S PURCHASE OF GSC STOCK 

On June 4, 1963, GSC held a board of directors meeting attended 
by Hodge, among ot.hers. At this meeting it was reported that GSC 
was doing better than had previously been estimated and it was 
expected that net income for fiscal 1963 would double that of fiscal 
1962. This dramatic increase in projected net income WtlS due to 
better than expected net income of Six Flags and to profit from land 
sides. . 

On June 14, 1963, 10 days after this board meeting, Hodge wrote 
A. Wynne illYiting him to become a Pen phil stockholder. This letter 
confirmed an earlier oral discussion of the matter. The addition of 
A. Wynne as a Penphil stockholder gave Penphil direct access to the 
person who was conducting the day-to-clay affairs of GSC. A Wynne 
accepted the invitation and in September 1963 sent his check in the 
amount of $9,000 to D. Bevan. . 

On July 10, 1963, Haslett ancl Eclwnrd D. Meanor (n private 
investor), both Pen phil stockholders, flew to Texas and met with 
A. Wynne to discuss GSC. On July 15, after returning from Texns, 
Haslett spoke with Hodge by telephone concerning the purchase of 
GSC stock by the PRR ancl on July 17 he went to New York City 
to meet with Hodge. 

A Glore Forgan research report diLted July 17, 1963, concluded that 
GSC's earnings per share for fiscal 1963 would at least double fiscal 
1962 earnings. This report and the conclusion therein incorporn,tctl ill 

,large part the financial find operating information which had been 
disclosed and discussed at the board meeting on June 4, 1963.16 

On July 18, 1963, Penphil purchased 10,000 shares of GSC nt 
$16.50 per share from Glore Forgan. Hodge was the registered repre­
sentative who placed the order. The total cost of this purchase was 
$165,000; this transaction was financed by a loan from the Chemical 
Bank in the amount of $120,000 secured by the 10,000 GSC shares. 
These shares were delivered to the Chemical Bank against payment. 
On the same day the PRR purchased 4,000 shares of GSC at $16.50 
per share from Glore Forgan. Again Hodge was the registered repre­
sentative. In connection with both of these purchases, the investment 
decisions were made by D. Bevan, Haslett, and Hodge. 

No public release of the improvement in GSC's fiscal 1963 earnings 
was made until August 5, 1963. On thn,t day the Wall Street Journal 
published an article based on an interview with A. Wynne in which 
Wynne stated that earnings for GSC for the fiscal year ending Sep­
tember 30, 1963 (fiscal 1963) were going to be within the range of 
from $1.35 to $1.50 per share: (actual fiscal 1963 earnings per share, 
published later, were $1.44). Such earnings would be nearly three 
times GSC's earnings for fiscal 1963. 

THE PRR ACQUIRES asc 

In February 1964, as part of Glore Forgan's effort.s to suggest 
certain areas of diversification for the PRR, Hodge recommended 
to D Bevan that the PRR acquire 80 percent of GSC's outstanding 
stock. In his letter Hodge noted that there was "a distinct possibility 
of acquiring in one fell swoop about 40 percent of the compauy" 

10 It is uncIenl" whether this renort. WR.~ PVI'1" nict.rihntQ(l lou ~ln1'n v .. __ ...... f. ... H ....... _'"_. __ ,'" I. -." .'~ --_.-
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at n. price between $20 and $22 per share. Hodge also informed D. 
Bevrm that Glore Forgan owned 28,000 shares of GSC and that 
Mrs. Hodge was the owner of GSC convertible debentures in the face 
amount of $84,000. 

During the spring of 1964, D. Bevan, Gerstnecker, and other mem­
bers of PRR'sfinance department considered the merits of Hodge's 
recommendation. 'While it was under consideration, D. Bevan, on 
Mo.rch 19, 1964, purchased 150 shares of GSC from Glore Forgan at 
18%; Hodge was the registered representative. 

On June 24, 1964, D. Bevan and Stuart Saunders recommended, 
and PRR's board of directors approved, the purchase by Pennco of, 
518,439 shares of GSC (approximately 49 percent of GSe's outstand­
ing stock) from RCI and the T. Wynne family at a price of $22.50 
per share. This purchase was closed on July 15, 1964, at· a total cost 
to Pennco of $11,924,097. Glore Forgan, agent for both the buyer and 
sellers, received a commission of 50 cents per share, totaling 
$529,219.50. It was the PRR's intention to acquire 80 percent of 
GSO's outstanding stock.17 

Almost immediately after the above purchase, Haslett, at D. 
Bevan's direction, bcgan to purchase additional shares of GSC for 
Penn co in the open market. Between July 1964 and October 1966 
Pennco purchased 320,986 GSC shares in 118 transactions.ls This 
series of purchases commenced on or about July 22, 1964, with a pur­
chase of 2,000 shares at $20.75 per share. From that date to Novem­
ber 30, 1965, Pennco bought 280,795 shares of GSC stock. During the 
period July 1964 to July 1965 the price of GSC stock remained rela­
tively stn.ble, fluctuating hetween 18% to 22% per share. Near the end 
of July 1965, however, the price began to rise and by November 30, 
1965, Pennco was paying $39 per share for GSC stock. 

On December 7, 1965, Penphil sold to Glore Forgan a 10,000 share 
'block of GSC ~tock at $37.75 pCI' share. On that same day Glore 
Forga.n marked up these 10,000 shares $.43 per share and resold them 
to Pennco at a profit of $4,300. Penphil originally purchased.its 10,000 
shm'es of GSC at a toto,} of $165,000. Upon the sale to Glore Forgan 
Penphil realized total proceeds of $377,500 and a profit of $212,500. 

Between November 3 and December 8, 1965, Hodge sold, eitber 
through or to Glore Forgan, 1,900 GSC shares at prices ranging from 
$37.75 to $45 per share for·a profit of $30,721.14. Hodge had pur­
chased these shltres on April 20, 1965, at 21%. On December 21, 1965, 
D. Bevan sold 107 GSC shares to Glore Forgan at $35 per share. The 
result of this sale was a profit of $1,752.13 or 87.9 percent. At the 
time of tbe initial purcho>ses Hodge and Bevan had material non­
public information as to PRR's interest in the acquisition of at least 
80 percent of GSC's outstanding stock. 

Although Penphil's records contain no resolutions, discussions or 
explanations regarding its purchase and sale of GSC common stock, 
D. Bevan set forth an explanation of these transactions in a letter 
dated July 2, 1970, to Mr. Edward J. Hanley, a director of Penn 
Central and a member of Penn Central's "information, disclosure and 
conflict of interest committee." 

17 This intention was not puhlicly disclosed. 
18 Of the 118 transactions, 54 were executed by Glore Forgan, generally as principal. 
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DEAR ED: This is to confirm our verbal conversation. 
At the time we bought a small amount of Great Southwest stock for our £'on­

tingent compensation fund, Penphil bought another odd lot offering with the same 
idea in mind that it was an interesting speculation. 

At that point, control of Great Southwest was tightly centcred in the Rockc­
feller and Wynne families. No one had any possible way of knowing th!1t at a 
later date a rift would occur in the Wynne family. However, tlJis occurred in the 
following year and as a result Toddy Wynne, Angus Wynne's uncle, thereupon 
expressed a desire to dispose of the family's interest in Great Southwest. Since 
the understanding between the Rockefellers and the Wynnes was that they 
would act in consort, control of the company became available and it was offered 
to us through Glore Forgan and, of course, as you know we purchased controlling 
interest. 

A few months later I expressed a desire that Penphil sell its Great Southwest 
stock so that we would be sure to avoid any future possible conflict of interest. 
My wishes were respected and the stock was sold at a price of $38. All members 
of Penphil made a sacrific in this connection as the price of $38 compares with 
even today's very low price of approximately $60 a share sinc.e the stock was 
later split 10 for 1. Actually at its highest the stock sold at $430 a share which 
was just a little over a year ago. 

Sincerely, 
DAVID C. BEVAN. 

This explanation, written at a time when D. Bevan and his associ­
ates were being investigated by the PCC committee for these trans­
actions, inaccurately described the reasons for the transactions in the 
staff's view. l\10reover, it conceals certain significant aspects of these 
transactions. Specifically, the odd-lot transaction referred to was, 
in fact, a10,000-share purchase by Pennco; the "few months later" 
referred to was, in fact, a 17-month period. Also, the letter fails to 
disclose that Bevan was responsible for Pennco's open market pur­
chases including a 1O,000-share purchase on December 7, 1965; 
that Penphil purchased its 10,000 shares on December 7, 1965; that 
Penphil purchased its 10,000 shares of GSC stock at $16.50 per share 
and received a profit of $212,500 (a 130-percent profit) on the sale 
of such securities; and that in November and December 1965, at the 
time D. Bevan was causing Pennco to buy GSC stock on the open mar­
ket, he and Hodge were selling GSC stock held personally by them to 
and through Glore Forgan at a substantial profit. It would appear t.hat 
the actual reason for the sales by Penphil, D. Bevan, and Hodge in 
December 1965 may not have concerned a conflict of interest us D. 
Bevan stated, but may have been because they knew that Pennco had 
virtually completed its program of acquiring at least 80 percent of 
GSC's outstanding stock. Furthermore, the crucial moment insofar 
as a conflict of interest was concerned was when the PRR deeided 
to acquire an 80 percent interest in GSC. At that time Penphil had 
a major investment in GSC stock which -,vas not disclosed to the 
board of directors of the PRR. 

Although Pennco continued to purchase GSC stock from December 
1965 to October 1966, it had, by December of 1965, bought 281,000 
of the 320,000 shares it was to purchase. At the present time, Pennco 
owns over 90 percent of GSC's outstanding stock. It has sustained 
an unrealized loss on its investment as of June 9, 1972, of more than 
$42 million. This is in sharp contrast to the substantial benefits 
Penphil, D. Bevan, Hodge, and Glore Forgan gained through their 
transac tions. 
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TROPICAL GAS CO., INC. 

BACKGROUND 

Tropieal Gas Co., Inc., with principal offices in Coral Gables, Fla., 
was incorporated in Panama on April 14, 1954, for the purpose of 
selling and distributing liquified petroleum gas (LPG) and gas-con­
suming appliances. As of Muy 1962, Tropical and its subsidiaries sold 
l .. PG throughout the Caribbean und Centnil America. Tropical's 
wholly owned subsidiary, Southeastern Natural Gas Corp. (subse­
quently known as Tropigas Inc. of Florida), sold LPG and LPG 
applin.nees in the southern half of Florida. 

During the period from 1962 through 1969 Frederick H. Billups 
(Billups) was Tropieal's president and chairman of the board and 
Hodge was a director and vice president.19 Tropical's 10-member board 
of directors also induded Hobart Ramsey (Ramsey) and Alfonso 
1\1ane1'o (1\1une1'o) .20 Billups, Hodge, and Ramsey were on Tropical's 
executive committee, of which Billups wus chairman and Hodge was 
vice chairman.21 Each of these persons become a Penphil stockholder. 

During 1962, Tropical realized a net income of $1,689,633 on net 
sales of $14,146,872. At December 31, 1961, Tropical had approxi­
mately 950,000 shares issued and outstanding, which were traded in 
the over-the-counter murket. 

PURCHASES OF 'l'ROPICAL COMMON STOCK FROM 1962 THROUGH 1964 
BY PUU AND PENPHIL 

Prior to May of 1962, under the direet.ion of D. Bevan and Haslett, 
the PRR had purchased 2,300 Tropical shares and between May 1962 
and May 1963, the PRR purehased 29,000 additional shares of Tropi­
cal stock through Yarnall, Biddle & Co. and Glore Forgan at prices 
dedining from 25 to 20% per share.22 

By letter dated June 14, 1963, Hodge invited Billups and Ramsey to 
join Penphil. They accepted and became Penphil stockholders on June 
30, 1963. The inclusion of Billups as a stockholder gave Penphil direct 
access to the person running the day-to-day affairs of Tropical. On 
July 3, the PRR bought 2,900 Tropical shares through Glore Forgan 
·at $18 per share. 

Between August 1 and August 7, 1963, upon Hodge's recommenda­
tion, Penphil purchased 5,415 shares of Tropical common stock through 
Glore Forgan at prices ranging from $18 to $18% per share. 

From August 19, 1963, to August 29, 1963, Penphil purchased 
4,585 more Tropical shares through Glore Forgan at prices ranging 
from $19.75 to $20 per share. As a result of these purchases, Penphil 
held a total of 10,000 shares of Tropical stock. 

In January 1964 Tropical management, including Hodge, began 
considering the listing of Tropical common stock on the American 
Stock Exchange (ASE). Tropical's board of directors authorized an 

" Hodge had been a Tropical director since 1054. 2. Manel'o was a partner in Glore Forgan; Ramsey was a Iimitcd partner in that firm. 
" On April 26. 1962, ComerJ. Kimball wns elected to Tropical's board of directors and executive committee. 

Kimball, who was chairman of the board of the First National Bank of ~1ial11i and Arvida Corp., played a 
role in the P RR acqnisition of Arvida and in Penphil's acquisition of th9 stock of First Bank & Trust 
·Co. of Boca Raton and the University National Bank of Boca Raton. 

" The 2,300 purchased prior to May 1962 were bought for the compensation plan; the 29,000 were bought for 
the pension plan as were all shares pW'cbased thereafter. 
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application for listing on February 21, 1964. This meeting was at­
tended by Hodge, who from February 26 to 28, 1964, bought 1,000 
shlLres of Tropical at $20Ys to $21 per share. At the time of Hodge's 
purchases, Tropical's intention to list its stock on the American 
Stock Exchange was nonpublic. On July 29, 1964, 1,130,298 shares of 
Tropical common were listed on the ASE. 

D. Bevan became a director of Tropical in November 1964, on th~e 
invitation of Billups, and subsequently became a member of Tropical's 
executive committee. 23 

From June 23, 1965, to October 15, 1968, the PRR increased its 
. holdings of Tropical stock by 56,000 shares bringing the PRR holdings 

to 90,400 shares. :Most of the transactions in Tropical stock during 
this period were made through Glore Forgan.24 

On October 23,1969, stockholders of U.S. Freight Co. (U.S. Freight) 
nncl Tropical approved an agreement which called for the exchange 
of 0. 89 shares of U.S. Freight stock for each share of Tropical. Trop­
ical became a wholly owned subsidiary of U.S. Freight on January 9, 
1970. As a, result of this transaction, Penphil received 8,900 shares 
and the PRR received 79,566 shares of U.S. Freight in place of their 
Tropical holdings. 

BIllups died on May 12, 1970, and on May 27, 1970, Hodge was 
elected to fill Billups' positions as Chairman of Tropical's board 
of directors and director of U.S. Freight. Hodge continues to hold both 
of these positions. D. Bevan and Ramsey continue to be Tropical 
directors and, along with Hodge, are members of Tropical's executive 
cornmi ttee. 

On October 20, 1970, Pen phil sold its 8,900 shares of U.S. Freight 
through Yarnall, Biddle & Co. at $22.50 per share. The proceeds of 
$198,345.74 from the trade represented a profit of $6,850.47 for 
Penphil. 

CONTINENTAL IVIORTGAGE INVESTORS 

BACKGROUND 

Continental :Mortgage Investors, a 1\1assachusetts real estate in­
vestment trust, was organized on November 29, 1961, for the purpose 
of investing in first mortgage construction and development loans and 
in FHA and VA insured mortgages. Its principal offices are located in 
Boston. Since CMI's inception, 1\10rtgage Consultants, Inc. has ad­
ministered the day-to-day operations of OMI and serves as the invest­
ment adviser and consultant to CMI's board of trustees. 25 As of 
March 31, 1964, there were 1,710,644 CMI shares of beneficial interest 
issued and outstanding. CMI slHLres were traded over the counter 
until April 14, 1965, when they were listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange. 

" Bevan had been asked to boco~e a Tropical director before but had declined because of allegcd possible 
conflicts of int·erest while thc PR R was looking into possible pipeline acquisitions. 

" On Octobcr 2, 1968, Mapco Inc .. an Oklahoma based producer and distlibutor of oil, natw'al gas, and 
Hl[uid plant foods, announced that it planned to make a tonder olTer for Tropical stock with the objective 
of acquilin!!: 80% of Tropical's stock. In addition, as of October 2, 1968, Tropical was planning a public 
offeling of 230,000 shares of corruTIon stock. (A registration statement coveling this offering was filed with the 
SEC on October 15,1968). Between October 3, and October 15, 1968 Penn Central pw'chascd 9,800 Tropical 
shares. 

"At about the time of CM1's formation, D. Bevan was asked to become a member o[ CMf's board o[ 
truste~. Bevan says that he turned it down after consultation with attorneys in P R R's legal departme.nt 
because of possible conflicts of intel'est with real estate operations o[ tbe PRR and its subsidiaries. 
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PEN PHIL AND THE PRR BUY eMI SECURITIES 

In 1963 CMI with the assistance of Hemphill, Noyes & Co., its 
investment bank~r, began developing plans for the priv[tte placement 
of $10 million 10nO"-term notes. The proceeds of these notes were to be 
used to replace pa~t of CMI's outstanding short-term bank loans with 
lower cost, lono·-term borrowing. As of March 31, 1964, CMI short-
term bank loan~ were approximately $40 million. . 

On April 1, 1964, Lawrence M. Stevens (Stevens), the managing 
partri.er of t.he Philadelphia office of Hemphill, Noyes & Co., and a 
member of Penphil's investment committee, wrote a confidential 
memorandum to the other members of Penphil's investment commit­
tee, recommending that Penphil invest in CMI shares. In his memo­
randum Stevens wrote that Hemphill, Noyes & Co. was placing $10 
million of 4}~ percent 20-year notes and 10,000 shares at $15 per 
share, the proceeds of which would be used to payoff part of CMl's 
current bank debt. The memorandum stated: 

Incidentally and eonfidentially, the company has a bank line of I1pproximately 
$20 million at the prime rate (4% percent). These lOl1ns require a compensating 
babnce, however, wilerel1s present finl1ncing will permit 100 percent use of the 
funds derived. A~ far as the additionl1l common stock is concerned, it would repre­
sent only quite minor dilution and would not, in my opinion, represent a materil1l 
factor. 

Following this finl1ncing the compl1ny pll1ns to announce, I1S you may note on 
one of the enclosed sheets, that no furthel' debt or equity financing is contemplated 
at the present time. A quite substl1ntial portion of the $10 million of notes and 
stock hl1s been reserved for one of the brge New York City compl1nies. One other 
institution has indicated that it will take 11 substantil1l amount of notes I1nd stock 
and, in I1ddition to thl1t, two or three other institutions have the proposal under. 
consideration. 

Dividend payments for the 1963 fiscal year were $1.10. We expect dividend pay­
ments for the 1964 year will amount to $1.35 per share. At a price of $17% for the 
stock tllis would afford a yield of about 7.6 percent. 

l\1ay I I1gain reiterate thl1t some portions of the enclosed are confidential in 
nature. . 

Attached to Stevens' memorandum were four pages taken from a 
confidential memorandum prepared by Julius Jensen, III, a partner of 
Hemphill, Noyes & Co., in the corporate finance department. (Jensen's 
memorandum). These four pages, on the first of which was written 

. the word ~'confiden tial," first stated that CMI shares had been selling 
at an "artificially depressed" price between $14}~ and $16 per share. 
According to Jensen, "numerous security analysts and investment 
advisers," believed that the artificially depressed price resulted from 
the request made to CMI stockholders that they authorize the issuance 
of up to 1,900,000 additional shares at a minimum price of $15 per 
share; and that this request, and the stockholder approval, were 
thought to have created an expectation that a substantial equity 
offering was imminent and would result in an immediate dilution of 
stockholder equity.26 

Jensen's memorandum then stated that to remove the "lid" on the 
market price of ClVII shares, the trustees planned to announce that no 
further permanent debt or equity financing was contemplated after 
the proposed $10 million debt financing was completed; that CMI's 
trustees also planned a broader distribution of information about 
CMI, since the SEC's limitation on communications during periods 

" This was in spite of puhlic_announ~ements by eMI that no decision had been made regarding the time 
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of such financing would not apply; 27 and that these steps would cause' 
OMI's price to rise to $18}~ to $20 per share shortly after the pro­
posed financing. ' 

B~.sed on projected earninO"s for the next 3 fiscal years, Jensen 
predlCted that the market v~ue of OMI stock would rise to $25}~ 
to $30}~ per share by the end of the next fiscal year, $31}~ to $37 per 
share by the end of the second succeeding fiscal year, and $36 to 
$43 per share by the end of the third fiscal year. , 

On April 2, 1964, after receiving this information as a member of 
Penphil's investment committee, Francis A. Oannon,28 purchased 
500 OMI shares for his wife's account at $17% per share. By April 9, 
1964, three investment committee members had recommended 0]\11 
as a proper speculation for Penphil. ' 

By May 6, 1964, the PRR pension plan through D. Bevan 'and 
Hastlett, lVIorgan Guaranty Trust 00. of N ew York as Trustee for 
a pension trust, and First National Oity Bank as trustee for various 
pension trusts, had agreed to purchase $11 million of OMI 4}~ percent 
notes due May 1, 1984, and an aggregate of 110,000 shares at about 
$15 per share. , 

Penp~lil purchased 10,000 OMI shares on May 8, 1964, from 
HemphIll, Noyes & 00. at $19.68 per share, at total cost of $196,800, 
all of which Penphil borrowed from the Ohemical Bank. Hemphill, 
Noyes & 00. bought more than 4,500 of these shares from at least 
40 other persons and delivered the 10,000 shares to the Ohemical 
Bank against payment. At the time of' these purchases there had 
been no public disclosure of the information contained in Stevens­
Jensen confidential memorandum. 

The placement of the OMI notes and shares with the three pur­
chasers was concluded on May 20, 1964. The PR'R bought $1 million 
of the 01'11 notes and 10,000 of the OMI shares at a price of $15.1648 
per share. News of the placement, published in the Wall Street Journal 
on :May 26, 1964, included the announcement the Stevens-Jensen 
memorandum had revealed, that 01\1I's management had "Oome to 
the conclusion that the sale of the additional shares authorized, other 
than the 110,000 shares * * * would be inadvisable under the 
circumstances and should not be undertaken." 

After its purchase in the May 1964 placement, the PRR continued 
to make investments in OMI. By December 1967, the PRR and its 
subsidiary, the Buckeye Pipe Line, acquired an additional 27,500 
OMI shares and $2,025,000 in OMI notes. 

In August 1968, OMI shares were split 3-for-l, gIvmg Penn Oentral 
a total of 105,750 01'11 shares,and Penphil a total of 30,000 shares.2~ 
In March 1970, OMI shares were further split 2-for-l with the result 
that Penn Oentral held 211,500 OMI shares and Penphil held 60,000 
shares. The market price of OMI shares as of June 2, 1971 was $21%, 
and the value of Penphil's OMI holdings was $1,267,500, an unrealized 
profit of $1,070,700 or more than 540 percent. 

27 Information released by CMI had been limited to quarterly and annual shareholder reports. 
" Cannon was administrative vice president of First Boston Corp. 
"On February 17, 196V, the PRR purchased a $1,000,000 CMI 5 percent note due April 1, 1989. 
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FLORIDA BANKS 

PURCHASE OF FIRST BANK AND UNB STOCK BY PEN PHIL AND ARVIDA'S 
PURCHASE OF FI,EiVIING/BU'l'TS REAL ESTATE 

D. Bevan and Hodge had been instrumental in Pennco's acquisition 
in mid-1965of controlling interest in Arvida Corp., which was in the 
business of purchasing, developing and selling real estate, principally 
on the cast and west coasts of Florida. By the close of 1965, D. Bevan, 
Hodge, Gerstnecker and A. Wynne Jr., all Penphil shareholders, 
were on Arvida's board. 

As early as t.he fall of 1965, D. Bevan and Hodge were interested in 
ptll'chasing on behalf of Pen phil a substantial block of stock of banks in 
the Boca Raton area. They therefore requested Comer J. Kimball, 
Arvida's chairman.3o to obtain information on the First Bank and 
Trust Co. of Boca Raton N .A. (First Bank), University National 

_ Bank (UNB), and Boca Raton National Bank, the three banks in 
Boca Raton. He forwurded information on the deposits, loans, and 
capitalization of the banks to Bevan and Hodge in late November 
1965.31 Early in 1966 Bevan and Hodge requested Sawin to hn;ve 
Kimball arrange for Sawin to meet Thomas Fleming Jr., chairman of 
the board and largest shareholder of First Bank and UNB, to discuss 
the possibility of investing in these banks. Such a meeting was held on 
February 17 in Boca Raton between Hodge, Sawin, and Fleming. In 
addition to the availability and price of First Bank and UNB stock, 
they also discussed the possibility that the group represented by Hodge 
and Swain would participate "ith Fleming in building up a chain of 
banks in appropriate places in Florida. These conversations, without 
Hodge, were continued on the 18th. On February 21, 1966, Swain 
wrote Fleming thanking him for the information he had made so 
readily available and advising him that D. Bevan, Hodge, und he had 
discussed an investment by the group of $1 million to $l.2 million. 
Because of the very thin market in UNB and First Bank stock, it wus 
difficult to acquire such stock on the open market. 

Shortly after Sawin's discussion "ith Fleming about the purchase of 
First Bank and UNB stock, Fleming advised D. Bevan that he and his 
wife's family owned certain real property in the Boca Raton area 
(Fleming/Butts property) that he wished to sell. On March 23, D. 
Bevan advised .Al.'vida's executive committee concerning Fleming'S 
desire to sell the Fleming/Butts property. At a meeting of Arvida's 
executive committee on 11ay 12, 1966, attended by David Bevan 
Hodge, and Gerstnecker, Arvida was authorized to negotiate for the 
Fleming/Butts property. Thereafter, on May 19, 1966, Brown Whatley 
president of Arv-ida and of Stockton, Whatley, Davin & Co., a large 
real estate and mortgage banking company, which provided operating 
management for Arvida, wrote Fleming a letter of intent proposing 
that Arvida purchase an option on 3,020 acres for the price of $3 
million. Whatley concluded the letter by saying: 

We would appreciate it if you would keep our interest in your property in confi­
dence. In the event you are interested in our proposal, we would probably want 
to take the option in a nominee so that our identity would not be disclosed unless 
and until the option is exercised. . 

" He had also been a director of Tropical since 1962. Kimball was at the time chairman of the First National 
Bank of Miami . 

.21 n ....... " ...... ho c:a-rno nprinit _Tnhn "Hst.rnp.T or Glore FonmD sent to Bevim, at bis request, information on_ 
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During the negotiations on the Fleming/Butts property, Fleming 
openly expressed Illsdeslre for more of Arvida's bankmg business. 
At an Arvida board meeting the board authorized the transfer of 
one of Arvida's bank accounts to £irst Bank. On September 26, 
1966, Fleming wrote D. Bevan that he and Whatley' had successfully 
concluded negotiations regarding the sale of the Fleming/Butts 
property. 

Pursuant to iurangements ,,-ith Penphil, on September 27, the day 
after the negot.iations to purchase the Fleming/Butts property were 
concluded, J\10rgan Zook, exeeutive vice president of First Bank, 
opened a brokerage account at the Boca Raton office of Hayden Stone 
in Zook's name as nominee for Penphil. On that day, Zook purchased 
100 shares of First Bank; on September 28 he purchased 150 shares 
unci on October 3, 100 shares. These 350 shares were all purchased for 
Penphil n.t $30 per share. Pen phil's objective, to acquire a substantial 
block of First Bank stock, ho,,-eYo1', could not be achieved by pur­
chasing stock in t.he open market because of t.he thin market. 

At least. as early as Februnry 1966, Sawin had suggested t.o Fleming 
that First Bank and UNB huye ·tt new offering of their shares, the 
pi'oceeds of which could be used to construct a new bank building. In 
August 1966, after a July bank examination, the Comptroller of the 
Currency advised First Bank that it needed additional capital because 
of its recent substantial growth_ As a result, Fleming and the other 
bank directors began to discllss -the possibility of a preemptive rights 
offering. On September 13, 1966, the board of directors of First Bank 
authorized, subject to stockholder approval, the issuance of 25,000 
additional shares at $24 per share_ This information. was disclosed to· 
Sawin sometime prior to Penphil's purchnses in September and Octo­
ber anel before 'other First Bank stockholders were notified on Octo-
ber 5. Existing stockholders ns of October 19, 1966, would recieve 
rights to purchase these shares. As noted above, Penphil purchased 
350 shares between September 27 and October 3, 1966. Thereafter, on 
Decomber '9, Sawin wrote a memorandum to Hodge describing the 
rights offering and recommending that Penphil buy approximately 
$200,000 of additional First Bank stock and approximately $100,000 
of UNB stock. Sawin asked for authority to proceed with the pur­
chase of this stock. Copies of this memorandum were also sent to 
D_ Bevan and members of Penphil'sjnvestment committee. Shortly 
thereafter, Hodge, on behalf of Penphil, authorized Sawin to purchase 
$200,000 of First Bank stock. This rights offering was made in late 
December 1966. First Bank's directors received the lion's share of the 
rights offered and Fleming arranged for each director to sell a portion 
of his rights to Penphil at $1.50 per right. Pursuant to this arrange­
ment, Penphil purchased 30,848 rights between December 30, 1966, 
and January 6, 1967, exercised the rights and purchased 7,712 First 
'Bank shares. The cost to Penphil of the rights and stock was $231,360.32 

As of January 6, 1967, Penphil owned 8,250 First Bank shares (6.3 
percent of the outstanding shares) for a total cost of $249,972. 

It should also be pointed out that during the spring of 1966, at the 
same time it \\-as negotiating for the Fleming/ Butts property, Arvida 
was also confidentially granting IBM an option to purchase approxi­
mately 500 acres of land located near the Fleming/Butts property 

"This money came from the proceeds received from PenphH's "RI. of H. n,,'" .,._.- ,- ~. 
Penphil also Al'p.rl"j.;uu1 th,.. ~.r;,... -=_ ...... _". .. . 
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and 'on which IBM proposed to build a research and manufacturing 
-facility. This agreement was known to only a few persons associated 
with Arvida and IBM. Arvida wanted to keep the agreement with. 
IBM confidential until after IBM purchased the property and Arvida 
acquired an option to purchase the Fleming/Butts property. When 
Penphil purchased 350 shares of First Bankstock from September 27 
to October 3, IBM had already confidentially exercised the option 
and planned to build a manufacturing and research facility in Boca 
Raton. The entrance of IBM into the area with its attendant favorable 
economic impact was almost certain to generate new banking 
business. Penphil also had, at the time it made these purchases, the 
nonpublic information that First Bank had authorized a rights 
offering to existing shareholders at $6 below the current market price. 

l1'LORPHIL 

Florphil Co. was incorporated on January 13, 1967, in order to give 
Whatley, Joseph Davin, vice president of Arvida,33 and three others 
not associated with Arvida,34 an opportunity to participate in Penphil's 
investments in First Bank and UNB, Upon its incorporation Florphil 
issued 1,600 shares at $30 per share to these five individuals. On the 
same clay Florphil issued 8,250 shares to Penphil in exchange for 
8,250 First Bank shares. -

In early 1967, Penphil and Florphil began to purchase shares of 
UNB. On January 12, Penphilbought 328 shares and on January 30, 
bought 200 additional shares at $20 per share and on March 6, 
100 shares were purchased at $21 per share. On February 8, 1967, 
UNB authorized an offering of 10,000 shares. Each UNB share­
holder, as of February 8, received the right to purchase, at $16 per share, 
one new share for each five shares owned. Penphil, the record owner of 
528 shares, exercised its rights and bought 105 additional shares. 
On March 22, Florphil bought 8,500 rights at $1 per right from existing 
shareholders, exercised the rights, and bought 1,700 shares at $16 
per share. On March 27, Penphil purchased 11,500 rights at $1 per 
right, exercised the rights, and purchased 2,300 shares at $16 per share. 
The purchase of these rights was arranged in much the same manner 
as with the First Bank rights in December 1966. By lVlarch 27, 
Penphil and Florphil owned 4,733 UNB shares at a total cost of $98,-
340. UNB as of that date only had 60,000 shares issued and out­
standing, 7.1 percent of which were owned by Florphil and Penphil. 

On February 20, 1968, Penphil and Florphil merged, with each 
Florphil stockhloder receiving 0.8181 Penphil shares for each Florphil 
share owned. The following chart reflects the unrealized profit to each 
individual Florphil shareholder which resulted from this transaction. 

Penphil Total 
Florphil Cost of shares net asset Unrealized 

Name shares share. received value profit 

Harry Ortlip. 500 $15,000 . 409 $19,795.60 $4,795.60 
Joseph David :::::::::::::::::::::::: 200 6,000 163 7,889.20 1,889.20 
Alfonso Manero ____________________ . 200 6, OeD 163 7,889.20 1,889.20 
Brown Whatley ______________________ • 500 15,000 409 19,795.40 4,795.60 
O. F. Lassiter ________________________ • 200 6,000 163 7,889.20 1,889.20 

a3 B..imbal\, Arvida's chairman died in March 1966. 
- ............ or - --, ....... , ....... ~_._I_;_ .. T .. + "mn";",n A lfnnc::n Manp.'P'n nf (HnTA ·Fore-an. and Harry F. Ortlip. 
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In August 1968 First Bank had anoLher offering of its securities at 
which time Penphil bought 1,815 shares at-$50-per share fOl'--a-t<>ti:tl 
consideration of $90,750. 

FIRST BANCSHARES 

Sometime prior to June of 1968 Fleming had been invited to become 
a Penphil stockholder and on January 6, 1969 did so by purchasing 
2,285 Penphil shares at $35 per share for a total cost of $79,975. 

In February 1969, First Bank declared a 100-percent stock dividend 
and Pen phil received an additional 10,690 shares. UNB declared a 
10-percent stock di,:idend and Penphil recieved an additional 135 
UNB shares. Penplul,as of February 1969, owned 19,565 shares of 
First Bank and 4,668 UNB shares. 

As already stated, by February 1966, Sawin had been discussing 
\"ith Fleming a program whereby a substantial interest would be 
acquired in a number of banks in southern Florida. In addition to 
Penphil's investments in First Bank and UNB, various Penphil stock­
holders discussed with Fleming possible investments in other Florida 
banks during the period of 1966 through 1969. At about this time, 
a bank holding company became a technique employed to circumvent 
Florida's prohibition against branch banking. Oil SeptelIlber 19, 1969,' 
Fleming issued a news release announcing a proposed new bank holding 
company which would exchange its shares for outstanding shares of 
First Bank, UNB, First National Bank & Trust Co. of Riviera Beach, 
and Citizens Bank of Palm Beach County. Fleming was to be chair-
man of the board of the holding company. -

Pursuant to permission granted by the Federal Reserve Board on 
May 21, 1970, the holding company, First Bancshares, offered its 
shares of common stock; the exchanges of stock were declared effective 
as of October 15,1970. As a result Penphil became the owner of 26,048 
shares of First Bancshares stock. Penphil's shares, after a 2-to-1 stock 
split on March I, 1971, doubled to 52,096, approximately 7 percent of 
First Bancshares outstanding stock. According to a summary of finan­
cial data prepared by Pen phil, the market value of such stock as of 
June 2, 1971, was $1,181,400 representing an unrealized profit over 
Penphil's cost ($439,062) of $742,338.35 

SYMINGTON WAYNE CORP. 

BACKGROUND 

Symington Wayne Corp. was incorporated -Ill Maryland in 1924 
and maintained its principal office in Salisbury, Md. The company 
was primarily engaged in manufacturing gasoline pumps and other 
service station equipment, steel castings, and equipment used in the 
railrot),d indust.ry and handtools. During the period 1967-68 Symington 
Wayne's stock was traded on tbe New York Stock Exchange and as of 
December 31, 1966, the company had issued and outstanding 1,956,278 
shares of common stock. During the period 1958 through 1967, the 
company's net sales increased from approximately $40 million to 

.. As "lready noted, Pennco acquired its controlling interest in Arvida for approximately $20,400,000. 
The last installment fell due in July 1067, and it was necessary for Pennco to borrow $3 million from the 
First National Bank of Miami to pay the balance owed. First Bank and UNB both participated in the loan 
in the amount 0($200,000 and $50,000 respectively due July 27,1969. During January 1969, D_ Bevan, through 
1iIl .. Tn'n,.. ,..hf-n; ...... ~ .......... _ .......... ~ ...... _1 .. ""_ 1 ___ : __ ~_ • .I: __ ""' __ '"T"- ~ 0. ~ ........ ~....... ,-... -. - •. 
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$104 million and net ineorne increased from fI.pproxim.ately $1,600,000 
to -$4;500,000;-Retaincdearnings--as- of- December-31, 1967, were 
$26,283,105. Hobart Ramsey, a Pen phil stockholder and Glore 
Forgan partner, was also a member of the board of directors of 
Symington Wayne. 

DRESSER'S TENDER OFFER 

Sometime prior to April 27, 1967, Dresser Industries, Inc. (Dresser) 
purchased 140,000 shares of Symington Wf1yne stock. On April 27, 
John Lawrence, president and chairman of the board of Dresser, 
advised the Dresser board that these shares of Symington Wayne 
had be~n acquired and recommended that he explore with Symington 
Wayne an exchange of Dresser cumulative convertible preferred 
voting for the outstanding common stock of Symington Wayne. 

On :May 2, 1967, Lawrence contacted William H. Bateman, lwesi­
dent and chairman of the executive committee, of Symington Wayne 
by telephone and u. meeting was a.rrunged for May 16, 1967, to discuss 
in detail Dresser's proposal. By letter to Bateman dated May 15, 
1967, Lawrence set forth in some detail the proposal being made. 
At the meeting on May 16, Lawrence presented a document entitled 
Opportunities Resulting From a Merger of Symington Wayne Corp. 
and Dresser Industries, Inc. Bateman requested Paine, Webber, 
Jackson & Curtis, its investment bankers, to analyze the proposal 
and also discussed it with various officers and directors of Symington 
Wayne. Bateman concluded that the Dresser offer would "htwe to be 
sweetened considerably before it would be advantageous to our 
stockholders." Paine, Webber estima.ted the value of Dresser's offer to 
be $36 per share or a premium of 6% over the then market price of 
Symington Wayne common stock. On May 24, 1967, a meeting of 
Symington Wayne's executive committee was held with Hobart 
Ramsey, a Penphil member since June 1963, present. The Dresser 
proposal was discussed. The members of the committee were unfavor­
ably impressed and directed Bateman to communicate this to Dresser, 
which he did that day. The next day, Lawrence and the vice president, 
finance of Dresser met with Bateman and an attorney for Symington 
Wayne. At this meeting Lawrence improved Dresser's offer for 
Symington Wayne's stock by increasing the amount of the proposed 
dividend on the convertible preferred. On May 26, Dresser's new 
offer was communicated to the members of the executive committee, 
including Ramsey. Ramsey thereafter discussed these meetings 
with Hodge, whose office was next to Ramsey's at Glore Forgan. 

PURCHASE BY PENPHIL STOCKHOLDERS AND THE PRR 

On Monday, IVIay 29, at least seven Penphil stockholders purchased 
5,300 shares of Symington Wayne. Wan'en 1-1. Bodman (Bodman), a 
general partner of Yarnall, Biddle & Co., a broker-dealer in securities, 
bought 100 shares at 33K Other Penphil stockholders purchasing that 
day through Yarnall, Biddle & Co. were D.' Bevan, 1,000 shares oJ 
30}~, 31, and 31%; T. Bevan, 100 shares at 33% and Vincent G. Kling, 
500 shares at 32%, 32%, and 33. Hodge purchased 2,000 shares that day 
through Glore Forgan at prices ranging from 30% to 33% per share. 
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D. Bevan and Haslett caused the PRR to purchase 1,000 shares at 33 
and 33% per .share .through_ Yarnall,Biddle &-C0.on :May 29. In addi­
tion, Gerstnecker bought 100 shares and Haslett bought 500 shares 
through White, Weld & 00. on that day. 

On June 1, 1967, Paul D. Fox purchased 100 shares through De­
Haven & Townsend, Crouter, and Bodine, while on June 2, Ramsey 
bought 139 shares through Glore Forgan at 337

/ 8 and 34 per share. 
Despite the fact that at least seven Penphil stockholders purchased 

Symington Wayne stock on May 29, and one other bought by the 
first of June, those questioned have denied discussing the matter with 
each other and denied knowledge of the Dresser proposal. None, how­
ever, has been able to give any substantial reason for purchasing these 
shares except "I must have thnught it was a good investment." 

MERGER DISCUSSIONS BETWEEN SYMINGTON WAYNE AND UNIVERSAL 
'AMERICAN 

On May 30, 1967, the Symington executive committee met and 
discussed the new Dresser offer and determined to make a counter­
proposal. It d}es not appear that such a counterproposal was made, 
however merger discussions between Symington Wayne and Universal 
American Corp. (Universal) were init.iated by Bateman during June. 
On June 21, 1967, Bateman and a Symington Wuyne attorney met 
with officials of Universal in New York City to discuss in detail a 
possible merger. As a result, Bateman wrote the board of directors on 
June 22, stating that the Dresser offer would mean approximately $42 
to $43 per share to Symington Wayne's stockholders; however, Dresser 
would not commit itself in writing to continue Symington Wayne as a 
separate corporate entity. On the other hand, he pointed out that 
Universal's offer appeared more favorable because it would mean 
approximately $53 per share to Symington Wayne stockholders and 
there was a much better chance that Symington Wayne would retain 
its identity even to the extent of having an equal number of members 
on the board. 

On the morning of June 27, Bateman, the Symington Wayne 
attorney, Ramsey, and a Glore Forgan analyst,among others, again 
met with Universal officials to discuss the merger and arrived at an 
agreement in principle to merge the companies. It was further agreed 
that letters of intent would be exchanged subject to board approvals 
on June 28, 1967, and a joint announcement would be made on June 28, 
after the close of trading on the NYSE. 

At 10:42 a.m. on June 27, Penphil purchased 1,000 shares of Sym­
ington Wayne at prices ranging from 33Yz to 34 per share through 
Glore Forgan. Hodge was the registered representat.ive on the trade, 
which was placed by T. Bevan. On the 28th, the boards ratified the 
merger agreement and a public announcement was made. On June 29, 
the PRR purchased 4,000 shares at prices ranging form 33Yz to 34 
per share through Glore Forgan. Hodge was again the registered 
representative. 

DRESSER ACQUIRES SYlIIINGTONWA YNE 

Subsequent to the merger agreement, Dresser countered on July 7 
with a tender offer for Symington Wayne stock at $40 per share. 
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Eventuallv this tactic was successful and Univei·sal. withdrew its 
merger proposal. In April 1968, Symington Wayne merged with 
Dresser. 

SUMMARY 

As previously noted at least seven Penphil stockholders purchased 
Symington Way"'ne shares on May 29, and two others purchased the 
stock on or before June 2, 1967. Penphil itself also purchased 1,000 
shares on June 27. The following chart sets forth these plirchases, the 
subsequent sales and the resulting profits: 



PURCHASES AND SALES OF SYMINGTON WAYNE 

Hodge 

Date of purchase __________________________ May 29,1967 
Number of shares_ _ ___ __ ___ _ _ __ __ ___ __ __ __ 2,000 
Total Cos!.. ____________________________ ._ $55,203.03 
Date of sale _______________________________ Aug. 1).1967 
Number of shares sald_____________________ l,OOO 
Proceeds of saIL______ ______ __________ __ _ $78,496.55 
Profit_ _ _______ ______ _ ____ __ _____ _____ ___ _ $13,293.52 

Bodman 

May 29,1967 
100 

$3,312.50 
Oct. 16,1967 

1, 000 
$4, 000. 00 

$687.50 

Kling 

May 29,1967 
SOD 

$16,614.69 
Nov. 30, 1967 

500 
$20,774.58 
$4, 159. 89 

D. Bevan .• ' Haslett 

May 29,1967 
.1,000 

$31,596.27 
Dec. 20. 1967 

1, 000 
$42,046.65 
$10,450.38 

May 29,.1967 
500 

$16,916.19 
Dec. 27, 1967 

500 
$20,774.58 
$3,858.39 

1 It is not known at this time whether or not Gerstnecker or Ramsey have sold their shares. 

T. Bevan Gerstnecker 

May 29, l~g~ May 29, l~g~ 

$3,398.31 $3,385.75 
Jan. 4,1968 (I) 100 _____________ _ 

$4,154.91 _____________ _ 
$756.60 _____________ _ 

Fox Ramsey 

June 1,1967 June 2,1967 
100 139 

$3, 147. 26 $4,767.70 
Jan. 5,1968 <I) . 100 _____________ _ 

$4,167.15 _____________ _ 
$1,019.89 _____________ _ 

Penphil 

June 27.1967 
1,000 

$33,875. 
Jan. 4, 1968 

1,000 
$42,000. 
$8,125. 



In addition to the aboye purchases and sales, the PRR purchased 
and sold Symington Wayne stock during this same period: 

Purchases Sates ---
Date Shares Cost Shares Proceeds 

Total________________________________________ 5,000 169,940_82 5,000 210,483_14 
less cosL___ _ _ _ ___ _ __ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ __ __ _ __ _ _ __ __ __ ___ __ _ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ ____ _ __ __ _ __ __ _ _ _ _ _ __ 169,940.82 

proriL________ _____ ___________________ ______________________ __________________________ 40,542.32 

NA1IONAL HOMES CORP. 

BACKGROUND 

N atioral Homes Corp. is an Indiana corporation organized June 25' 
1940, to engage in the manufacture and sale of prefabrieated houses­
By 1968, National had formed or acquired anum bel' of subsidiaries 
,,-hich engaged in manufacturing prefabricated homes, operating sub­
divisions, manufacturing mobile homes, making construction loans to 
builder-dealers, and rnaking mortgage loans to purchasers of homes_ 
National's headquarters and main manufacturing facilities are located 
in Lafayette, Ind_ As of December 31, 1967, National had 4,687,754 
shares of common stock issued and outstanding and 1967 sales of 
$53,900,072_ National's commOl; stock and warrants were listed on 
the lVIidwest,Stock Exchange_ 

INVESTMENTS BY PENPHIL, PENPHIL MEMBERS, AND THE PRR 

Unlike most of Penphil's investments, there does not appear to have 
been any interlocking relationship between Pen phil shareholders and' 
N ationn.l. Neither the PRR, Penphil nor Penphil stockholders owned 
shares of the stock of National prior to June 1968. During 1968, prior 
to August, N at-ional apparently did not engage in any unusual or 
extraordinary business transactions_ 

During June 1968, Penphil and certain Penphil stockholders pur­
chased shares of NationaL On June 5, 1968, Penphil, on the reeom­
mendation of Stevens, botight 5,000 shares of National through 
Hornblower & Weeks, Hemphill, Noyes at prices mnging from $14% to 
$14% at a total cost of $74,101.52.36 On the same day, D. ~evan pur­
chased 1,000 shares through Hornblower & Weeks at $14% per share.3

' 

Stevens was the registered representative on the trades through 
Hornblower & Weeks, Hemphill, Noyes. Due to an apparent over­
sight, Hodge was not consulted or advised of Penphil's purchase until 
the morning of June 7th_ Although Hodge believed Penphil would 

3' Stevens is deceased. There is no record of the reasons for his recommendation of National nomes stock. 
"D. Bevan sold his 1,000 shares on December 9 at $34 per share for a profit of $18,6il.82. 
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probabI:y' make some money on tIllS investment, he nevertheless 
disapproved.as _ 

Penn Central purchased 9,700 shares of National stock on December 
2, 1965,- at $2S}', 5,200 of these shares were sold during September 
1969, at prices ranging from $18% to $19%. Penphil sold its 5,000 shares 
of Na.tional on October 20, 1970, at $16% for a profit of $9,035.9S. 

EXHIBI'l'IV-1 

PENPHIL STOCKHOLDERS 

On:yinal Penphil stoclcholders 
David Bevan did not hold any office with Penphil but was one of the 

persons who controlled its affairs. WIllIe a Pen phil stockholder, D. 
Bevan was vice president, finance of the Pennsylvania Railroad Co. 
(PRR) and chairman of the finance committee of the PRR and its 
successor the Penn Central Company (PCC). In these positions D. 
Bevan· had overall responsibility for investments in securities by the 
PRR, PCC and their subsidiaries, including investments for the plan 
for supplemental pensions (pension plan) and the contin~nt compen­
sation plan (compensation p\u,n).a9 During tills period D. tlevan was a 
director and member of the executive committee of Great Southwest 
Corp., Kaneb Pipe Line Co., Arvida Corp., and Tropical Gas Co., lnc. 

Charles J. Hodge whose Pen phil stock was held in his wife's name, 
was also one of the persons who controlled Pen phil's affairs and was a 
member of" Penphil's investment committee. He was a partner or 
officer of Glore Forgan & Co. and its successors, a broker-dealer and 
investment banking firm, during the period 1962-71. While a Penpllll 
stockholder, Hodge was also a director and member of the executive 
committee' of Kaneb Pipe Line Co., the Great Southwest Corp., 
Tropical Gas-Co., Inc., and Arvida Corporation. 

Thoma!> Bevan the brother of David Bevan, was at various times 
between July 1962 and ] 970 president, secretary, treasurer and a 
director of renphil. As Penpilll's secretary and treasurer until 1971, 
Bevan maintained all of Penphil's corporate books and records, in­
cluding Penphil's checkbooks and financial records. Throughout Pen­
phil's existence T. Bevan has been a partner of the Philadelphia law 
firm of Duane, Morris and Heckscher. Until 1971 he handled all of 
Penphil's legal work. 

Lawrence Stevens, whose Pen phil stock was held in his wife'9 name, 
\\'US a member of Penphil's investment committee until ills death in 
1969. As a member of the investment committee, he participated in 
severnl of Penphil's investment decisions. Stevens was the managing 
partner of the Philadelphia office of Hemphill, Noyes & Co., a reg­
istered broker-dealer, and its Sllccessor, Hornblower & Weeks-Hemp­
hill, Noyes & Co. during his association with Penphil. 

,; When Penphil made its investment in National Homes without the benefit of an Inside position, Hodge 
stated in a letter dat~d June 7,1968 to D. Bevan: 

"r was notified "fter the fact this morning that Penphil has bonght 5,000 shares or National Homes. Larry 
called me and explained it was an oversight th"t I was not notified, and this oversight is understandable and 
I am certainly not put out. However, I must go on record, while this will be a popular and fast moving stock 
I do not agree with the rundamental purpose nor do I agree with the management or the Price brothers who 
have not demonstrated any ability in this field. I am confident that stockmarketwise we will probably 
make some money in it. but would like to go on record that this is not one to hold blindly." 

"The penSion plan is a qualified pension plan ror employees or the PRR, PCC and their subsidiaries 
earning more than the amount covered by the Railroad Retirement Act. The compensation plan is n de, 
rerred compe.nsation plan Cor employees o[ the PRR and the PCC earning an annual salary of more than 
$30 thousand. 
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Robert Haslett has been a member of Penphil's investment com­
mittee from the date it was formed until the present and for most of 
'that period served as its chairman. During his association with Penphil 
he has held the positions of director of investments of the PRR and 
PCC and also vice president, investments of the PRR and PCC. In 
such positions he has made, under the supervision of Bevan, aU invest­
ment decisions for the pension plan and the compensation plan. 

Benjamin F. Sawin, although never an officer of Pen phil, played a 
significant role in several of Penphil's investments. While a Penphil 
stockholder, Sawin was also president and later vice chairman of the 
board of directors of ProVldeDt National Bank of Philadelphia. 

Francis A. Cannon was administrative vice president of the First 
Boston Corp., a registered broker-dealer. ., 

Warren H. Bodman was a partner of Yarnall, Biddle & Co., a 
registered broker-dealer. ' 

C. Carroll Seward was also a partner of Yarnall, Biddle & Co. 
William R. Gerstnecker was treasurer of the Pennsylvania Railroarl 

and later vice president-corporate of the Penn Central Co., a director 
of Arvida and Great Southwest and vice chairman, Provident National 
Bank. 

Paul D. Fox was a vice president of the Pennsylvania Railroad and 
vice prcsident~administration of the Penn Central Co. . 

Theodore K. Warner was vice president-taxation of the Pennsyl-
vania Railroad and of the Penn Central Co. 

F. B. Holmes was vice president of P. H. Glatfelter Co. 
Edward D. Meanor managed his personal investments. 
John K. Acuff was a partner of Brooke, Sheridan, Bogan & Co., Inc.; 

a registered broker-dealer. 
Other persons who became Penphilstockholde1"s subsequent to June 1962 

Herbert E. Fisher became a Pen phil stockholder on or about 
June 30, 1963. Fisher was the president and chairman of the board of 
Kaneb Pipe Line Co., Inc., a company in which Penphil invested in 
1962. , 

Angus G. Wynne, Jr., became a Penphil stockholder in the summer 
of 1963. Wynne was the president and chairman of the board of 
Great Southwest Corp., a company in which Penphil invested in 1963. 

Fred H. Billups became a Penphil stockholder on or about .Jnne 30, 
1963. Billups was the president and chairman of the board of Tropical 
Gas Co., a company in which Penphil invested in 1963. 

Edwin B. Horner became a Penphil shareholder in the smnmer of 
1963. He was with the First Colony Life Insurance Co. 

Samuel A. Breene became a Penphil shareholder in June 1967. He 
was a Pennsylvania attorney. 

Thomas F. Fleming, Jr., became a Penphil stockholder in August 
1968. FleminO' was chairman of the board of First Bank & Trust 
Co. of Boca Raton (N.A.) and also of the University National Bank 
of Boca Raton, companies in which Penphil invested in 1966 and 1967. 

Hobart Ramsey became a Penphil stockholder on June 30, 1963. 
While a member of Pcnphil's Investment Committee Ramsey partici­
pated in some of Penphil's investment decisions. During his associa­
tion with Penphil, Ramsey was a limited partner of Glore Forgan and 
a director and member of the executive committee of Symington 
Wayne Corp., a company in which Penphil invested in 1968. 
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Brown L. W11atley became a Florphil stockholder on January 13, 
1967, and a Penphil stockholder on February 19, 1968. He ",-as presi­
dent and a director of Arvida Corp., a company acquired by the 
Pennsylvania Company in 1965, and president of Stockton, Whatley, 
Davin & Co., a lu,rge real estate and mortgage banking company 
which provided operating management for Arvida since 1961. 

Joseph W. DaviP. became a Florphil stockholder on January 13, 
1967, and a Penphil stockholder on February 19, 1968. He was vice 
president and a director of Arvida and first vice president of Stockton, 
Whatley, Davin & Co. -

Alfonso Manero became a Florphil stockholder on January 13, 1967, 
and a Penphil stockholder on February 19, 1968. He was a partner of 
Glore Forgan & Co. 

Olbert F. Lassiter became a Florphil stockholder on January 13, 
1967, and a Penphil stockholder on February 19, 1968. He was presi-
dent of Executive Jet Aviation. . 

Harry F. Ortlip became a Florphil stockholder on January 13, 1967, 
and a Pen phil stockholder on February 19, 1968. He was president of 
his own company. 

Cornelius A. Dorsey became a Penphil shareholder in August 1968. 
He was Haslett's assistant at Penn Centml. 
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ApPENDIX A 

92D CONGRESS H R 12128 1ST SESSION • • . 

IN THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES 

DEClmm:n 8, 1071 

1\1r. Snomms intl'oduccll the following bill; wJdeh WIIS l'Cfl'lTCll to the Com­
mittee on Interstate lind Foreil,'fl Commerce 

A BILL 
To extend the protection provided by the Federal securities 

laws to persons investing in securities of carriers regulated 

by the Interstute Commerce Commission. 

1 Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-

2 tives of the United States of America in Congress assembled, 

3 AMENDMgNTS TO SECURITIES ACTS 

4 SEC'fION 1. (a) (1) Section 3 (a) (6) of the Securities 

5 Act of 1933 is repealed. 

6 (2) The second sentence. of section 19 (a) of such Act 

7. is amended by striking out" ; but insofar as they relate to any· 

8 common carrier subject to the provisions of section 20 of the 

9 Interstate Commerce Act, as amended, th-e rules and regula-

10 tions of the Commission with respect to accounts shwl not be 

I 

(335) 
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2 

1 inconsistent with the requirements imposed by the Interstate 

2 Commerce C.ommission under authority .of such secti.on 20". 

3 (3) Section 214 of the Interstate Commerce Act is 

4 amended by striking .out the sec.ond pr.oviso. 

5 (b) Secti.on 13 (b) .of the Securities Exchange Act .of 

6 1934 is amended by striking out ", and in the case of carriers 

7 subject t.o the pr.ovisi.ons .of secti.on 20 .of the Interstate C.om-

8 merce Act" and all that f.oll.oWS in such subsecti.on, and insert-

9 ing in lieu there.of " (except that such rules and regulati.ons 

10 .of the C.ommissi.on may be inc.onsistent with such require-

11 ments t.o the extent that the C.ommissi.on determines that the 

12 public interest .or the protection .of invest.ors S.o requires)." 

13 ( c) Secti.on 304 (a) (4) (A) of the Trust Indenture Act 

14 .of 1939 is amended by striking .out" (6) ,". 

15 (d) Secti.on 3 (c) (7) of the InvestmentC.ompany Act 

16 .of 1940 is repealed. 

17 EFFECTIVE DATES 

18 SEC, 2. (a) The amendments made by subsecti.ons (a) 

19 and (c) .of secti.on 1 shall take effect .on the sixtieth· day after 

20 the date .of enactment .of this Act, but shall n.ot apply with 

21 'respect t.o any· security which was bona fid~ .offered to the 

22 . public by the issuer or by .or through an· llDderwriter bef.ore 

23 . such sixtieth day .. 

24 (b) . The amendment made by subsection (b) of secti.on 

25· 1 shall not apply t.o any rep.ort by any person respecting a 
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S 

1 fiscal· yea.r of such person which began before the date of 

2 enactment of this Act. 

3 (c) The amendment made by subsection (d) of section 

4 1 shaH take effect on the sixtieth day after the date of enact-

5 ment of this Act. 



ApPENDIX B 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
WAS,HINGTON, D.C. Z05U ' 

BY SPECIAL MESSENGER 

Honorable Harley O. Staggers 
Chairman, Committee on Interstate 

and Foreign Commerce 
House of Representatives 
2125 Rayburn House Office Building 
Wasbington. D. C. 20515 

Re: 'H.B.. 12128, 92nd Congress. 

Dear Mr. Chairman: 

In tbe absence of Chairman Casey, I am pleased to Gend you herewith 
three copies of a memorandum setting forth the Commission's views 
on H.B.. 12128. This is in response to your request for a report 
011 that bill. 

We have just been advised by the Office of Management and Budget 
that there 18 no objaction to the submisGion of this report from 
the standpoint of the Administration's program. 

Enc10surClS (3) 

Sincerely yours. 

Bugh F. Owens 
COllllllisa1oner 

(338) 
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MEMORANDUrl PREPARED BY THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION FOR THE 
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES COMMITTEE ON- INTERSTATE AND FOREIGN COHHERCE 

WITII RESPECT TO H. R. 12128, 92ND CONGRESS 

H.R. 12128 would amend Sections 3(a)(6) and 19(a) of the Securities 

Act of 1933 [15 U.S.C. 77c(a)(6), 77s(a)J, Section 13(b) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 [15 U.S.C. 78m(b)J, Section 304(a)(4)(A) of the Trust 

Indentur~ Act of 1939 [15 U.S.C. 77ddd(a)(4)(A)J, S~ction 3(c)(7) of- the 

Investment Company Act of 1940 [15 U.S.C. 80a-3(c)(7)J, and also Section 214 

of the Interstate Commerce Act which was added under Part II of that Act by 

Section 214 of the-Motor Carrier Act of 1935 [49 U.S.C. 314]. 

The effect of these amendments would be the repeal of certain exemptions 

under the federal securities laws administered by the Securities and Exchange 

Commission which are now available in connection with the issuance of secur-

tties and the filing of reports by certain interstate carriers by rail and 

motor which are subject to the jurisdiction of the Interstate Commerce 

Commission. An analysis of each amendment is set forth below. 

While the Commission has been aware for some time of the existence of a 

-weak spotO-in disclosures to, and protection of, securities investors who may 

acquire securities issued by ICC-r~gulated carriers which are exempt under 

the above mentioned provisions of the federal securities laws, the dangers in-

herent in -this situation became much more apparent during recent Congression~l 
- - - 11 

hearings relating to the bankruptcy of Penn Central Transportation Company.- In 

_ the light of this-background and for the reasons which are more fully described 

below, the Securities and Exchange Commission strongly supports enactment of 

n.R. 12128 in its prescnt form. 

See Hearings before the Special Subcommittee on Investigations of the 
Commit tee o'n Inter state a.nd Foreign Commerce, House of Representa t ivcs, 
91st Congo 2nd Sess., Sept. 24, 1970 "Penn Central Transportation Company: 
Adequacy of Investor Protection"; also Staff Study for the same Special 
Subcommittee, July 27, 1971 "Inadequacies of Protections for Investors in 
Penn Central and Other ICC-Regulated Companies" (Colluuittee Print). 
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1. Repeal of Sl,ction 3(a)(6) of the Securities Act of 1933. 

The Securities Act of 1933, (the "Securities Act"), commo'nly called the 

"Truth in SecuritieS" lal', has t"o basic objectives: (a) to provida investors 

with material financial and other information concerning securities offered 

for public sale in interstate commerce or through the mails; and (b) to 

prohibit misrepresentation, deceit and other fraudulent acts and practices 

in the sale of securities generally. Such information is made available 

through the requiremant that a registratio~., statement be filed with this 

Commission by, the, issuer Dr seller of the securities which must become 

effective before sales may be effected, and that a prospectus which must 

be filed as part of that registration statement and must contain the minimum 

disclosures , specified by the Securities Act be furnished to prospective 

purchasers so that they may exercise an informed judgment on whether or 

not to invest in such securities. Civil remedies are provided by the Act 

to an investor who suffers a loss as a result of violations of the regis-

tration, disclosure or anti-fraud requirements of the Act by the issuer 

or seller of the securities, and such remedies may also be asserted against 

others who participated in the violations. 

Section 3(a)(6) of the Securities Act exempts from the registration and 

prospectus requirements of the Act securities of common or contract carriers, 

the issuance of which is subject to the provisions of Section 20(a) of the 

Interstate Commerce Act, as amended [49 U.S.C. 20(a»). The term "carrier, 

as defined for purposes of Section 20(a), includes virtually all companies 

which are engaged in interstate transportation as common or contract carriers 

by rail or. motor. 
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One result of the exemption under Section 3(0.)(6) of the Securities Act 

has thus be"en that investors in such carriers have not been afforded the pro-

tections provided through registration as envisioned under Section 5 of that 

Act. To "this extent, such carrIers have been in a class by themselves among" 

industrial corporations. Only banks, savings and loan associations, and 

insurance" companies have specific exemptions comparable to those granted to 

such carriers. Moreover, it should be noted that not all carriers enjoy the 

exemption under Secdon 3 (a) (6), for example, air carriers while ostensibly not 

different from railroads or trucks in such respects, are subject to the 

requirements of the Securities Act in the same manner as other industrial 

corporations. Nevertheless, while subject to the federal securities laws, 

an air carrier is also subject to concurrent supervision by the Civil Aero-· 

21 
nautics Board, without any special problems arising from such dual jurisdiction.-

There is very little in the legislative history of Section 3(a)(6)" to 

provide an ex·planation for vesting of sole jurisdiction over carriers in the 

I~.terstate Commerce Commission including jurisdiction over issuance of securities. 

However, there appears in a statement by the Honorable Hus"ton Thompson, a former 

member of the Federal Trade Commission in which supervision of the Securities 

Act was originally vested, and one of the framers of H.R. 4314 and S. 875 (the 

original versions of this Act in both houses of the 73d Congress), the follow-

ing explanation of the purpose underlying what was to become Section 3(a)(6): 

We do not want to have railroad companies file their ·information 
with the Federal Trade Commission and then go ahead and have to file 
it also with the Interstate Commerce Commission. So we say that 
where they are covered by a division of the Federal Government that 
has supervision, then they shall file their information with that 
division, but not with the Federal Trade CommiSSion. 

* * * * * 
11 This is applicable also "llh respect to the concurrent jurisdiction by the 

SEC and Fed(>rnl Pm,er Commission over gas and electric public"·utility 
holding companies; see Subcommittee Staff.Report, fn 1 supra, pg. (Ill}. 
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But wJ:ICn it comes to advertising, anyone, no matter where 
they have filed other information, becomes responsive to the 
provisions of this bill, so far as advertising is concerned. ~l 

The section of H.R. 4314 dealing. with advertising, and referred to 

above, Has section 8 of the bill; Those scctions of the SeCl!rities Act into 

which the originally proposed section 8 has been inco.rporated, i.e. Sections "i 

5(h)(1), 5(b)(2), 6(d), 10(a)(1), 1O(a)(2), 10(c) and 10(d), related to the 

form and content, availability for inspection, and requirement of delivery 

of prospectuses covering securities proposed- to be ,sold in interstate commerce. 

These sections do not, however, apply to carriers, by virtue of the Section 

3(a)(6) exemption. ·A possible explanation for the decision, at 

the time the Securities Act was enacted into law, not to carry through the 

original intention to require compliance with the advertising provisions, may 

be. found in. a statement by R. V. Fletcher, .General ,Counsel of the Assoc'iation 

of Railway Exccutives during the same hearings: 

Section B was onc of the matters I wanted to touch on. I 
have not had time to do that. That is the section, of course, 
which deals with advertisements, so called, and various things 
which might be put in there, and it seems to me that this is 
another feature which' will burden the carrier s unnecessarily, 
and accomplish no useful purpose insofar as the carriers and 
those purchasing their securities are concerned. :1 
The most significant effect of the repeal of Section 3( a)( 6) of the 

Securities Act would be to abolish the exemption now available to ICC-regulated 

carriers from the registration and prospectus reqUirements of Section 5 of 

that Act and as a result place the securities of companies now under the 

jurisdiction of ICC alone under the concurrent jurisdiction of both the ICC 

aIld this COlluuission. With enactment of this provision 'of -H.R. 12128, ICC--

2.1 Hearings, lIouse COlWn. on Interstate and For. Commerce on H.R. 4314, 73d 
Cong., 1st' Sess. at 29-30 (Nar. 31, Apr. 1, 4, 5, 1933). 

!!' Id. at 204. 
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regulated companies would be required to file registration statements and 

prospectuses with the SEC, and have them become effective prior to any public 

distribution of their securities, and in this connection would be required 

to comply with other applicable provisions of the Securities· Act and the 

rules and regulations promulgated thereunder which relate ·to the registration 

process. 

While this memorandum will not, go into a detailed analysis of 

all the differences which exist in connection with issuance of securities 

by companies which are subject to ICC regulation and those which are 
5/ 

subject to the Securities· Act,- there are .several important areas where 

the requirements under the latter legislation do not appear to have counter-

parts which apply ·at present to ICC-regulated carriers but which would do so 

with the repeal of the exemption in Section 3(a)(6) of the Securities Act. 

Among these, for example, are (1) the prospectus delivery provis~ons in 

Section 5(b)(2) of the Securities Act which require the dissemination of a 

prospectus to underwriters,and dealers, as well as to actual or prospective 

investors, prior to or simultaneously with the delivery of a security for 

purposes of sale or delivery after sale; (2) the obligations of the issuer 

to amend or update the prospectus after a registration statement has become 

effective and prior to completion of the offering;· (3) assurance by the 

underwriter, pursuant to SEC Rule 460 [17 CFR 230.460J? that proper steps have 

been taken to secure adequate distribution of the pre~iminary prospectus a 

reasonable time in advance of the anticipated effective date of the registration 

statement; and (4) compliance by a1-1 dealers effecting transactions in. the 

2.7 The SEC does· not have expertise on ICC procedures or requirements of the 
Interstate Conuncrce Act such as might qualify it to go into a cletailed dis­
cussion of all such differenccs. However, these have been set out in the 
Hearings and Subcommittee Staff Report noted in footnote 1 above. 
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registered securities, whether or not they are participating in th~ distribu­

tion of the securities, with SEC Rules 174 and 425A [17 CFR 230.174, 230.425a] 

regarding t~e prospectus delivery duties of those dealers in the after-market. 

These rules relate to the obligation of dealers, including underwriters no 

longer acting as underwriters, to deliver a prospectus in transactions involVing 

any securities of the same class as those registered,during the 40-day or 

90-day pe=iod after the effective registration date as specified in Section 

4(3) of the Securities Act (except where they· can prove that such securities 

are not part of the issue· so registered), and require a statement to that effect 

to appear on the cover of. the prospectus. Moreover, SEC Rules 135, 137, 138., 

and 139 under the Securities Act [17 ·CFR 230.135, 230.137, 230.138 and 230.139] 

spell out certain prohibitions and restrictions with respect to statements that 

may be published or circulated regarding the registered securities in the 

absence of an accompanying statutory prospectus, and provide an additional 

degree of protection which would not appear to be provided for under the ICC 

requirements. 

Repeal of Section 3(a)(6) of the Securities Act would subject secondary 

distributions of securities by" the corporate parent of the carrier,or by persons 

controlling, controlled by or under common control with the carrier, to the 

same requirements as initial offer ings by the issuer itself. At present, as 
61 

pointed out in· the Subcommittee Staff Study- of the House Committee on Inter-

state and Foreign Commerce, the ICC does not have the statutory authority to 

regulate such distributions because they do not involve the issuance by a 

carrier of its olm securities. Since such large scale offerings by "insiders" 

of a carrier may possess all of the dangers attendant upon a·new offering of 

securities, to insulate such distribution" from the investor prote~tion 

..2/(Sce fn 1, supra.). 
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·provisions. of the Securities Act would not seem to be in the public interest. 

Informa tion now contained in prospectuses filed by carriers with the ICC 

is not ordinarily examined by the staff of the SEC, and, therefore, is not 

commented on. However, there are certain important differences both in textual. 

'requirements and accounting procedures followed by these two agencies, as was 

brought out during the above-mentioned House Committee hearings. For example, 

SEC forms under the Securities Act call for more detailed disclosure of such 

items as management compensation, stock options, and material interests in 

certain transactions involving management and the issuer. The accounting 

differences are discussed more fully below under the heading dealing with the 

proposed amendments to Section 13(9) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

Certain additional advantages would result from repeal of Section 3(a)(6). 

Foremost among these, from the standpoint of investor protection as well as 

assistance to issuers in complying with the Act, is the reviewing process 

employed by the SEC ·staff. This process of review is directed to all filings 

with the SEC, and the staff 'is able to draw on considerable expertise gained 

over a period of many years relating to investor protection to assure com­

pliance with the disclosure and protective provisions of the Securities Act. 

Moreover, repeal of this exemption would bring into play certain adminis­

trative procedures which are now available to the SEC in aiid of its reviewing 

process, such as investigatory powers conferred by Section 20(a) of the 

Securities Act [15 U.S,C. 77t(a»), the injunctive powers of Section 20(b) 

[15 U,S.C. 77t(b») whereby this Commission may .ask a court to enjoin or 

restrain any person whenever it determines that such person is engaged or 

about to engage in any act or practice which constitutes'or will constitute 

a violation of the Act, and the power conferred'on the Commission under Section 
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8(b) [15 U.S.C.77Mb)] to issue a "sto!, order" which will delay the effective,­

ness of a registration statement until all 'deficiencies are remedied or which 

can stop all sales under an effective registration statement where such 

deficiencies are discovered after the effective date' thus making any sales 

thereafter illegal until the deficiencies are remedied and the "stop order" 

has been lifted. When compliance with the disclosure requirements of the'Secur­

ities Act is not obtained, or when any of the provisions of the Act or the 

rules or regula'tions promulgated thereunder are wilfully violated, the penalty, 

provisions of Section 24 may be invoked by the SEC [15 U.S.C. 77x] under which 

a court may impose fines up to $5,000 or imprisonment up to five years or both 

upon convinction. Finally, the civil remedies provided by Sections 11 and 

12(1) of the Act [15 U.S;C. 17k', 771(1)] would be available to purchasers of 

such securities not sold in compliance, with the Act, remedies which would be 

in addition to the civil anti-fraud reme~ies provided by Sections 12(2) and 

17(a) of the Act [15 U.S.C. 771(2), 77q(a)] and by Rule-IOb-5 under the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 [17CFR 240.10b-5] which ~re already available'to 

purchasers of securities of carriers subject to ICC jurisdiction. The benefits 

inherent in bringing a civil action under Sections 11 and 12(1) of the 

Securities Act, which have no counterpart under ICC legislation, "are, that affirma­

tive responsibility for complete and truthful dis'closure is placed ,on the various 

classes' of persons participating in the ,sale or distribution of the securities,'" 

and as a general rule the defrauded investor is entitled to recover upon proof 

of the misstatemcnt or omission of a material fact in a registration statement 

or prospectus without being reqUired to establish reliance thereon or the 

defendant I s knowledge or intent to d~ceive as was required at cormnon law, or .. 

upon a showing of failure to register such securities with the SEC when such, 

registration is required. 
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II. Striking Out the Last Clause ot the Second Sentence 
of Section 19 (a) of The Seclldties Act of 1933 

Section 19(a) of the Securities Act provides that the Commission shall 

have authority to make, amend and rescind such rules and regulations as may 

be necessary to carry out the provisions of ' the Act, including those governing 

registration statements, arid prospectuses for various classes of secur·ities 

and issuers, defining 'accounting, technical and trade terms used in the Act, 

and prescribing the form or forms in which required information shall be set 

forth, the items or details to be shown in the balance sheet and earnings 

statement, and the methods to be followed in the preparation of accounts, in 

appraisal or valuation of assets. and liabilities, in determining depreciation 

and depletion, in dlfferentiation.of recurring and nonrecurring income and of 

investment and operating income, and in the preparation of consolidated balance 

sheets and income accounts of persons in a control relationship to the issuer. 

Such authority Is qualified,. however, by a final clause reading: "but insofar 

as they relate to any common carrier subject to the provisions of section 20 

of the Interstate Commerce Act, as amended, the rules 'and regulations of the 

Commission with respect to accounts shall not be inconsistent with the require-

ments imposed by the Interstate Commerce Commission under authority of such 

section 20." 

'Section 1(a) of H.R. 12128 would strike out the above quoted language 

from Section 19(a) of the Securities Act. The effect of this amendment would 

be to extend to the SEC the same au~,ority with respect to rules and regulations 

which it may adopt under Section 19(a) of the Securities Act for carriers 

whose securities arc no<, issued under Section 20(a) of the Interstate Commerce 

Act as it now has for other issuers. Thus financial statcments of such carriers 

would h.we to mect the same general requirements as those of other issuers now 

subject to the Securities Act. 
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Should Section 3(a}(6) of the Securities .Act be repealed, ·the proposed 

amendment to Section 19( a) would be necessary in order that the full benefit 

and impact of the deletion of the Section 3(a)(6) exemption be achieved. 

Without such amendment, ICC-regulated carriers brought under the registration 

requirement~ of Section 5 of the Securities Act might be able to continue to 

utilize their own methods of presenting financial information which nm< vary 

materially from those required by the SEC for other' issuers. (The shortcomings 

of these alternatives from an accounting standpoint are discussed in those 

portions of this memorandum which deal with the proposed amendments to Section 

3(a)(6) of the Securities'Act and Section 13(b) of the Securities Exchange Act 

of 1934.) The proposed amendment to Section 19(a) of the Securities Act, on· 

the other hand, would insure uniformity ,of reporting under this Act and 'would 

enable the average investor to make a more meaningful comparisQn between com-' 

peting investment opportunities. Moreover, in the opinion of this Commission, 

applying present SEC requirements to f{nancial statements of such carriers 

would make more readily apparent the true financial condition of such carriers. 

The SEC requirement that financial statements 'be certified by an independent 

public accountant would strengthen investor confidence in such reports and 

thus also benefit the carriers in this respect. 
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Ill. Amendment Of Section 214 Of The Interstate Commerce Act 

Section 214 'of the Interstate Commerce Act was added under Part II of 

that Act by Section 2i4 of the Motor Car,ier Act of 1935. The second provi,o 

in Section 214 states: 

Provided further, That the exemption in section 3(a)(6) 
of the 'Securities Act,' is hereby amended to read as 
follows: '(6) any security issued by a common or contract 
carrier; the issuance of "hich is subject to the pro­
visions of section 20(a) of the Interstate Commerce 
Act as amended;' 

The effect of that addition "as to extend the exemption under Section 3(a) (6) 

of the Securities' Act to thotor carriers which the 1935 Act brought under 

the jurisdiction of the ICC. 

Section 1(a)("3) of II.R. 12128 would repeal this exemption for contract 

motor carriers and' place such carriers on the same basis with respect to 

issuance of their securities for public sale as common carriers by rail under 

the proposed repeal of Section 3(a)(6) of the Securities Act. 

This amendment to Section 214 of the Interstate Commerce Act would be 

necessary since the repeal of Section 3(a)(6) of the Securities Act with 

respect to rail· carriers would otherwise create the anomalous situation of 

continuing the Securities Act exemption as to motor carriers while aho1ishing 

it as to rail carriers. 

Since the reasons for repealing the exemption are the same as to both 

types of carriers and have been fully stated .earlier, they are not repeated 

here. 
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IV. Amendment of Section 13 (1)) of The' Sccuriti.es Exchange Act 

In addition to providing for registration with' the Securities and Exchange 

Commission of securities exchanges, securities associations and broker-dealers, 

and for market surveillance and certain .reDtrictions on trading and pro­

hibitions againDt market manipulation and fraud, and for regulating proxy 

and tender offer solicitations, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 extends 

on a continuing basis the disclo.sure doctrine of investor protection which 

was initiated with the Securities Act. Its requirements in this area apply 

to companies. with securities traded on national securities exchanges, and to 

those with securities traded in the over-the-counter market which have total 

assets of more than one million dollars and whose shareholders of a class of 

,equity security number 500 or more, all of which arc required to be registered 

with the Securities and Exchange Commission under Section 12 of the Act. For 

purposes of this memorandum, only the financial reporting requirements and 

related provisions will be discussed as they constitute the primary continuing 

disclosure mechanisms of the Securities Exchange Act. 

Section 13(a) of that Act requires every issuer subject to the regis­

tration requirements of Section 12 of the Act to file with the Commission, 

in accordance with such rules and regulations as the Commission may pre­

scribe as necessary or appropriate for the proper protection of investors 

and to insure fair dealing in the security, (1) such information and documents 

as the Commission shall require to keep reasonably current the information 

and docwuents filed under Section 12 of the Act (with one minor exception 

not pertinent to this discussion), and (2) such annual reports, certified if 

required by the rules and regulations of the Commission by independent public 

accountants, and such quarterly reports as the Co~~ission may prescribe. 
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Section l3(b) of the Securities Exchange Act authorizes the Commission 

to-·prescribe the fonn or fonns in which the required infonnation shall be set 

forth, the items or details to be shown in the balance sheet and the earnings 

statement, ·and the methods to be followed in the preparation of reports, in 

the appraisal or valuation of assets and liabilities, in the determination of 

depreciation and depletion, in differentiating between recurring and nonrecurr-

ing income and also between investment and operating income, and in the pre-

paration (where the Commission deems it necessary or desirable) of separate 

and/or consolidated balance sheets or income accounts of any person in a 

control relationship with the issuer. 

Section l3(b) contains two qualifications to such authorizations, the 

first of which states: 

" ••• but in the case of the reports of any person whose methods of 
accounting are prescribed under the p.rovisions of any law of the 
United States, or any rule or regulation thereunder, the rules and 
regulations of the Commission with respect to ·reports shall not be 
inconsistent with the requirements imposed by such law or rule or 
regulation in respec~.of the same subject matter." 

In e~sence, this qualification. places the Commission in a subordinate 

position with respect to the prescription of the proper method of accounting 

to be used in reports filed with the Commission under the Securities .Exchange 

Act when the companies in question are also under the jurisdiction of. other 

laws of the United States prescribing proper methods of accounting for those 

companies. SpecIfic. examples of such companies would be those regulated by 

the Interstate Commerce Commission, the Federal Power Commission, the Civil 

Aeronautics Board, the Federal Communications Commission, the Federal Home Loan 

Bank Board, and the Board or" Gover nors of the Federal Reserve System. 

This limitation on the COllUuission's authority in this area is· further 

defined with respect to ICC-regulated carriers by the second qualification in 
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Section l3(b) which states: 

[ ••• the rules and regulations of the Commission with respect to 
reports) ••• ", in the case of carriers subject to the provisions 
of section 20 of the Interstate Commerce /lct, as amended, or carriers 
required pursuant to any other Act of Congress to make reports of 
the same gcfteral character as those required under such section 20, 
shall permit such carriers to file with the Commission and the exchange 
duplicate copies of the reports and other documents filed with the 
Interstate Commerce Commission, or with the governmental authority 
administering such other Act of Congress, in lieu of the reports" 
information and documents required under this section and section 
12 in respect of the same subject matter." 

As a consequence of ,the language quoted immediately above, :ICC-regulated 

carriers presently file with the SEC duplicate copies of reports which they 

have filed with the ICC in lieu of reports which would othen.ise be required 

of them. As a result, such carriers are not required to file annual reports 

with the SEC on SEC Form 10-K, quarterly reports on SEC Form 10-Q, or 

occasional reports of material changes on SEC Form 8-K. 

The substitute forms filed by such carriers do not parallel SEC,forms in 

several important respects. For e&~mple, the financial statements included 

in ICC reports 'are not reqUired to be prepared in accordance with genera lly 

accepted accounting principles, nor' are they required'to comply with the 

provisions of SEC's Regulation S-X [17 CFR Part 210) regarding the form and 
7 ,. 

content of fj nancial statements.- Specifically, the ICC does not permit 

2' The ICC did adopt, on January 25, 1962, in Docket No. 33581, a statement that: 

Carriers desiring to do so may prepare and publish financial 
statements in reports to stockholders and others, except in reports 
to this Commission, ba~ed on generally accepted'acco~nting principles 
for which there is authoritative support, prOVided that any variance 
from this Conunission ' s prcs'cribcd accounting rules contained in such 
statements is clearly disclosed in footnotes to the statements. 

Thus, even though certain accounting practices followed by the SEC, which are 
based on generally accepted accounting prinCiples, may differ from correspond­
ing practices followed by the ICC, ICc-regulated companies now have the 
discretion to prepare reports for diss('>mination to shareholders either in 
accordance with the rules of the ICC or with generally accepted accounting 
prinCiples. Reports which arc requir"d to be submitted to 'the ICC, however, 
mue.t still be prepared in accordance with ICC rules., 
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financial statements to be prepared on a consolidated basis .or the recording 

of equity in earnings of unconsolidated subSidiaries, nor docs it .require that 

the statements be certified by independent public accountants. The ICC forms 

do not permit carriers to record provisions .for deferred income taxes in their 

accounts, nor do they follow the method prescribed by ·the Accounting Principles 

Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants for reporting 

prior period adjustments. On. the· other hand, SEC forms do. call for financial 

statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 

which require consolidation of subsidiaries, recording of equity in unc.onsoli-

dated subsidiaries, provisions· for deferred income taxes and adjustment of 

"urplus for prior period .. adjustments, and they also·require.that the annual 

financial statements be certified by independent puplic accountants (with .one .. 

exception for insurance companies not pertinent to the present discussion). 

From a textual standpoint, the ICC forms are not reqUired to contain 

itemized reports of security issuances during the year, grants of stock 

options, other corporate events wh.'J,h may affect security. valuations, .and 

management remuneration and bonuses; whereas all,of these are reqUired to be 

included in the usual SEC·Form 10-K .because they ·are essential for a meaning-
8/ 

ful analysis of the companies .involved.-

With respect to the Form 10-Q quarterly reports reqUired by Sections 12 

and 13 of the Securities Exchange Act, Rule 13a-13(c) promulgated under this 

~/ The SEC, constrained by the statutory limitations of Section 13(b) of the 
Securities Exchange Act, has adopted certain rules affecting the reports 
of the above-mentioned carriers. In lieu of Form 10-K, carriers file on 
SEC Form 12-K which does make provision for disclosure of securities 
issuances during the last fiscal year but which also allows them to file 
as the major portion of the Form 12-K the carrier's annual report to 
the ICC. 
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Act [17 CFR 240.13a-13(c)] permits common carriers which submit financial 

statements to the ICC to file as exhibits to'reports on this form copies of 

certain quarterly reports submitted to the ICC. While the ICC forms in this 

case provide more detail regarding revenue and expenses than is required by 

SEC Form 10-Q for other 'corporations, they lack scime of the information which 

this,Co~nission'deems essential, such as per share data, capitalization data, 

and'other financial data prepared on a consolidated basis. 

Section l(b) of II.R. 12128 would delete from Section 13(b) of the Securi-

ties Exchange Act all of the second qualification (quoted above on page 14) 

which specifically concerns ICC-regulated carriers; and would substitute for 

such deletion a parenthetical' clause. The result of these changes would be, 

that Section 13( b r'would then read: 

(b) The Commission may prescribe, in regard to reports made pursuant 
to this title, the form or forms in which the reqUired information 
shall be set forth, the items or details to be shown in the balance 
sheet and the earnings statement, and the methods to be followed in 
the preparation of reports, in the appraisal or valuation of assets 
and liabilities, in the determinat·ion of depreciation and depletion, 
in the differentiation of recurring and nonrecurring income, in the 
differentiation of investment and operating income, and in the prepar­
ation, where the'Commission deems it necessary or deSirable, of separate 
and/or consolidated balance sheets or income accounts of any person 
directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by the issuer or any 
person under direct or indirect common control with the issuer; but 
in the caSe of the reports of any person whose methods of accounting 
are prescribed under the provisions of any law of the United States, or 
any rule or regulation thereunder, the rules and regulations of the 

. Commission with respect to reports shall not' be inconsistent "With the 
reqUirements imposed by such law or rule or regulation in respect of 
the same subject matter (except that such rules and regulations of 
the Commission may be inconsistent with such requirements to the extent 
that the Commission determines that the public interest or the protection 
of investors so requires). ~/ 

The effect of the deletion alone would be to place ICC-regulated carriers 

on an equal footing with the companies whose methods of accounting are prescribed 

~J The parenthetical "except" clause, which we have underscored, is what would 
be added by Section l(b) of II.R. 12128. 
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by the provisions of any 'federal law (other' than.the Securities· Exchange Act) 

or by rules and regulations under such laws. .The Conunission's ·au.thority 

with respect to these carriers, in.the context of periodic reports filed .with 

the Conunission, would remain in' a subordinate position to the ICC and· its 

rules and regulations regarding inconsistencies' "il~respect of the same 
,F' 

subject ~atter." The one important exception to this' generalization, however, 

would be provided by' the parerithetical "except" clause ·to be inserted in 

Seci:ion 13( b). This clause would aUOI< the' Conunission to require compliance 

with its own rules pertaining to' proper accounting procedures in reports (iled 

with it by ICC-regulated carriers, even if inconsistent .with procedures called 

for by ICC rules, "to the extent that the Conunission determines that the 

public interest or the protection of investors so requires." As a result, 

under the limited circumstances stated in that clause, ICC carriers. would be 

subject to filing 'annual, quarterly, and periadic reparts af changes in can­

formity with the requirements af' SEC rules and regulations. This wauld 

eliminate the present incansistencies as outlined abave between reparts af 

such carriers and thase of issuers subject to the full reporting requirements 

under the Securities Exchange Act. Nat anly would the investor receive docu-

ments cantaining mare infarmatian relevant.to his investment abjectives. and 

purpases, but 'he would be pravided with a unifarmity af reparting not now 

available to him with respect to. ICC-regulated carriers which wauld be more 

useful far making camparative analyses of companies of different industries. 

In closing this discussion of the amendments to. Section l3(b), one final 

point is nated. The insertian of the parenthetical "except" clause. discussed 

abave, coupled with the language left unchanged in Sectian 13( b), would appear 

to remave the present limitatians on SEC autharity to. prescribe accounting 
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procedures as to any person who rcports to any othcr ag'ency whosc laws, rules 

or regulations impose requirements as to methods·of accounting which differ 

from those of the SEC in respect of the samc subject matter when the Conunission 

determines that the public intcrcst or the protection of investors so requires. 

In other words, under the circumstances mentioned in the parenthetical "except" 

clause, the"Conunission would have the discretionary power to exercise pre-emi­

nent,authority over the proper accounting procedures to be used in. reports 

required to be filed with it by companies subject· not just to ICC jurisdiction, 

but, also the jurisdiction of other agencies such as the FPC, CAB, FCC, ana 

FHLBB: It should be noted, however, that such a grant of pre-eminent authority 

would merely parallel that already granted the Commission under the Securities 

Act of 1933 regarding the issuance of securities (with·'the exception of securi­

ties iSSU·.:lces by 'ICC-regulated, carriers, an exception which the present bill 

would remove). Although the drafters of the proposed legislation may have 

intended the thrust of this amendment to be limited ,to ICC-regulated carriers, 

it thus appears that in fact it would have a much wider impact i~ terms of 

the Commis'sion's relationship with other agencies in accounting and reporting 

areas. 

Assuming that H. R. l2l28 would enlarge ·the scope of the Commission's 

authority in this broader fashion, not just vis-a~.vis ICC requirements, the 

Commission would favor this aspect of the bill because it would move the 

reqUirements of the Securities Exchange Act closer to those of the Securities 

Act of 1933, 'something for· which ·the Coinmission has been striving for some time. 

It would also afford' investors information as to not just ICC-regulated carriers, 

but all companies regulated by any· other agency whose accounting and rcporting 

requirements vary from those of this Commission, which would bet;er compare 

with that which they presently receive from other publicly held companics. 
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V. Deletion of Reference. to Section 3(a)(6) of the Sccu'rities Act 
Contained in Section 304(a)(lI)(fI) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 

The Trust Indenture Act o'f 1939 (the "1939 Act") was enacted as a 

supplement to the Securities Act after studies by the SEC had revealed the 

frequency with which trust indentures failed to provide 'minimum protections 

for security holders and absolved so-called trustees from minimum obligations 

in the discharge of their trusts. rhis Act applies in general to bonds, notes, 

debentures and similar debt securities offered for public sale which are issued 

pursuant to trust indentures under which more than one million dollars of 

securities may be outstanding' at anyone time. 

The 1939 Act requires that such debt .securities may not be offered to the 

public, even though registered under the Securit ies Act, unless they are issued 

pursuant to a qualified trust indenture which conforms to the minimum require-

ments specified in the Act. It requires also that the trustee, or at least 

the principal one, be a domestic corporation with minimum combined capital and sur' 

,plus; imposes high standards of conduct and responsibility on the trustee; requirei 

that the indenture trustee be free of conflicting interests which might inter-

fere with the faithful exercise of its duties in behalf of purchasers of the 

securities; precludes preferential collection of certain claims owing to the 

trustee by the issuer in the event of default; prOVides for the issuer's supply-

ing evidence to,the trustee of compliance with indenture, terms and conditions 

such as those relating to release and substitution of mortgaged property, 

issuance of new securities, or satisfaction of the indenture; and provides for 

reports and notices by the trustee to security' holders. Other provisions pro-. 

hibit impairment of the security holders' right to, sue individually for 

principal and interest except under certain circulllstances, and require the 

mainten...,nce of II list of security holders "hich may be used by them 
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to communicate with each other regarding their rights as security holders. 

The provisions of Section 304(a)(4)(A) of the 1939 Act exempt from the 

indenture and trustee qualifications requirements of the Act those securities 

which are also exempt under certain prov'isions of the Securities Act. Included 

therein is a reference to securities which are exempt. under th~ provisions of 

Section 3·(a)( 6) of the Securities Act. The effect of this exemption, therefore, 

is to exclude from the requirements and proscriptions of the 1939 Act all debt 

securities which are subject to ICC- jurisdiction under Section 20(a) of the 

Interstate Commerce Act. 

The amendment proposed under Section l(c) of Il.R. 12128 is necessary, 

therefore, to conform Section 304(a)(4)(A) of the 1939 Act to the Securities 

Act exemption as it would be amended by Section 1 of the bill. Moreover, 

the reasons supporting repeal of the exemption in Section 3(a)( 6) of the 

Securities Ac.t would apply equally to the repeal of the exemption under the 

1939 Act. The importance of this change is supported by the fact that the 

1939 Act deals not only with disclosure of the terms of an indenture, but also 

with the substantive nature of the relations between obligor, obligee and 

trustee. For example, where indentures arc required to be qualified under 

the 1939 Act, the Act prohibits certain relationships or transactions between 

the trustee and the obligor or the underwriter for securities of the obligor 

in certain instances which arise from certain interlocking management or 

directorships, ownership of securities or claims against the obligor. or 

collateral for outstanding obligatiors of the obligor which are in default; 

it restricts the right of the trustee, if it becomes a creditor. of the issuer, 

to improve its position as ·creditor to the detriment of security holders; and 

requires certain periodic reports by the trustee to the_security h~lders for 

whom he acts as trustee. 
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Indentures now filed with the ICC·by such carriers are not required to 

contain the provisions specified in the 1939.Act, nor are trustees subject 

to the same proscriptions by virtue of any federal statute. Thus security 

holders of··debt' obligations 'of such carriers are not afforded the same 

protections" as are purchasers of securities subject to the 1939 Act. Enact-

ment.of the bill with Section l(c)· would extend such requirements and 

proscriptions to those carriers and their, indenture trustees and would pro-

vide substantive protections and .consistency of treatment to debt securities 

issued by such carriers·. 

VI. Repeal of' Section 3 (c) (7) of The Investment Company Act of 1940 

The Investment Company Act of 1940 (the '~1940 Act i ') resulted from a study. 

of the activities and abuses of investment companies and investment ,advisers 

which was conducted by the Securities ruld Exchange. Commission. pursuant, to 

direction of 'Congress. Under this Act, the activities of companies engaged 

primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting,. owning, holding and 

trading in securities and whose own securities are offeree and sold to and 

held by the investing. public~ -. are. subject",to certain statutory prohibitions 
, {I,\ 

and to SEC regulation' in accordan,ce with.: pre~crib~d standards d,eemed neces'sary 

to protect the interests of investors and' the public. Such companies are 

required to register witl' the Commission, and to disclose their finanCial 

condition and investment policies so as to af'ford investors full and complete 

information about their activities. 

The Act provides a comprehensf,;e framework of regulation which, among 

other things, prohibits changes in the nature of an investment company's 

business or its investment policies without shareholder approval, protects 
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against management self-dealing, embezzlement 'or abuse ~f t"rust, and pro-

vides specific controls to eliminate or to mitigate inequitable capital 

structures. The 1940 Act also provides other basic investor protections 

,including a requirement that, management' contracts be submitted to share-

holders for approval; a prohibition against underwriters, investment 

bankers or brokers constituting more than a minority of the investment' 

company's board of directors; and requirements for safekeeping of its 

assets. It also bars persons' guilty of security frauds from serving as 

officers and directors; forbids issuance of senior securities by such 

companies except under specified conditions and terms; pro!'tibits' pyramiding 

of such companies and cross-ownership of their securities; and provides 

specific controls ,designed to protect against unfair transactions between 

investment companies and their affiliates • 
.!.QI 

At present, Section 3(c)(7) of the 1940 Act as amended excludes 

from the definition of an investment, company for purposes of this Act: 

(7) Any company subject to regulation under the Interstat'e 
Commerce Act, or any company whose entire capital stock is 
owned or controlled by such a company; Provided', That the 
assets of the controlled company conSist substantially of 
securities issued by companies' which are subject to regulation 
under the Interstate Commerce Act. 

In effect, Section 3(c)(7) establishes two criteria, with the satis-

faction of either one being sufficient,to remove a company from the regulatory 

ambit of the 1940 Act. The first excludes a company subject to regulation 

under the Interstate Commerce Act, and the second excludes its controlled 

companies the assets of which consist substantially of securities of issuers 

which are themselves subject to regulation under the Interstate Commerce Act • 

.!.QI Present Section 3(c)(7) was originally enacted as Section 3(c)(9), but was 
redeSignated as Section 3( c)( 7) by the Investment Company Amendments Act 
of 1970 .. hich became effective December 14, 1970 (~3(b), P.L. 91-547, 
84 Stat. 1414). 
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Section l(d) of H.R. 12128 would repeal Section 3(c) (7) of the 

1940 Act which now excludes ICC-regulated 'companies from regulation by 

the SEC under the 1940 Act. The effect of such repeal would be to extend, 
, 

SEC jurisdiction over ICC-regulated comp~ies, which would fall within the 

definition of an investment company under the Act but for such exemption, 

in the same manner as it now applies to other investment companies. 

The protective framework of the 1940 Act reflects the concern for the 

national public interest which Congress found to be affected by investment 

companies which customaril~ invest and trade in securities issued by 

companies engaged il'\ business in interstate conunerce, and which may dominate 

and control or otherwise affect the policies and management of such companies. 

This public interest, historically sensitive to abuse or imbalance, is 

further affected adversely when investment companies engage directly or 

indirectly in the business of an interstate carrier subject to the Interstate 

Conunerce Act, the policy of which is" inter 'alia, to foster sound economic 

conditions in transportation. 

Within this context of critical public concern, it is anomalous that an 

investment company can free itself of the regulation Congress deemed 

necessary to protect the public against abuse, not by a policy 0.£ self­

restraint, but rather, as de~cribed below, b): e~ansion into an area in 

which it may detract from sound economic conditions in transportation. ,This 

r;,' 
dichotomy is made possible by the gap in federal regulation th~t arises from 

the juxtaposition of the 1940 Act ~nd the Interstate 'Commerce Act. The 
111 

House Subcommittee Staff Study-- dramatically documents the detriments to 

.!!I (See n. 1 above) 
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public investors flowing from the regulatory gap created by the 

Section 3(c) (7) exclusion in the 1940 Act. 

The COIlUIlission has on a number of occas'ions in past years called to 

the at tention of Congress that' Section 3 (c) (7) provides a means whereby 

a corporation 'which largely may be engaged in the business of investing, 

reinvesting, owning, holding and trading 'in securities can avoid regulation 

under the 1940 Act simply by acquiring, with 'a small' fraction of its' assets, 

a counnon carrier, ·or to some minor extent directly engaging in the business 
121 

of an interstate·carrier.-- This avoidance is possible in a variety of ways. 

First, a company may itself be a carrier'subject to·regulation by the. ICC, 

but its carrier assets'may represent only a small fraction of its total 

assets. Second, a parent company, by the simple expedient of controllin·g· 

a single carrier becomes subject to regulation by the ICC and is thus 

excluded from the definition of an investment company even though such 

control is exercised by stock ownership representing an insignificant 

'1~1 See Annual Reports of the Securities and Exchange COIlUIlission: 21'st 
Report, pp. 101-102' (1955), 22nd Report, pp. 188-189 (1956), 23rd 
Report, p. 10 (1957), 25th'Report, p. 11 (1959); Hearings' before 
a Subcounnittee of the Committee on Interstate and Foreign COIlUIlerce, 
House of Representatives (86th Cong., 1st Sess. 1959) pp. 124, 132, 

140-141, 397-416; Hearing before a SubcOllUllittee of the COIlUIlittee on 
Banking and Currency, United States' 'senate (86th Cong. 1st Sess. 1959) 

.PP. 130-133, 518-634; Memorandum of the Division of Corporate 
Regulation entitled "Possible'Dua1 Regulatory Status of Investment 
Company-Carriers" transmitted by the Commission to Chairman Staggers 
on October 30, 1969; Hemoranda of the Division of Corporate Regulation 
concerning the Penn~ylvania Company, dated July 14 and September 15, 
1970 and transmitted by the Commission to Chairman Staggers; Memorandum 
of the Division of Corporate Regulation concerning Alleghany Corporation, 
transmitted by the Conunission .to Chairman Staggers on August 21, 1970. 
The la.tter three memoranda are printed in Hearings "Penn Central . 
Transportation Companv--Adeg;,acy of Investor Protection," (see n. 1 
above) pp. 30-43 llnd 2111-236. 

At the time of the foregoing reports, hearings and memoranda the present 
section 3 (c) (7) was 3 (c) (9). (See n. 10 above). 
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percentage of the parent's assets. Further, with regard to the'eontrolled 

company, since the Act docs not define the term "substantially,'~ a controlled 

company whi.ch has more· than 50 per c.ent of its assets, in non-carrier secu­

rities and an even g~eater percentage of. its income which is derived from 

such securities, might claim.it'was excluded from being an investment 

company on the theory that, its. assets consist substantially of securities 

issued by ICC regulatc~,companies. 

H.R. 12128 would eliminate these anomalies. by repealing Section 3(c) (7) 

of the 1940 Act, so. that those ~ompanies curren~ly relying on that exclusi,on 

would be. subject to registration and ,regulation under the 1940 Act. if they, 

otherwise fall within the Act I s,.definition of an inves~ment ... company. 

Seetion',3.(a) (1) of the 1940"Act defines. as an investment company any 

company which is primarily engaged, or 'holds, itself out as being primarily 

engaged in the business of "investing, reinvesti~g,., or trading in, securities." 

To cover situations in,which such primary engagement is not readily'apparent 

because the company is either directly,. or through controlled, companies, 

engaged in an industrial or other business together with investing in, 

securities,. Section 3 (a) (3) . provides a sta,tistica1 definition, of an invest­

ment company·,to include a comp,any if, among othe,r things, more than 

40 per cent of the company's assets consist of securities, other ,than. those 

of majority-owned. subsidiaries. 
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Section 3(b) (2) of the 1940 Act provides a means whereby the Commission 

may declare by order _upon applicati~n that a ~~pany, notwithst&lding-the 

quantitative definition of Section 3(a) (3), is nevertheless not an investment 

company. Thus a company which can demonstrate that it is primarily engaged 

in a business or businesses other than that of investing, reinvesting, 

owning, holding, or trading in securities, either directly or through 

majority-owned subsidiaries or through controlled companies conducting 

similar types of businesses, can be relieved from registration and 

regulation under the 1940- Act. In determining whether a company is so 

primarily engaged the Conunission has traditionally considered the- company's: 

historical development; its public representations of policy; the activities 

of its officers and directors; and, -most important, the nature of its . 

present assets arid the sources of its present income. 

Though the original purpose of Section 3(c) (7) -was to avoid subjecting 

companies to dual regulation, we believe that any adverse affect of such­

regulation has been exaggerated. Investment company-carriers, in fact, 

fall within -the_ policy and purpose of both the Investment-Company Act and 

the Interstate Commerce Act-. Although regulation -under. both Acts -may be 

dual, it is not duplicative because each has a different purpose with its 

own point of focus and concern. 

To the extent, however, that duplicative regulation may arise -as 

a result of the repeal of Section 3(c)(7), the Conunittee might consider 
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13/ 
an amendment to Section 6 of the 1940 Act to add a new subsection (f)-

to provide: 

(f) If, with rospect to the issue," sale, or guaranty of a oecurity 
or assumption of" obligation or liability in respect of a security, ' 
the method of keeping accounts, the filing of reports, or the 
"acquisition or disposition of any security, money, or other property, 
and with respect to any other subject matter, any person is subject 
both to a requirement of the Investment Company Act of 191,0, as 
amended, or of a rule, regulation or order thereunder and to 
a requirement of the Interstate Commerce Act or of a rule, regulation, 
or order thereunder, the requirements of the Investment Company Act 
of 1940, as amended, shall apply to such person, and such person 
shall not be subject to the requirements of the Interstate Commerce 
Act, or of any rule, regulation, or order thereunder, with respect 
to the same subject matter unless the Securities and Exchange Commission 
has exempted such person from such requirement of the Investment 
Company Act of 1940, as amended, by rule, regulation or order, in 
which case the requirements of the Interstate Crnruierce Act shall 
apply to such person. ~/ 

"fit" . This suggestion is "p-a£t"erned after Section 318 of the Federal Power 

14/ 

Act which eliminates duplicative regulation with respect to transactions 
"which might othen.ise be" subject to regulation by the Commission under 
the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 and the Federal Power 
Commission under the Federal Power Ac"t. " 

As a" further safeguard against any unanticipated duplicative regulation 
which may arise, it may be appropriate, after experience is acquired, 
to adopt rules under the 1940 Act exempting normal and traditional 
transactions or practices from sections of "the 1940 Act which prove to 
be unnecessarily burdensome, or"which should be subject to ICC oversight 
rather than that of the S.E.C. Such rules could be adopted pursuant to 
Section 6 (c) which states that the "Commission, by rules and regulations 
upon its own motion, or by order upon application, may conditionally or 
unconditionally exempt any person, security, or transaction, or any 
class or classes of persons, securities, or transactions, from any 
provision or provisions of this title or of any rule or regulation 
thereunder, if and to the extent that such exemption is necessary or 
appropriate in the public interest and consistent with the protection 
of investors and the purposes fairly intended by the policy and pro­
visions of this title." 
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The Commission, as noted above, has long recognized the regulatory 

15/ 
gap created by Section 3 (c) (7) and strongly su·pports repeal of that section.-

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Commission favors prompt enactment 

of H.R. 12128 • 

.!2,. The COITnnission has supported earlier bills on this .subject including 
H.R. 2481 (86th Congo 1st Sess. 1959). That bi11 was reported out by 
the Interstate and Foreign Commerce Committee, (H.R. Rep. No. 2178, 
86th .Cong. 1st Sess.), .was passed by the House and transmitted to the 
Senate. No action was taken thereon by the Senate. S. 1181, the 
counterpar.t of the House bill, was introduced on Febru·ary 26, 1959, 
but was never reported out of Connnittee. 

February 22, 1972 
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ApPENDIX C 

~ltttr.iI tati'~ ,tmUter u ill ommi£l £lion 

!llno"i~gt"n.:m, <1+: 20>+2';;' 

Hanarable Harley O. Staggers 
Chairman 
Cpnlmittce,on Inter,state and 

, Fareign ,Col11l11~rCe 
Hause af Representatives, 
Washington, DC 20515 

Dear Chairman Staggers:, 

The purpase af this letter is to. set farth th~ requested comments 
af the L'terSl:flte'Cammer~e Gammissipn upap H. R. 11.128 which seeks 
to amend the fallow~ng e~isting sta_l:1:!te~ ~ th~ Securities Act af 193.'3, the 
Interstate COn}lp.erce-f.ct, tJ:1eSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, the Trust 
Lldenture Act 0(1939 (lnd the Investment,CampallY Ac;t af 1940. 

'Sectian'l(a)(1) af H. R. 12128 would' repeal, sectian 3(a)(6) af the 
Securities, Act- af 1933 which currently,pravides: 

'i..J," 

Except as hereinafter expressly provided, the 
pravisians af this subchapter shall not apply to any of 

'the fallowing classes af securities: 

(6) Any security issued by a cammon carrier, 
the issuance af which is subject to. the pravisions 
of Section 20a of Titl~ 49; 

Th'e' app rapria te- conforming repeal af the, second proviso, of socti an, 214 -of the 
Interstate Commerce;Act is· contained in section 1(a)(3) o(the proposed bill. 

'The result of such repeills would be'to subject secul-ities of carriers to the 
dual jurisdiction of the Secl!rities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and this 
Cammissian. 

Sectian 1(a)(2) wauld amend the 193.'3 Act b~· striking aut the lar.gua~'C 
in section J 9(a) which r~c;uires SEC's accaunting requirements cOVeriJlg 
common cn rriers subject to section 20 af the interstate Commerce Act to 
be consisl'ent with those issued by this Commission. 

(367) 
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Section l(b) of the bill would amend the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 to authorize the SEC to issue rules and 
regulations covering carriers subject to section 20 of the 
Interstate Commerce Act which are inconsistent with those of 
this Commission's to the extent the SEC determines it is nec­
essary to protect investors or' the public interest. 

The Trust Indenture Act of 1939 deals with the disclosure 
of the terms of an indenture and with the substantive relation­
ship between obligors, obligees and trustees. Section 304(*) 
(4)(A) presently provides an exemption for those securities 
which are exempt from the Securities Act--including, of course, 
those of ICC regulated carriers'. To bring the Trust Indenture 
Act into conformity with the aforementioned repeal of· the 
carrier exemption in the Securities Act, section l(c) of 
H.R. 12128 would delete the exemption. '" 

Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act of 1940,' 
as amended, currently excludes from the definition of an 
flinvestment company": 

any company subject to regulation under 
the Interstate Commerce· Act, or any 
company whose entire outstanding capital 
stock is owned or controlled by such a 
company: Provided, That the assets of the 
controlled companY,consist substantially of 

. securities 'issued by companies which are 
subject to regulation under the Interstate 
Commerce Act. 

Section 2 of H.R. 12128 would provide appropriate lead 
times for the effective date of the various changes in regula-
tion provided for in section 1. ' 

The 1970 hearings before the Special Subcommittee on 
Investigations chaired by you focused needed attention on the 
gap in the exercised regulatory jurisdiction of the SEC and 
this agency. For example, it was developed during the course 
of those hearings that carriers offering securities pursuant to 
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section 20a of the Interstate Commerce Act are not in all cases required to 
tender a prospectus to investors as is required under the Securities Act of . 
1933. ' 

As a result of your Subcommittee's hearings and our own staff report 
completed in 1969 and published by your 'full Committee in 1970, the Com­
mission on November 8, 1971, instituted Ex Parte· No. 279, Securities 
Regulations-Public Offerings. TIle proposed rules and regulations set forth 
in Ex Parte No. 279 would require carriers desiring to issue securities 
totalling $100,000 or more to 25 or more investors to file an "offering 
Circular" similar to the registration statement and prospectus used by the 
Securities and Exchange Commission. -The "circular" will contain information 
and procedures,' which w'ill'adequately inform the investing public in their 
investigation and properly protect them in the purchase of"carriers' securities.' 
Financial data will be furnished in accordance 'with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A copy- of the order and proposed regulations are enclosed. We 
believe that the anticipated results ·of this proceeding negate any need for the 
changes contemplated in sectionsl(a)(l), '(2), and (3) andl(c) of H.R. 12128. 

We also oppose the change proposed in section 1(b) of the bill which· 
would permit the SEC to'establish accounting requirements which carriers 
subject to ICC regulation would have' to meet in filing financial dat'! with ·the 
SEC. -

~ection 13(b( of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 empowers the 
SEC to prescribe the 'form or forins in which the required information shall 
be set forth, and when'and how it should be submitted. However, it further 
provides that: 

••• in the case of carriers subject to the pro­
visions of section 20 of the IntersUlte Commerce 
Act ••• Jit] shall permit suchcarri"rs to file .•. 
duplicate copies ot the reports and other documents 
filed with the Interstate Commerce Commission. 

Pursuant to those requirements, reports filed with the SEC by carriers suhjl:.'Ct 
to our jurisdiction need not fciUow generally accepted accounting principles but 
instead can be fUed on dlC basis of our Uniform System of Accounts. TIlis, 
according to dl~ SEC, creates a gap in information. 



370 

As pointed out in our letter to the Subcommittee. dated 
November 25. 1970, our accounting regu1ations'differ slightly 
from generally accepted accounting principles., However, we 
remain convinced that by following our '~nifor~ System of 
Accounts". carriers are actually required to s~bmit more complete 
and uniform statements than would be required if they merely 
followed "generally accepted'accounting principles"., We fail to 
see how the enactment of this section'of the bill is necessary 
to protect inve~tors. 

We support the change proposed in section l(d) of the bill. 
The repeal of section/ 3(c) (7) of the' Investm~t Company Act would 
subject companies now exempt from'SEC regulation to the concurrent 
regulatory jurisdiction'of that agency and this Commission. There 
are sound reasons for this. A carrier falling within the statutory 
definition of investment company may"have a significant carrier 
operation which would warrant e,conomic regulation by us to the 
same extent as any other carrier. A nonca~rier holding company in 
control of two or more carriers which do not constitute a single 
system" and thus subject to our regulation under section 5(3) of 
the Interstate Commerce Act, may be extensively,inv~lved in trans­
portation so that economic regulation by this Commission is 
similarly justified. Enactment of H.R. 11030 which expands our 
jurisdiction over holding companies would also include controls 
over their issuance of securities. We have the power. in any case. 
to dec~ine jurisdiction when,it appears that the company's involve­
ment in transportation is relatively slight, and we conceive of 
no reason why we should pass on noncarrier operations and financing. 
Pursuant to dual jurisdiction. we would retain our full powers 
where such a company is a carrier, and. at the same time, be fully 
informed and be in a position to protect the carrier's interest. 
Concurrently, the SEC cOuld exercise its jurisdiction and oversee 
the investor aspects. The overall protection of the carrier's and 
investor's interests far outweighs any additional burdens imposed 
upon the investment companies as a result of dual jurisdiction. 

There is a matter not covered in the bill which warrants con­
sideration. and that Is the matter of secOndary offerings~ By 
statute our jurisdiction is restricted to situations where carriere 
are issuing securities. If someone other than a carrier makes a 
secondary offering of carrier securities, we have no authority to 
regulate that offering. We believe the Interstate Commerce Act or 
the Securities Act of 1933 should be appropriately 'amended 80 as 
to vest jurisdiction over' such offerings in either this agency or 
the SEC. 
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In addition, although ;'ve "have indicated that we d:> not favor the elimina­
tion of the carrier exemption by the repeal of section 3(a)(6) of the Securities 
Act of 1933, and related provisions, there is a matter that the Committee may 
want to consider if its decision is otherwise. This matter deals with a very 
unique form of security, the equipment trust certificate, and for the reasons 
outlined below, we are of the view iliat equipment trust certificates should be 
excepted from any general elimination of the carrier exemption. For one, 
these instruments are well-secured, low-risk forms of securities. The 
carrier usually puts up 20 percent of the purchase money, while the equipment 
itself stands as collateral for the other 80 percent. Secondly, while bids on 
these certificates are offered to the general public, it is invariably the case 
that these securities are purchased" by sophisticated investing groups, such 
as syndicate!! of institutional investors. The successful bidder will deSignate 
a trustee "iho takes title to the equipment. Then, the trustee leases the 
eqUipment to the carrier, and when the indebtedness is satisfied through pay­
ment of the lease moneys, the trustee passes title to the carrier. It therefore 
seems that these certificates are marketed more in a manner like private 
placements, rather than public Offerings. " 

Because of the nalure" of the instrument and the nature of the investor 
dealing in these instruments, it does not appear that the holders of these 
securities require the degree of protection such as is afforded the general 
public by the SEC. At the same time, one must consider the fact that since 
these certificates constitute a substantial part of carrier business, subjecting 
them to the full range of SECregulation would place unwarranted burdens on 
carriers in terms of additional time and costs, all to little purpose in terms 
of public benefits. Accordingly, we feei that the processing of these securities 
should remain solely under the provisions of section 20a of the Interstate 
Commerce Act. If any future changes in the general marketing patterns for 
these securities, or a particular issue, indicates that the public "needs further 
protection, our regulations to be promulgated in Ex Parte No. 279 could take 
such factors into account. 

Enclosure 
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. son aI, .. DAZI 
Novenlber 8, 1971 

NOTICE OF' rjtOPcs;,~DflULEMAKING flED o;:m:n 

TI'l'LE 49 
CHAPTER X 

SUBCHAPTER D 
PART 11J.5 

~l':'{1\NSPOR'l'ATION 
Ii'l'!'BRSTN!'!~ COW·JERCE Cc;.,'O:ISCION 
P:i~,CTICE AND P!,CC3DURE 
ISSU1\NCE OF SECDT(:':'l'I.33, J\~;~;ui·j~'TION OF 

OBLIGATIONS, AND FILJllG c':~' C~HTIFICATES 
'i'.ND i=tEFORTS .' 

At a General 0cllsior, of the INTERDTATE cOM~m:.;,CE COl·;~!ISSION~ held 
at its office in Wash1n~ton, D. C., on the 29th day of 
October, 1.97'-. 

E.t: P,\RL;; EO. 279 

SECURI'rIES REGULHi'Im;S - PUBLIC OFFER:':tIGS 

FOHH OF OFF£"ING CIHCUTJA!l ;m~~UIRED FOR PUBLIC S!'.LES 
OF SECmUTIES i\liTE(;iU~~:!:'l), UND3R ,,]ECTION 20a O;~ 214 

OF THE IN'l'Ei1ST1\TE COr.:I'IERCE!,CT 

Securities issued PU1"'::~lJ.ent tc Cou!!n:-;"ss~.on authority under 
section 20a or 21;·;· of the !\ct 2re lJL!b~;e"t ':;0 "ouch ter"ls and 
con(:'.tions as the Co~:!dsslon rr-,ay ciee~ necess:".ry and appropriate 
j n the I)re~ises ••• " (.Ject~.on 20a( 3)). j.n those instances 
~here carriers desil'e to 1S21).e oecur:1.tJ.es to the public at 
large, it has been the "tandard nr:.lCtice of the Commiss:Lon to 
require the applicant to se:.1 such secul':'.t:'.es t:v proopectus or. 
offerinG circular only, in the generC'.l .:"orr.~ and r.'IE!!lner pre­
scribed by the Securi t).es &:lC J':xch::,nc:e Co~:!,·:::tssion. 

Currently, ~i1(? volume of these publJ.c offerinGs hoe reached 
n suffj.cient nunilier so ~hat~ ~~ tIle ~nterects of convenience und 
stundardizot:ion, the Co::cdss:'.on pror.>cses to umend its form 'BF-6, 
Item 7, to set forth its :<'cqul.I'el1 ::"cJ.'!n snd !F'OCeOLlI'e in these 
~atters. Our proposed ncm Ite':: 'r ::'s con~;3ined L1 appendix I 
attoched ~o thls Notice and Ord~r. 

The information requ~.red in the :~.C.C. "::;rc3pe.J1;US", termed 
"OfferinE C:i.rclJ.lar Oi .... :3ec~~rj.t;;.r by rr'l'.'J.!""!;3por"'se.t::_on ']O!T:pGny, II is 
essent:i.aJ.ly ::tyled ~!ft::!r the .sect...lri1;:!.:~;; c:!1d ~ ... t·:ch8.nge Cor:'i.l'!llssion 
8-1 fore,. Bold type stot 2!;:cr;t,: v.:i.'Grl !:'e,~ard to I. C. C • . j urisdic­
tic,n t·~~.ll notify the !:?ublJ.c :..;h8:t th'2 Cecu:c':i.t:ie:J ':-.nd .~xchafl8e 
Co~mission does not have ju~j.~d:ction over the i33ua. Persons 
concerned ~ith secur:1.ties ms~ters a'w~1d care~ully ~eview the 
tendered o·c[;iJ.lst:ion 'co note ot!-,C).' U89artures :.Pro", standard S.E.C. 
practlcea. 

!I.nyone ~·i~,3U.n::: to 91'esetit ~;he:tli'.rv::':)'IIs and 2\'idcnce, e1 ther 
in sup!)ort 0: J o:~' :;"n OP90s:i.tlon to" the action r:"roposed in this 
order !~Qy clo' 30 by the ;,ubm:ission of wrltten d~ta, v:ie~ls, 'or 
argU!Tlents. 
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Ex Parte No. 279 

It; :i s ordered, That a ~I'oC'eedin~ l;~, ar.d it is hereby, 
tnstltuted upder the allthor:L ty 0" the Inters Gate Commerce Act 
and the Adm:inistrat:Lve Procedure. Act (60 Stat;. 237, as amended; 
5 U.S.C.A. § 553 and 5~9) for the purpuse above described; ~hat 
any views to be expressed by pers"ms :interes1;'3d :in this matter 
shall be f:i1ed ~I:ith this Cormn:iss:ion·w:i.thi[l 30 days of the 
~ublicatlon of tn:i.s order'in the Federal Register; and that 
Guch "lews shuuld spe('.:i.f:l.o:.ll1y SllNI any oiJject:lon to these pro­
rO~Bd regulatlonB J with such responses to be presented un any 
:;"~e~,- by-:l tern bas Is • ' . . 

It. :i:3 /'u:r:thG.i:' ord(:!.red J Tii.ut Dr~ o.r1.g:i.!!.al and 15 cIJPJ.es of 
3U(~h data., vj tJwz, 0'(' ;;-;, t:'[-~li~r..ents f~i-.l.&. 1.!. i . .'.? .f j j".~ri ~l:l t;ll the Com.rnis-
si.un .:)1" or beFore December 11, 1971 clnt.i a' CGPY thereof 
~hc.~.lJ_ be served s:l.m'.lltaneOLL~~.y !..1.~.-,on e:3.ch nf ~;0.e CO::-.!l11ssion's 
ret::i.on:.ll ile.,dquarters 1 rjentlr':l eel :;.11 ;.J.;~pend:i:<. n: of th:i.s no1;i::8 
tlnd \)r\ie:r'. A.ll ;:,te.te!"r.e~rt,3 Kll~L be ~; LU:ct o,f Lhe r;~cor.d of 
th.:i s pr"'o0eed'i ng und w:i J.J. 'be b.v(~~ J[;c~',e" for l'iL..":".,l': (; :1,nspection at 

~~~~s~i7;~'~~~'!l°~v~r:~ ~l~t~~'~ t~~~l:~~;,~~~;.;e j):Ot~;'" ~:~~~J ~.~.~ J·~,~~:u~~~ 
bus:i,rd~~.)s hOI,::,rs. 

oi' '~hi(~~j~,~tt_·c~~r~~~~ ~~%-~~c~;~~~~~~r~~;,~~e W~71 t;~~ ~~f~:~~a~yPUbl:i.C 
depo:::l'l;J.ng a C('9Y of this not:i.ce :i.n the O/f.;.ce of tile·.:3ecretary 
of thlo C()~n!111stl:t011-, and in each of tp,je Co~n!niss:ion's r=g1.onal 
i.leadquaT'ters ldentif'jed .i.n appendj.x :C" .:;'.) th.l.s notice :~'or (Jublic 
~nG~ect~cn and by filJnB a copy witt the ~jrectcr, OffJce of the 
Feae'::'al Pt~g~;,s ter. 

And it; 18 i'urthe:~' ':-,rdcr',2d, Tha~l~ these proposed reguJ.at:lone 
shaL. become e.ff'ec:tlve· bu days from th(.d.T' publ:1.cat:Lon in the 
Pcd("~).<==.l :~er;:'i3tel"', unJ.csf:; othel·w~.se order'cd by this C~;:!i!Td,ssion. 

?~}I~E~~'I' L.. O-SlA!A.:LD, 
,secretary. 
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APPENDIX I 

PROPOSED ITEM 7 OF FORM BF-6 

Contracts', underwritings, and .Ether arrangementsj; 
public off.erings. 

, (a) How and to whom, and, by or ,through 1·;h.om, it' is p:!:,o­
posed to issue,the securities, with copies of all oontracts, 
underwritings, and other arl'angements made or p:lrop()sed, to be 
made in connection with the issue. The applicant must require 
the undeI'1-lriter to undertake to' provide copies of any required 
offering circular to prospective investors and persons 
directly solicited to invest their funds in the security. 

(b) If applicant ;1s effecting, causing ,to be effected, or 
has arranged for, the public offering of a transportation 
security, and said of-fer will be tendered to 25 or 'more prospec­
tive investors at a total price' of not less than $100,000, 
applicant must submit an offering circular foT' consideration by 
this Commission. Separate issuances made w1 tr in one year will 
be considered as one issuance for the purposes 0i" this paragraph. 

(1) Gene~l instructions: 

(x) The, finan~ial representations contained in the 
offering circular eh9Uld 'conform to gp.f\erally-accepted 
princ:l,ples of accounting. However, wh'Jre there 1s ,a 
dissimilavity between a figure computed pursuant to gen­
erally-accepted accounting principles, anG the figure 
produced under the Co~~ission's Uniform System of Accounts, 
49 CFR 1200-1219, the difference should be explanied by 
footnoting the item under consideration. ,Any such footnote 

'should be in language which adequately explaln~ the reason 
for the differenc,e to the ordinary investor. 

(ii) A copy of any advertisement connected with 
the issue, such as "tombstone" or "red herring" advertise­
ment, shall be attached to the application. 

(iii) In the event the price of the security will 
not be determined by an existing market, or a formula 
relevant to market prices, as in the case of new issu­
ances, the offering circular shall be made available to 
prospective investors, and likewise shall be furnished to 
those directl,y solicited to invest their funds in the 
security, when the order of the Commission authorizing 
the issuance of the securities becomea effectivej but no 
sales or contracts to sell the securitiea, except to 
underwriters, may be made until 14 days, or as otherwise 
ordered, after the distribution of the authorized offer­
ing circular has taken placE', this time period beginning 
from midnight oflehe day the distribution was initiated, 
including weekends and holidays. In all other cases, the 
same requirements as those in the above portion of this 
paragraph shall be applicable, except the waiting period 
will run for a period of three days, or as otherwise 
ordered by the Co!llll1ission. Wh~t'e> 'In appll '~f1.nt elects to 
take the &horter three- day period, the rE:asr:!"B for the 
inapplicabili ty of the fourteen-d" yo ')" ;", ,'", • '-, 1'i} r.,~ 

specified. 
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(iv) The information presented in the offering 
circular should be presented in plain ·and· concise. 
language. Excessively verbose· or:co~plex descriptions 
may confuse the investor and should be avoided~ . 
Inapplicable items may be.omitted·and cross-references, 
unless otherwise indicated, may be employed.. . 

. . (v) The offering' cir·cular-· shall. contain an 
opinion of a Certified Publico' Accountant' as. to the 
financial representations contained- therein •. 

(vi) For purposes of this form, and as a term 
of 'art limited-. in 'its application to these' p'artlcular 
regulations, a "speculation" or "speculative ·security" 
.iSL' one where a·pplicant·. has 'not had' any substantial gross 
revenues or receipts f.·rom transportation or' from the 
sale of services, or any substantial net income from any 
source, for any fiscai year ended. the past 5 years, has 
not succeeded and does not 'intend to succeed such a 
concern, .and does not 'have and does. not intend to have 

. any subsidiaries other than inactive subsidiaries with 
"no more than nominal assets. If this offering is a 
speculation, an introductory statement shall oboe made 
lil,,,tQe·:..cj1'fering circular. -Eiulilinarizing the factors which 
malt·e'·.the offering a speculation and setting fOroth such: 
matters' as a comparison, in percentages, of the 
securities being offered to the public for cash and 
those t"ssued or to' be issued to promoters, d·i·rectors, 
off'icers; controillng persons' and und·erwriters. for cash, 
prop'e-rty and services. Such applicants "Will follow the 
special instructions in the offering' 'circular. . 

(Vii) Attach to' the offering circular, for the 
use of the Corn.'11ission, a check list' o"f the items 
required in the offering circular form. Identify the 
page( s) at \~hich the item appears in the draft offering 
circular. . . 

(2) - Form ard content of offe'ring, _circ,Lilar: 

I. CAPTION AND DISTRIBUTION SPREAD 

The outside front cover of the offering circular shall 
contain the information below in substantially the form' , 
indicated. 

OFF~RING CIRCULAR OF SECURITY BY TRANSPORI'ATION 
COMPANY 

DI-8TRIBUTION OF THtS OFFERING CIRCULAR WAS INITIATED (Date). 
__ INVESTORS MAY NOT BUY, NOR CONTRACT TO BUY THIS ISSUE UNTIL'--__ 

";-{See General Instructions (11i)). 
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(name of issuer as it appears on securities) 

(type of security~ dCGcription) 

THE :;:SSUf.NCE .oF THESE ~ECURITIES HAS BEEN AUTHORIZED BY THE 
INTERSTf,TF.: CONNERCE COI'llMISSION WHICH DOES NOT PASS UPo.N THE 
IN'IBSTI·!SNT ~~ERIT OF THESE SECURITIES NOR UPON THE ACCURACY 
OF T:!E INFCBt~ATION THERF.IN. 

'riU:S OFFERING CIRCULAH IS AN INTEGHAl. PAm' OF ISSUER'S 
APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 20( a) OR 214 OF 'l'HE INTERSTA'I'E 
COi'IMERCg Al-"'T. THIS ISSUE IS NOT ST.;'I:JECT 'I'O THE Jl'P..ISDIC'!'ION 
::"F SECURl'I'IES AND EXCHANGE COrv:MI::;SION. . 

Price 
to 
.!!E.!?ll.£ 

Under'tlr~i tJ ng 
discounts and 
com!lllss1ons 

Proceeds to 
reg:lstrant or 
other persons 

Pel' Unit ____ _ 

Total 

Instructions·. 1. Only commissions paid by the 
a~plicant or selling security holders in cash are to 
be included In the table. Commissions pa1d by other 
persons, and other eonsiderat:icns to the underwriters, 
chall be set forth follow:l.ng the table with a referen<.:e 
thereto 1n the second colw:m of the table. Any finder's 
fee or s:~milar paY'ller.1;s shall be apprcpriately 
disclosed. . 

2. If' the securltiea ape to be offered at the 
!lia rket, or:l.f the orfering pr:! ce ·18 to be (~eterminedby 
a formula related to market prj <.:es, indicate the market 
1lJvolved und the market pr:i.ce as of the latest practjc­
uU.e date. Otherw]_se, the allthorlzed of~'er:l ng circu13I' 
T.llst conta~.n the sales price and cO'lL'lIlssions. 

II. PLAN .OF DISTRIBUTION 

(a) :::r the secur). ties 8I'e tc be offer'ed tl,:t'ough under­
writers, give ~he names of the p~jn~ipal under~rlters, and 
state the .r.es[Jectl.ve 3~!1.o:."lnts under=wl'ltten. ~::{·;(;;:nt.ify each SiJ'::~";. 
"1l1(jerwl':~ ter havlng''''@ !Hat.:;rjal r·elaticnsh~.p tc tt'e issuer ani] 
state thu nature of the relatlon3hip. State briefly the nDture 
of the underwrtter3' obl:igc>t10n to toke the secul'ities. 
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Instruction. The description of th~ nature of ~he 
,HJd,~rlVritlJrR I oIJLtgation shill] dJselose whether the 
umil!l"wx'iters are, ·or will be, cO"lmttted to taicp. and to 
pay for. a 1J of the secLlri ties if allY are t;ak:ell, 0)' 
whe:Lhel' .;.~ ls '!Ilerely an agency Or:' "b'ost f.'ff0rts" arral"ge­
m;,nt· L<r:der which the und",rwr:lteC',~ ·Ilre requ:i.red to tal<:,', 
and pay rD!' only such securttleaa;c. ttleY may sell to th(~ 
publJc . Conditions· precederrt;Lu ti"'~ ,mderwr:t tel's I talcing 
the secL~ri.ties, :tncluding "!1larket. outs", need not be 
~escrloea except in the case of an ngency 01:'. "best 
err0rts" a~r3ngement. All purc~aso.agreemerts, under­
wri ting agJ'c"lmeIJt.:.; and agreements arne ng i'llderwri tel's must 
be submitted as part 0t the appllc~tjon. . .. 

(b) State br'jefl,l' the dj.RCOlllltr, and c(lmrn:tsslons t.0 be 
a lJ.owed or paid to dealErs, Incllld:tng all cash, securities, 
contJ'arts or ()thp.!, (!onstderatiol1 GC h<~ received by any dealer 
in connecLion w:th the sale of tho s~curiti~s. 

InstrL1ctiun·. If any deuJ.ers are to act. in the capa­
cJty of siii)-uii"derl~r:tters' ami are to be allowed or paId 
any'addlttonal dir-counts or···',o~rr'1ss10n;; foC' act.ing :In such 
capaclty, a general sta~ement to that effect w:tll s~ffice 
without glv:lng the adqltlunal arr.olmts to he so pa:irl. 

(c) Outline br·i (~fly tIle pLan 0(' dj2trtbClG; on of any 
R,', ,'1'.1:': 1;1 eH to be a pp.Ued whl cil a:::'c to b,~ nf'ft'red otherwise th'1n 
through ·Ilndcrwr:l t·ers.· . 

::: I. USE OF· PROCEI:':DS ACCRUiNG TO AfrLICAm 

:~ate the prin~ipal purposes f()r which the net pvoceeds r~n~ 
't,h~! :-·ccll:~lt:l.eB t·,"' be Qi:'fcred ar·2' .i!l"Lende(~ t,o be used., arid th!:~ 
iiPI_:.I.'~J:-:i~,:-it.C ;'='!IOt'lnt :LntE:"ndt.:d 'i.;o be !Ised i"C'r each ~t1ch purpose. 

. lQ~~tl'u(:..t:ionf;. 1 •. Deta:i.~.s of proposed expehditure,: 
lIe2d n,Jt be 0!1lphas:tzed; for /'!x3!1l::;le, It 1s necessary to 
rlrt'l):i.sh only a· brJef 'outlIne of r'.YI.y program of ':?onstrucf; i 0:") 

"r addi.t:t(;l1 vt equlpnent. ~f' any !nateriul. a!II'.ll.uit of other' 
{':'I,ds :i:o Lo bE: usee i!1 c0njunc~:iorr with the pro·ceeds, f;tarJ-
1;1 •. " a',,')',nt and 1>0Ur,'e3 ot such other .furJds. :; . .c any mat.,"r·:l,,:'. 
1I"o,·')lIrli., <'f ~;he prcr:eeds is ·~o be I:ised tv acqlA.i r·p assets, 
(.'th.f=!r\'~::.Re than· 'in the ordilHiPY ~('/i:.r'se of b'.JsJness;·br1e.f'1.y 
Iks I!J'::·hc the assets and gi ve the r;ames et ti1e· persons fr'o:r, 
~!lh."l1 .they are to be acq .. llred. S";at,e the co::;t of the a'lRets 
;;., the :"c::;::'strant and the princ:i.ple· f<)llcl«led ~n deterrn:lrlt:"., 
~~::~;!I .e('Gt. 

,2. J r, the caef'! of specula t:l ve i3p.curi~;;.os, inc lucie ij 

Dt~~~cent es to the use of the ~ctuBl proceeds if they Hf'e 

not <:luffJ ,,~erit to uccompl::'::;h 311 of t.h'., IhJ.rpc,"es set for·t l ·" 

~!h"~·;.i',,,' ,)[' flot; ~·he fL'nds wil.l. bp. ret,ux'oed to subscribers -~ n 
s;.I.,·,h case and, If not, the order oC p,.':i.(;r'~.ty in which tlk 
pr.o"eecia \~.LJJ. be u"ed for .the respective purfjoses. 
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If any of the s~curities are to be offeced for. the account 
of security·hol~ers, name each such security holder and state 
the amount of securities of the class owned by him, the amount 
to be. offered for his account and the percentage of the class 
(if one percent C,l" more) to be owned by him after comi>letion 
of the offering. 

V. CAPITAL STRUCTURE 

Furnish 'he information called for by the followini;, table, 
in substantially I:he tS·hulal' form indicated, as to each class 
of securities of the applicant and each class of securities, 
other than those owned by the applicant or its totally-held 
subsidiaries,· of all subsidiaries whose financial statements 
are filed with the offering circular on either a corlsolidat.,d 
or individual basis: 

Title 
of 

clBss. 

A;nount 
authorized 
or to btl 

authorized 

Amount 
outstanding 
as of a 
specified 

date within 
90 days 

Amount to bp. 
outstanding 

if all 
securities 

being 
registered 
are sold 

Instructions. 1. Securities held by or for the 
account of the issuer thereof are not to be included in 
the amount outstanding, but the amnunt so held shall be 
stated in a note to the cable. 

2.' Ir.debtedness evidenced by dra~ts, ,bills of exchange, 
bankers' acceptances or promissory notes may be set forth in 
a 'single aggregate amount under drl appropriate caption such 
as "Stmdry Indebtedness." 

3. Applicant may, at its option, include in the table 
the capital share liability in dollars, as well as the amount, 
of ellch class of shares shown in the table, together with sur­
?lus attributed to each class of stock. Surplus shall be 
shown in the same manner as in the balance sheet of applicant, 
or in the consolidated balance sheet of the applicant and 
subsidiartes,~ such a consolidated balance sheet is included 
in the .offering circular. 

VI. SALES .OTHi::R THAN f'OR CASH 

If·any of'the securities are to be offered otherwise than 
for cash, state briefly the general purposes of the distribution, 
the basis upon which the securities are to be offered, the amount 
of compensation' and (,ther expenses of distribution, and by whom 
they are to be borne. 
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Instruction. If the distribution is to be made pur-, 
suant to'a plan of acquisitidn, reorganization, readjust­
ment or succession,- describe briefly the general 'effect of 
the plan and state when it became or is to become operative. 
If any of the securities are to be offered in exchange for 
securities of any other issuer, the offering circular,shall 
contain a description of the exchange., state the'relation­
ship of the recipient of the securities to the co~pany, 
includi~ any' promoter. ' ' ' , 

VII. INFORMATION REGARDING ISSUER 

State the year in which applicant was organized",its form 
of organization, and the name of,the State or ,other jurisdiction 
under the laws of which it was organized, and each of the States 
und,er above laws it is authorized to operate. 

List all the parents of applicant showing the basis of con­
trol and, as to' each parent, the, percentage of voting securities 
owned or, other basis' of control. 

Briefly describe the parent's business activities, oth~r 
than those of applicant. If applicant's parent is, in turn, 
controlled by another parent company, etc., describe that 
relationship. " , ' 

Instructions. 'What is required' is informat1:on that 
will describe any complex control situation to 'the pros­
pective investor. And will inform him as to any proposed 
plans, such as acquisitions, sales, interqorporate 
transfers, dividend payments, spinoffs; etc., by the 
management of the'parent corporation that will have'a 
direct bearing on the firiancia'l wel'l being of the carrier 
subsidiary in which, the Investor is being asked to 'invest. 

'Briefly describe the business ,actually done and intended to 
be done (not merely relating the powers authorized in the 
charter). The relative importance and ,size of, various service 
and manufacturing endeavors should be 'furnished 'specifying those 
areas sllbject to regulation' under the Int'ers.t;ate' Commerce Act. 

If the applicant and its subsidiaries are engaged in more 
than one line of business, state, for ,each of the applicant's 
last five fiscal years, the approximate amount',or percentage 
of (i) total sales and revenues, and (1i) income (or loss) 
before income,taxes and extraordinary losses, attributable to 
each line of business which during either of the last two fiscal 
years accounted for--

(A) ,10 percent or'more of total sales and revenues,' 

(B) 10 percent or more 'of income'before income taxes 
and extraordinary items computed without deduction ,of loss 
,resulting from operations of any ,line of. business', .or, 

(C) a loss which equalled or exceeded 10 percent of 
the amollnt of income specified, in (B) above.. 
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.l.i: it is impract·icaol.e to state the contribution to income 
(or loss) before income taxes and extraordinary items for any 
line of business, state the contribution thereof to the results 
of operations most closely approaching such income, together 
with a brief explanation of the reasons why it is not practicable 
to state the contribution to such income or loss. 

Instructions. 1. If the number of lines of business 
for which information is required exceeds ten, the applicant 
may, at its option, furnish the required information only 
for the ten lines of business deemed most important to an 
understanding of overall operations. In such event, a statement 
to that effect shall be set forth. 

2. In grouping products or· services as lines of busi­
ness, appropriate consideration shall .be given to all rele­
vant factors, including rates of profitability of operations, 
degrees of risk and opportunity for growth. The basis for 
grouping such products or services and any material changes 
between periods in such groupings shall be briefly described. 

3. Where material amounts of products or services are 
regu13rly transferred from one line of business to another, the receiving 

and transferring lines may be considered a single line of busi­
ness for the purpose of reporting the operating results thereof. 

4. If the method of pricing intra-company transfers 
of products or services or the method of allocation of common 
or corporate costs materially affects the reported contribu­
tion to income of a line of business, such methods and any 
material changes between periods in such methods and the 
effect thereof shall be described briefly. 

5. Information regarding sales or revenues or income 
(or loss) from different classes of products or services in 
operations regulated by Federal, State or municipal authori­
ties may be limited to those classes of products or services 
required by any uniform system of accounts prescribed by 
such authorities. 

VIII. DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 
---4 

Briefly describe carrier revenue equipment, trackage, terminals, 
and other material tangible equipment and properties. Also describe 
trackage rights, certificates of public convenience and necessity, 
and other intangible operating authorities. 

Separately describe·other properties not used for providing 
transportation by applicant or its subsidiaries·. 

Instructions. Provide information which will fairly 
appraise the potential investor of the scope and potential 
of applicant's business. Detailed descriptions of the 
physical characteristics of tangible properties or reproduc­
tions of operating authorities are not required and should 

.. L ....... I..t 1-..1:1 ofnnlnvpci. 
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Indicate briefly, to the extent·material, the general competitive 
conditions applicant faces in its tr,msportation services and, where applicable, 
in its non-transportation enterprises. Discuss any important changes in the 
technology or type of service applicant or its subSidiaries render to the public. 
Separate consideration should be given to different regions or modes. 

List any material financial restrictions imposed upon applicant or 
its subsidiaries by the Interstate Commerce' Commission to which it may be 
presently subject. Specify any. such resttictions imposed in connection with 
this issue. 

Reproduce the order of the Commission authorizing this issue .. 

X. PENDING LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

Briefly describe any matenal pending legal proceedings, other than 
ordinary routine litigation incidental to the business , .. to which the applicant 
or any of its subsidiarIes is a party or of which any'"of·their property is the 
subject. Include dle name of the court or agency in which ilie proceedings· 
are pending, the dat.e instituted and the prinCipal parties thereto', Include 
similar information'as to any such proceedings known to be contemplated by 
governmental authorities. ' 

Instructions, If tbe business ordinarily results in actions 
for negligence or other cla.ims, no such action or claim need be 
described unless it·departs from the normal kind of such actions. 
Any material bankruptcy, receivership, or similar proceeding 
with ·respect to the issue:r or any of its significant subsidia:ries shall 
be described. Any mater;al p:roceedings to·which any·director, officu.r 
or affiliate of the applicant, o:r any associate of any such director, 
officer or security holder, is a party adverse to the applicant or 
any of its subsidiaries shall also be described. 

XI. STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EARNED SURPLUS 

Furnish in comparative columnar form a statement of incom.e for each 
of the last five fiscal years of the applicant and for any interim period between 
the end of the latest of such fiscal years and the date of the latest balance 
sheet furnished herein, and for .the corresponding interim period of-the preceding 
fiscal year. Include comparable data for any additional fiscal years necessary 
to keep the statement from being misleading. Where necessary, include 
information or explanation of material significance to investors in appraising 
the results shown, or refer to such information or explanation set forth 
elsewhere in the offering circular. An analysis of earned surplus shall be 
furnished for each ·period covered by an Income statement, as a continuation 
thereof or elsewhere in the offering circular. 

Instructions, 1. If common stock is to be offered, the 
statements shall be prepared to show eamings applicable to 
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2. H preferred stock is to be offered, there sh,l.ll be shown 
t.he annual dividend requirements'on such preferred stock. 'To'the 
extent that an issue represents refinancing, only the additional 
dividend requirements shall be stated. 

3. If debt securities are to be issued, the applicant shall 
show in tabular form for each fiscal year or other period the ratio 
of. earnings to fixed charges. A pro forma ratio of earnings to fixed 
charges, adjusted to. give effect to the issuance of the securities 
to be registered, and any presently proposed issuance, retirement or 
redemption of securities, shall also be shown for the latest fiscal year 
or l2-month period .. 

4. Statements of income and earned surplus conforming to 
the foregoing may be furnished on a consolidated' basis, but applicant 
must also present, ·for the most 'recent fiscal year, statements of income 
for each subSidiary (or appropriate groups of subsidiaries). 

XII. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES TO BE ISSUED 

If capital stock is to be issued, state the title of the class and furnish 
the following information: 

(a) Outline briefly (\) dividend rights; (2) voting rights; (3) liqUidation 
rights; .(4) pre-emptive rights; (5) conversion rights; (6) redemption provisions; 
(7) sinking fund provisions; and (8) liability to further calls or to'assessment 
by the applicant. 

(b) If the rights of holders of such stock may be modified otherwise 
than by a vote of a majority or more of the shares outstanding, voting as a 
class, so state and explain briefly. 

(c) If preferred-stock is to. be issued, outline briefly any restriction 
on the repurchase or redemptioil of shares by the issuer while there is any 
arrearage in the payment 'of di vidends or Sinking fund installments. If there 
is no such restriction, so state. 

Instructions. 1.. This item requires only a brief summary of 
Ihe provisions which art: pertinent from an investment standpoint. A 
complete legal description of the proviSions referred to is not required 

_a·nd should not be given. Do not set forth the prOvisions ·of the governing 
i~truments verbatim; only a succinct resume is required. . 

I 

2 .. If the rights evidenced by the securities are niaterially limited 
or qualified by the rights of any other class of securities, include such 
information regarding such. other securities as will· enable investors 
to understand the rights evidenced by the securities to be registered. 
No information need be given, however, as to any class of securities 
all. of which will be redeemed and retired, provided appropriate steps 
to assure such redemption and retirement will be taken prior to'or 
.upon delivery of the securities to be issued. 

3. If the securities described are to be offered pursuant to 
warrants or rights, state the amount of securities called for by such 
warr<!nts or ri~.llt". r!->e period during which and the pnce at which 
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If debt securities are to be issued, outline briefly such of the following 
as are relevant: 

,(a) Provisi,ons with respect to int\,!rest, conversion, maturity, redemption, 
amortization, sinking ~und, or retirement. 

(b) Provisions with respect to the kind and priority of any lien securing 
the issue, together with a brief identification of the principal properties ' 
subject to such lien. ' 

(c) ProvisIons with respect t~ the subordination of the rights of holders 
of the securities registered to other security holders or creditors of the 
registrant. 

(d) Provisions refitricting the declarll.tio';:·of di-vidends or requiring 
the maintenance of any ratio of assets, the creation or maintenance of reserves 
or the maintenance of properties. 

(e) Provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional 
securities, the withdrawal of cash depo~ited against such issuance, the incurring 
of additional debt, ,the release or substitution of assets securing the' issue, 
the modification of,the terms of the security, and similar provisio;'s. 

Instructions. 1. In the case of secured debt, there should be 
stated (i) the •. approximate amount of un'secured property 
available for use against the issuance of bonds, as of the most lecent 
practicable date, and (ii) whether the securities being issued are to be 
issued against such property, against the deposit of cash, or otherwise. 

2. Provisions permitting the release of assets upon dlC deposit 
of equivalent funds or the pledge of equivalent property, the release 
of property no longer required in the business, obsolete property or 
property taken by eminent. domain, the application of insurance mone}S, 
and similar provisions, need not be described. 

(f) The name of the trustee~if any. and the nature of any:material relationship 
with the appl~cant or any of its affil~ates; the percentage of securities of dle 
class necessary to require the trustee to take, action, and what indemnification 
the ,trus~ee ~a'y'.req;Ure before proceeding to,enforc<:, the lien. 

(g) The general type of event which constitutes a default and whether 
or not any periodic; evidence is,required to be furnished as to the absence of 
default or as.to compii~nce'.with the terms of the'indenture. 

Imttuction. The instructions regarding capital stock, as pertinent, 
shall apply to debt securities. 

If securities other than capital stock or debt are to be issued, outline 
briefly the rights evidenced,the!eby. If sub1lcription warrants or rights are 
to be issued" state the title,and·amount of securities called for, the period 
during which and the price ~t whi~h, t~e wa:.;rants o~ rights are'exercisable. 

Instruction. The instructic:>ns regarding capital stock shall also 
apply ~o this item. 
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Xlll. DlRECTOkS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

List the names of all directors and executive officers of the applicant 
and all persons chosen to become directors or executive officers. Indicate 
all positions and offices with the applicant held by each person named, and 
the principal occupations during the past five years of each exec uti ve officer 
and each person chosen to become an executive officer. 

Instructions. 1. If any person chosen to become a director 
or executive officer has not consented to act as such, so state. 

2. For the purpose of this item, the term "executive officer" 
means the president, vice president, secretary and treasurer, and 
any other officer who performs similar policymaking functions for the 
applicant. 

XIV. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

(a) Furnish the following information in substantially the tabular form 
indicated below as to all direct remuneration paid by the applicant and its 
subsidiaries during the applicant's last fiscal year to the following persons for 
services in all capacities: 

(1) Each director, and each of the three highest paid officers, of 
the applicant whose aggregate direct remuneration exceeded $30, 000, 
naming. each such person. 

(2) All directors and officers of the applicant as a group, without 
naming them. 

(A) 

Name of individual or 
identi ty of group 

(B) 

Capacities in which 
remunemtion was received 

(C) 
Aggregate 
direct 
remuneration 

Instructions. 1. This item applies to any person who was a director 
or officer of the applicant at any time during the period specified. However, 
information need not be given for any portion of the period during which 
such person was not a director or office of .the applicant. 

2. The information is to be given on an accrual basis if practicable. 
The tables required by this paragmph and paragraph (b) may be 
combined if the applicant so desires. 

3. Do not include remuneration paid to a partneIBhip in which any 
director or officer was a partner, but Bee item XVII. 

4. If the applicant'has not completed a full fiscal year. since its 
organization or if it acquired or is to acquire the majority of its assets 
from a predecess'or within the current fiscal year, the information 
shall be given for the current fiscal year, estimating future payments, 
if necessary. To the extent that such remuneration is to be computed 
upon the basis of a percentage of profits, it will suffice to state such 
percentage without estimating the amount of such profits to be paid. 
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(b) Furnish the following information. in substantially the tabular form, 
indicated below. as to all pension or retirement benefits proposed to be paid under 
any existing plan in the event of retirement at normal retirement date •. directly 
or indirectly. by the applicant or any of its subsidiaries to each director or·· 
officer named in answer to paragraph (a)(I)· above: 

(A) 

Name of Indi vidual 

(B) 

Amounts set aside or accrued 
during applicant's 
last fiscal year 

(C) 

Estimated annual 
. benefits upon 

retirement 

Instructions. 1. The term 'plan" in this item includes all plans, 
contracts, authorizations or arrangements, whether or not set forth 
in any formal document. 

2. Column (B) need not be answered with respect to amounts 
computed on an actuarial basis under any plan which provides for fixed 
benefits.in the event of retirement in a specified age or after a specified 
number of years of service. 

3. The information called for by Column(C) may be given 
in a table showing the annual benefits payable upon retirement to 
persons in specified salary classifications. 

4. In the case of any plan (other than those ·specified in 
Instructions 2) where the amount set aSide each year depends upon 
the amount of earnings of the applicant or its subsidiaries for such 
year or a prior year, or where it is otherwise impracticable to state 
the estimated annual benefits upon retirement, there shall be set 
forth, in lieu of the information called for by Column (C), the aggregate 
amount set aside or accrued to date, unless it is impracticable to do 
so, in which case there shall be stated the method of computing such 
benefits. 

(c) Describe briefly all remuneration payments (other than payments 
reported under paragraph (a) or (b) of this item) proposed to be made in the 
future. directly or indirectly, by the applica.nt or any of its subsidiaries pursuant 
to any existing plan or arrangement to (i) each director or officer named in 
answer to paragraph (a)(I), naming each such person, and (ii) all directors and 
officers of the applicant as a group, without naming them. 

Instruction. Information need not be included as to payments to be 
made for, or benefits to be received hDm, group life or accident insurance, 
group hospitalization or similar group payments or benefits. If it is impracticable 
to state tlie amount of remuneranon payments proposed to be made; the aggregate 
amount set aside or accrued to date in respect of such payments should be stated, 
together with an explanation of the basis for future payments. 

XV. OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

Furnish the following information· as to options to purchase securities 
from the. applicant or any of its subsidiaries. which are outstanding as of a 
specified date within 30 days prior to the date of filing. 
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If, however, the options are "qualified stock options" or "ll?stricted otock 
options" or options granted pursuant to a plan qualifying as an "employee 
stock purchase plan, " as those terms are defined in Sections 422 through 424 
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, only the following is 
required: (i) a statement to that effect, (ii), a brief description of the terms 
and conditions of the options or of the plan pursuant to which they were 
issued, and (iii) a statement of the provisions of the plan or options with 
respect to the relationship between the option price and the market price 
of the securities at the date when the options were granted, or with respect to 
the terms of any variable price option. 

(b) State (i) the title and amount of securities called for by such 
options; (ii) the purchase prices of the securities called for and the expiration 
dates of such options; and (iii) the market value of the securities called for 
by such options as of the latest practicable date. 

Instruction. In case a number of options are outstanding ha ving 
differimt·prices and expiration dates, the options may·be grouped 
by prices and dates, If this produces more than five separate groups 
then there· may be shown only the range of the expiration dates and the 
a verage purchase prices, i. e., the aggregate purchase price of all 
securities of the same class called for by all outsta nding opdons to 
purchase securities of that class divided by the number of securities 
of such class so called for. 

(c) Furnish separately the information called for by paragraph (b) 
above for all options held by (i) each director or officer named·in answer to 
paragraph (a)(l)of item XIV naming each such person, and (ii) all directolE 
and officers as a group without naming them. 

Iruitructions. 1.. The term "options" as used in this item includes 
all options, warrants and rights other than those issued to security 
holders as such on a pro rata basis. 

2. The extension of options shall be deemed the granting of options 
within the meaning of this item. 

3. Where the total market value of securities called for by all 
outstanding options as of ·the specified date referred to in this item 
does not ·exceed $10, 000 for any officer of director named in answer 
'to paragraph (a)(l) of Item 17, or $30,000 for all officers and directors 
as a group, or for all option holders as a group, this item need not be 
answered with respect to options held by such person or group. 
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XVI. PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF SECURITIES. 

Furnish the following information as of a specified date within 10 days prior 
to the date of filing in substantially the tabular form indicated: 

(a) As to the voting securities of the applicant owned of record or beneficially 
by each person who owns of record, or is known by the applicant to own beneficially, 
more than 10 percent of any class of such securities .. Show in·Column (3) whether 
the securities are owned both of record and benefiCially, of record only, or bene­
ficiallyonly, and show in Columns. (4) anq .(5) the respective amounts and percentages 
owned in each such manner: 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) 

Name and Address 
Title of 

Class 
Type of 

Ownership 
Amount 
Owned 

Percent of 
Class 

(b) As to.each class of equity securities of the applicant or any of its parents 
or subsidiaries, other than directors' qualifying shares, beneficially owned directly 
or indirectly by all directors and officers of the applicant, as a· group, without 
naming them. 

(1 ) 

Title of 
Class 

(2) 

Amount Beneficially 
Owned 

(3) 

Percent of 
Class 

Instructions. 1. The percentages are to ·be calculated on the 
basis of the amount of outstanding securities, excluding 
securities held by or for the account of the issuer. In any 
case where the amount owned by directors and offers as a 
group is less than 1 percent of the class, the percent of the 
class owned by them' may be omitted. 

2. If the equit)' securitit:s are being issued in connection With, 
or pursuant to, a plan of acqUisition, reorganization, readjust­
ment or succession, indicate, as far as practicable, the status 
to exist upon consummation of the plan on the basis of present 
holdings and commitments. 

3.< !f anY"of the securities being issued are to be offered for the 
a~!=ount;of:secu;r:itY' holders, name each such security holder.and 
st~te the: amoun,t ~of the ·sccurities:owncd by him, the amount to be 
offe,edfor his. account, :and the amount ·to be. owned after the 

,offering .. ' . . . ~ -: ;,... 

'4. If, 'to t/:le, knowledg" of theapplJca~t or any principal under- " 
writer of the securities belng issued, more than 1.0 percent of" 
any class of votIng securities of the applicant arc held or are to 
be held·subj",C,t·to·any voting trust or. other similar agreement; 
state the title of such securities, the amount held or to be· held: 
and the duration of the agreement. Give the names and addresses 
of the votjng,tr~s~ees and outline briefly their voting rights, and 
other powers under the agreement. 
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XVII. INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS 

Describe briefly, and where practicable, state the approximate amount of 
any material interest., direct or indirect, of any of the following persons in any 
material tI'ansaction during the last three years, or in any material proposed 
transactions, to which the applicant, or a person in control of applicant as defined 
in Item VlI or any of its subsidiaries was, or is to be, a party: 

(a) Any director or officer of the applicant; 

(b) Any security holder named in answer to XVI(a); 

(c) Any person listed in Item VlI. 

(d) Any associate of any of the foregoing persons. 

Instructions, I. See Instruction I to Item XIV(a). Include the name 
of each person whose interest·in any transaction is described and the 
nature of the relationship by. reason of which such interest is required 
to be described. Where it is not practicable to state the approximate 
amount of the interest, the approximate amount involved in the trans­
action shall be indicated. 

2. As to any transaction involving the purchase or sale of assets by or 
to the applicant or any subsidiary, otherwise than in the ordinary course 
of bUSiness, state the cost of the assets to the purchaser and the cost 
thereof to the seller if acquired by the seller within two years prior to 
the transaction. 

3. This item does not apply to any interest arising from the ownership 
of securities of the applicant where the security holder receives no extra 
or special benefit not shared on a pro rata' basis by all other holders 
of the same class. 

4. No information need be given in answer to this 'item as to any 
remuneration not received during the applicant's last iiscal year or 
as to any remuneration or other transaction disclosed in response to 
Items XIV or XV. 

5. Information should be included as to any material underwriting 
discounts and commissions upon the sale of securities by the applicant 
where any of the specified persons was or is to be a principal under­
writer or is a controlling person, or member, of a firm which was or 
is to be a principal underwriter. Information need not be given con­
cerning ordinary management fees paid by underwriters to a managing 
underwriter pursuant to an agreement among underwriters the parties 
to which do not include the applicant or its· subsidiaries. 

6. No information need be given in answer to this item as to any 
transaction or any interest therein where: 

(i) the rates or charges involved in the transaction 'are fixed 
by law or determined hy competitive bids; 

(ii) the interes\: of !Ill! specified persons in tile transaction is 
E::ul~lv ttur. (If J I~L e·_c\...· :: .::.t~i,··,.hl.;"T. ilnafI~lial("d .:.-.::!'.:..::.·ar}on which is a 
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(iii) the transaction involves services as a bank depository of 
funds, transfer ageilt, registrar, trustec under a trust indenture, or 
other similar services; 

(iv) the interest of the specified persons, including all periodic 
installments in the case of any lease or other agreement providing for 
periodiC payments .or installments, does not exceed $30, 000; 

(v) the transaclioil does not involve remuneration for services, 
directly or indirectly, and (a) the inter~st of the specified persons arises 
from the ownership indiVidually and in the aggregate of less than 10% 
of any class of equity securities of another corporation which is a party 
to the transaction, (b) the transaction is in the ordinary course of 
bUsiness of the applicant or its subsidiaries, and (c) the amount of such 
transaction or series of transactions is less than 10% of the total sales 
or purchases, as the case may be, of the applicant and its subsidiaries. 

7. Information shall be furnished in answer to this item with respect to 
transactions not excluded above which involve remuneration, directly or 
indirectly, to any of the specified persons for services in any capacity 
unless the interest of such persons arises solely from the ownership 
individually and in the aggregate of less than 10 % of any class of equity 
securities of another corporation furnishing the services to the applicant 
or its subsidiaries. 

8. This item does not reqUire the disclosure of any interest in any 
transaction unless such interest and transaction are material. 
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XVIII. OTHER FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND "BALANCE SHEETS" SCHEDULES. 

(a) There shall be furnished a balance sheet of the applicant and a consolidated 
balance sheet of the applicant and its subsidiaries as of a date within six months 
prior to the date."of filing the application. 

Instructions. The individual balance sheets of the applicant may be omitted 
if (i) consolidated balance sheets of the applicant and one or more of its sub­
sidiaries are furiiished, (ii) either one of the following conditions is met, and 
(iii) the Commission is advised as to the reasons for such omission: 

(1) The applicant is primarily an operating company and all subsidiaries 
included in the consolidated balance sheets furnished are totally-held 
sllbsidialres; or. 

(2) The applicant's total assets, exclusive of investments in and advances to 
the consolidated subsidiaries, constitute 85% or· more of the total assets shown 
by the consolidated balance sheets filed and'the applicant's total gross revenues 
for the period for which its profit and loss statements would be filed, exclusive 
of interest and dividends received from the consolidated subsidiaries", con­
stitute 85% or more of the total gross revenue shown by the consolidated 
profit and loss statements filed. 

(b) There shall be furnished for each majority-owned ·Subsidiary of the 
applicant not included in the consolidated statements, the balance sheets 
which would be required if the subsidiary were itself an applicant, If the 
applicant owns; directly or indirectly, approximately 50% of the voting 
securities of any person and approximately 50% of the voting securities of 
such person is owned, directly or indirectly, by another single interest, 
there shall be filed for each such person the balance sheets which would be 
required if it were an applicant. The statements filed for each such person 
shall identify the other single interest. Where appropriate, group statements 
may be filed for such persons. 

Instructions. I. Insofar as practicable, these balance sheets shall be as of the 
same dates as those of the applicant. 

2. There may be omitted all balance sheets of anyone or more unconsolidated 
subsidiaires or fifty percent owned persons if all such subsidiaires and persons 
whose balance sheets are so omitted, considered in the aggregate as a single 
subsidiary, would not constitute a significant subsidiary. 

(c) (1) There shall be filed for any business directly or indirectly acquired by 
the applicant after the date of the latest balance sheet filed pursuant to (a) above 
and for any business to be directly or indirectly acquired by the applicant, the 
financial statements which would be required if such business were an applicant. 



391 

Ex Parte No. 279 
Appendix I 

(2) The acquisition of securities shall be deemed to be the acquisition of 
a business if such securities give control of the business"-or combined with 
securities already held give such control. 

(3) No financial statements need be filed, however;. for any business acquired 
or to be acquired from a totallycheld.subsidiary. -:'lniaddition, the statements 
of anyone or more business~may(·be,omittedjf such'businesses, considered 
in the aggregate as a single subsidiary, . would not constitute a significant 
subsidiary . 
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